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U5, House or HEPEESENTATIVES,
CoMMITTEE 0N INTERIOR AND INSULAR AFFAIRS,
Washingion, DC.

Dear Ivtenior Comarree Membpers: The Report of the Commis-
sion on Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians, Personal
Justice Denied, is a mmpelluag. document that vividly recounts a
dark chapter in our history. This report is based on personal ac-
r:mnt,s and historical documents from witnesses who lived through

the reprehensible Japanese American internment period. The find-
ings helped encourage the Congress to pass the Civil Liberties Act,
and apologize to Japanese Americans affected by the internment
period. By reprinting this popular report, the House Committes on
Inmnur and Insular Affairs is helping to memorialize this event in
our

This report also is extremely relevant to two bills considered by
the Committee and enacted during the 102d Congress. HH. 543 des-
tgnates Manzanar a National Historic Site in California. Manzanar
was the first of I relocation camps where approximately 10,000
Americans of Japanese descent were sent by the US, government.

H.R. 2351, the Japanese American National Historic Landmark
Theme Study Act, directs the Secretary of the Interior to recom-
mend historic sites to be nationally recognized. These sites include
places where Japanese Americans were given military training and
language lessons to aid in the defense of our nation during World
War 11, This legislation initiates s process to give proper designa-
tion to the gites to remind succeeding generations that they are not
to trample on the constitutional rights of citizens, even in times of
War,

While it is easy to criticize human rights abuses in foreign coun-
tries, it's important that we remember our record has not been per-
fect. This report, along with the legislation considered by the
House Committes on Interior and Insular Affairs in the 102d Con-
gress, will help remind us of our mistakes and reinforee our com-
mitment to civil liberties and the Constitution. As the historic
marker at Manzanar says, "May the injustices and humiliation suf-
fered here as a result of hysteria, racism and economic exploitation
never emerge again”

Iy yours,
Georce MILLER,
Chatrmarn.
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[1]t remained a fact that to loyal citizens this forced
evacuation was a personal injustice, and Stimson

—Henry L. Stimson and McGeorge Bundy,
On Active Service in Peace and War

m



The Commission’s report is rooted in both its hearings and in archival
research. Between July and December 1951, the Commission held 20
Japanese Americans and Aleuts who had lived through the events of
Warld War 11, former government officials, public figures, interested
citizens, and other professionaly who have studied the subjects of the
Commission's inquiry. Betwreen July 198] and December 1952, the
Commmson safl collecterd and reviewsd materads from government
and wniveruty archives and read and analysed the relevant historical
m

ment b primarily drawn from contemporanes memdoranda, writings
arnd tramcribed comversations with 3 lesser rehance on merscens and
trstizrmy bedore the Comomsgon.

The account of poblic events cutside the feders] grvermment as
wll s those chapters which deal with hackground before Prad Harbor
or events in Hewaii or the First World War experience of Genman
American, cited for comparison, rely more henvily on secondany sources.
For instance, while many of the working papers at the University of
California which analyzed press attitudes in the first months of the war
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were reviewed by the staf, no effort was made to collect and reread
the entire range of press coverage and comment.

The account of the experiences of [apanese Americans and Aleuts
relies heavily on the personal testimony given in the Commission
hearings, although substantial support is also provided by contempo-
raneous government reports. Tt has been suggested that some of these
accounts suffer from the fading of memories over forty years; but it is
difficult to give greater weight to accounts by a captive population
which may well have believed that fully candid stalements accessible
to & hostile public or government were not in its best interest. The
Commission proceeded carefully to develop out of the testimony a fair,
apcurate account of the experiences of exclusion, evacuation and de-
tention.

The Commission has not attempted to change the words and phrases
commonly used to deseribe these events at the time they happened.
This leaves one open to the charge of shielding unpleasant truths
hehind euphemisms. For instance, “evacuee” is frequently used in the
text: Webster's Thisd International Dictionary defines an evacues as
one “who is removed from his house or community in time of war or
pressing danger as a protective measure.” Ln light of the Commission's
eonclusion that removal was not militarily necessary, “excludes” might
be a better term than “evacuee.” The Commission has largely left the
words and phrases as they were, however, in an effort to mirror ac-
curately the history of the time and to avoid the confusion and con-
troversy a new terminology might provoke. We leave it to cach reader
to decide for himsell how far the language of the period confirms an
obzervation of George Orwell: “In our time, political speech and writ-
ing are largely the defense of the indefensible. ., . Thus political
language has to consist largely of euphemism, question-begging and
sheer cloudy vagueness,”

. o o

As Special Counsel to the Commission, 1 wish to extend deep
thanks to all the consultants, volunteers and members of the st of
the Commission throughout its existence. They have borne the burden
of a difficult and sensitive task with unfailing diligence and patience.
They deserve the entire eredit for the additions to knowledge and
understanding which the Commission's report provides: Paul T. Ban-
nal, Mark Baribeau, Kate C. Beardsley, Donald R, Brown, Jeanette
Chow, Michelle Ducharme, Donna H, Fujioka, Aiko Herzig-Yoshi-
naga, Jack Herzig, Helen Hessler, Toro Hirose, Stuart J. Ishimaru,
Gregory G. King, Key K. Kobayashi, Donna Komure, Barbara Kraft,
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Musto, Raymond Y. Okamura, Thomas M. Powers, Kenneth A. Ringle
and Michi N, Weghm.

Boger Daniels and Bill Hosokaws undertook to read the historical
part of the report in draft form and offered innumersble useful sug-
gestions. They bear no responsibility for the content or condusions of
the report in its final form. The Commission staff undertook the re-
search and review of documents and testimony from which the report
was written, and any errars or omissions are the responsibility of the
staff.

Great contributions to the editing and production of the report
were made by Judith Dollenmayer.

Last, but by no means least, [ wish to thank my wife, JoAnn, for
her understanding and support throughout the time which I have
devoted to the Commission’s work.

— Angus Macheth
Special Counsel

Washington, DC.
December, 1982
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Summary

The Commission on Wartime Relocation and Internment of Civilians
wis established by act of Congress in 1950 and directed to
1. review the facts and circumstances surrounding Executive Or-
der Numbered D066, issued February 19, 1942, and the impact
of such Executive Order on American citizens and permanent
resident aliens;

2. review directives of United States military forees requiring the
relocation and, in some cases, detention in internment camps of
American citizans, including Aleut eivilians, and permanent res-
ident aliens of the Aleutian and Pribilof Islands; and

3. recommend sppropriate remedies.

In fulfilling this mandate, the Commission held 20 days of hearings
in cities across the country, particularly on the West Coast, hearing
testimony from more than 750 witnesses: evacuees, former government
officials, public figures, interested citizens, and historians and other
professionals who have studied the subjects of Commission inguiry.
An extensive effort was made to Jocate and to review the records of
government action and to analyze other sources of information includ-
ing contemporary writings, personal sceounts and historical analyses.

By presenting this report to Congress, the Commission fulfills the
instruction to submit & written report of its findings. Like the body of
the report, this summary is divided into two parts. The first describes

1



2 FEHSOMAL JUSTICE DENIED

wetions taken pursuant to Executive Order 9066, particularly the treat-
ment of American citizens of Japanese descent and resident aliens of
Japanese nationality. The second covers the treatment of Alewts from
the Aleutian and Pribilof Islands.

PART I: NISEI AND ISSEI*

On February 19, 1942, ten weeks after the Pearl Harbor attack, Pres-
ident Franklin D. Roosevelt signed Executive Order 8066, which gave
to the Secretary of War and the military commanders to whom he
delegated authority, the power to exclude any and all persons, citizens
and aliens, from designated areas in order to provide security against
sabotage, espionage and fifth column activity, Shortly thereafter, all
American citizens of Japanese descent were prohibited from living,
working or traveling on the West Coast of the United States. The same
prohibition applied to the generation of Japanese immigrants who,
pursuant to federal law and despite long residence in the United States,
were not permitted to become American citizens, Initially, this exclu-
siom was to be carried out by “voluntary” relocation. That policy inev-
itably failed, and these American citizens and their alien parents were
removed by the Army, first to “assembly centers " —temporary quarters
at racetracks and fairgrounds—and then to “relocation centers™—hleak
barrack camps mostly in desolate areas of the West. The camps were
surrounded by barbed wire and guarded by military police. Departure
was permitted only after a loyalty review on terms set, in consultation
with the military, by the War Relocation Authority, the civilian agency
that ran the camps, Many of those removed from the West Coast were
eventually allowed to leave the camps to join the Army, go to college
outside the West Coast or to whatever private employment was avail-
able, For a larger number, however, the war years were spent behind
barbed wire; and for those who were released, the prohibition against
returning to their homes and oceupations on the West Coast was not
lifted until December 1944,

*The first generation of ethnkc Japanese born in the United States are
Nisei; the Issel are the immigrant generation from Japan; and those who re-
turned to Japan as children for education are Kibei.
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120, 000 people without individual review, and exclusion was continued
virtually without regard for their demonstrated loyalty to the United
States. Congress was fully sware of and supported the policy of removal
and detention; it sanctioned the exclusion by enacting a statute which
made criminal the violation of orders bswed pursuant to Executive
Order 9066, The United States Supreme Court held the exclusion
constitutionally permissible in the context of war, but struck down the
incarceration of admittedly loyal American citizens on the ground that
it wis mot hased on statutory authority.

All this was done despite the fct that not a single documented
act of espionage, sabotage or fifth column activity was committed by
an American citizen of Japanese ancestry or by a resident Japanese
alien on the West Coast.

Mo mass exclusion or detention, in any part of the country, was
ordered against American citizens of German or Italian descent. Offictal
actions against enemy aliens of other nationalities were much more
individualized and selective than those imposed on the ethnic [apanese.

The: exclusion, removal and detention inflicted tremendous human
cost. There was the obvious cost of homes and businesses sold or
sbandoned under circumstances of great distress, as well as injury to
careers and professional advancement. But, most important, there was
the loss of libeerty and the personal stigma of suspected dislosalty for
thousands of people who knew themselves to be devoted to their
country's cause and to its ideals but whose repeated protestations of
loyalty were discounted=—only to be demomstruted beyvond any doult
by the record of Nisei soldiers, who returned from the battlefields of
Europe as the most decorated and distinguished combat unit of World
War [I, and by the thousands af other MNisei who served against the
encmy in the Pacific, mostly in military intelligence. The wounds of
the exclusion and detention have healed in some respects, bt the
scars of that experience remain, pamfully real in the minds of those
who lived through the suffering and deprivation of the camps,

The personal injustice of excluding, removing and detaining loyal
American citizens is manifest. Such events are extraordinary and unique
in American history. For every citizen and for American public life,
they pose haunting questions abost our country and its past. [t has
been the Commission’s task to examine the central decisions of this
history—the decision to exclude, the decision to detain, the decision
to relesse from detention and the decision to end exclusion, The Com-
mission has analyzed both how and why those decisions were made,
and what their consequences were. And in order to illuminate those
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events, the mainland experience was compared to the treatment of
Japanese Americans in Hawaii and to the experience of other Americans
of enemy alien descent, particularly German Americans.

The Decision to Exclude

The Context of the Decizion. First, the exclusion and removal
were attacks on the ethnic Japanese which followed a long and ugly
history of West Coast anti-Japanese agitation and legislation. Antipathy
and hostility toward the ethnic Japanese was a major factor of the public
life of the West Coast states for more than forty years before Pearl
Harbor. Under pressure from California, immigration from Japan had
been severely restricted in 1908 and entirely prohibited in 1924, Jap-
anese immigrants were barred from American citizenship, although
their children born here were citizens by birth, California and the
other western states prohibited Japanese immigrants from owning bind.
In part the hostility was economic, emerging in various white American
groups who began to feel competition, particularly in agriculture, the
principal occupation of the immigrants. The anti-Japanese agitation
aleo fed on racial stereotypes and fears: the “yellow peril” of an unknown
Asian culture achieving substantial influence on the Pacific Coast or of
a Japanese population alleged to be growing far faster than the white
population. This agitation and hostility persisted, even though the
ethnic Japanese never exceeded three percent of the population of
California, the state of greatest concentration.

The ethnic Japanese, small in number and with no political voiee—
the citizen peneration was just reaching voting age in 1940—had be-
come a convenient target for political demagogues, and over the years
all the major parties indulged in anti-Japancse rhetoric and programs.
Political bullving was supported by organized interest groups who
adopted anti-Japanese agitation as a consistent part of their program:
the Native Sons and Daughters of the Golden West, the Joint Immi-
gration Committee, the American Legion, the California State Fed-
eration of Labor and the Californta State Grange.

This agitation attacked a number of ethnic Japanese cultural traits
or patterns which were woven into a bogus theory that the ethnic
Japarese could net or would not assimilate or become “American.”
Dual eitizenship, Shinto, Japanese lainguage schools, and the education
of many ethnic Japanese children in Japan were all used as evidence.
But as a matter of fact, Japan’s lows on dual citizenship went no further
than those of many Europesn countries in claiming the sllegiance of
the ehildren of its nationals born abroad. Osly a small number of ethnic
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Japanese subscribed to Shinto, which in some forms inchuded vener-
ation of the Emperor. The language schools were not unlike those of
other first-geoerstion immigrants. and the return of some children to
Jagan for education was as moch a reaction to hostile discrimination
and an wncertain fulure 2s i was 3 commitment t© the mores. moch
kess the political doctrines, of Japan. Nevertheless, in 1642 these pop-
ular misconceptions infected the views of & grest many West Coast
prople who viewed the ethnic Japancse & alaen and unsssmilated

Second, Japencse armies in the Pacific won & rapsd, starthing string
of wictories against the United States snd its allies m the first months
of Workd War Il On the same day a5 the sttack on Prar] Hasbor, the
Japanese struck the Maley Peminsuls. Hoog Kong, Wake and Midway
Islands and sttscked the Philippines. The neat day the Japanese Army
invaded Thailand. On December 13 Guam fell; oo December 24 and
25 the Japanese captured Wake Island and occupied Hong Kong. Ma-
niln was evacuated on December 27, and the American army retreated
to the Batsan Peninsula. After theee months the troops isolated in the
Philippines were forced to surrender unconditionslly—the worst
American defeal since the Civil War. In January and February 1942,
the military position of the United States in the Pacific was perilous,
There was fear of Japanese attacks oo the West Coast.

Mext, contrary to the facts, there was a widespread belief, sup-
ported by & statement by Frank Knox, Secretary of the Navy, that the
Pearl Harbor attack had been sided by sabotage and fifth column
activity by ethnic Japanese in Hawaii. Shortly after Pearl Harbor the
government knew that this was pot true, but took po effective measures
to disabuse public belief that disloyalty had contributed to massive
American losses on December 7, 1941 Thus the country was unbirly
led to beleve that both American citiorns of Japanese descent and
resadent Japuanewe alens threstened Amerosn security.

Fourth, as anti-Japanese organizations began to speak out and
the familiar anti-Japanese ory. The Congreasional delegations in Wash-
ington organized themsebves and pressed the War and Jestice De-
partments and the President for stern messures to control the ethmic
Japancsc—moving quickly from control of aliens to evacustion
remaoval of citizens. In California, Governor Olson, Atiomey General
Warren, Mayor Bowron of Loz Angeles and many local suthorities
joined the clamor These opinions were not informed by any knowledge
of actual military risks, rather they were stoked by virulent agitation
which encountered little opposition. Only a few churchmen and aca-
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dermnicians were prepared to defend the ethnic Japanese. There was
little or no political risk in claiming that it was “better to be safe than
sorry” and, as many did, that the best way lor ethnic Japanese to prove
their loyalty was to volunteer to enter detention. The press amplified
the wnreflective emotional excitement of the hour, Through late Jan-
uary and early February 1942, the rising clamor from the West Coast
was heard within the federal povernment as its demands became more
draconian.

Making and Justifiing the Decision. The exclusion of the cthnic
Japanese from the West Coast was recommended to the Secretary of
War, Henry L. Stimson, by Lieutenant General John L. DeWitt,
Commanding General of the Western Defense Command with re-
sponsibility for West Coast security, President Roosevelt relied on
Secretary Stimson's recommendations in issuing Executive Order S066.

The justification given for the measure was military necessity. The
claim of military necessity is most clearly set out in three places: Gen-
eral DeWitt's February 14, 1942, recommendation to Secretary Stim-
son for exclusion; General DeWitt's Final Report: Japanese Evacuation
Jrom the West Coast, 1942; and the government’s brief in the Supreme
Court defending the Executive Order in Hirabagashi v, United Stetes.
General DeWitt's Frbruary 1942 recommendation presented the fol-
lowing rationale for the exclusion:

In the war in which we are now engaged racial affinities are not

severed by migration. The Japanese race is an enemy race and

while many second and third generation Japanese borm on United

States soil, possessed of United States citizenship, have become

“Americanized,” the racial strains are undiluted, To conclude

otherwise is to expect that children born of white parents on

Japianese soil sever all racial affinity and become loval Japanese

subjects, ready to fight and, if necessary, to die for Japan in a war

apainst the nation of their parents. That Japan is allied with Ger-
many and Italy in this struggle is no ground for assuming that any

Japanese, burred from assimikation by convention as he is, though

born and raised in the United States, will not turn sgainst this

nation when the final test of loyalty comes. It, therefore, follows
that along the vital Pacific Coast over 112,000 potential enemies,
of Jupanese extraction, are a large today. There are indications

that these were organized and ready for concerted action ot a

favorable opportunity. The very fact that no sabotage has taken

place to date is a disturhing and confirming indication that such
action will be taken.

There are two unfounded justifications for exclusion expressed
here: first, that ethnicity ultimately determines loyalty; second, that
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“indications™ suggest that ethnic Japanese “are organized and ready
for concerted action”—the best argument for this being the fact that
it hadn't happened.

The first evaluation is not 2 military one but one for seciclogists
or historians. |t runs counter to a basic premise on whach the American
nation of immigrants is built—that loyalty to the United States is 2
matter of indniadual choice and not determined by ties to an ancestral
country. In the case of Cerman Americans, the First World War dem-
onstrated that rece did not determine loyalty, and no negative as-
sumption was made with regard to citizens of German or [talisn descent
during the Second World War. The second judgment was, by the
General’s own admission, unsupported by sny evidence. General
DeWitt's recommendation deardy does not provide a credible ration-
ale, based on military expertise, for the necessity of exclusion.

In his 1943 Final Report, General DeWitt cited & number of factors
in support of the exclusion decision: signaling from shore to enemy
submarines; arms and contraband found by the FBI during raids on
cthnic Japanese homes and businesses; dangers to the ethnic Japanese
from vigilantes; concentration of ethnic Japanese around or near mil-
itarily sensitive areas; the number of Japanese ethnic organizations on
the coast which might shelter pro-Japanese attitudes or activities such
uﬂmmhmshinmmdlhemddwlmm
had spent some time in Japen.

The first two items point to demonstrable military danger. But
the reports of shore-to-ship signaling were investigated by the Federal
Communications Commission, the agency with relevant expertise, and
no identifiable caes of such signaling were substantiated. The FBI did
confiscate arms and contraband from some ethnic Japanese, but most
were items normally in the possession of any Lew-absding cvilan and
the FBI concluded that these searches had uncovered no dangerous
persons that “we could not otherwise know shout. ™ Thus neither of
these “Gxts” militarily justified esclusion

There had been some acts of vickenoe against cthmse Japanese on
the West Coust and fecling against them ram high, but “protective
custody” is sot & acceptable rationsle for exchusion Protection against
vigilantes is a civilian matter that would ievelve the military only in
extreme cases. But there is no evidence that such extremity had besn
reached on the West Coast in carly 1942 Moreover, “protective cus-
tody ™ could pever justify esclusion and detention for months and years.

General DeWitt's remaining points are repeated in the Hirabo-
vashi brief, which also emphasizes dual nationality, Japanese language
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schools and the high percentage of alicns (whao, by law, had been barred
cance in themschves. None supports the claim of disovalty to the
United Statrs snd all were entireh begal H the sarw standsrds were
spplicd o other ethnic groups, & Morton Grodzins. an early analyst
of the eaclusion decision, applied it 1o cthoie Halians on the West
Coast, an cqually compeliing and mesninghess case for “disloyalty ™
coukd be made In short, these swial and cultural petterss were ot
evidence of any threat to West Coast military securily.

In sum, the record docs not permit the conclosion thet mulitary
necessity warranted the exclusion of ethnic Japanese from the West
Ciast.

The Conditions Which Permitted the Decimion. Having concluded
has attempted to determine how the decision came to be made.

First, Ceneral DeWitt apparently believed what he told Secretary
Stimson: ethnicity determined loyalty. Moreover, he believed that the
ethnie Japanese wore so alien to the thought processes of white Amer-
fcans that it was impossible to distinguish the loyal from the disloyal,
Cim this basis e believed them o be potential enemies among whom
lovalty could not be determined.

Second, the FEI and members of Naval Intelligence who had
oothing more than careful watching of suepicious individuals or indi-
vidua) reviews of loyalty were called for by existing ciroumstances. In
than miormed militeny judgments in reaching bis conchusions a5 W
the prejudiced. unfounded themes of anti-Japanese factions and in-
terest groups on the West Coast.

Fourth, no effective measures were taken by Frescdent Rocsevel
to calm the West Coast public snd refute the rumers of sbhotage and
fifth column sctivity 3t Pearl Harbor.

Fifth, General DeWitt was temperamentally disposed to exag-
gerate the measures necessary to maintain security and placed security
far ahead of any concern for the liberty of citizens.

Siath, Secretary Stimson and John |. MeCloy, Assistant Secretary
af War, both of whose views on race differed from those of General



DeWirr, faiked to insist o & clear military pastification for the meanres
General DeWilt wished 0 endertaler

Seventh, Amormey General Framcs Biddle, while contending that
_ln-—_—v.ﬂuq-uhlhd-ﬂﬂ-
o sl out 3 cosr of militery BecrsEy o the et would resder the
enchunton cossttutonaly mperoesile or thet the Comtistes pro-
hisited earkmas o the buos of ethmicty gren the fcts on the West
Comst

Eaghurt: Fap——— R
lhertis i Congres the pres and other publ forums werr mient
or ndewd supported eaxchmne. Thos there wan oo effecthe opposttan
0 the mrmrey vocteroushy sought by surerous Woest Cosst stereg
promme, politecaen sod journalesrs

Finall,, Prossdent Roosevelt, without rameng the qurstum o the
bevel of Calrinrt discussion or requiriog sny carefiul or therough revies
of the situstion, snd despite the Atioroey General's angumesnts and
ather information before him, sgresd with Secretary Stimson that the
exchuson should be carred out.

The Declelon to Delain

With the signing of Exevutive Order 5066, the course of the Pres-
ident and the War Department was set: American eitieens and elien
residents of Jupanese sncestry would be compelled to leave the West
Coast on the basis of wartime military necessity. For the War De-
partment and the Western Defrnse Command. the problem became
pramarty o of merthod snd operation. not ba gy Geveral DeWin
first trued “vokuntany " rewettement the ethne Japuas s were (o Sove
ontrache restroted malitary zones of the West Cousst bt otherreme wers
Frwe 1 g0 whereves ey chse From s mibtar standpuast the pobey
s bazarre, sped @ was witerh impractica] If the sthos japaneer bad
baes e hated by snoer ey werr prtrotal whoteon el e =
dh—ﬂnﬁih_ﬁ-lh—hh
wtrrus wherr therr were of copre. Emorwrabde dama et fnes.
wﬂ-hnhhﬁ-#“tﬂ
abutage in the mtrray could be Schromard wath o japer red o
s b 8 pomerhd fifth oo ofiect Thes remes wrees doubes
e b grme the War Departmest believed the sqposed threst &
h.*ﬂ.b-ﬁ_—:ﬂhuﬁmdﬂ_
of the teror westers states. who obwected i the bried th people
who theestened wartime security in California werr rgually dangeroos
m Wyoming and ldsha
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The War Relocation Authority (WHA), the civilian sgency oreated
by the President to supervise the relomstion snd initially directed by
Milton Eisenhower, procesded on the premnise that the vast majorit,
of rvacores were lrw-abiding and loval, ssd that, once of the West
Comat. they should be returmed quickly to conditions spprocmmating
sormal ke This view was strenoowly opposed by the people and
polticians of the mountain states In April 18942, Milton Eisenhower
met with the povernors and officiah of the moustain stetes. They
obpected to Californis using the interior states s & “dumping groond”
for & Californis “problem. ™ They srgued that people in their ststes
wonild facr physical danger. They wanted gusrantees that the govers-
ment would forbid evacnees to soquire land and that it would remove
them at the end of the war. Again and again, detention camps for
eviscuees were urged The consensus was that a plan for reception
centers was acceptable so long as the evacueces remained under guard
within the centers.

In the circumstances, Milton Eisenhower decided that the plan
to move the evacuees into private employment would be abandoned,
at least temporarily. The War Relocation Authority dropped resettle-
ment and sdopted confinement Notwithstanding WHA's beliel that
evacuees should be returned to normal productive life, it had, in effect,
become their jailer. The politicians of the interior states had achieved
the program of detention.

The evaruess were to be held in camp behind barbed wire and
rebesied only with povernment spproval. For this course of action no
thesr steps were necessary for the benefit of cvaovees and that controls
on their departure were designed to msure they would oot be mis-
treated by other Americans on leaving the camps.

It follcows from the conchesion thal there was mo pestificatson in
military pevessity for the eaclusion, that there was no besis for the
detentwon.

The Effect of the Exclusion and Detention

The history of the relocation camgn and the ssembly conters that
preceded them is one of saffering and deprivation visited on people
against whom no charges were, or could have been, brought The
Conmisaion hearing record is full of poignant, sesring testimony that
recounts the economic and personal losses and injury cansed by the
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exclusion and the deprivations of detention. No summary can do this
testimony justice.

Families could take 1o the assembly centers and the camps only
were boused in tar-papered barrack rooms of no more than 20 by 24
feet Each room housed 2 family, regardiess of family size Construction
were minimal Easting snd hathing were in mass acilitsrs. Under con-
tinuing pressure from those who blindly beld to the beldief that evacuess
harbored disloyal intentions, the wages paid for work st the camps
were kept to the minimal level of $12 5 month fbr unakilled kbor,
rising to $19 2 month for professional employees. Mass biving prevented
normal family communication snd activities. Heads of families, no
longer providing food and shelter, found their suthority to lead and to
discipline diminished.

The normal functions of community life continued but almost
always under a handicap—doctors were in short supply; schools which
tamght typing had o typewriters and worked from hand-me-down
schoal books; there were not enough jobs,

The camp experlence carried a stigma that no other Americans
suffered. The evacuces themselves expressed the indignity of their
conditions with particular power:

&Mqlﬂ,lﬂ&mymnﬂ:s.mdmm. , and I

. by train. Father joined ws later. Brother uﬁslar
huWehdM-u-zmﬂdm So much we left behind,
but the most valuable thing 1 lost was my freedom.

- = =

Heary went to the Control Station to register the family. He came
hexne with twenty tags, all numbered 10710, tags to be sttached
to each plece of baggage and one to hang from our coat lapels.
From then on, we were known as Family #10710.

The government’s efforts o “Americanizr” the children in the
camps wrre bitterly ironic-

An oft-repeated ritual in relocation camp schools . . . was the
ﬁhhh“hh—“d'ﬂyﬂy “tis of
thee, sweet land of liberty —a ceremony Caucasian teachers found
m-—i‘di-ﬂuﬂymhh“
prison-camp setting.

- & =
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In some ways, | , my life was not too different from a lot
nfhdllnn.?muh %mlﬂiﬂﬁlﬂﬁlm
time playing with my brothers friends,
m&.mdmﬂHMMdmvﬂﬂwm
kids who wore Boy Scout uniforms. We shared with the rest of
America the same movies, screen heroes and listened to the same
heart-rending songs of the forties. We imported much of America
into the camps because, after all, we were Americans. Through
imitation of my brothers, who sttended grade school within the
camp, | learned the salute to the flag by the time T was five
old. T was learning, as best one could learn in Manzanar, what it
meant to live in America. But, 1 was also leamning the sometimes
bitter price one has to pay for it.
After the war, through the Japanese American Evacuation Claims Act,
the government attempted to compensate for the losses of real and
personal property; inevitably that effort did not secure full or fair
compensation. There were many kinds of injury the Evacuation Claims
Act made no attempt to compensate: the stigma placed on peopbe who
fell under the exclusion and relocation orders; the deprivation of liberty
suffered during detention; the psychological impact of exclusion and
relocation; the breakdown of family structure; the loss of earnings or
profits: physical injury or illness during detention.

The Decision to End Detention

By October 1942, the government held over 100,000 evacuess in
relocation camps. After the tide of war tumned with the American
victory at Midway in June 1842, the possibility of serious Japanese
attack was no longer credible; detention and exclusion became in-
creasingly difficult to defend. Nevertheless, other than an ineffective
leave program run by the War Relocation Authority, the government
had no plans to remedy the situation and no means of distinguishing
the loval from the disloyal. Total control of these civilians in the pre-
sumed interest of state security wis rapidly becoming the accepted
T,
Determining the basis on which detention would be ended re-
quired the government to focus on the justification for controlling the
ethnic Japanese. If the government took the position that race deter-
mined loyalty or that it was impossible to distinguish the loyal from
the disloval because “Japanese” patterns of thought and behindior were
too alien to white Americans, there would be little incentive to end
detention. If the government maintained the position that distinguish-
ing the loyal from the disloyal was possible and that exclusion and
detention were required only by the necessity of acting quickly under
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14 PERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

their present treatment in painful contradiction to those values, The
loyalty questionnaire beft little room to express that ambiguity. Indeed,
it provided an effective point of protest and organization against the
government, Fromn which more and more evacuess felt alienated. The
qummmmdﬂmd&!mmﬂquﬂﬁmufh}uhyﬂm
underlay the exchusion policy, a question which had been the predom-
lrm;tpditiﬂalmdpcrmmliswe&:rgwdhnhjmmm-erﬂm past
year; answering it required confronting the conflicting emotions aroused
by their relation to the government. Evacuee testimony shows the
intensity of conflicting emotions:
1 answered both questions number 27 and 28 [the loyalty ques-
tions] in the negative, not because of disloyalty but due to the
disgusting and shabby trestment given us. A few months after
completing the questionnaire, U5, Army officers appeared at our
camp and gave us an interview to confirm our answers to the
questions 27 and 28, and followed up with a question that in
essenee asked: “Are vou going to give up or renounce your U5,
citizenship?™ to which 1 promptly replied in the affirmative as a
rebellious move. Sometime after the interview, a form letter from
the Immigration and Naturalization Service arrived saying if [
wanted to rencunce my LS. citizenship, sign the form letter and
return, Well, T kept the Immigration and Naturalization Service
u.i.iﬁng.

L] L] *

Well, | am one of these that said “no, no” on it, one of the “no,
no” boys, and it is not that 1 was prowd about it, it was just that
our legal rights were violated and | wanted to fight back. However,
I didn’t want to take this sitting down. 1 was really angry. It just
got me so damned mad. Whatever we do, there was no help from
cutside, and it seems to me that we are o race that doesn’t count.
So therefore, this was ene of the reasons for the “no, no’’ answer,

_ Fersonal responses to the questimmnaire inescapably became pub-
lic acts open to community debate and scruting within the closed world
of the camps. This made difficult choices excruciating:

After | volunteered for the [military] service, some people that [
knew refissed to speak to me. Some older people later que:rinned
my father for letting me volunteer, but he told them that 1 was
old enough to make up my own mind.

L

The resulting infighting, and verhal abuses left families
torn apart, parents against children, brothers against sisters, rel-



|

_—

ital relatives, and friends agumat friembs So bitter was

sl thas rven to thes dey therr s many aosegst ws who do

ot speak aboust that period for frar that the e harsh el

might arvr wp sfan o the surbee

The kaal revws progres we o ot of devoses s deomaon
for thosr @ the camps. The svowedhy loyal were elgphbie for relesse-
trrmr whe were wew Ty v profess bvalh or etere the greracen
At werr wrrpeire Fom the mam by of v ol the
Tule Labr comp. wheh rapudy became 3 crmter of deualecton and
rotest aganst the prerament and i polees —the enbaprsy erfogr
of evarurey consered by snger and despuer

The Decision s End Eschosion

The lovalty review should loscally have bedd to the romhusaon that
o pestificstnm evstrd for eschading loval Amercan citisens from the
West Const. Secretary Stimson, Assistant Secretary McoCloy snd Gen-
eral Marshall resched this position in the spring of 1941 Nevertheless,
the exclusion was nist ended until December 1944, No plausible reason
connected (o any wartime security has been offered for this eighteen
to twenty month delay in allowing the etholo Japaneso o returm to
their homes, jobs and businesses on the West Coast, despite the fact
that the delsy meant, as a practical matter, thet confinement in the
relocation camps continued for the grest majority of evacuess for an-
other year and & half

Betwern May 1943 and May 1944 War Department officials did
not make public thew opmion that exchusion of loyal ethai Japanese
from the West Cosst no longer had amy miltar, pestdeston I the
Presadend was eneware of thes vew the plasubde rplanstn n that
brdarer! thrmurhrs snabie, © oy dows polgsal oppoutcs oo the
ief the Westers Dirfessr Command o the fall of 1edl e dad Wes
Comal sy Japuarerwr fartues and politrmes.

In Mo P44 Sewretary Stamson pat befwr Fresdens Rooseeed
md v { st weet b poatee T G rrchonon o bager b 3 madiary
pottwatew Bt the Freodent s oo to st ke the cu besaon
sl the forut Cabamet meeting foliowing the Frrudental cecten of
Nowrmber 1940 The mescapable conchoan from ths bacral patemn
s that the delay was motnseed by politeal comsdbersmom.

By the participants’ cwn acomnts, there i no rational explanation
for maintaining the rucheson of loval ethnic Japanese from the West
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Coast for the eighteen mooths after May 1843—except political pres-
suire and fear. Cortainly there was no justification arising out of military
ECessity.

The Comparisons
Ta either side of the Commission’s acoount of the exclusion, re-

moval and detention, there is a version argued by various witnesses
that makes & radically different analysis of the events. Some contend
that, forty years later, we cannot reereate the atmosphere and events
of 1942 and that the extreme measures taken then were solely to protect
the nation’s safety when there was no reasonable slternative. Others
see in these events only the animus of racial hatred directed toward
people whose skin was oot white. Events in Hawaii in World War 11
and the historical treatment of Germans and German Amerieans shows
that neither analysis is satisfactory.

Heeaii, When Japan sttacked Pearl Harbor, nearly 158,000 per-
soms of Japanese ancestry lived in Hawaii—more than 35 percent of
the population, Surely, if there were dangers from espionage, sabotage
and fifth column activity by American citizens and resident aliens of
Japaness ancestry, danger would be greatest in Hawaii, and one would
anticipate that the most swift and severe measures would be taken
there. But nothing of the sort happened. Less than 2,000 cthnic Jap-
anese in Hawali were taken into custody during the war—barely one
percent of the population of Japanese descent. Many factors contrib-
uted to this reaction,

Hawaii was more ethnically mived and racially tolerant than the
West Coast. Race relations in Hawuii before the war were not infected
with the same virulent antagonism of 75 years of agitation. While anti-
Asian feeling existed in the territory, it did not represent the longtime
views of well-onganized groups as it did on the West Coast and, without
stutchood, xenophobia had no effective voiee in the Congress.

The larger population of ethnic Japanese in Hawail was also &
factor. 1t is one thing to vent frustration and historical prejudice on &
seant two percent of the population; it is very different 1o disrupt a
local eeonomy and tear a soclal fabric by locking up more than one-
third of a territory’s people. And in Hawaii the half-measure of exchi-
siom F-R'.I'IJ I'I'I.Il.iu-r}' Areas Wﬂi‘lu have bcm mm#ﬁ!—

inhrgesucial terms, the Army had Mhmmtrnl ufda.}r—
to-day events in Hawail. Murﬁnlhwwuwinnmm 1541,
suspending the writ of habeas corpus, so that through the eritical first
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tion of German Americans and resident German aliens. This history
is mude even more disturbing by the shsence of an extensive history

of anti-German agitation before the war.

I

The promulgation of Executive Order H066 was not justified by
military necessity, and the decisions which followed from it—deten-
tion, ending detention and ending exclsion—were not driven by analysis
of military conditions. The broad historical causes which shaped these
decisions were rice prejudice, war hysteria and a failure of political
leadership. Widespread ignorance of Japanes: Americans contributed
to a policy conceived in haste and executed in an stmosphere of fear
and anger at Japan. A grave injustice was done to American citizens
and resident aliens of Japanese ancestry whao, without individual review
or iny probative evidence against them, were excluded, removed and
detained by the United States during World War I1.

In memoirs and other statements after the war, many of those
involved in the exclusion, removal and detention passed judgment on
those events. While believing in the context of the time that evacuation
was & legitimate exercise of the war powers, Henry L. Stimson rec-
ngnm:dthnt“mhnuldrbcus&lisfumedmmatiunmapﬁmnd
injustice.” In his autobiography, Francis Biddle reiterated his heliefs
at the time: “the program was ill-advised, unnecessary and unneces-
sarily cruel.” Justice William O, Douglas, who joined the mujority
opinion in Korematsy which held the evicuation eomstitutionally per-
missible, foumd that the evacuation case "was ever on my cmscience.”
Miltom Eisenhower described the evacuation to the relocation camps
as "an inhuman mistake.” Chief Justice Earl Warren, who had urged
Hinuﬁ&nulltmwyﬂem&ﬁﬁmﬂ,mm*] have since
mmmuﬂm“'dﬁ&m]ﬂvmmnymmﬁng
'Lhﬁmnmmiﬂm}ﬂ'ﬂ“ﬁﬂimﬂﬁﬂicrﬁnnmueptdﬁﬂainm
and the rights of citizens. ™ Justice Tom G, Clark, who had been lisison
between the Justics Department and the Western Defense Comeand,

cmﬂllﬁci"lnohngbﬂuuitlodly[ih:m]mﬂf[wm.
a mistake.™
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Hosptal ot Tarome Wshingaon.

m:_dhhﬂiﬁbilr—'—
i emmre thete ety The Alewts were rvarusted from as active theatre
of e mdeed, & weve tken prisceer on Aty by the japanese It
e clearly the sty s belicf thar evacsstus of moo-euliiary per-
s e abvisabie. The Sl of sulitery personses] were evacasted
St s wihrn Alpot rometes wery vacwstrd the whate wachers
! grremrnt erpie=t 0o e miaecs wevr cvacssed with S
Emwptum: b wtal et gpes B hee ees mabe sl e
propie deect’s repioned o marreieed wark

The Aleuts’ Camps

Aty were subyerted B deplorsble comitues followng the evac-
ustwn. Typieal housing was a0 shandoned gold mine or fish cannery
buddings which were imadequate i both scovmmedation and ot
tiows. Lack of medical care contributed to extonsive disesse and desth

Conditions ot the Funter Bay cannery in southeastern Alaska,
whwre 300 Aleuts were placed, provide s graphic impression of one of
the worst comps. Many buildings had not boen ocoupied for a dozen
years and were used ooly for storage. They were insdequate, partic-
ularly for winter use. The majority of evacuees were foreed 1o live in
two dormitory-style buildings in groups of s o thirtees people in
wrvms i 19 ten foct square. Until fll, many Aleuts were forced 1o
shewrpe i rebeys becunse of back of space. The guariens were 25 rundown
& they werr cramped. As oo costeeguoeeny st reported
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and there [which] 1 considered distinet fire hazarths. . . . [A] mother

and as many as three or four children were found in several beds

and two or three children in one bunk . . . The pwrbage cans
were overfiowing, human cxcreta was found next to the doors of
the cabins and the drainage bozes into which dislreater and kitchen

waste was o be placed were filthy bryond description . _ . I

realize that during the first beo days we ww the commumity at its

worst. | know that there were very few adults who were well . . .

The water supply is discolored, contaminated and unattractive.

. . . [Flacilities for boiling 2and cooling the water are not readily

mailable . . . | moticed soome lack of the teaching of basic public

heealth fundsmentals. Wark with soch 2 small group of people who
had been wards of the government fior 3 long period of time should
have brooght better results It is strange they oould have
reverted from 8 state of thrift and cleanliness on the Islands to the

present state of Glth, despair, and complete lack of civic pride. 1

realize, too, that at the time T saw them the community was langely

made up of women and children whose hushands were not with
them. With proper facilities for leadership, guidsnce snd stimu-
lation . . . the situstion could have been quite different.

In the fall of 1942, the only fulltime medical care st Funter Bay
was provided by two nurses who served both the cannery camp and &
camp at & mine across Funter Bay, Doctors were only temporarily
assigned to the camp, often remaining for only a few days or weeks.
The infirmary st the mining camp was a three-room bungalow; at the
cannery, it was & room bwenty feet square. Medical supplics were
scarce.
Epiclernics raged throughout the Aleuts’ stay in southesstern Aliska,
berculosis. Twenty-fve died at Funter Bay in 1943 alone, and it is
estimated that probebly tew percent of the evacusted Alewts died duor-
ing their two or three year stay in southeastern Alasks

To thee inadequate comditions was added the isolstion of the camp
sites, where climatic and prographic conditions were very unlike the
in part by government cfiorts to keep the Pribsilovians, t least, togrther
w0 that they might be retumed to harvest the fur sesh, &n enterprise
economically vahuable w the povernment. Indeed 8 group of Pribslow
fans were taken back 10 their islands in the middle of the evacustion
period for the purpose of seal harvesting.

The standurd of care which the government owes to those within
suffering and Joss of life to the Aleuts.

53-124 - B2 - 2
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Beturn to the Islands

The Aleuts were only slowly returned to their islands. The Pri-
bilovians were able to get hack to the Pribilofs by the late spring of
1944, nine menths after the Japanese had been driven out of the
Aleutian chain, The return to the Aleutians themselves did not take
place for another year. Some of this delay may be fairly attributed to
transport shortage and problems of supplying the islands with housing
and food so that normal life coubd resume. But the government’s record,
especially in the Aleutians, reflects an indifference and lack of urgeney
that lengthened the long delay in taking the Aleuts home. Some Aleuts
were not permitted to return to their homes; to this day, Attuans
continue to be excluded from their ancestral lands.

The Aleuts returned to communities which had been vandalized
and Iooted by the military forces. Rehabilitation assessments were
made for cach village; the reports on Unalaska are typical:

All buildings were damaged due to lack of normal care and upkeep.

The furnishings, clothing and personal effects, remaining in
the homes showed, with few exceptions, evidence of weather
damage and damage by rats. Inspection of contents revealed ex-
tensive evidence of widespread wanton destruction of property
and vandalism. Contents of closed packing boxes, trunks and cup-
boards had heen ransacked. Clothing had been scattered over
floors, trampled and fouled. Dishes, furniture, stoves, radios,
phonographs, books, and other items had been broken or dam-
aged. Many items listed on inventories furnished by the oocupants
of the houses were entirely missing. . . . It appears that armed
forees personnel and civilians alike have been responsible for this
vandalism and that it oecurred over a period of many months.

Perhaps the greatest loss to personal property occurred at the
time the Army conducted its clean up of the village in June of

1843 Large numbers of soldiers were in the area st that time

remaoving rubbish and cutbuildings and many houses were entered

unefficially and souvenirs and other articles were taken.

When they first returned to the islands, many Aleuts were foroed
to camp because their farmer homes (those that still stood) had not yet
been repaired and many were now uninhabitable. The Aleuts rebuilt
$.P.i.r ]i'::u:s themselves, They were “pald” with free groceries until

eir hoones were repaired; food, building and r supplies were
procured locally, mostly from military surplus. e

The Alewts suffered material losses from the govornment's oocu-
petion of the islands for which they were never Fully recompensed, in
cush or in kind. Devout followers of the Russian Orthodox faith, Aleuts
treasured the religious icons from cearise Russia and other family heir-
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Before Pearl Harbor

Omn December 7, 1941, Japan attacked and crippled the American flect
at Pear]l Harbor., Ten weeks later, on February 19, 1942, President
Roosevelt signed Executive Order 9066 under which the War De-
partment excluded from the West Coast everyone of Japanese ances-
try—both American citizens and their alien parents whe, despite long
residence in the United States, were barred by federal law from be-
coming American citizens. Diriven from their homes and farms and
businesses, very few had any choice but to go to “relocation centers™—
Spartan, barrack-like camps in the inhospitable deserts and mountains
of the interior.*

*“There i a continuing controversy over the contention that the camps
were “concentration camps and that any other term is a cuphemism. The
government documents of the time frequently use the term “concentration
camps,” but after World War IT, with full realization of the atrocities committed
by the Nazis in the death camps of Europe, that phrase came to have a very
difficrent meaning. The American redocation centers were bleak and bare, and
life in them had many hardships, but they were not extermination camgs, nor
did the American government embrace 8 policy of torture or liquidstion of the
ethnic Japanese. To wse the phrse “concentration camps” SUmMmans up iMAges
and ideas which are inaccurste and unfair. The Commission has vsed “relo-
cation centers” and “relocstion camps,” the usual term used during the war,
not to goss over the hardships of the camps, but in an efort to find an
historscally fuir and accurate phrase,

2T
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War inflamed masy passions in the country. Ou the West Coust
it rekindled the fean and prejodices of long yeans of anti-Asian agitation
carried on by orpanized interest groups. Decades of discrimination
mmm&qu-dp&m)‘wm
dmmwmﬁnumm“&
and impotent anger against the Japanese as they swept through the
Philippines and down the Malay Peninsuli to Singapore. Reports of
American buttleficld deaths kit sparks in ome community after another
up il down the West Coast, where fear of invasion was very real. In
significant messure, the evacuation decision was ignited by the fire of
those emotions, especially in California,

‘The hostile reception and treatment of Japanese immigrants on
the West Coast are the historical prelude to the exclusion and evac-
uation. Federa] immigration and naturalization laws, frequently spon-
sored and hacked by westerners, demonstrate this public hostility to
Asians, particularly the Japanese. Laws which prohibited the owner-
ship of land by Japanese resident aliens and imposed segregation in
the schouls tell the same story in the western states. Public perceptions
and misconceptions about the fapanese in this country were afiected
by myths and steventypes—the fear of “the vellow peril” and antago-
mistic miscadentinding of the cultural patterns of the Japanese in
F&hhﬂ.w"ﬂhdmdm
paratively bolsted—a ready target ot a time of fear and anxiety.

IMMIGRATION AND LEGALIZED DISCRIMINATION
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being a free white person. ™ Following revision of the statute sfier the
Civil War, the act was read to prohibit any Chinese immigrant from
becoming an American citizen ® It was genenally assumed that the
prohibition would estend to the Japanese a5 well and, in 1922, the
Supreme Court interpreted the statute to prohibét the naturalization
of amy Oviental * Although immigrants from Asis could not become
American citizems, their children born ca American soll became ats-
zens by birth * The Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution as-
sured to everyone born in the United States the rights and privileges
of citizenship without regard to the status of one’s parents.

The Chinese began immigrating into this country under these
adverse conditions in the middle of the nineteenth century, several
decades before significant Japanese immigration began. California was
at the center of American discriminstion against the Chinese and, later,
aguinst the Japanese. By 1870 approximately ten percent of California’s
population was Chinese. A great many of the Chinese immigrants were
in 1568 they were discharged wherever they happened to be. This left
almost 10,000 unemployed Chinese in a depressed lubor market, and
anti-Chinese sentiment became widespread and vocal throughout the
west, The finuncial recession of the 1870°s was blamed on “cheap Mon-
golian labor,” and protests were directed against the Chinese and their
employers. The San Francisco labor movement prospered by using
anti-Chinese agitation as an organizing tool. The Chinese threat, first
characterized as unfair labor competition, eventually induded claims
of racial impurity and injury o western civilization. The press and
political parties pandered to these anti-Chinese attitudes. After 1571,
both the Republican and Democratic parties in Californis had anti-
Chinese planks i their platiorms. Moreover, an independent work-
ingmen's party organized in California around populian snd anti-Chinese
measures *

Fressures mounted for the federal government to probutit Chinese
immigration * Under that pressure, Congress passed 3 Chinese excho-
sion bill in 15850 which President Hayes vetoed. In 1852, President
Arthur vetoed a similar bill, however, as 3 compromise he signed into
law a ten-year suspension of Chinese immigration ” The Chinese Ex-
clusion Act of 1552 was renewed in 1882 and made permanent in 1902.*
Immigration and naturalization of the Chinese was not permitted until
1943, when the United States was allied with China in the Second
World War.*

Significant Japanese immigration into the United States did not
start until the late nineteenth century. In 1853, Commodore Matthew
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As reports of better economic conditions in the United States were
oarried back 1 Japan, more immigrants wore drawn 1o this country.
I dlebitiom, the Chinese Exclusion Act of 1852 wis pervelved to leave
roorm for cheag agrieultural lsbor, which ullowes! (mmigrathon and re-
cruitment of Japanese from both Hawail and Jupen. ' The Alasks gold
rush of 1867-6 drained the Pacific northwest of lsbor seeded to link
Seatthe and Taceena with the ot by railrosd, o Japaness laborers wers
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Their occupations were overwhelmingly masusl but their hard work,
thrift, respect for education and social stability were a firm foundation
fior & better economic future =

The Japasese who emigrated to the mainland United States settied
on the West Coast, primarily in California In 1900 41% of the ethaic
group and, in 1940, 70% had made their homes in California = No-
merically, they remained a tiny minority, muking wp osly 21% of
California’s populstion st the time of grestest concentration, and in
1940 cosnprising only 1 6% of the population of Calforns. mest heavily
concentrated in and sround Los Angeles =

The Calfornia of 1900 to 1920 was highly heterogenecus, based
on expansive resources, space and an espanding economy. A state
largely populated by citizen newcomers, Califrnia society was unin-
tegrated, unstable, mobile and loosely organized. The state was made
up of culturally insulated and isolated commumities. Without a general
sense of community or purpose. many ocutsiders, such as the “Oldes™
of the Depression years, were regarded as inferior,

The Japanese immigrants were éxcluded from political life by the
prohibition against naturalization and were effectively barred from par-
ticipation in soctal and economic affairs, As with many new immigrant
groups, they brought with them customs and mores which also tended
to set them apart in the early years after arrival. There was # sustaining
pride in the Japanese people and its culture, which honored traditional
social values snd cobesive gromp relationships, with particular def-
erence to those in positions of authority and status within the family
and the community. ™ There were also the obvious differences of lan-
guage and religion These factors promoted internal solidarity within
the Japanese community and, combined with the hostile nativism of
Califenia, placed the busei® in comparative tsolation in the public and
economic lfe of the West Coast

The Japenese were a major foces of Californis politics in the 5y
years before World War 11 Their small sumbers, their political im-
potence and the racial feelings of many Caliorsians fequently com-
bined with resentment st the immigrants’ willingness to labor for low
pay o make them 3 convenient target for desnagogues or agitstors.

*The Luset are the immigrant groerstion from Japas, the first generaton
born in the United States are Nissi_dbe second groerstion bors bere, Sernees
Those who returned to Japan for education are termed Kibei and the entire
ethnic Japanese group in America are Nikkei
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In the same year, the American Federation of Labor adopted &
resalution aking Congress o re-enact the Chinese exclusion Law and
inchude all “Mongolisn™ labor. Also in 1900, both the Democrats snd
the Populists of California adopted expressly anti-Japanese planks in
restriction on “cheap foreign labor.” In November 1901, a Chinese
Exchusion Convention met in San Francisco, Designed to instruct Con-
gress to extend the Chinese Exclusion Act, the convention determined
nit to seek Japanese exclusion only because the request would dissipate
its measage, Contemporary accounts of that convention show & growing
hostility in California toward Japanese immigrants, *

After Japan's striking victory over Hussia in 1904-05, fear of Jap-
anese tervitorial acvances focled the anth-Japanese immigration forces—
mervies, novels sod newspapers reiterated sccunations that Japanese in
America were merely agents of the Emperor.™ [n February 1905, The
San Frenciao Chronicle began o series of anti-Japanese articles, the
first entitled “The Japancse Invasion, the Problem of the Hour.” Al
thousgh the motivation for these artickes i unclear, they evoked strong
Fesponscs, sorme San Francises clenpy and the Japanese residents them-
sehves chyected, but the poblic in grneral npported the paper’s views.
In early March, both howses of the Calsfornia legislature: passed aati-
Japanese resclotises ™

Thes is May 1905, delegates from 67 ;
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propaganda. ™ By 1908, the League had over 100,000 members and
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8 affiliated groups. mostly bbor unmons. ® The Leagor's presence
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The sarut sam of Hhe aon Jacesrer actomt ey the Losroe
-t wprepate schockchidres of Japanese smcestny s M 1905
the San Frascmo Schd Bosrd ssnounced o puodey of reessong fap-
s ptudents to the ane Orestal school & that “our chidrrn shocid
ot be placed o wey positos where thetr youthdul emprescns ey
be afectrd by sssocastuw with pupih of the Mongoles race.” On
Diecembser 11, 1006, under imcreasing publec presssre sprrred by 2
cuaitiom oo Labwsr mnd pobiticians, the school board issued an order which
barred Asian children, incoding Japaness, from white primany schooks.
To pul the problem in perspective, only 80 Japanese students, 25 of
them born in the United States, were then in the San Francisco public
schools, ™

School segregation in San Francisco made discrimination against
the Jupunese wn bwue of international diplomacy, The school board’s
arder cansed serious embarrassment to President Theodars Roosevelt,
who learned of it through reports from Tolyo. Concerned sbout main-
taining sound diplomatic relations with Japan, which had just dem-
onstrated dy military power by resumndinghy defeatiog Fussis i the
Fiussos Japuanesc War, Boomevell began segotutons with Calfornas
Ay conssdtatew the Fresdent spreed that f the San Frammos: School
Board rescuaded oy order asd f Caliores reéranesd toom passeeg more
ot japeers bynlive be woold cegotaste with Juges o restrwt
areton B & masscy whick dil oof eyuere thet cosseny & pride
Fonmarr® abes wraf o Srsaage = Coomew opprsacg whesd wir=gatws
gt bt of Tl ot cppeator Sreeted
m vwwt Foasrvel ded pot pres e estwrshostes Fpsdstcs ac
s mrnagr we rrparded = 2 oot o placste Japes o B fues of
the schund bowrd arder =

Te carry out Premdess Foosrvek's part of the fargas with Jages
Sevrvtary of Stabe Flibe Root drafeed | and Comgrrs passrcd. bepaianos
prmerally sutbeorieng immmEratioe restracteon b ssh wtermedute
points s Hewas. On March J4, 1907, the Prosdest sssed an Exec-
trtrve Uhrdder barring further Japanese imrmagrate from Hewed, Mewes
and Canads ™
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The sext phase of anti Japaness sctily, agam cenbered in Cabie
fornia. was as offort o probebt lend cwnership by Japaness immi-
grunts. s partwularty bursh messure o bght of the fact that s very high
peroentage of the immigrants were farmen. In 1913, the Democrats
and the Frogressives, led by the Governor of California and supported
by some farmens who feared sconomic competition, pressed the Cal-
thornia legisluture to enact such a law. President Wilon lobbied against
puvisigr, ax did major businesses intevested In pood relations with
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and the California Real Estate Association opposed land cwnership by
Japanese aliens. ** Big business, inclnding the Chamber of Commercs,
opposed a prohibition on iImmignation as 3 possible interference with
trade, ® and large-scale sgriculture interested in access to cheap labor,
took the mme position.

The breadth of the anti-Japsnese groups, and their unity, wese
indeed eflective. All united in adopting & five-point plan:

L Cancelistion of the "Centiemen’s Agreement.”

2 Prohibition agsinst the entry of "Picture Brides.”
3. Rigorous prohibition against farther immigration from Japan:

medmmhmwhmm
from American citizenship: and

5. Amendment of the federal Constitution to provide that no child

born in the United States showld become an American citizen

unless both parents were of a race eligible for citizenship, *
In 1920 the groups in California succeeded in passing an initiative
which further restricted Japanese landholding in California. The Los
Angeles County Asistic Association urged Californians to vote yes on
Proposition One to “Save California—Stop Absorption of State’s Best
Acreage by Japanese Through Leases and Evasions of Law.™ This
measure was an sttempt to shore up the Alien Land Act of 1913. The
18920 law prohibited any further transfer of land to Japanese nationals
forbade them to les+e land, barred any corporation in which Japanese
held a majority of stock from lease or purchase of land, and prohibited
immigrant parents from serving 35 guardians for their minor citizen
children *

Japancse parents from acting s guardians for their children was ruled
unconstituticnal * Because thers were many citizen childres by 1920,
I had some effect: m combination with the prohibetos on immigrs-
ton, it reduced the sumber of acres held in California by persons of
Japanese ancestry ™ Similar anti Japanese sentiment lod to the enace-
ment of parallel anti-alien land legislation in Arizons, Washingion snd
Oregon,™ even though by 1920 oaly 4,151 Japanese lived in Oregon
and owned only 2,185 acres of land =

From 1908 to 1924, while the Gentlomen's Agrecment was in
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effoct, 158,675 Japanese immigrated into the umtincn_ul Uni!_rd b'_tm“
Many immigrants. however, rohurned to Japan with their children.
The 1910 census shows 72,157 persons of Japanese ancestry in the
continental United States: the 1920 census shows 111,010 and the 1530
consus shows 1388347 Nevertheless, in large part becanse the
Gentlemen's Agreement had been represeated to California as an ex-
chusion act,® many wrongly believed that Japan had breached the
Agreement * This mistaken view as well as the political and perceived
pcomomic interests of the snti-Japanese groups aided the drive to end
all Japanese immigration. In 1920, the exclusionists © rmed th, japa-
s Exclusion League of Califormia, arganized under V. 8. McClatchy
and State Senator Inman to seek passage of exclusion legislation.
MeClatchy was once publisher of The Secromento Bee and a director
of the Associated Press; From 1920 to 1932 be represented the California
Joint Tmmigration Committee Fubilich adept, MceClatchy was an un-
tiring and surcessful advocate of Japanese exclusion—not on the basis
of prejudice, he claimed, but because the Japanese were superior
workers and thus an cconomic threat ™ In 1924, at the culmination of
isolationist trends in the United States and particularly of the anti-
Japanese movement, the federal immigration law was changed ex-
presshy to exclude the Japanese.

After 1924, there were no major suecessful legisltive initiatives
against the ethnic Japanese until after Pearl Harbor, but anti-Japanese
activity continued. For instance, there were repeated efforts to pass
statutes banning aliens not eligible for citizenship from employment
in the government and on public works projects, ™ and in 1538 the
California legistiture defeated a bill which would have removed the
Issei from the tuma-fishing industry in San Diego and San Pedro. " The
Joint Immigration Committee worked to insure that the exclusion law
was not amended, aided in the passage of alien land laws in the interior
states and influenced the deletion of passages favorable to Japanese in
textbooks used in Californiz and Hawsil ® Anti-Japanese agitation and
sentiment continted to be part of the public life of the West Coast,

:-'H'E ROOTS OF PREJUDICE—MYTHS, STEREOTYPES AND
EARS

Stereotypes and fears mixed with economic self-interest, often growin
out of and contributing to racial antipathy, were the seedbed for d'u:
politics of prejudice which bred discriminatory Laws,
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“The Yellow Peril™
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The uneapected military victories of the Japanese over the Rus-
sians i 190408 addded Fuel 1o the fire. After the Nusso-Japanese War,
rumons covulated m California that Japan woukd organioe the wealth
and manpower of China to provide and equip armies that would revive
the power of Genghls Khan and create & real “yellow peril"—hordes
of Asany overpowering and subjugating a scattered white population
strung out wbong the immense Pacific Coast. Fear of possilile war with
Japan, & now-powerful country, exacerbated these anxieties, Much
anti-Japanese activity in the United States, including the Alien Land
Law of 1920 and the Oriental Esclusion Act of 1624, provoked strong
protest from Japan and fostered frars of war. As Japan grew more
sggrewive and hostile sfier P61, amuety revived. Japan’s imvasion of
Manchuria, ity desertion of the Leagne of Nationa, #ts shandonment
ﬂm--ﬂiﬁﬁhﬁ.mi&d
hhnhdhhi——huh-ﬁf-hi
BT fed prubic comerrs aboot war wirh Japms snd, sicded by the press
mevrved brw of the yrliow perd &

Fogmler wra=g the movies. snd the Hearst mrwspageers = par-
ﬁ*._-dﬁi-."l'ﬂi'—hlhl_’ih
Sonal Fils Servies Corp. in T9I7, and “Shadous of the West. ™ cir
nhdhhl——l__hﬁ#j——.—_
as meaky, treschrros speots of 3 mibarsn Japen weking to comtrol
ﬁhm‘h-ﬂmhh“hlh
ind Wallacr Irem showt dangrrs of Japasese lamd cwnership were
seralized i the Seterday Ecesing Pout and Hesrsl ' Comoplites ™
Frrudoss tentifie bitrrature began o disns the mdenonty of Eastern
and Southern Europran stock a well as the “yollow prophe ™ Madison
Grant's 1917 work The Pasving of the Great Race argued that immi-
gration was “mongreliring” Americs; Lothrop Stoddand published The
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Ristng Tide of Color Against White World Supremacy in 1920 Stoddard
dwwmﬂuw—ﬁ*“ﬂ‘_ﬂ:
Purported espicsage by those of Japasese sncestry in the U
States was svanced a5 one threat from the yellow peril Allegations
that persons of Japanese descent were & “secvet army” for Japan and

the Emperor were constantly repeated by ant-Japanese sstators.

The “Japanese Birthrate"

Fears of Japsncse expansioniem and the “yellow peril” were fed
by wild overestimation of the birthrate among persons of Japanese
sncestry in the continental United States. When the 1990 Alen Land
Law was being consdered, Governor Willsm Stephens of California
asserted that the grestest danger to white Californians came from the
high birthrate of the Japanese. A state report sought to demonstrate
that the Jupanese birthrate was three times that of white citizens of
the state. The report failed, however, to take account of the fact that
the pattern of Japanese immigration led to older husbands bringing to
the United States young brides who, married anly a few years at the
thne of the survey, were at the peak of thelr fertility. To compare that
sample to the birthrate among all women of childbearing age in Cal-
oenin wis misleading. In fact, the long-range birthrate of the immi-
wrunt generation fell below that of the contemporary European im-
migrunt groups and only slightly above that of native whites during
mmo’;wmo'snylmmmmmm
in every state on the West Coast was lower than the birthrate of the
general populstion. The “high Japanese birthrate™ was a myth 7

Education, Religion and Asociations
Thhihﬁhzl—d-m,ch-n'—lbypidr_,m

fevms were transphanted it Japanese community I in the United

mwhmwhm‘“



froes continuing 1o bve in the United States. Dual citisemahip, porsoed
actneh of passively, wm oor contingracy meesrr Japen. o owel] o
several Buropess countries. had tradewsa®, fdbewed the prascygle of
. semputeds  cermeiey that the childres of Japmsesr satwonals re-
orden o country of bath were ctoess of Japan Expetraten oxd
ctmeesbep wth passed 5 fagms B 1916 amd 104 sedifed the jus
e prrephe however. 5 that afer 924 othen Japasese born
o the U nied States bad 0 be rrsterrd prosgpth, =th te Japuanese
comsd = order to obtmn dual clieesbep The Japasrs Asoritoe
extabdabed on the West Comst o procwie Japmsess snmagrats o
teresty. crwrmrmgrd [y to sxnaivisrs teew omey chalrires s worked
w0 trrmanate dusl ofsrmships By the 19374 omby twesty percest of
the Nine bek! dual ctioraship =

Mot to parental suthority. cducstion was the strongest mokder of
values. To preserve their cultural beritage and 10 ensure their chil-
dren’s sucvens in the Japanese community, or, if ecessary, in Japan,
lisei stromsed the bearning of the Japanese lunguage ™ Such language
imstruction was not unusul among first-genemtion immigrmt groups.,
Alarge segrment of the Nisei attended Jupanese linguage school despite
the generation gap which developed between Lisel amid Nised as the
young Japanese Amerbcans cume to identify more closely with American
values. These classes were beld after school, which made for & very
long duy of “education,” drawing resentment from many Nisei and
resulting i bew ever truly mastering Japancse. ™ The educstion pro-
ram of the whooh was diverse bt the bessms hypualhy embodied
and taught respect for parents and elders. selirohance. ohdbhratios.
hd-l-idnmhbdhh“".“!h
-Hﬁ*ﬂ-ﬁhhi&th
g monerks aved movers. all emphusorg Japeceer ethaes that m sy
matars parsliebed the Porios werk cther ~ Alluugh the schonks
e e Amercaard ovry me. they spproach depreaded o the
mdﬁﬁ—w.ﬂ_tﬂ_ﬂh
T taabar acd bmalry Sesator Damari bsne recvsnted b ropoe-
rezer @ oser sk wheol w 1536

F—hh—-ﬁ—nhhp—-ﬁﬂﬁ

Fmperee He would tit bis merscng crew-out dball o o amd

ek TYou mst remember that onby 8 trak of e

[+ you w b from your homelusd, bt there must be

no question of your loyalty. When Jupan calls, you mast know
it is Japanese blood that Bows in your veins, ™
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A*—hni:ﬂi—m-nhh&-ld

community excluded from mainstream America The length of time
ﬁﬁb-ﬂ-”&ﬂ,-“&*.-ﬁcﬁh
were sent. in consequence, the impact of the education vared comsid-
ershly. A number of those who spest masy of their formative years in
Japan found it somewhat dificult to identify end to communicate with
their American-educated peers, Nisei or Caucasian,™ although they
group, ealeuluting the total number of Kibed is not very illuminating,
but by 1940 several thovsand Nisei had had substantial education in
Japan. ™

The Buddhist church was also an educational influence for the
Nisel. Although theologically different, Buddhism and Christianity shared
work. But Buddhism was distrusted and largely misunderstood by
Caucasians,™ and even officials of Japan opposed the vigorous intro-
duction of Buddhist missionaries into America ™ Maoreover, the Issei
believed that joining Clwistian churches would epen more doors for
them in terms of employment and social acceptance ™ By the 1530's
balf the Nisei were Christians™ and, just before the war, in Seattle’s
ethnx Japanese community, Christians cutnumbered those subscrib-
ing to Orsental refigions ®

The Shanto relagon had very few follower and was bess understood

Buddhom. state Shinto developed luter and was less & religion than 2
M-ﬁ.d&m-ﬂ“hmhh
fervor but its influence among Japanese in Americs was small. perd
because its peak of infiucace came caly e most of the lssei gen-
eration had left for the United States and reached sdulthood In fact.
‘“‘*mmdmﬁu

dlrlm':h:lh&eh-'-g'.)-d_z blications by
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Excluded from politics and many social functions of the white-
dominated social structure on the West Coast, lssel formed 2 multi-
plicity of ethnic organizations and associstions. Initislly sssocistions
were established mainky for social purposes and were called kemfinkei.
since members of each assocation were from the same ken or provines
of Japan. These develaped and perpetusted an nner community within
the entwe Japanese community . The kenpnkass were mamby ugnifrant
to the immigrant generstion and the Nisei showed little interest in
them Other lisei sssociations sprang up as well By 1905, in San
Francisco alone, fifieen ben societies: scven religions organizations:
and sssocistions for tailors, cobblers, restauranteurs, barbers and
houseworkers, a students’ dub: and 2 residence for women were es-
tablished ™ Politically strongest were the Japanese Associations, es-
tablished in response to increased anti-Japanese activity. The most
important function of the Association was to serve as & legal adviser
and lobbyist. Critics among the white majority in California claimed
the Association was under the direct influence of Japan, and suspicion
of the Associstion and its leaders grew, peaking at the the start of the
WII'.H

Nisel, seeking to assert their citizenship rights and to champion
the rights of Japanese Americans and Japanese immigrants, formed
two independent organizations immediately after World War 1: The
American Loyalty Leagoe in San Franciseo and the Progressive Citi-
zens’ League in Seatthe. These groups had little influence until the
late 19205, when many Nisei reached adulthood. The two merged into
a mational organization, the Japanese American Citidbns Leagoe (JACLL
The League was too young and poorly organized to achieve much
success in improving the social and economic stature of the Nisei before
the war, but #t did provide an sssnciation separate from the Tssei ™
and education in Japan. forcagn religon. particularty Shinto, and ethne
organizations, particularly groeps of Issed veterans who had senved i
They were viewed as proof that the ethnic Japanese would not or counld
not assimilate to “American” e and represented an alien threat 1o
the dominant white society. It bore 2 kinship to the know-nothing
nativism that sprang up on the East Coast during the European im-
migrations of the nincteenth century. The ethnic institutions were also
wrongly viewed as mechanisms through which the Japanese govern-
~ ment could influence and control the Issei and Nisel. Unfortunately,
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there was little informed American opinion to counter these exager-
s, slarmist views

FCONOMIC STATUS

The relutive economic status of the Nikkel affected anti-Japanese ag-
jtation i the United States as did general economic conditions. Fre-
quently, snti-Japanese sctivity increased during periods of recession if
competition from the ethnic Japancse was porceived s an coomomic
thwrat ™ This makes an understnding of the eromomic position of the
Nikkri important to comprohending both the prewar and wartime
bstory

Since most of the Japanese who immigrated to the United States
had worked in agriculture in Japen, fBrming was by far the predominant
ooctipation among the Lisel ™ Other early immigrants found work as
manual laborers for railroads, lnmber companies, canneries or mines.
Initially, the Japanese concentrated in railroads, sugar beets and hop-
harvesting. Both types of agricultural work paid by the piece, so meager
into & wide ranpr of Brming activities, growing and coltivating citrs
frusts, vinevards, berraes sl vegprtables ™ When these immigants
st wrrived, mamy worked for §1 2 day while other workers were
earming up to $1E5 for the same work ™ They took lower wages to
they would have been shle to earm in Japan. ™

About half the Japanese in California were engaged in agriculture.
Often, u Japanese immigrant would begin as a migrant laborer for o
yeas of two, then settle in one plice to harvest for & single farmesr.
The next step was shasecropping. Afler that, the worker would rent
H.e&rmuhl,hﬁzhy-umm&hﬂ

in liew of mrat. The goal was ownership ™ Land tenure statistics for
Caliiornis destrate the pattere®

TABLE 1: hﬂut—hufﬁ-hm

Shared Crop Loased Oumed
in acres) fin acves) fim weres)
1904 1. 572v 5,25
1906 ool nne S
1919 - “ 16, 440%

i 3,07 74,780
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| By 1910, 36,000 persons of Japancse ancestry were engaged in agri-

pe—{

~

e

i

|

culture; of these, 6,000 were independent, mostly tenant, farmers. ™

The skills of the lsei a5 intensive farmers were rewarded. In 1917,
for cxample. the average production per acre among all California
farmers was less than $42 for the sverage baei it was $141.* In 1920,
the market value of the crops produced by Calffornis Issei was 867
million, or over 0% of the total California valoe. They were shie o
develop marginal areas eSectively. In part because of the slien land
lews, the Japanese selected quick-growth crops which required min-
imal capital investment. for instsace in southern California, they con-
centrated en truck farming rather than citrus growing ™

In Oregon by 1940 the Nikkei grew an estimated $2.7 million
worth of produce. In Washington in that year, they raised more than
$4 million of produce. They also commenced farming in states where
they had come 1o work on the railroads: Utsh, Wyoming, Montana,
Nebraska, Idaho, Colorado and Nevada. '™

After World War 1, total acreage under Japanese cultivation de-
clined. By 1841, the value of all crops from Nikkei farms in California
was 332 milkion (compared to the World War 1 high of 855 million).
The decline was brought about by reduced Japunese acreage as well
as plummeting crop values during the Depression. ™ Nevertheless,
the Nikkei were important to the California agricultural economy; they
were expocted to produce 30-40% of the state’s truck crops in 1942.'®

Because of hostility and discrimination by whites, the Japanese
entered agricultural produce distribution, primardly in Los Angeles,
where they came to dominate the fruit and vegetable supply system
by 1940 % The Jspancse also entered produce marketing in Fresno,
Sacramento, Sesttle and Salt Lake City; in San Francisco, however,
they were eacluded from produce marketing ™

The Nikkei were also shophrepers, primarily serving their own
community A detailed study of the Nikderi in Los Angeles (about one-
third of the Japanese in the United States) shortly before World War
11 determined that most of those in bosiness operated umall enterprises
with low capital investment that survived beesuse of the unpaid labor
of Gmily members. "™ Before World War I, the Nisei were gradually
moving into clerical work, seeking the security of jobs over the status
of independent enterprise. ™ Other cerupations of Nilei before World
War [T included fishing, fish cannery work, housework and gardening.

Few were professionals.™ This was so despite remarkable edu-

cational achievements. In 1940, the median education for all people

of Japanese descent 25 years old and older was 8.6 years, compared
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with 8.8 years for Californians and 8.6 years for the entire United
States population. But these pumbers inchuded the Tssei, who typically
had few years of schooling. for Nisci 25 years old and clder, the 1940
median education was 12.2 yesry in Califorsis. ™ Cootinuing discrim-
ination made finding s job difficult for college-educated Nisei and
prevented s great many from entering higher professional, white collar
or skilled oocupations. ™ By 1940, only 960 persons of Japanese an-
cestry were employed ws professionals in Californin, and the main
source of white collar employment was federal civil service. '

The estimated median mcome for the Nikked in Californis m 1940
was $622. This romperes with & medin income for the entire United
States kabor forer of $627 and for California of 8552 in the same year.
In 1540, the Nikkei had high rates of employment: 96.7 percent of
those in the lobor force were employed, compared to 85,6 percent for
the entire Callfornia population. '™ This higher rate may, however,
e & subntantio] prroentape of low-pas) Bmik workers

Ecomerra schancement for the immigrants was built on berd work,
Frumality and wilkingress o cve and mvest Individeal ~fort was aided
by stable Emily strcture and by ethnic organizations soch s credit
associations. Very few Japanese went on relief during the Deprossion.
But such sell-improvement Frequently brought resentment from eco-
nomsc competitors, o that lahoren and Liter ndependent Barmens grew
entagrmistic bo the Nikdes 25 their coonomic seli interest war af
fected "5V 5 McChtchy was particularly direct in expressing these
views, arguing that Japanese immigration should be cut off becanse
the immigrants were superior workers sgainst whom West Coast whites
could not compete,

RACE RELATIONS IN THE UNITED STATES

The status and treatment of bssei and Nisei is best understood agai
against
hhdpmﬂi&emm‘nhm;mnﬁ&mwmﬂ
hhm&%‘“hmﬂmhh
mwm.hﬂmﬁumﬂmﬂh The
constitutional promise of equal
tmhn}i'ﬂ\ehwﬁrdlmlrmrdln-d'm u-eednll::r
bmmbﬂﬂﬁem“hﬁudmmmd
Mwﬁﬂ!ﬂhd—mmmwﬂ
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of equality, bowever, was rarcly met. “Scaentific” studees, based =
purt on wtellgeror besting widehy used by the mulitary durng World
War | and in part on views of cvglstum, bept slive the theory that
blarks werr milerer sd thet there was o bierarchy of copabaley snd
At et areng the reers. Wihatever the rrass. or sty sack
o thee 1 memtry burberved m fosderwrrsl s dofle e e e practaced
Busr belwh gt wes o of decwreatse o worotoe

Whale ra decrrenstan wis tosl devph eetrocied = e
south the problers s citwnal B 1580 blards wrrr s eger o
brmih comsrntraed @ the suth In the eardy 1900 cechasaratoe
of aprmulters! produetes ® the sooth destroased the paternad debe
Prrprtustg dhasvs roppeng oo and degde ed e blska Dures
World War | they had begus migraton o the sorth snd midwrst,
e garmng el Gl @ owar industres Sawr enosgraton was
restricted by lne shorth after Workd War 1, contuserd growth of in-
dustry, particulirly during the prosperous 1920 dirw wpun increasmg
black rmigration for unskilled labor. Although the Depression inter-
rupted the process, the trend was fived. Consequently, mee relations
were no longer seen as simply a southern probilem, 19842 opened with
rece riots in Detrodt, after an aitempt to open s housing project for
Blacks in 0 white nelghborbood '

Partioularly i the south, blacks, by law, loarmed in segregated
schools, worked st segregated jobs and went home to segregated neigh-
trvity by poll tanes, literacy tests, and a system of carchully maintained
Jim Crosw lewy s practces  Elscwhere the cobo e was ompesed
b cmstomn bast o was found almost evervwhers Ble by were effectnely
banrcd froes mast cpsons In B0 professssl bascball wes sull 2
sgrvpstrd guert The bederal prvermment did srtalh smdberg o om-
frrirr with thewr statr systers pod warwl costorss. Wihes Ameres
emtered Workd War 11 blacks and whites did st min = e sroeed
o blacks wred & wremted snity thraghout e war The
Rderal povernoest arepied the prediratet cmal cwwt sl pre
wdes of the Amerems prophe And or ol # rcosces Bberalee
B Surw Deal b dome very vl bo st rgual trestment of the
ji aall

By thr tome of Prarl Harbor, ssall g of chasge could br da-
orrmed Is 1608, the Supreme Coort had beld that Mimsr could pot
efuse o provide 3 bes school for the black people of the wate /= The
cuse was the first on the long rosd o school desgregation, bat Broem
v. Boord of Education was still sixteen years swwy  And only when 2
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group led by A. Philip Randolph threatened to march on Washington
did President Roosevelt establish a Fair Employment Practices Com-
mission in January 1941 to police the practices of contractors with the
federal government.

The inconsistent impulses of the nation’s attitude toward blacks
uﬁwﬁmzhzvnitedSmmedendquUiseﬁwﬁvﬂy
captured in a diary entry of Henry L. Stimson, the Secretary of War.
He recounted his effort to dissuade Archibald MacLeish, then working
in the government's Office of Facts and Figures, from giving a speech
decrying Army discrimination against blacks. Stimson’s account com-
hines an appreciation of the injustice of past treatment of blacks and
the need for racial justice in the United States with the rarely-chal-
lenged assumption of the socicty that racial differences will persist and
that whites retain inherent racial advantages. These were views born
not of animus but of a recognition of what Stimson and many, many
others believed was a realistic appraisal of the facts of life.

I gave [MacLeish] my life history, so to speak, on the subject

hecause | have come in contact with this race problem in many

different ways during my life, 1 told him how I had been brought
up i an abolitionist Gmily, my fither fought in the Civil War,
and all my mstincts were in favor of justice to the Negro. But [

pointed cutl how this crime of our forefathers had prodeced a

problem which was almost impossible of solution in this country

and that 1 myself could see no theoretical or logical soletion for
it at war times like these, but that we should merely exercise the
utmost patien:e agd ‘?tr:c in individual c:‘_sec:.h[mtsld him of my
experience and study incompetency troops et
under white oﬁim:'rs).r and the dlsa;’::n:?onmqumm o themmz-
try and themselves which they were opening if they went into
battle otherwise, although we were doing our best to train colored
officers. 1 pm‘hntcd out IIEI ﬁd tbcmi’h leaders of the colored

Tace are secking is at the bottom i ity, and 1 ted

out the basic impossibility of social cqual«:;lgtyemue of ﬂim—

possibility of race mixture by marriage. He listened in silence and

thanked me, but I am not sure how far he is convinced. 'S
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Executive Order 9066

At dawn on Decomber 7, 1841, Japan began bombing American ships
and plines at Pearl Harbor, The attack took our forees by surprise.
Jupanese ol carriers and warships had Jeft the Kurile Ialinds for
Pearl Harbor on November 26, 1941, and Wiashington had sent & war
mwm&:pmﬂﬂrdﬂhﬂupnﬁnlﬂuhﬂ.
the Philippines, Thailssd or the Malay Feninsula. Nevertheless, the
Navy aned Army were unprepered and urvaproting. After 2 lew hours
of bombung, Jagan had klled or wounded cver 330 Amernam Teo
buaftheshigps werr destroyed, foer other wnk o ren sgrasad. & sumber
of others vesseh werr detroved or hadh daraged Cme baasdoed k-
and puicts, |

That maght Frevadent Foosovel mlormed b | ol et snd { cogres-
e brakery that be moude ek 3 derlecaten of war * U Deorssher
B the Fresdest sddressed o et sesae of Comgrom ssd engressed
the nafue s outraprd duck 2 the demape =buk e Jopasee had
dome or the de of siesy The declastes of sw pesrd = o
Bmsentg votr * Cormary = el bloerd japes st the =37 on
Deerrbee 11

At bmae w ther firet wrein of war the dnnes brteers sk omes
and Aneran Firsten, aod supporters of the svstors desearaces, w2
st sside, and the rountry united in ity determinstion W defest the
Axkpm-ﬂi.ﬁhﬂthhwuhd’-nmﬂunﬂd}dmﬂﬂ
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particularly as the Allies retreated before Japanese forces in
::E::fi:ul O the same day as Pearl Harbor, the Japanese struck
attacked the Philippines, destroying substantial numbers of American
Mmﬂmpmndm&rh{mﬂn.ﬂmmtdnyThﬁﬂﬂdmhnﬂdn&
and within days two British battleships were sunk off Malaysia. On
December 13 Guamn $ell, and on Christmas the Japanese captured
Wake: Island and] occupied Hong Kong. In the previous seventeen days,
Japan had made nine amphibious landings in the Philippines. General
Douglas MacArthur, commanding Army forces in the islands, evacu-
ated Manila on December 27, withdrew to the Bataan Peninsula, and
set up headguarters um Corregidor. With Japan controlling all sea and
sir approaches to Bataan and Comregidor, after three months the troaps
isclated there were forced to surrender unconditionally in the worst
.ﬂmericaudefeatsinncl}neﬂlvﬂWu,ﬂnFebuwaTlhebarﬂ:cfﬂur
Java Sea resulted in another American naval defeat with the loss of
thirteen Allied ships. In January and February 1942, the military
position of the United States in the Pacific was bleak indeed. Reports
of American battlefield deaths gave painful personal emphasis to the
War news.®
Pearl Harbor was a surprise. The outbreak of war was not. In
Diecember 1841 the United States was not in the state of war-readiness
which these who anticipated conflict with the Axis would have wished,
bsut it was by no mesns unaware of the intentions of Japan and Germany.
The President had worked for some time for Lend-Lease and other
measures to support the western democracies and prepare for war. In

*5ome have argued thut mistreatment of American soldiers by the Jup-
anese Army—hor instance:, the strocities of the Bataan Death March—justifies
or excuses the exchision and detention of American citizens of Japaness an-
cestry and resident Japanese aliens, The Commission firmly rejects this con-
tention. There is no excuse for inflicting injury oo American citizens or resident
albeni_ionchhulﬁch they bear no responsibility. The conduct of Japan and
hﬂfmltl?rriﬂwiﬂhrﬂfm:: issues which the Commission s consid-
:“‘3' “ongressiman Coffee point eloquently on December 8, 1841

Itllwﬁﬂmhmeudpmmthnmﬁnhufﬂ:e United States of Japanese
extraction will nat be made the victim of pogroms directed by self-proclaimed

patriots and by hysterical self-anointed heros,
of our Bill of Righ TS -+« Let us pot make & mockery
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1540, e b bwrvadened the polttaca! base of bin Catwnct. bringing m
-“ibhmhhlﬂ-dbh
| Doty News who had been Alred M. Landon's vice gressdentil can-
dicute i 1606 Roosevelt drafted a5 Secrrtary of War one of the most
dutogunbed Repubicas poblc servamss of bo e, Heary L Som
-.*H-ﬂ-l-—yd“l--iw‘l“-ll—-@‘
Statr wnder Hosmors St who Droepi e bee G ey g
prestige of hall & century of activr wrvier ' b coumtry carred 3
- pertslark Enpreaee weght of prscpled radtem He browghe wio
the Wir Departsent other. youager casterers, masy of whees were
feliow owvers amd Republcans ok | Ml o camme froe o promi-
sent New York lew fre o beeome first 5 Special Asststant sed then
Assntant Secretary for War, and afiey the outbresh of war be was the
el sde tw Stimeon revpousible Br Japancse A rcan questons
Roosevelt liter named Francis Biddle, a Philudelphian whe was a firm
defender of civil rights, as Attorney General when Robert Juckson was
appainted to the Supreme Court.

Ten wooks after the authreak of war, on February 19, 1942, Pres-
Mm‘hwtm&duermwmhsm
retary of War und the military commanders to whom he delegated
luﬁoﬂy.hmhndad:mypumﬁmdﬂnﬂmln
order o socure national defense objectives against smbotage and -
m.m-\h-wud.-&ehmhnwﬁﬂu
ﬂnn!-dhwdhwvﬂhﬂ-hwlﬂ
be. w0 eaclude persons of Japancse ancestry, both American citizens
- amd resident aliews, from the West Coss Onver the following maoniths
‘more than 100,000 geophe were ardered 1o lesve thes bomes and farms
and bessresses. “Voluntary” rescttiement of proph who hed bees
H-—ﬂﬂyﬂhhhm-ﬂ-ﬁ—
recognizade by thewr facaal featores was set sl St smrparmaghy
&—hu—-i_-lw!u—'.-ﬂhhh-dl-h
-h“hdh‘h“--l
protection, e possible sshotape 2= did Shoe on the Pt Const.
2nd they apposed scoepting the cthuic Japuese. Most of the evaceess
wrrr redhused h*ﬁh—nﬂmdiﬂ;
anaparted by the greramest to “relocation centers” s desclete i

As the Esecutive Order made plin, these actions were based

=pon “military secessity. ~ The government has neves fundamentally
-I*ﬁmn'u'—i-—onhr“—
- In thiee cases the Supreme Court reviewsd the Esecutive
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Ovder in the contest of comvictions for vielations of military orders
‘-—dprl—ilui.hllheﬂnﬂhﬂbmhﬁcﬁtﬂ
Hhﬁﬁhi“mr#m

government's Topresentation that exchusion evacusbion wers
:Iirm.!‘uty,ﬂ!h,ﬂtﬂ-ii&mﬁrm
cermed ahout the rights and liberties of s citinens and residents, that
it has undertsken o rxamine the ety and pose o itselil the guestion
of whether, in the best of the moment, beset by defest and fearfal of
the Future, @ justly took the proper coune for ity own protection er
made an orignal mistske of very substantisl proportion. “Peace hath
her wictoresNo bess remowned than war ™

W a policy of esclusion militarily justified as 8 precestionery
memmre? This is & core initial question because the government has
concrded st every point that there was no evidenee of sctual sshotape,
espionage or fifth cobumn activity among people of Japanese desocnt
on the West Coast in Febroary 1942, The Commanding General of
the Western Difense Command, John 1. DeWitt, put the point plainky,
conceding in his recommendstion to the War Department “[t]he very
fiuct that o sabotage has taken place to date. ™ The Justice Department,
defending the exclusion before the Supreme Court, made no claim
that there was identifisble subversive activity, " The Congress, in pass-
ing the Japanese-American Evacustion Claims Act in 1948, reiterated
the point:

[Dlespite the hardships visited upon this unfortunate racial group

by an act af the Government brought about by the then prevailing

ﬁﬂﬂmwmqﬁmummm

Fisally, the two witsesses before the Commission who were most
imvohed in the evaruatinn decision, Joba |. MeCloy and Karl B Ben-
detarn. who was first liaison betwees the War Department and the
Western Defense Command sod later General De'Witi's chief side for
the evacustion. testified that the decision was not taken on the basis
of actual incidents of expionage, ssbotage or fifth cobumn activity ®
Oue way begin, then, by cxamining the competent estimates of
pﬂehhh&ﬁhmdh_
hmm--—&mmnuumu.w
mhumhﬂh-m-'- ; Miven or



satwon of & recal proop rather than mdnadhal revees —but 8 does
sddress the snalywn thet shouk! be made s the Wir Department
:h'#-‘ﬂ'lﬂ-“_.

INTELLICENCE

The mtelaprecr wrwrs bicr te ek of sertog e shory te
Frewdest the sditer sl Seer chaped et cacteney wesrt
shwnst whether where sod whes dorptne st drected by s enessy
my be cxpevted  Intrllgrnee work consists predormenanth of analyt-
wal rolimate, pot demonsrrably comprebensve bnowledge—there may
ahwaya be another, undiscovered ring of spics or & completely covert
plar of sabsotagr Cavtion and prudence requirs that intelligenee agen
e throw the net of sespicion wide. and take messures to probect vits!
| imformation or militaridy snportant installstons At the wee time, i
e llgrnce 0o wree the emdh of 3 ety whach places central valee
on personal berty, even i time of war, 8 st oot be overshelmed
by rumors and Mights of funcy which grip a fearful, jittery public Above
ull, effective intelligenee work demands sound judgment which is im-
mume to the parsnois that trests everyone as 8 hostile suspect until his
liwyalty bs proven. In 1842, what credible threat did Japan pose to the
internal pesce and security of the United States P

It was commen wisdom thet the San mvaseons of Noresy and
Westrrn Europe had been saded by agents and svepathisen withen
the comntey weder srtack—the socalled fifth coburme— o that the
wre spproechk ool be wtcapaird froe Jeapen ® For tha resoe
imtrlagracr wa devrloped on Ao choteuny and potrarl &b col-
mmrnh @ wrll o opesesy sgents The sork bed bees ssagoed o
ﬁlﬁ*ﬂhdhﬂ'_d_bhn—_h-ﬂ
o the War Department ' The President had developed his own in-
formal intrlhgrece system throcgh Joha Franklin Carter, s journalist.
whes blped Fenmenrlt obtasn mérmation s ctamatr by raphofog
=T ootude the Eravernews! Nooe of e or Cast e operated
with the thorooghees of, wy, the modern CIA. bt they were the
st gl calorst even and eany the prermemens had

Each of these sonroes s only 3 very lissted srcartty rsb from
the rthne Japaness. mone recomemended 5 mass rachsson or detesnes
of all prople of japanese ancestry

On November 7, 1941, John Franklin Carter forwarded to the
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President a report on the West Coast situation by Curtis B. Munson,
a well-to-do Chicago businessman who had gathered intelligence for
Carter under the guise of being 4 government official.** Carter sum-
marized five points in the report, which may be all the President read;
the War Department also reviewed the report at Foosevelt's reguest. ™
Regarding sabotage and espionage, Munson wrote:
There will be no armed uprising of Japanese. There will undoubt-
wdly be some sabotage financed by Japan and executed largely by
imported agents or agents already imported. There will b-t:the
odd ease of fanaticsl sabotage by some Japanese “crackpot”™. In
each Naval District there are shout 250 to 300 suspects under
surveillance. It is easy to get on the suspect list, mercly a speech
in favor of Japan at some banguet, being sufficient to land one
there. The Intellipence Serviees are generous with the title of
suspect and are taking no chances. Privately, they believe that
only 50 or 60 in each district can he classed as really dangerous.
The Japanese are hampered as saboteurs because of their easily
recognized physical appearance. It will be hard for them to get
near anything to blow up if it is guarded. There bs far more danger
from Communists and people of the Bridges type on the Coast
than there is from Japanese. The Japanese here is almost exclu-
sively a farmer, & fisherman or a small business man. He has no
entree to plants or intricate machinery.

The Japanese, if undisturbyed and dishoyal, should be well equipped
for obvious physical espionage. A great part of this work was
probably completed and forwarded to Tokio vears ago, such as
soundings and photography of every inch of the Coast. . . . An
experienced Captain in Navy Intelligence, who has from time 1o
time and over a period of vears intercepted information Tokio
bound, siid he would certainly hate to be a Japanese coordinator
of information in Tokio, He stated that the mass of vseless infor-
mation was unbelievable. This would be fine for a fifth eolumn in
Belgium or Holland with the German army ready to march in
over the border, but thoogh the local Japanese could spare a man
who intimately knew the country for each Japanese invasion squad,
there would at least have to be a terrific American Naval disuster
before his brown brothers would need his services. The dangerous
part of their espionage is that they would be very effective as far
as movement of supplies, movement of troops and movement of
shipcnutotﬂmh-nrnmhsmdmrnihuadsismd.ﬂu}-
occupy only rarely positions where they can get to confidential
papers or in plants. They are usually, when rarely so pliced, a
subject of perpetual watch and suspicion by their fellow workers.
They would have b buy most of this type of information from
“"‘"’“"":i"m"““ sahotage largely depend

& ill commil somme v ng on imported
]mﬂMmﬁﬁdenmmﬂLﬁNemlﬁc]_
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There will be no wholehearted response from Japancse in the

United States. They may get some helpers from certain Kibed.

They will be in a position to pick up information en troop, supply

and sl:n‘p movements from local Japanese.

For the most part the local Japanese are loyal to the United

States or, at worst, hope that by remaining quiet they can avold

concentration camps or irresponsible mobs, We do not believe

that they would be at least any more disloyal than any other racial
group in the United States with whom we went to war, '

Munson sent three or four more reports to Carter between De-
cember and February, including a long review of the situation in Ha-
waii; he did not change his estimate of the West Coast situation.'®
Most of these reports found their way to Boosevelt's desk. After Pearl
Harbor, where Japan received no aid from fifth column sctivity or
sabotage, Munson pointedly noted that “[a]n attack is the prool of the
pudding, """ and remained frmly persuaded that the number of people
on the West Coast who could reasonably be suspected of a menacing
degree of lovalty to the enemy was small—and not demonstrably preater
among the ethnic Japanese than other racial grouvps. In addition, the
physical characteristics of the Japanese which made them readily iden-
tifiable made it more difficult for them to engage in sabotage unnoticed
or to do any espionage beyond collecting public information open to
anyome,

Although Munson was an amateur at intelligence, he talked at
length to professionals such as the FBI agent in charge in Honolulu
and the people in Naval Intellipence in southern California. He was
also in tovch with British Intelligence in California and reported that
they shared his principal views. The British intelligence officer made
one point, repeated by other professionals, which gave savage irony
to the exclusion program: "It must be kept in mind when considering
the “Security’ to be derived from the mass evacuation of all Japanese,
that the Japanese in all probahility emploved many more “whites” than
Tapanese’ for carryving out their work and this ‘white” danger is not
eliminated by the evacuation of the Japanese, ™'

Munson hed also come o respect the views of Lientenant Com-
mander K. [0, Ringle of the Office of Naval Intelligence in southern
California.™ Ringle had spent much time doing intelligence work in
both Japan and southern California™ where he had assisted in breaking
am-jor Japanese spy ring through a surreptitious entry™ and developed
an effective system of Nisei informants (which he shared with the FBI).
When Hingle wanted the membership list of the “Black Dragon™ so-

ciety, a super-patriotic Japanese group, for example, the society's orig-

B3 494 _ 9 _ 1
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inal books for the western half of the United States were delivered to
him three days later. =

In late Janvary 1842, Ringle estimated that the large majority of
ethnic Japanese in the United States were at least passively loyal to
this country. There were both citizens and aliens who could act as
saboteurs or espionage agents, but he estimated the number to be 3%
of the total—or 3,500 in the entire United States who were identifisble
individually. Many Nisei leaders had voluntarily contributed valuable
anti-subversive information to federal apencies, said Ringle, and if
discrimination, firings and personal attacks became prevalent, thot
conduct would most directly incite sabotage and riots.® Ringle saw no
necd for mass action against people of Japanese ancestry. It is difficult
to judge how far one should go in equating Ringle's views with those
of Maval Intellipence, since there is no single statement of their po-
sition, but he claimed that Naval Intelligence sympathized with his
opinions.*

The third major source of intelligence was the FBI, which assessed
any danger to internal security and had plans resdy in case of war.
Immediately after Pearl Harhor, President Roosevelt signed Procla-
mation 2525 pursuant to the Alien Enemy Act of 1795, as amended,
which gave the government the suthority to detain enermy aliens and
confiscate enemy property wherever found. The Proclamation per-
mitted immediate and summary apprehension of “slien enemies deemed
dangerous to the poblic health or safety of the United States by the
Attorney General or Scoretary of War,” On December 8, similar pro-
clamations were issued for the summary apprehension of suspect Ger-
mans and Ttalians. ®

The FBI had slready drawn up lists of those to be arrested—aliens
“with something in their record showing an allegiance to the enemy.”
Three categories of suspects had been developed: “A” category—aliens
who led coltural or assistance organizations; “B"—slightly less suspi-
chous aliens; and “C"—members of, or those who donated to, ethnic
groups, Japanese language teachers and Buddhist clergy ® People in
the “A,” "B,” and “C" calegories were promptly arrested in carly
December, = Throughout the initial rounchap, Attorney General Biddle
was concerned that arrests be orderly, He did not want citizens tadng
matters into their own hands or directing hostility toward American
citizens on the basis of descent, and on December 10 issued a press
release stating these themes loudly uﬂm_“mﬁwm
was also firm from the beginning that citizens would not be arrested
or apprehended unless there were probable cavse to believe that a
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erime had been committed—the usual standard for arrest, Such arrests
were not to occur until the FBI was ready to initiate eriminal charges, ™
and the same standards applied to those of German, Ttatian and Jap-
anese nationality or descent.

By December 10, 1942, FBI Director |. Edgar Hoover reported
that “practically all” whom he initially planned to arrest had been taken
into custody: 1,291 Japanese (367 in Hawaii, 924 in the continental
United States); 857 Germans; 147 Talians ™ In fact, however, the
government continued to apprehend enemy aliens, By February 16,
1842, the Department of Justive held 2,192 Japanese; 1,393 Germans;
and 264 Italians™ and arrests continued even after that date. Many
arrested in the early sweeps were Issei leaders of the Japancse Amer-
iean conununity and its organizations. ™

FBI views on the need for mass exclusion from the West Coast
were provided st the Attorney General's request shortly hefore the
Executive Order was signed, and must be read in that context. Hoover
did not believe that demands for mass evacustion were based on factual
analysis. Although he doubted Nisei lovalty in case of invasion and
grasped the obvipus point that people excluded from the West Coast
could not commit sabotage there, he pointed out that the cry for
evacuation came from political pressure. The historical experience of
the FBI showed that Japan had used Occidentals for its espionage®—
which Ringle had learned from bis clandestine raid on the Japanese
consulate.® Hoover balanced his own opinions by sharing with the
Attorney General his West Coast field offices’ views of evacuation,
which varied from noncommitial in Los .|'|.!'IEI'."'1I!’S to dismissive in San
Francisco to vehemently favorable in San Diego and Scattle, ™ Never-
theless, Hoover's own opinion, and thus the Bureau’s, was that the
case to justify mass evacuation for security reasons had not been made,

These mainland intelligence views were blurred by sensational
and inaccurate reports from Hawaii. On December 8, 1841, Secretary
of the Navy Knox went to Hawali to make the first brief examination
of the reasons for American Josses at Pearl Harbor, He returned to the
mainkind on December 15 and told the press, “1 think the most of-
fective Fifth Column work of the entire war was done in Hawaii with
the possible exception of Morway.™ This laid major blame for the
Fearl Harbor defeat at the door of the ethnic Japanese in the United
States, Knox's statement was not onby unfounded: it ignored the fact
that Japanese Americans in large numbers had immedistely come to
the defense of the islands at the time of the attack.™

The Secretary raised the matter sgain at the Cabinet meeting of
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timme of the Prarl Harbor attack_ and they were contradicted a few days
kater by the pew Commanding Geseral in Hawas, Dedon Esmmons,
whe stated in & broadcast to the shnds that there had been very few
acts of sabotage at the time of the attack © The basis of Knox's statement
has sever been clear he may bave relied on rumon which had not
yet been cheched, or be may have confined prewar espionage by
Jopanese agents with fifth column activity © Nevertheless, because
military wews from Hawaii wes carefully censored and the Secretary
appeared to speak from firsthand knowledige, Knou's statement carried
considerable weight. His aceompanying recommendation for the re-
moval of all Japanese, regardless of citizenship, from Oabu is one of
the First calls For mass racial exclusion. The alarm Ko had rung gave
immediate crodence to the view that ethnic Japanese on the mainland
were o palpalibe threat and danger. The damage was remarkable. When
Knon's official report came out on December 16, there was no reference
to fifth column sctivities; it described espionage by Jupanese consular
wafficers and praised the Japanese Amernicans who had manned machine
guns against the enemy. Nevertheless, the story run in major West
Const papers headlined ~Fifth Column Treschery Told, " “Fifth Column
Prepared Attack”™ and “Secretary of Navy Blames 5th Cobumn for Rad ™
Nothing was promptly done st the highest level of the government o
repodiste Knox's initial statement or publicly to affiem the loyalty of
the cthnic japancse. even though Munson (through Carter) essphasiaed

'hvﬂ-hhwhﬁﬁ—m-m.
““Hhhml—i-‘.h-“-
ﬁ.w&“uhuwm-w
during the sttack snd. on December 17, he achised the Attorney General that

in the slsncs was bow-shiding Hoover . s eming
but did not do so publicly, and it & wnknown m-h:-h:‘mh?m
#h]mbq-n-—tﬂmn.unu'nth‘[h-dlan,

Dee. B, 1941, Memo, Hoover to Aflomey . i
e Cenenl, Dec. 17, 1941 FBICWRIC
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Kpon's imsccurscy and urged that such & statement be made by the
Pressdent or Viee Presadest *

Mamh culemrr (thouth opagque’ vewt sevr mpored by the e
offsrsal megeery i the Pear] Harbor desaster The Buokerty Corsmes-
om, wpposntred by the Fresident sndd chasrd by Sepreme Court Jostes
Dhwrm | Paberts, ™ pesed a report on jasssry D M which meeer
swratumed sabotage . copumsrr o B cobors sctnny = i comcke
n Fegardmg sork mctwity, the body of e gt s » part

Therr =, pras o December 7, 194]. japanrsr wars o the

whisd of (e Some e Japares cmale sgeats st other

[ | mrre pursos hasieg oo open relstees wwh the japanes

frwign wner These spies collectrd snd, throgh varsss chas-

i tranumerted rdormatew o the Japarerer Frsperr respecting

mﬁd—dﬂﬂ-ﬁ-ﬂﬂh—--hi

It was believed that the center of Japanese copionage in Hawan
was the Japancse consclate st Honolulu 1t has been discoversd
that the | consul sent b0 and reeetved from Tokyo in his
own il names many rressages on commercial radio direuits.

This sctivity greatly increased toward December 7, 1841 The

contents of these messages, if it could have been lewmed, might

hve furnishied valusble information, o view of the pesceful re-
lations with Japun, and the consequent restrietion on the activities
of the investigating agencies, they were unable prior to December
7t olitisim end evamine messages transmitted through commercial

It is pow spparent thet through thesr intelligrnoe service the

Japuanese had complete mfrmaten =

Trsturman at wrret hearmps L bebaod the comslomrs Genersl
Short, i command of the Ay on Hawas st the time of Frarl Harbor,
husd rmentrrpreted the warmng mescage of lete Swnrmder s an skt
apamet sabutagr® and s shoold bave bers partecdarh comoees of
& Shewt bt that T do sow bedwwr wsr | cnmer bere thas there
b brwn aey mt of wbwtage of 2o engertasce of ol bet the FBI and
=y brligrace outit kncs of & bt of thew prople wd e they
probubly somdd satch the opporturen: o cem ot wretheg ™

Bobert L. Shevers, the FBI s Spreml Aprnt @ Charpr = Aasas
e & rasn Musscs thought hieth of * wanfed thet jauere o
wsage brlerr Prarl Harbor “ormtered w the Japasesr comsdate” be
held rrapoauble the 234 consuler rrpresrstatnes whe bad pot been
prosecuted i 1540 for Giloe to regster @ fergn agests. ™ These
men wrrr arrested immedistely after Frard Harbaor and bept o cestody
Shivers offered documentary prool to support bis vieas, and testified

¥
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that there were no acts of sabotage in Hawaii during the Pearl Harbor
rad
Despite such telling testimony, the Roberts Report did not we
language designed to allay the uncase spread by Knon In fact the
Beport tended to have the opposite efiect, i March 5 House Com-
rutter stated that pubbc setation in Bnor of evsoestion dsted from
publicaron of the Roberts Report ™ Predictions which the Commisson
heard i Hawsi may hove camed this silence. Besades Roberts, the
Commsioners were bigh-rankong military, officers whe, af Secretary
Stirnsen s direction, used the Commission's inguiry to look mio the
Future defense of the islands ™ They asked intelligence stafl in Hawas
ahout the prospects for future sshotage or ffth column activity and
Shivers aserted that “just as soon s Japan schieves some tem-
porary decisive victory, the old spirit will begin to bubble forth™ and
that:
[1f] there should be an out-and-out attack on this island by the
Japanese Navy, reinforced by their air arm, 1 think you eould
enpict B5% of the alien Japanese to glory in that sttack and to do
anything they could to further the efforts of the Japanese forces.
You would find some second- and thied Japanese,
whao are American citizens but who hold dual cltizenship, and you
would find some of those whe would join forces with the Japanese
sttackers for this and other reasons. Some of them may think they
have suffered discriminstion, economic, socisl, snd otherwise, and
there would probably be a few of them who would do %
He shio thought the Japanese community in the United States and
Hewaii was highly crganized. and 5o i theory had the ability to assist
the Avis Finally, Shivers believed only individuals, not the Japmnes
in the United States collectiveh, would beoume polential sboteos =
Anpn Tmdor, the United States Aniorney for Hessii, 3 mae of
vehement and stradent views. pot darecthy engaard o tediprnee work
testified that i the cvent of subsoquent Japanese sftack, evew the
H:-rmm-mﬂ‘n—d-ﬁm”h&drm
e
The Intelligence Officer of the th Naval District, Irvieg May-
field, belierved that the Japanese system of spies and saboteurs would
not rest on race o ethnicity = This point had, of course, been made
repeatedly by Hoover, Munson and Ringle. The professionals largely
agreed that the Japanese did not rely on Issel and Nisei for espionage,
and there was no reason to believe they would for sabotage. Tn a 1943
memorandum, Mayficld set out the logic of his position: it had to be
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the operating premise of counterespiomage that Japan's spying oper-
ation might be made up of only ethnic Japanese, only non-ethnic Jap-
anese or 8 combination of the two. A =olely ethnic Japaness group
might be able to rely on people of known Jovalty to Japan with close
ties to that country, but American suspicion of such people and the
possibdlity that they might be detained in time of war might well lesd
Japan to rely entirely on people who were not ethnic Japanese. Var-
iatiens of these extremes were equally possible:

For purposes of security, the vital core of the organization might

b composed of non-Japanese, . . . On the other hand, the nodeus

of the onginization may be composed of Japanese, who will make

use of non-Japanese as the need and opportunity arises. This group

might even have availsble a non-Japanese whose sole function

would be to assume direction of the espionage organization in case

the members of the original core are immobilized or rendered

incffective by security or counter-espionage measires.™
Mayfiekd's thorough approach 1o the problem exposed the fimsy rea-
soming behind the policy of exclusion—without evidence, there was
no sound basis for expecting the Japanese to employ any particular
ethnic group as spies or saboteurs. This proved troe; in Hawaii one of
the few alien residents brooght to trisl for war-related crimes was
Bernard Julius Otto Kuehn, o German nstional in the pay of Japan,®
and on the mainland the few people convicted of being illegal agents
of Japan were predominantly not ethnic Japanese ®

But these views did not reach the topmaost level of the War De-
partment. Secretary Stimson recorded in his diary a long evening with
Justice Roberts after his return from Hawail, noting Roberts” expressed
fear that the Japanese in the islands posed a major security risk through
espionage, sahotage and fifth column sctivity. ™ Roberts also visited
General DeWitt and one may assume that he presented similar views
to the General "™

Thus, in the early months of war, the intelligence services largely
agreed that Japan had quiethy collected massive amounts of useful
information over recent years, in Hawaii and on the rmoinland, & great
deal of it entirely legally, and that the threat of sabotage and fifth
column sctivity during sttack was limited and controllable, Signifi-
cantly, the intelligence experts never focused exclusively on ethnic
Japanese in the United States: logically the Japanese would not depend
solely on the Issei and Nisei, and experience showed that they did not
trust the Nisei, employing Occidentals for espionage.

The prophecy about who might conduct future espionage and
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sabotage was based on s number of factors. No significant sabotage or
fifth column activity had helped destroy Pearl Harbor. Insofar as the
Japanese would rely on the Issei or other Axis aliens’ assistance, those
who were at all suspect had been interned by the Department of
Justice. knsofar as the Jspanese would rely oo the Nised, there was no
knerwledige or ovidencr of arganized or indnadual Nisci spyng or dis-
ruption. Ringle and Muonson did sot believe therr would be sy greater
dislovalty from them than from any other American cthnic groeg
Tmdor, and perhaps Shivers in Hawall, disented The course rec-
ommended by Hoover {Ringle and Munson suggested similar
approaches™) was one of survedllance bt not arrest or detention with-
ot evidenoe to back up individuslized suspicion. Hoover recom-
mended registering 2l enemy aliens in the United States; slo, w0
protect sgainst fifth colummpists, he wanted specific suthority (either
suspendon of the writ of habeas corpus or & “so-called syndicalism
law™) to permit the apprehension of any citizen or alien “as o whom
there may be reasonable cause 1o believe that such person has been
or I8 engaging in giving aid or comfort to the enemies of the United
States;” and he backed Department of Justice cvaluation of lists of
suspect cltizens to determine who should be tiken into custody under
any such extreme authority. ™

These restrained views did not prevall. Those with intelligence
knowledge were few, and they rarely spoke as o body, Nevy Lntelli-
gence, for instance, felt it had enough on its hands without contra-
dicting or challenging the Army. Whatever ity intelligence officers
from ity installations st Terminal Island near Los Angeles and Bain-
brilge Island in Foget Sound, and Secretary Knon's support of stern
measures against the ethni Japaness seemed wunlikedy to change =
Few voices were raised inside the War Department. which was re-
spomsible for security on the West Comst Stronger political forces
wons were disregirded or drowned oot

THE COVERNMENT'S INITIAL REACTIONS TO WAR

Action on the West Coast after Prard Harbor lay immediatcly with
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accephed that, in time of war, aliens of enemy naticnality could be
controlled and interned without the need for any justification beyond
their status. Internment began immediately after December T and, as
FBI figures show, its weight fell disproportionately on the Japanese—
against whom it was particularly effective since the ineligibility of Issei
for citizenship and the status of the ethnic Japanese as comparstively
recent immigrants allowed the government to round up most leaders
of the Japanese American community.

The government took other actions which affected the business
life: of the ethnic Japanese.® Earlier in 1841 the fixed depaosits (simdlar
to savings certificates) which many ethnic Japanese maintained in the
Japanese banks which had branches on the West Coast were in effect
fruozen when commercial relations with Japan were curtailed ™ At the
time of Pearl Harbor, all Japanese branch banks were immediately
closed and taken over by the state bank superintendent or the Alien
Property Custodian who called in all outstanding loans. ™ In addition,
approximately $27.5 million of business enterprises and real estate
owned by Japanese alicns was taken over by the Alien Property Cus-
todian.® Finally, the Treasury froze the dollar deposits of both citizens
and aliens who had been dealing with Japan before the war, releasing
only small monthly payments to the account holders. ™ Cumulatively,
these measures affected not only most Tssei and people in the import-
export business but a very large proportion of the Japanese American
commumnity.

Other steps were taken as well. Congress passed and the President
implemented a plan for censorship, primarily of the mail. ™ Military
officials began to consider transferring American soldiers of Japanese
ancestry away from the West Coast.™

Although many of thes: government measures were applied equally
to all aliens of enemy nationality, even in the early duys after Pearl
Harbor, the military on the West Coast tended to single out ethnic
Japanese for harsher treatment. The MNisei reacted to these gathering
clouds by actions to persuade the country of their loyalty. In the San
Jowguin Valley, they enlisted as air raid wardens and helped guard the
water supply at Parlier against possible sabotage. In Seattle, the creator
of the Joe Palooka comic strip was persuaded to introduce some Nisei
Gls into the cartoon as Joval Americans. Other communities drew up
pledges of loyvalty.™ The Japancse Association of Fresno wired Con-
gressman Gearhart offering its services against Japan, and the Con-
gressman placed the message in the Congressional Record. ™ But these
efforts did not turn the rising tide of suspicion which became more
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apparent with the development through December and January of two
programs run cooperatively by the Justice Department and the War
Department through the Western Defense Command: the seizure of
contraband from enemy aliens and the cstablishment of prohibited
ATeas.

As part of the Presidential Proclamations isseed immediately after
Pearl Harbor, Roosevelt ordered confiscation of cameras, weapons,
radio transmitters, and other instruments of possible espionage and
sabotage belonging to enemy aliens. The War Department was con-
cerned at the slow pace of the Justice Department’s implementation
of the proclamations, including the portions relating to search and
seizure.™ The Army was particularly concerned that alien Japanese
inside the United States were making radio transmissions to Japanese
ships offshore.

In time, and clearly under pressure from the Army, the FBI and
Department of Justice cooperated to develop plans for search and
seizure in enemy alien homes. At first, search warrants were not issued
without probable cause.™ When the Attorney General insisted that
probable cavse in the usual constitutional sense be found, DeWitt
pressed the proposition that merely being an enemy alien was sufficient
to constitute probable cause. The Justice Department at first rejected
the idea.™ The FBI was not convinced that the perceived problem
was real; Hoover suggested that the Army submit any specific evidence
of disloyalty to the FBL™ Later Hoover pointed out to Biddle that
reports in the San Francisco area about radios and weapons were often
unfounded; in some instances only low-frequency shortwave radios had
been found, and the guns were small-caliber weapons such as any
person, especially a farmer, might possess.™ DeWitt continued to
stress the need for searches and arrests, including those of citizens,
without warrants. ™ In early January, the Justice Department reached
an sccommodation with the Western Defense Command. All enemy
aliens were to deposit prohibited articles with the loea] police within
a few days, and merely being an enemy alien would be sufficlent canse
for a search.™

The Justice Department, firm that mass raids should not be con-
ducted,® gave in to multiple spot searches without 2 warrant.® The
compromise was important for government policy toward Japanese
Americans because the Justice Department was the crucial bulwark of
civil liberties and due process; yet, under military pressure, Justice
was gradually giving way to the Army's fear of espionage and sabotage.

This change of policy came despite reports from the Federal Com-
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munications Commission (FCC), which monitored all broadcasts, that
illegal transmitter operation was minimal. At the turn of the year, V.
Ford Greaves of the FCC in California guessed that, including the
records in Washington, “there would not be more than ten to twenty-
five cases of reasonably probable illegal operation of radio sending sets
on the entire Pacific Coast.™ Checking FCC records on the West
Coast and in Washington, Greaves found that there were “no active
enemies. Several active cases have been closed during the past few
months through court action. ™ In short, the Army’s fears were ground-
less. Tn mid-January one reason became apparent: FOC staff on the
West Coast reported that the military was woefully deficient in radic
intelligence work, to the point where the Army and Navy were re-
porting each other's broadeasts as Japanese,®

Similar discord arose between the Justice and War Departments
over Justioe's power, exercised upon War Department request, to
prohibit enemy aliens from entering designated areas of military sig-
nificance. As on the contraband issue, General DeWitt pressed for
broad powers in terms of both geographic area and affected persons.
The Army wanted the military commander in each theatre of operations
to be able to designate restricted areas® the Justice Department wanted
exclusive authority to name areas where civilian restrictions would
apply, although it apreed to designate any area specified by the mili-
tary.® By early January the Justice Department was prepared to make
any designations DeWitt wanted, on its understanding that areas would
be limited and carefully drawn. Although there was some confusion
on this point,™ the Army appears not to have been contemplating a
mass exclusion from large areas.

At this point, on January 4, designation of restricted areas ap-
peared to be a device to exclude only aliens, not citizens,™ However,
as early as January 8, some military officers began to consider broad-
ening the definition of “enemy aliens.” Major Carter Garver, Acting
Assistant Adjutant General of the Army, wrote to General DeWitt:

Upon being consulted in this connection, Admiral C. 5. Freeman,

Commandant 13th Naval District, recommended that all enemy

aliens be evacuated from the states of Washington and Chregon;

that all American [sic] born of Japanese racial origin who cannot
show actual severance of all allegiance to the [apanese government
be classified as enemy abiens; and lastly that no pass or temporary
permit to enter these states be issued to enemy aliens. He based
this recommendation on the fact that communications and industry
in these states are so vital to the operations of the Naval District
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that any hostile activities in the two states will be a serious em-

barrassment. This view is also held by this headquarters.,

The reputed operations of Axis sples and Fifth Columnists in
Eurcpe and the known activities of such elements during the
recent Japanese attack on Hawall clearly indicate the danger of
temporizing with such 8 menace. It is deemed to be a certainty
that any hastile operations against the Northwestern Sector will
be characterized by a similar treacherous activity. From what s
known of the Japanese character and mentality it is also considered
dangerous to rely on the loyalty of native horn persons of Japanese
blood unless such lovalty can be affirmatively demenstrated.®

Inaccurate reports from Hawaii and incongruous notions of Japanese
racial charpcteristics were causing these military officers to consider
extending their exclusion of aliens from restricted military areas to
include American citizens of Japanese ancestry,

The West Coast had been declared a theatre of operations—but
never placed wnder martial law—and, in the normal course, great
diseretion was given the commanding general with field responsibility.
Exercising that discretion and directly confronting the issue of military
security was Licutenant General John L. DeWitt, a lifelong Army man
who was, in 1942, in command of the Western Defense Command
(WDC). DeWitt's approach was routinely to believe almost amy threat
to security or military control; not an analyst or careful thinker whe
sought balanced judgments of the risks before him, DeWitt did little
to calm the fears of West Coast people,

Mujor General Joseph W. Stibwell, who in the first month of the
war served under DeWitt in charge of southern California, recorded
in his diary that the San Francisco headquarters of the WDC contin-
ually gave credence to every rumbr that came in. No cool mind sifted
fact from fiction; indeed, there was & willingness to believe the shy
was falling st every news report: “Common sense is thrown to the
winds and any absurdity is believed.” Stibwell summed up his view of
DeWitt's G-2, the Army intellipenee branch, very succinetly:

The [Fourth] Army G-2 is just another amateur, like all the rest

of the staff. RULE: the higher the headquarters, the more im-

portant is ealm. Nothing should go out unconfirmed. Nothing is

ever as bad as it seems at first.™

WIDNC's alarmism may have come partly from its inferior intelli-
gence and information-gethering ability. In & February | memo to
Biddle, J. Edgar Hoover severely criticized the intelligence capability
of the Army on the West Coast, finding it untrained, disorganized,
incapable and citing instances where “[hlysteria and lack of judgment™
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ware evident in the Military Intelligence Division, ™ Hoover had carlier
sarcastically dismissed the Western Defense Command's gullible, in-
temperate approach o intemal security problems, noting “that al-
though the situation was critical, there was no sense in the Army losing
their heads as they did in the Booneville Dam affair, where the power
lines were sabotaged by cattle seratching their backs on the wires, or
the ‘wrrows of fire’ near Seattle, which was ooly & farmer burning brush
as he had done for years.™ The FOC found the same ramshackle
operation when helping the Army on radio interception: ™1 have never
seen an organization that was so hopeless to cope with radio intelligence
requirements. . . . The personnel is unskilled and untrained. . . They
know nothing about signal identification, wave propagation and other
technical subjects, so essential to radio intelligence procedure. . . . As
a matter of fact, the Army air stations have been reported by the Signal
Corps station as Jap enemy stations. "™ Abysmal intelligence capahility
was ot conducive to any rational approach to military problems such
a5 subotage or espionage.

General DeWitt appears not to have consulted the intelligence
services to correct his views or ask factual analysis. For instance, ig-
noring FOC evidence, he reported to Stimson on February 3 that
“regular communications are going out from Japanese spies in those
regions [California cities and Puget Sound| to submarines off the coast
assisting in the attacks by the ltter which have been made upon
practically every ship that has gone out.™ One finds no extended
examination of Munson's views, which were shared with the Western
Defense Command,™ and no interest was shown in consulting Ringle
who twice traveled to San Francisco in vain attempts to see Colonel
Bendetsen. ™

Given the speed with which the disgraced General Short and
Admiral Kimmel were forced out of the military after Pearl Harbor,™
it is mot surprising that the Commanding General on the West Coast
would take & very cautious, even nervous, approach to any threat of
attack or disruption; as DeWitt himselfl put it, he was “not going to be
a second General Short, " But DeWitt's views had another aspect.
His opinions are remarkable even for the racially divided America of
1840, In January 15942 he personally gave James Kowe, the Assistant
Attorney General, his views on sabotage and espionage: T have little
confidence that the encmy aliens are law abiding or loyal in any sense
of the word, Some of them, ves; many, no. Particularly the Japanese,
I have no confidence in their loyalty whatsoever. 1 am speaking now
of the: native born Japanese—117, 000—and 42,000 in California alone. ™
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Five weeks later, recommending to Stimson the exchesion of Nisei
from the West Coast. DeWitt was direct indeed:

exclusionary policy, DeWitt reiterated his views:
Cen, DeWits, . . . | have the mission of defending this coast and
securing vital instullations. The danger of the Japanese was, and
{8 now,—il they are permitted to come huck—espionage and sah-
otage. It mukes no difference whether he is an American citizen,
he s still & Jupanese. American citizenship does not necessarily
determine loyalty

Mr, Bates: Ymémadmmmm]mmd
Italians and Germans® We have a grest number of ltalians and

The General made the point again the next day in = o the
record prews conference. DeWitt condensrd bis opssson of 2 poley be
excluded aresi, by telling the reporters that ™s Jap s 2 Jap ™

These declarations came 5t important moments when the Gepersl
could fairly be expected to speak his mind Those who had egitated
against the Japanese in the forty years before the war could not have

Under General DeWitt's guidance from the Presidio, the War
Depuartment moved toward the momentous exclosion of American eit-
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izens from the West Coast without any thoughtful, thorough analysis
of the problems, if any, of sabotage and espionage on the West Coast
or of realistic solutions to those problems. In part there was an easy
elision between excluding Issei and Nisei. The legal basis for excluding
aliens was essentially unguestioned; no rigorous analysis of military
necessity was needed because there were no recognized interests or
rights to weigh against the interest in military security that was served
by moving enemy aliens. The very word “Japanese,” sometimes used
to denote nationality and at other times to indicate ethnicity, allowed
obwious ambiguities in discussing citizens and resident aliens. The War
Department came toward the problem with a few major facts: the
Japanese were winning an incredible string of victories in the Far East;
the West Coast was lightly armed and defended, but now appeared
far more vulnerable to Japanese raid or attack than it had been before
Pearl Harbor—although General Staff estimates were that the Japanese
could not make a sustained invasion on the West Coast. But after the
surprise of Pearl Harhor, laymen, at least, doubted the reliability of
military predictions: it was better to be safe than sorry. "™ And laymen
had a great deal to say about what the Army should do on the West
Coust,

THE STORM OF WEST COAST REACTION

It was the voices of organized interests, politicians and the press on
the West Coast that DeWitt heard most dearly—and the War De-
partment too. The first weeks after Pearl Harbor saw no extensive
attacks on the ethnic Japanese, but through January and early Fehruary
the storm gathered and broke. The latent anti-Japanese virus of the
West Coast was brought to life by the fear and anger engendered by
Pearl Harbor, stories of sabotage in Hawail and Japan's victories in
Asia. Among private groups the lead was typically taken by people
with a long history of anti-Japanese agitation and by those who feared
economic competition. It is difficult forty years later to recreate the
fear and uncertainty about the country’s safety which was generally
felt after Pearl Harbor; it is equally impossible to convey in & few pages
the virulence and breadth of anti-Japanese feeling which erupted on
the West Coast in Janvary and February of 1942.'%

On January 2 the Joint Immigration Committee sent a manifesto
to California newspapers which summed up the historical catalogue of
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charges against the ethoic Japanese. It put them in the new context
of reported fifth column activity in Hawaii and the Philippines and &
war that turned the Jepanese into a problem for the nation, not Cal-
ifornia alone. Repeating the fundamental cdlaim that the ethnic Japanese
are “totally unassimilable,” the manifesto declarsd that “those bom in
this country are American citizens by right of birth, but they are also
Japunese citizens, liable . . . to be called to bear arms for their Em-
peror, either in front of, or behind, enemy lines.” Japanese lenguage
schools were attacked as “a blind to cover instruction similar to that
received by a voung student in Japan—that his is a superior race, the
divinity of the Jupanese Emperor, the lovalty that every Japanese,
wherever born, or residing, owes his Emperor and Japan. ™™ In these
attacks the Joint Tmmigration Committee had the support of the Native
Sons and Daughters of the Golden West and the California Department
of the American Legion, which in January began to demand that “all
Japanese who are known to hold dual citizenship . . be placed in
concentration camps,” "™ By early Februry, Earl Warren, then At-
torney Genera) of California, and U.5. Webh, a lormer Attorney Gen-
eral and co-author of the Alilen Land Law, were actively advising the
Joint Immigration Committes how to persuade the federal government
that all ethnic Japanese should be removed from the West Coast, '™
The Native Sons and Danghters of the Golden West sw the war
as a fulfillment of everything they had feared and fought. Tn the January
1542 lmsue of The Grizzly Bear, the organization’s publication, the
editor emphasized the consequences of ignoring past predictions:
Had the warnings been heeded—had the federal and state an-
thorities been "on the alert” and rigidly enforced the Exclusion
Law and the Alien Land Law; had the Jap propaganda agencies
in this country been silenced; had the legislation been enacted
. denying citizenship to offspring of all aliens ineligible to cit-
izenship; hid the Japs been prohibited from colonizing in strategic
locations; had not Jap-dollars been so eagerly sought by White
landowners and businessmen; had a dull ear been turned to the
honeyed words of the Japs and the pro-Japs; had the yellow-Jap
and the white-Jap “fifth columnists” been dispesed of within the
law; had Japan been denied the privilege of using California as a
breeding ground for dual-citizens (nisei);—the treacherous Japs
probably would not have attacked Pearl Harbor December 7,
1841, and this country would not today be at war with Japan, '
Through the first few weeks of 1842, Jocal units of the Native Sons
passed resolutions demanding removal of the ethnic Japanese from the

const. 1
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The American Legion first demanded the removal of enemy aliens,
but by late January and early February the cry for removal of all ethnic
Japanese had spread through Washington and Oregon. The Portland
post of the Legion appealed for help in securing “the removal from
the Pacific Coast areas of all Japanese, both alien and native-born, to
points at least 300 miles inland, ™ and resolved that “this is no time
for namby-pamby pussyfooting, fear of hurting the feelings of our ene-
mies; that it is not the time for consideration of minute constitutional
rights of those enemies but that it is time for vigorous, whole-hearted
and concerted action. . . .7 At least 38 Legion posts in Washington
passed resolutions urging evacuation. '

These traditional voices of anti-[apanese agitation were joined by
economic competitors of the Nikkei. The Grower-Shipper Vegetable
Association was beginning to find a voice in January, although its blun-
test statement can be found in a Saturday Evendng Post article in May:

We're charged with wanting to get rid of the Japs for selfish rea-

soms. We might as well be honest. We do. It's & question of

whether the white man lives on the Pacific Coast or the brown
man. They came into this valley to work, and they stayed to take
over. ... If all the japs were removed tomoreow, we'd never
miss them in two weeks, because the white farmers can take over
and produce everything the Jap grows. And we don't want them
back when the war ends, either '
Through January and early February, the Western Growers Protective
Association, the Grower-Shippers, and the California Farm Burean
Federation all demanded stern measures against the ethnie Japanese.
Al assured the newspapers and politicians to whom they wrote that
the removal of the ethnic Japanese would in no way harm or diminish
agricubtural production.

This wave of sell-assured demands for a firm solution to the “Jap-
anese problem” encountered no vigorous, widespread defense of the
Tssei and Nissel. Those concerned with civil liberties and civil rights
were silent. For instance, a poll of the Northern California Civil Lib-
erties Undon in the spring of 1942 showed & majority in fvor of the
evacuation orders. '

West Coast politicians were not slow to demand action against
ethnic Jepanese. Fletcher Bowron, reform mayor of Los Angeles, went
to Washington in mid-January to discuss with Attorney General Biddle
the general protection of Los Angeles as well as the removal of all
ethnic Japanese from Terminal Island in Los Angeles Harhor. By Feb-
ruary 5, in a radio address, the Mayor was unequivecally supporting
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mass evacuation. In the meantime, all Nisei had been removed from
the city payrolls. The Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors fired
all its Nisei employees and adopted a resolution urging the federal
government to transport all Japanese aliens from the coast.'*® Following
Los Angeles, 16 other California counties passed formal resolutions
urging evacuition; Imperial County required the fingerprinting, reg-
istration and abandoning of farming by all enemy aliens; San Francisco
demanded suppression of all Japanese language newspapers. Portland,
Oregon, revoked the licenses of all Japanese nationals doing business
in the city. '™ The California State Personnel Board ordered all “de-
scendants” of enemy aliens barred from civil service positions, and
Governor Olson authorized the State Department of Agriculture to
revoke the produce-handling licenses of enemy aliens. Attorney Gen-
eral Warren found these measures unlawful, but he sympathized with
their basic aim, laboring to persuade federal officials that the military
should remove ethnic Japanese from what Warren thought sensitive
areas on the West Coast. '™

In Washington, most West Coust Congressmen and Senators be-
gan to express similar views, Congressman Leland Ford of Los Angeles
taking the early lead. On January 16, 1942, he wrote the Secretaries
of War and Navy and the FBI Director informing them that his Cal-
ifornia mail was running heavily in favor of evacuation and internment-

1 know that there will be some complications in connection with

a matter like this, particularly where there are native born Jap-

anese, who are citizens. My suggestions in connection with this

are as follows:

1. That these native born Japanese either are or are not loyal
to the United States.

2 That all Japanese, whether citizens or not, be placed in inland
concentration camps, As justification for this, 1 submit that if an
American born Japanese, who is & citizen, is really patriotic and
wishes to make his contribution to the safety and welfare of this
country, right here is his epportunity to do so, namely, that by
permitting himself to be placed in a concentration camp, he would
be making his sacrifice and he should be willing to do it if he is
patriotic and is working for us. As against his sacrifice, millions of
other native born citizens are willing to lay down their lives, which
is a far greater sacrifice. of course, than being placed in a con-
centration camp, '

On January 27, Congressmen Alired | Elliott and John Z. An-
derson met with officials of the Justice Department to press for evac-
uation. '™ On January 30, House members from the Pacific Coast urged
the President to give the War Department “immediste and complete
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control over all alien enemies, as well as United States citizens holding
dual eitizenship in any enemy country, with full power and suthority
to require and direct the cooperation and assistance of all other agencies
of government in exercising such control and in effecting evacuation,
resettlement or internment.” The War Department in turn was urged
to develop and consummate “as spon as possible . . . complete evac-
uation and resettlement or internment”™ of all enemy sliens and dual
citizens. "=

This clamor for swift, comprehensive measures against the ethnic
Japanese both reflected and was stimulated by the press. In December
the West Coast press had been comparatively tolerant on the issue of
the Nikkei, but by January more strident commentators were heard.
John B. Hughes, who had a regular Mutual Broadeasting Company
program, began a month-long series from Los Angeles which steadily
attacked the ethnic Japanese, spreading rumers of espionage and fifth
eolumn activity and even suggesting that Japanese dominance of pro-
duce production was part of a master war plan, **

Murtured by fear and anger at Japanese victories in the Far East
and by eagerness to strike st the encmy with whom the Nisei were
now identified, calls for radical government action began to fill letters
to the editor and newspaper commentary. Private employers threw
many ethnic Japanese out of their jobs, while many others refosed to
deal with them commercially. ™™ Old stereotypes of the “yellow peril”
and other forms of anti-Japanese agitation provided a ready body of
lore to bolster this pseudo-patrictic cause. By the end of January the
clamor for exclusion fired by race hatred and war hysteria was prom-
inent in California newspapers. Henry MeLemore, a Hearst syndicated
eolumnist, published a vicious diatribe:

The only Japancse apprehended have been the ones the FBL

actually had something on. The rest of them, so help me, are free

as birds. There isn't an airport in California that isn't flanked by

Japanese farms. There is hardly an air field where the same sit-
uation doesn't exist. . . .

I know this is the melting pot of the world and all men are
created equal and there must be no such thing as race or creed
hatred, but do those things go when a country is fighting for its
life? Not in my book. No country has ever won a war because of
courtesy and [ trust and pray we won't be the first because of the
lovely, gracious spirit, . . .

I am for immediate removal of every Japanese on the West
Coast to a paint deep in the interior. 1 don't mean & nice part of
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the interior either. Herd "em up, pack ‘em off and give ‘em the
inside room in the badlands. Let ‘em be pinched, hurt, hungry
and dead up against it . . .

Persomally, 1 hate the Japanese. And that goes for all of them. '™
By the end of January the western Congressional delegation and
many voices in the press and organized interest groups were pressing
for evacuation or internment of aliens and citizens. The Presidio at
San Francisco listened, and by January 31, General DeWitt had em-
braced the Representatives” view that all enemy aliens and dual eitizens
should be evacuated and interned; action should be taken at the earliest
possible date “even if they [the aliens and dual citizens] were tem-
porarily inconvenienced. ™

FEBEUARY 1942

The struggle within the government over the “Japanese problem” orys-
tallized by February 1. DeWitt was now expressing prevailing opinion
on the West Coast. War Department headouarters in Washington was
undecided. DeWitt was no longer satisfied with the Justice Department
program for excluding enemy aliens from carcfully-drawn prohibited
areas, although it was now moving forward rapédly on the basis of
recommendations from the Western Defense Command and the War
Department. In a series of press relesses between January 31 and
February 7, the Attorney General announced B4 prohihited areas in
California, 7 in Washington, 24 in Oregon, and 18 in Arizone—135
zones around airports, dams, powerplants, pumping stations, harbor
areas and military installations. In most cases the areas were small,
winally cireles of 1,000 feet or rectangles of several city blocks, The
Justice Department also asnnounced “restricted” areas for enemy aliens,
including an extensive part of the California coast in which the move-
ment of enemy aliens was very carcfully controlled. But the Justice
Department balked at quarantining extensive populated areas such as
all of Seattle and Portland. '

The Justice Department was unpersuaded of the military need for
a mass movement of aliens or citizens away from the coast, and it
opposed General DeWitt on those grounds. On February 3, ). Edgar
Hoover sent the Attorney General his analysis of the fervor for mass
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The necessity for mass evacuation i based primarily upon public
and political pressure rather than on factual data. Public hysteria
and in some instances, the comments of the press and mdio an-
nouncers, have resulted in a tremendous amount of pressure being
brought to bear on Governor Olson and Earl Warren, Attorney
General of the State, and on the military authorities. . . .

Local officials, press and citizens have started widespread maove-
ment demanding complete evacuation of all Japaness, citizen and
alien alike. '

Both on their reading of the facts from Hoover and by philosophical
inclination, top Justice Department officials—Biddle, James Rowe and
Edward Ennis, who ran the Alien Enemy Control Unit—opposed the
exclusion. The only major Justice Department figure not against it was
Tom C. Clark, later a Supreme Court Justice, who was West Coast
lizison with the Western Defense Command, he was dearly ready to
go along with some form of mass evacuation. "™
MNevertheless, despite the urging of aides such as Ennis, the At-
torney General was not prepared to argue that a mass exclusion was
illegal or unconstitutional under the war powers of the Constitution
the War Department insisted on it as a matter of wartime necessity
hased on military judgment. ' It would have been acceptable to the
Justice Department at that point to have excluded all citizens and aliens
from designated arcas, such a3 the vicnity of aircraft plants, and then
to allow back only those the Army permitted. '™ These views were wo
doubt confirmed by a memorandum prepared for Biddle by Benjamin
Cohen, Oscar Cox and Joseph Kauh, liberal and respected Washington
lawyers, who opined that everyone of Japanese ancestry, both alien
and citizen, eould constitutionally be excluded from sensitive military
areas without excluding people of German or Ttalian stock from similar
areas; although they argued for limited measures, they did not contend
that the facts of the West Coast situation failed to justify exclusion. '3
Om Febroary 1, the Justice Department drafted a press release
to issue jointly with the War Department in order to calm public fears
about sabotage and espionage, and to bet the public know that the
government was working on the “Japanese problem.” The draft set cut
the extensive steps being taken to contrel any problem from enemy
aliens:
The Army has surveyed and recommended B8 prohibited areas in
California. Further areas have been studied by the Army and are
being recommended in California, Washington, Oreron and the
other West Coast states. The Attomey General designated these
areas immediately upon the recommendation of the War De-
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partment to be evacuated of all alien encmies, Japanese, German
and Dalians. . . .

All alien enemies in the Western Defense Command will be
registered between Feb, 2nd and February Tth. They will be
identified, photographed, fingerprinted and their residence and
employment recorded. These steps will insure compliance with
eontrol over alien enemies exercised in the restricted arcas.

The draft release tried to calm groundless fears of sabotage and to
address the situation of Nisei citizens:

The Federal Bureao of Investigation has charge of the investigation
of the [gic] subversive activities. To date there has been no sub-
stantial evidence of planned sabotage by any alien. The FBI and
the other agencies of the Federal Government are, however, very
much alive to the possibility of acts of sabotage, particularly in
case of w possible attack om our shores by the enemy. . .

The government is fully aware of the problems presented by
dual nationalities, particularly among the Japanese. Appropriate
governmental agencies are now dealing with the problem, The
Department of War and the Department of Justios are in agree-
ment that the present military situation does not at this time
require the removal of American citizens of the Japanese race, '

As General Gullion, the Provost Marsha! General, described it, the
meeting to discuss the press release hetween Stimson, McCloy and
Bendetsen from the War Department and Biddle, Hoover and Rowe
from Justice was heated indeed-

[The: Justice officials] said there is too much hysteria about this
thing; said these Western Congressmen are just nuts about it and
the people getting hysterical and there is no evidence whatsoever
of any reason for disturbing citizens, and the Department of Jus-
tice, Rowe started it and Biddle finished i—The Department of
Justice will having [sic] nothing whatsoever to do with any fnter-
ference with citizens, whether they are Japanese or not. They
made me a little sore and 1 said, well listen Mr. Biddle. do you
mean to tell me that if the Army, the men on the ground, deter-
mine it is & military necessity to move citizens, Jap citizens, that
you won't help me. He didn't give a direct answer, he said the
Department of Justice would be through if we interfered with
citizens and write [sic] of habes corpus, ete 5

The: sticking point in the press release was the final statement that

the removal of Nisei was unnecessary, Secretary Stimson and Assistant
Secretary MeCloy wanted DeWitt tw consider the draft before they
responded. Later that day Bendetsen and Gullion read the release over
the phone to DeWitt. Gullion said he knew DeWitt now believed mass
evacuation of Japanese Americans, including citizens, was essential,
although Justice officials believed that DeWitt carlier had opposed
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mass evecuation. Gullion reported the position he had cutlined to the
Attorney General at the meeting: “1 suggested that General DeWitt
has told me that he his travelled up and down the West Coast, he has
visited all these sectors, he has talked to all the Governcrs and other
local civil authorities and he has come to this conclusion, it is my
understanding that General DeWitt does fvor mass evacuation, . . 7'

This, of course, was not a persuasive military justification for mov-
ing 100,000 people, but despite numerous conversations with DeWint
it was all that Gullion and Bendetsen could report. This was probably
accurate: DeWitt favored moving the Japanese American community
om the basis of his own opinions and those of the politicians he had
consulted amid the flood of anti-Japanese rhetoric on the West Coast.
Both the Governor of California and the Mayor of Los Angeles met
with DeWitt, who was apparently interested primarily in their rec
ommendations for action rather than in communicating what the mil-
itary situation required. "™ The General reiterated his conclusory views
about exclusion in the call about the press release: protection against
sabotage “only can be made positive by removing those people who
are aliens and who are Japs of American citizenship. . . ™ Gullion
told DeWitt that he should put in writing his views and the justification
for them, so his arguments could persuade MeCloy and the Justice
Department. DeWitt promised a memorandum for MeCloy in the next
few days.

The instructions to DeWitt were sound, for Secretary Stimson
and McCloy were not yet persuaded. ™ In his diary for February 3,
1542, Stimson wrote that DeWitt was anxiously clamoring for evacu-
ation of Japanese from the areas around San Diego, Los Angeles, San
Francisco and Poget Sound, where important airplane factories and
shipyards were located:

If we base our evacuations upon the ground of removing enemy

aliens, it will not get rid of the Nisei who are the second generation

naturalized Japanese, and as 1 said, the more dangerous ones. If
om the other hand we evacuate everybody including citizens, we
must base it as far as [ can see upon solely the protection of

plants. We cannot discriminate among our citizens on

the ground of racial origin. We talked the matter over for quite a

while and then postponed it in order to hear further from General

DeWitt who has not yet outlined all of the places that he wishes

protected. 14

McCloy also hesitated. On February 3, 1942, DeWitt and McCloy
spoke by phone, DeWitt reading to McCloy the memorandum he had
promised Gullion on the first. It was ancther installment in the Gen-
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eral's talks with the politicians. DeWitt urged deleting the line in the
press release stating that the military situation did not require removal
of American citizens of Japanese race. The reason? DeWitt had con-
ferred with California Governor Olson the day before and agreed that
all mabe adult Nisei should leave the California combat zone. The
General’s military reasoning on this sweeping proposition defies par-
aphrase:
[Tlo protect the Japanese of American birth from suspicion and
arrest, they should also have to carry ientification cards to prove
that they are not enemy aliens, as the enemy aken by not cirrying
identification card on his person could claim to be an American
Japanese. In other words, all Japanese look alike and those charged
with the enforcement of the regulation of excluding alien enemies
from restricted areas will not be able to distinguish between them.
The same applies in practically the same way to alien Germans
and alien Italians but due to the lange number of Japanese in the
State of California (approximately 93,000), langer than any other
State in the Union, and the very definite war consciousness of the
peophe of California, as far as pertains to the Japanese participation
in the war, the question of the alien Japanese and all Japanese
presents a problem in control, separate and distinet from that of
the German and Italian,

The: general consensus of opinion as agreed to by all present st
this conference was that, due to the shove facts, the removal of
all male adult Japanese. that is over 18 years of age, whether
native or American born, alien enemy or Japanese, from that area
of California defined as a combat zone [should be achieved]. "

Governar Cleon wanted to schieve this by “voluntary” evacuation
and General DeWitt thought this excellent.® Not surprisingly, McCloy
was baffled, suggesting that dangerous people would not vohmtarily
Jeave 4 sensitive military area. DeWitt, who described himself as sitting
on the sidelines during the conlerence in Olson's office, replied that
he didn’t know how Olson would handle that, but that i something
weren't done soon the public would take matters into its own hands
because "Out here, Mr. Secretary, a Jap is a Jap to these people now.”
1t is remarkable that McCloy did not press DeWitt in this conversation
for some military justification for moving the Nisei, but perhaps DeWikt's

*(lson's central mole in devising this program is corroborated by one of
the group of Nisei with whom he met on Febreary 6 to expliin the plan and
to whom Olson stated that “he has been asked by the Federal authorities to
recommend” the best procedure to handle “this complicated Japaness situa-
tiom.” {Letter, Ken Matsumoto to Ringle, Feb, 7, 1842 [CWRIC 19547]).
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wssurance that the Governor thought onby 20,000 would kave to move
(and voluntarily) may have veiled the importance of what was afoot.
In any event, McCloy was most concerned about the legality of any
government action. He favored the procedure of designating restricted
zones and letting people back in by permit; he would allow in
“lelvervone but the Japs,” The dictates of military necessity were not
part of the dialogue; MeCloy, like the Justice Department, was satisfied
with a legalistic procedure which only masked exclusion on the basis
of ethnicity, "2

Public pressure, of course, continued. FBI officials reported that
the Los Angeles newspapers were carrying reports that Attorney Gen-
eral Warren of California and “approximately one hundred sheriffs and
district attorneys throughout the State of California have recommentded
and demanded that all Japanese aliens be moved from all territories
of the State of California. " But public opinion was not uniform,
Archibald MacLeish of the Office of Facts and Figures summarized for
MeCloy a California opinion poll which showed that “the situation in
California is serious; that it is loaded with potential dynamite; but that
it is not as desperate as some people are said to believe. . . . We can
be pretty definite in saying that a majority of people think that the
Government (chiefly the FBI} has the situation in hand. ™ Between 23
and 43 percent of the population felt further action was needed, The
report sugzested that these people “tend to chester in the low income,
poorly educated groups, and they are the ones who are most suspicions
of local Japanese in general, ™

After the discussion of February 3, events moved quickly. On the
4th, MeCloy met with Gullion, Rowe, Ennis and Ennis's assistant,
Burling, to discuss possible legislation that might be drawn up 1o
remove both citizens and aliens from parts of the West Coast."** On
the same day Bendetsen outlined his views and concluded that the
enemy alien problem was primarily a Japanese problem, encompassing
both aliens and citizens. He recommended the designation of military
areas surrounding all vital installations in the Western Defense Com-
mand; all persons who did not have express permission to enter and
remain would be excluded. He rejected mass evacuation as unjustified
by military necessity and expected his recommendation o involve
moving approximately 30,000 people. Bendetsen’s position rested on
his belicef that “by far the vast majority of those who have studied the
Oriental mssert that a substantial majority of Nisei bear alleginnee to
Jagman, are well controlled and disciplined by the enemy, and at the
proper time will engage in organized sabotage, particularly, should a
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raid along the Pacific Coast be attempted by the Japanese. ™ It is
unknown who these Oriental experts were, but Bendetsen, the one
westerner close bo War Department decision makers in Washington,
may merely have repeated prejudices common on the West Coast.

On February 5, Rowe and McCloy discussed the alien problem
by telephone'® and Gullion gave MceCloy his views of what steps should
be taken about the “Japanese problem.” This discussion shows that by
early Fehruary the focus was shifting from military necessity to op-
erations, from the question of “whether” to “how.” The War Depart-
ment draft proposal began:

The War Department recommends the following steps be taken

in connection with the “slien enemy-potential saboteus™ problem

un the West Coast and elsewhere in the United States:

Step 1

The establishment of military areas surrounding all vital national

defense installations within the United Stabes as designated by the

appropriate Commanding Generals and approved by the War De-

partment. From these areas will be excluded all persons, whether

aliens or citizens, who are deemed dangerous as potential sabo-

teurs, espionage agents and fifth columnists by the administering

military authorities.

Step 2

The continuation, vigorously, of the alien enemy apprehension

und internment program. 148

This approach still covered parrow geographic areas but it affected
aliens and citizens alike. Doubts of the necessity for evacuation were
drowning in details of how to accomplish it

Then on February 7, Biddle had lunch with the President and
communicated his views about mas evacuation:

1 discussed at length with him the Japanese stating exactly what
we had done, that we believe mass evacuation at this time inad-
visable, that the F.B.L. was not staffed to perform it; that this was
an Army job not, in our opinion, advisable; thet there were no
reasons for maess evecvation and that [ thought the Army should
be directed to prepare a detailed plan of evacuation in case of an
emergency eaused by an air rmid or attempted landing on the West
Coast. 1 emphasized the danger of the hysteria, which we were
beginning to control, moving east and affecting the Italian and
German population in Boston and New York. Generally he ap-
proved being fully aware of the dreadful risk of Fifth Column
retaliation in case of a raid. "

By the time he made his decision, therefore, Boosevelt knew Biddle's
views, "™ but it is important to note that, while the Attorney General
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did not believe evacuation was necessary, he did not tell the President
that evaruation would Fail to pass constittional muster on the facts.
Stimson’s diary entry for February 10, 1942, reiterates his previous
view that “The second generation Japanese [Nisei] can only be evac-
uated cither as part of a total evacuation, giving sccess to the areas
only by permits, or by frankly trying to put them out on the groumnd
that their racial characteristics are such that we eannot nderstand or
trust even the citizen Japanese. This latter is the fact but [ am afraid
it will make & tremendous hole in our constitutional system to apply
it.” His concern was heightened by his view that Japan might try to
im’!dc&m”ﬂﬂvdﬁhtﬂs;thﬂﬁmhf}-wnﬂﬂdwﬂmnh:a’sprz—
dictions twenty-five vears earlier in The Valor of Ignorance that in the
Pacific geopolitical forces were shifting so that Japan was capable of
invading a lightly populated and defended West Coast and holding the
Pacific slope to the crest of the Sierms: “In those days [Lea’s] book
seemed fantastic. Now the things that he prophesied seem quite pos-
sible. "™
At this point Stimson's mind was still not made up, at least about
the scope of evacuation, and he stll wanted from DeWitt a specific
recommendation based on a carefil review of military necessity, '™
There is po indication that Stimson received such o memo immediately,
bt he must have: been persuaded that the case had been or would be
made, for the next day his diary notes:
I then had a conference in regard to the west coast situation with
MeCloy and General Clark who has been out there. This is a stifl
proposition. General DeWitt is asking for some very drastic steps,
tn wit: the moving and relocating of some 120,000 people including
citizens of Jupanese descent. This is one of those jobs that is so
hig that, if we resolved on it, it just wouldn't be done; 20 1 directed
them to pick out and begin with the most vital places of army and
navy production and take them on in that order as quickly as
possible. . . .

1 tried to get an interview with the President over these various
matters but was unable to do so. I then arranged for & telephone
call which finally came through about one thirty.

1 took up with him the west coast matter first and told him the
situation and fortunately found that he was very vigorous about it
and told me to go ahead on the line that 1 had myself thought the
best. =

Stimson may not have had in mind the massive evacuation of all citizens
and aliens of Japanese descent; his description of what he supported
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resembled most the designation of military areas and entry into them
by permit, which would be denied to Japanese citizens and aliens.

The first ten days of February had not yet produced a better
rationale for evacnation from General DeWitt than his fundamental
racial mistrust of the ethnic Japanese. Now, perhaps by dint of repe-
tition or exposure to the anti-Japanese view of West Coast interest
groups and politicians, mistrust had taken hold at the top of the War
Department. Clunor from the press and politicians was relentless,
Incessant West Coast demands for evacuation were countered by no
one of stature who knew the Pacific Coast,

On February 12, Walter Lippmann, a prominent, intellectually
respected syndicated columnist, wrote of his serious concern about a
Japanese raid on the United States and potential sabotage. Because
Lippmann thought saboteurs would be native-born Nisei as well as
aliens, the procedure he recommended which “ought to be used for
all persons in a zone which the military authorities regard as open to
enemy attack” was to compel everyone to prove that he had a good
reason to be there, “Under this system all persons are in principle
treated alike.™™ He recommended that the West Coast be made a
combat zone open only to those with & reason to be present. This was
the plan being discussed in the War Department; Lippmann had talked
over the issuc with Attorney General Warren, who had spoken exten-
sively to federal officials, and there is no reason to believe Lippmann
formed an opinion without knowing the basic issues the government
was looking at. '™ Lippmann’s article was taken as a recommendation
to exclude all ethnic Japanese from the West Coast, and from the
strident right Westbrook Pegler popularized the suggestion a few days
later:

Do you get what [Lippmann] says? . . the enemy has been

scouting our coast. . . . The Japs ashore are communicating with

the enemy offshore and _ . . on the basis of “what is known to be
taking place” there are signs that a well-organized blow is being

withheld only until it can do the most damage. . . .

We are so dumb and considerate of the minute constitutional
rights and even of the political feelings and influence of people
whom we have every reason to anticipate with preventive action!

Pegler put his central point very simply: “The Japanese in California
should be under armed guard to the last man and woman right now
and to hell with habeas corpus until the danger is over.™™ The entire
spectrum of press opinfon was uniting to advocate exclusion.

At the same time, Manchester Boddy, liberal editor and publisher
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of the Loa Angeles Daily News who had earlier written s book on the
cthnic Jespanese in America,™ sent first & telegram, then a letter, to
Attorney General Biddle warning that the “shien Japanese situation |is]
deteriorsting rapidly.” To forestall irmespossible citizen action, Boddy
suggrstcd prompt ovacoation of alien fapaness who Thave anticipeted
evacustion and are in state of readiness.” and placement into 2 con-
contration camp now, with comideration of their ultimate disposition
later. Boddy found “so distinction in publc mind rogerding Japenese
abiers aned their dual citirenship chaldren ™ srad therefors expresshy a-
surred that aliens and citizens would both be moved ™
Fear of viclence against Japancse Amercans bad grown merkedly
ameng lew enforcement offcals in Californis.
At a comference of California district attorneys and sherifs on
February 2, it was announced that various civic and agricultursl
mmmﬂ?mmhplm against the Jsp-
the sheriff of Merved reported “rum-
thurvuhnmmuy thcchinfnfpul.nnmununmnmh
described anti-Japanese feeling as “at fever heat”; the police chief
at Watsonville announced that “racial hatred is mounting higher
and higher” and that Filipinos were “arming themselves and going
vut Jooking for an argument with Jupanese”; and Oxnard’s police
chief reported that “it has been planned by Joca] Filipines and
some so-called "200 percent Americans’ to declare a local ‘war’
aguinst local Japanese, during the next blackout. ™™

Pressure for government action was also increasing in Congress,
On February 13 Congressman Clarence Loa, the senior West Coast
Representative, wrnte to President Roosevelt on behalf of the members
of Congress from California, Oregon and Washington:

We recommend the immediste ovaoustion of all persons of Jap-

ancse lineage and all others, aliem and citizens alior, whese pres-

rooe shall be deemed dangerows or wimics! o the defense of the

United States from af! strategic srees

pi-h-lﬁ-_ﬂhus-hulmuh—phﬁ--dm
emential Bolites a5 well & sdequate protoctive arves sdiarent

We further recommend that such arcas be enlarped a5 cxpe-
ditiously an possible until they shall encompass the entire strategc
ares of the states of California, Oregrn and Washington, and Ter-
ritory of Aladks

We make these recommendations in order that no citizen, lo-
cated in & strategic area, may cloak his dislovalty or subversive
sctivity under the mantle of his citizenship alone and further to
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guarantee protection to all loyal persons, alien and citizen alike,

m‘fi‘mfetymmybcundaugcredbymewmmnmdﬂbo-

tage.
Roosevelt forwarded the letter to Secretary Stimson, ' although the
views of the West Coast delegation were well known to the War De-
partment, which had already briefed the Congressmen. '

At this late date of February 14 General DeWitt finally sent to

the Secretary of War his final recommendation on the “Evacuation of
Japanese and Other Subversive Persons from the Pacific Coast.™ Hav-
ing estimated that the West Coast was open to air and naval attacks
as well as sabotage, but withoul suggesting that a Japanese raid or
invasion would land troops on the West Coast, the General set out his
military justification for requesting the power to exchude ethnic Jup-
anese:
The area lying to the west of Cascade and Sierra Nevada Mountains
in Washington, Oregon and California, is highly eritical not only
because the lines of communication and supply to the Pacific
theater pass through it, bt also because of the vital industrial
production therein, particularly aircraft. In the war in which we
are now engaged racial affinities are not severed by migration,
The Japanese race is an enemy race and while many second and
third generation Japanese born on United States soil, possessed
of United States citizenship, have become “Americanized,”™ the
racial strains are undiluted. To conclude otherwise s to expect
that children born of white parents on Japanese soil sever all racial
affinity and become loyal Japanese subjects, ready to fight and, if
necessary, to die for Japan in a war against the nation of their
purents, That Japan is allied with Germany and Italy in this strug-
gle is no ground for assuming that any Japanese, barred from
assimilation by convention as he is, though born and raised in the
United States, will not turn against this nation, when the final
test of loyalty comes. It, therefore, follows that along the vital
Pacific Coast over 112,000 potential enemies, of Japanese extrac-
tion, are at large today. There are indications that these are or-
ganized and ready for coneerted action at a favorable opportunity.
The very fact that no sabotage has taken place to date is a disturbing
and confirming indication that such action will be taken. '

The only justification for exclusion here, beyond DeWitt's belief
that ethnicity ultimately determines loyalty, is the unsupported con-
clusion that “indications”™ show that the Japanese “are organized and
ready for concerted action.” The General's best argument for the truth
of this was the fact that it hadn't happened yet. It would be hard to
concoct a mare vicious, less professional piece of military reasoning,
Perhaps DeWitt's final recommendation came too late to shock McCloy
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oocur, these writers will bear & heavy responsibility. Either Lipp-

man [sic] has information which the War Department and the

F.B.1 apparcntly do not have, or is acting with dangerous irre-

sponsibility, "=

No minds were changed, snd by this time the Attorney General
was taking coarse and threatening sbuse for his unwillingness to join
the stampede to mass evacuation. Seven months later, Congressman
Fuord recalled speaking to Biddle st this point:

I phoned the Attorney General's office and told them to stop
fucking around. 1 gave them twenty four hours notice that unless
they would issue & mass evacuation notice 1 would drag the whole
matter out on the floor of the House and of the Senate and give
the bastards everything we could with both barrels. 1 told them
they had given us the run around long enough . . . and that if
they would not take immediate action, we would clean the god
damned office out in one sweep, | cussed at the Attorney General
and his staff himself just like I'm cussing to you now and he knew
damn well 1 meant business, '™

On February 17 Stimson recorded meeting with War Department
officials to outline & proposed executive omder, General Gullion un-
dertonk to have the order drafted that night: “War Department orders
will fill in the application of this Presidential order. Thesc were ontlined
and Gullion is also to draft them.” Further, Stimson said, "1t will
involve the tremendous task of moving between fifty and one hundred
thousand people from thetr homes and finding temporary support and
sustenanee for ther in the meanwhile, and ultimately locating them
in mew places away from the coast, ™™ In short, whatever his views
during discussion with the President a few days before, Stimson now
contemplated & mass move.

On Febroary 18, 1942, Stimson met about the executive order
with Biddle, Ennis, Rowe, and Tom Clark of the Department of Justice;
and Robert Patterson, Under Secretary of War; MceCloy: Guollion; and
Bendetsen from the War Department, Stimson wrote:

Biddle, McCloy and Gullion had done a good piece of work in

breaking down the issues between the Departments the night

before, and a draft of a presidential executive order had been
drawn by Biddle based upon thet conference and the preceding
conference | had had yesterday, We went over them. | made &
few sugeestions and then approved it This marks & long step
forward towsrds a solution of a very dangerous and vexing prob-
lem. But I have no illusions as to the magnitude of the task that
lies before us and the wails which will go up in relation to some
of the actions which will be taken under it '8
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The Attorney General remembered the tenor of the meeting
somewhat differently, but, writing in his autobiography, agreed about
the result:

Bowe and Ennis argued strongly against [the Executive Or-
der]. But the decidon had been made by the President. It was,
he said, a matter of military judgment. | did not think 1 should
oppose it any further. The Department of Justice, as 1 had made
it clear to him from the beginning, was opposed to and would
have nothing to do with the evacuation, "%

In Los Angeles on the night of February 19, the United Citizens
Federation, representing a wide range of pro-Nisei interests, held its
first meeting of more than a thousand people. Plans were laid to per-
suade the press, the politicians and the government that their attacks
upon the ethnic Japanese were unfounded. ' It was too late,

Earlier in the day, President Roosevelt had signed Executive Or-
der 3068, The Order directed the Secretary of War and military com-
manders designated by him, whenever it was deemed necessary or
desirable, to prescribe military areas “with respect to which, the right
of any person to enter, remain in, or leave shall be subject to whatever
restrictions the Secretary of War or the appropriate Military Com-
mander may impose in his discretion. ™™ There was no direct mention
of American citizens of Japanese descent, but unguestionably the Order
was directed squarcly at those Americans, A fiw months later, when
there was talk of the War Department using the Executive Order to
move Germans and Italians on the East Coast, the President wrote
Stimson that he considersd enemy allen control o be “primarily a
civilian matter except of course in the case of the Japanese mass cvac-
uation on the Pacific Coast.” 7

The next day, to underscore the povernment’s new-found unity
on this decision, Attorney General Biddle sent to the President’s per-
sonal attention 8 memaorandum justifying the Executive Order and its
broad grant of powers to the military, Biddle's note paraphrazed lib-
erally from the memorandum he had received earlier from Cohen,
Cox and Havh:

This suthority gives very broad powers to the Secretary of War

and the Military Commanders. These powers are broad cnongh

to permit them to exclude any particular individual from military

areas, They could also evaruate groups of persons based on a

reasonable classification. The order is not limited to aliens but

includes citizens so that it can be exercised with respect to Jap-
anese, irmrespective of their citizenship.
The decision of safety of the nation in time of war is necessarily

BA458 - G0 - 4

-
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for the Military authorities. Authority over the movement of per-
sons, whether citizens or Doncitizens, be exercised in Gme
of war. . . ,M-ﬂniyimm&n!h-lyiﬁepﬂ_
of the President, in time of war, with reference to all aress, sea
or land.

The hﬂ:ﬁiaﬁﬁhﬁg_ﬁr}sﬁpﬂ-
meet the specific situstion and, of course, cannot be considered
as amy punitive messore against any particuls ostionalities. bt is
rather a precautionany measure to protect the natonal safcty. It
is not based on sny legal theory but on the lacts thet the unre-
citizens or aliens, in specified defense areas may lead to srious
disturbances. These disturbances cannot be controlled by poliee
protection and have the threat of injury to our war effort. A con-
dition and not a theory confronts the nation. '™

After the decision, there was no further dissent st the highest levels
of the federal government. The War Department stood behind the
facts and the Justice Department stond behind the lnw which were the
foundation of the Executive Onler,

JUSTIFYING THE DECISION

Any account which relies on finding documents forty years after a
decision may reasonably be guestioned when it conclides that litte
or nothing i the record factuslly supports the reasons given st the
time to justify the decision. For that resson, the two major justifications
of the eschusion composed during the war by the War Department
and the Justice Department must be considered: Ceneral DeWitt's
Final Report: Jepanese Evecsation from the Weat Const, 1942, which
he forwarded to the Secretary of War in June 1943, and the Justice
Department’s brief in Hirzbepashi v. United States, filed in the So-
preme Court in May 1943 *

*The House Select Committer [nvestigating Mational Defene Migration,
commonly known 55 the Tolsn Committes, wa the firu afficial body to examine
the eschusion, bolding bearmgs on the West Coast wn late February and March
142 It chose to trest the exclusion & a foil sccompli, but in ks reports it
noticesbly faled w offer an effective deferse of the mxchusion. Lo the context
of the Germana and Italians, it emphasized “the fundamental ot that plece
of hirth and technical noncitizenship slooe provide no decisive criteria for
assensing the alinement [sic] of loyalties in this world-wide conflict.” The
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were drawn to the signaling contention. It was investigated by the
FCC and found to be so utterly unsubstantisted that, in its brief o
the Supreme Court, the Justice Department was careful not to rely
om DeWitt's Final Report as a factual basis for the military decision it
had to defend. "™ There simply had not been any identifishle shore-
to-ship ugnallng

The Justice Department had dismissed the arms and comtrshend
arpument carher By May 1942 the FEI had seired 2. 5602 guns of variooss
kinds; 196,000 rounds of ammenition. 1,652 sticks of dynamite, 1455
radio receivers. 2,014 cameras and numerous other bems which the
alien Japancse had been ordered to surrender in January But numbers
alone meant litthe, 2 truckdosd of guns and ammunition had been picked
up in & reld on & sporting goods store and another large supply of
material was found in the warehouse of 4 general store owner. The
Department of Justice conclided that it all had negligible significance:

We have not, however, uncovered through these searches any

dangerous persons that we conld not otherwise know about. We

have not found among all the sticks of dynamite and gun powder

uny evidence that any of it was to be used in bombs.

We have not found a single machine gun nor have we found

any gun in any circomstances indicating that it was to be used in

a manner helpful to our enemies. We have not found a camera

which we have reason to believe was for use in espionage. '™
To the government's official military historian of the evacuation, Stetson
Conn, this was the most damaging tangible evidence aguinst the evac-
wees, and he clearly believed it was insubstantial ™

The argument that the exclusion served to protect the Nildwi
Harbor and Februsry 15, 5 murders and 25 other sevions crimes—
rapes, assaults, shootings, property damage, robbery or extortion—
were reported aguinst ethnic Japanese ™ This was so lynch mob on
the loose, but it was serioes snd i fct, meore violence against ethnic
Japanese followed the signing of the Executive Order tenBroek de-
scribes  succinctly:

During March an attempt was made to burn down a

Mbﬂdﬂummnnmhhm

were invalved in & braw] with the bocal comstable —following which

& crowd of white residents. some srmed with shotguns, threstened

violence to & nearby camp of Japanese Americans. On succeeding

nights the windows of four Japanese stores were smashed, and

similar incidents occurred in Fresno. In northern Tulare County,
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a group known as the “Bald Eagles™—described by one chserver
as a "a goerrilla army of nearly 1,000 farmers"—armed themselves
for the announced purpose of “guarding” the Japanese in case of
emergency. A similar organization was formed in the southeast
part of the county, where a large number of evacuees were con-
centrated. '™

Protecting ethnic Japanese from vigilantes is a justification for the
exchusion which has been repeatedly emphasized over the years. Stim-
som's autobiography relied on it as a principal reason:
‘What critics ignored was the situation that led to the evacuation.
Japanese raids on the west coast seemed not only possible but
probable in the first months of the war, and it was quite impossible
to be sure that the miders would not receive important help from
individuals of Japanese origin. More than that, anti-Japanese feel-
ing om the west coast had reached a level which endingered the
lives of all such individuals; incidents of extra-legal violence were
increasingly frequent, '™
MeCloy emphasized the same paoint in his testimony before the
Commission"™ and it appears in his papers in 1942 ac 8 subsidiary
reason for exclusion. ™ Tom Clark, writing long after the war, gave
protection against vigilantism as the reason he was willing to support
the exclusion, 5
This explanation sounds lame indeed today. It was not publicly
advanced at the time to justify the exclosion and, hed protection been
on official minds, & much different post-evacuation program would have
been required. McCloy himself supplied the most telling rebuttal of
the contention in a 1943 letter to General DeWitt:
That there is serious animosity om the West Coast against all
evacuated Japancse | do not doubt, but that does not necessarily
mean that we should trim our sails accordingly. . . . The Army,
as I see it, is not responsible for the general public pesce of the
Western Defense Command. That responsibility still rests with
the civil authorities. There may, as you suggest, be incidents, but
these can be effectively discouraged by prompt action by law
enforcement agencies, with the cooperation of the military if they
even [sic] assume really threstening proportions, 54
That is the simple, strmightforward answer to the argument of protec-
tion against vigilantes—keeping the peace is a civil matter that wonk]
involve the military only in extreme situations, Even then, public
officials would be duty-bound to protect the innocent, not to order
them from their homes for months or years under the rubric of &
military measure designed to maintain public pesce.
DeWitt's analysis in the Final Report of Japanese population con-
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centration and Japanese organizations is lifted, virtnally verbatim, from
testimony by Earl Warren before a Congressional committee after the
Executive Order was promulgated. The pattern of land purchases near
“military” areas means very little when one realizes that sensitive
military installations included aireraft plants, cilfields, dams, isolated
areas of the coast and powerlines as well as forts or Navy bases. The
fact that a number of Japanese ethnic organizations shared the same
post office box seems equally meaningless. A similar “analysis” of Ttal-
ians and [talian Americans who lived under dual citizenship laws more
strict than the Japanese in claiming the allegiance of children born to
Itabian citizens, ™ would have produced an equally alarming and mesn-
ingless pattern. Morton Grodzins has neatly set out the usual indices
aof probable Japanese disloyalty in terms of the Italians:
Because of their concentration in the fishing industry, Ttalians if
anything were located in more strategic coastal locations than the
Japanese, This was especially troe of the San Frunciseo Bay arca
and adjoining countics.
The Italians had their full quota of language schools and their
gwn churches. They and their children made numerous trips to
their home country. The Italisn consuls were active and important
members of the community, and Fascist propaganda was reflected
in & vernacular press which supported Mussolini's domestic and
foreign policies, If neturalization were any indication of accultur-
ation, then the single fact that more than half the foreign-born
Ttalizns had not become citizens of the United States demonstrated
a low degree of Americanization, Educational achievement rates
of children of ltalian ancestry were lower, and their delinguency
rates were higher, n comparison with those of Japanese ancestry.
Italians in California had contributed funds to the Italian relief
agencles following the comguests of Ethiopia and Albania 1™
For good measure, one might add the spectre of the Mafia as a well-
organized force willing to resort to any illegsl means to schieve its
ends. For “evidence™ of this sort to be eredible, one must be predis-
posed to believe that a well-organized conspiracy is in progress, The
development of such views is hindered when the alleged conspirators
are well-known, familiar neighbors. Tt is equally important to recognize
that the military would not usually be expected to have expertise abowt
these social and cultura] patterns; on such issues, ifanyone’s judgment
deserves deference it would be that of sociologists, not generals.

The Justice Department did no better than the War Department
in producing a factus] record to support the evacuation decision. It
made a virtoe of necessity:

The record in this case does not contain any comprehensive ac-
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count of the facts which gave rise to the exclusion and curfew
measures here involved. These facts, which should be considered
in determining the constitutionality of the Act [prohibiting vio-
lation of military orders issved under the Executive Order], em-
brace the general military, political, economic, and social condi-
tions under which the challenged orders were issued. These historical

Eacts . ﬂedthetypeﬂutmuadnmdlysmpuﬂcipdml

notice in considering constitutional questions, and in Z

many of these facts appear in official documents, such as the con-

temporary Tolan Committee’s reports, which are peculiarly within
the realm of judicial notice, "

The first point the Hirebayadhi brief made about reasons to con-
clude that the ethnic Japanese might be disloyal, reviewed the dis-
eriminatory history of the immigration and alien land laws as well as
cconomic discrimination in the west. The passage concludes by sug-
gesting that such hostile treatment might well have cansed an absence
of loyalty to the United States—in other words, the resident Japanese
ought to be disloyal. Next, the high percentage of aliens in the com-
munity was stressed (though the relevance of this to a case involving
an American citizen is by no means clear], The remaining points repeat
the tired catalogue of West Coast.anti-Japanese propaganda; the head-
ings of the brief tell the story: Dual Netionality, Shintotsm, Education
af American-born Children in Japan, Japanese Language Schools on
the West Coast, Jepanese Organizations and, finally, Possibility of Civil
Disorder '® The argument cites a vast array of general articles and
books, refers liberally to Congressional committer hearings and quotes
newspaper articles. This matches the Department’s position that the
facts of the case should be determined on judicial notice—in other
words, evervone knew that the Jupanese were likely to be disloval, so
all the government needed to show was that opinion’s respectability
and near-universality, No particular facts were needed. And no par-
ticular facts of probative force were supplied.

Unhappily, on the West Coast and across most of the country in
February 1942, these haseless canards made respectable opinion. The
ol prejudicizl propaganda of the anti-Japanese faction, unopposed,
had won the day. As a Joint Immigration Committes official put it in
early February, “This is our time to get things done that we have been
trying to get done for o gquarter of a century. ™™ The War Diopartment
and the President, through the press and politicians with the aid of
CGeneral DeWitt, had been sold a bill of goods. In accepting the viciows
views of California’s ngly past, they came to believe that the Issei and
Nisei represented a threat to the security of the coast. Perhaps only
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later did John J. McCloy, an casterner with little experience of the
west before Pearl Harbor,™ discover whose program he had been
carrying out on the Pacific Coast after the War Department had Giled
to scrutinize Ceneral DeWitt's demands closcly and critically. It was
certainly with an air of disgust that McCloy wrote to General DeWitt's
rucoesscr, introduceg Califnenis after his tracader from Hawaic
The situstion in California is not the same a3 in Hawaii]. You
have no doult becorme sware of the mistence of sctive and pow—
erful minority groups in California whose main interest in the war
seems to take the form of 2 desire for exchsinn of afl

Jupanese, loval or disloyal, citioen or from the West Coast
or, ot least, from Califenis . . . This meani that considerations

other than of mere military neccssity enter into any proposal for
removal of the present restrictions. ™
The program could not be ended on the basis of “mere militery ne-
cessity,” lnrgely becavse it did not begin that way,
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Exclusion and Evacuation

With the signing of Executive Order 8066, the course of the President
and the War Department was set. American citizens of Japanese an-
cestry would be required to move from the West Coast on the hasis
of wartime military necessity, and the way was open to move any other
group the military thought necessary. For the War Department and
the Western Defense Command (WDC), the problem now became
primarily ene of method and operation, not basic policy. General DeWitt
first tried “voluntary™ resettlement: the Issei and Nisei were to move
outside restricted military zones on the West Coast but were free to
go wherever they chose. From a military standpoint, this policy was
bizarre and wtterly impractical besides. If the Issei and Nisei were
being excluded becanse they threstened sabotage and espionage, it is
difficult to understand why they would be left at large in the interior
where there were, of course, innumerable dams, power lines, bridges
andd war industries to be spied upon or disrupted. For thal matter,
sabotage in the interior could be synchronized with a Japanese raid or
invasion for & powerful fifth column effect. If this was of little conoemn
to General DeWitt onee the perceived problem was removed beyvond
the boundaries of his command, it raises substantial doubts about how
gravely the War Department regarded the threat, The implications
were not lost on the citizens and politicians of the interior western
states; they believed that people who were s threat to wartime security
in California were equally dangerous in Wyoming and 1daho.
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personil burden of rage or resignation or despair to the assembly
centers and camps which the government had hastily built to protect
130 million Americans against 60,000 of their fellow citizens and their
resident alien parents,

CONGRESS ACTS

The Executive Order gave the military the power to issue orders; it
eould not impose sanctions for failure to cbey them. The Administration
quickly turned to Congress to obtain that suthority. By February 22,
the War Diepartment was sending draft legislation to the Justice De-
partment, General DeWitt wanted mandatory imprisonment and a
felony zanction because “you have greater liberty to enforce a felony
than you have to enforce a misdemeanor, viz. You can shoot a man to
prevent the commission of a felony.™ On March 9, 1942, Secretary
Stimson sent the proposed legislation to Congress. The hill was intro-
duced immediately by Senator Fobert Reynolds of North Carobina,
Chairman of the Senate Committée on Military Affairs, and by Rep-
resentative John M. Costello of California.®

The Executive Order was what the West Coast Congressional
delegation had demanded of the President and the War Department.
Congressman John H. Tolan of California, who chaired the House
Selert Committee which examined the evacuation from prohibited
military areas, characterized the order as “the recommendation in
almost the same words of the Pacific coast delegation.™ With such
regional support and military backing, there were only two circum-
stances under which one might have expected Congressional opposi-
tiom: if Tolan's Committes, which held hearings on the West Coast in
late February, immediately after the Executive Order was signed, had
returned to Washington prepared to argue against the Executive Order;
or if, given the fact that there was no evidence of actual sshotage or
espicnage, members concerned with civil rights and civil iberties had
protested,

Members of the Tolan Committee did not openly sbandon support
of the Executive Order after their West Coast hearings. They went
out persuided that espionage and fifth colomn activity by Issei and
Nisei in Hawali had been central to the success of the Japaness attack.
Censorship in Hawaii meant that the only authoritative news from the
islands was official. With regard to sabotage and fifth column activity,
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activity, that verston of events was still largely made up of two pieces:
Secretary Knon's firmly-stated December views that locul sabotage had
substantially aided the attack, and the Robert: Commission’s silence
about fifth column activity.* Thus there was no effective answer to be
made when Tolan challenged pro-Nisei witnesses:

We had our FBI in Honolulu, et they had probably the greatest,
the most perfect system of espionage and sabotage ever in the
history of war, native-born Japanese. On the enly roadway to the
shipping harbor there were hundreds and hundreds of automobiles

clogging the street, don’t you see ®
Mot privy to the facts in Hawaii, advocates of Japanese American loyalty
such as the Japanese American Citizens League, were frequently re-
duced to arguing lamely that the mainland Nisei were different from,
and more reliable than, the residents of Hawaii,® This view of Pearl
Harbor goes a long way toward explaining the argument, repeated by
the Congressmen, that the lack of sabotage only showed that enemy
loyalists were waiting for a raid or invasion to triger organized sctivity. 7

The: Misei spoke in their own defense; a few academics, churchmen
and labor leaders supported them.® Even much of this testimony,
assuming that a mass evacuation was a foif accompli, addressed sec-
ondary issues such as treatment during evacuation, Traditional anti-
Japanese voices such as the California Joint Tenmigration Committes
testificd firmly in favor of the Executive Order, reciting again the
historical catalogue of anti-Japanese charges ®

Earl Warren, then Attormey General of California and preparing
to run for governor, joined the anti-Japanese side of the argument.
One of the first witnesses, Warren presented extensive views to the
Committee; he candidly admitted that California had made no sabotage
or espionage investigation of its own and that he had no evidence of
sabotage or espionage. *® In place of evidence Warren offered extensive
documentation about Nikkei cultural patterns, ethnic organistions and
the opinions of California law enforcement officers; his testimony was
illustrated by maps vividly portraying Nikkei land ownership. This was
nothing but demagoguery:

1 do not mean to suggest that it should be thought that all of these

Japanese who are adjscent to strategic points are knowing parties

1o some vist conspirecy to destroy our State by sudden and mass

sabotage. Undoubtedly, the presence of many of these persons in

their present locations is mere coincidence, but it would seem

equally beyond doubt that the presence of others is not eoinei-
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dence. It would seem difficalt, for example, to explain the situation
in Sants Barbars County by coincidence alone.

In the northern end of that county @ Camp Cook where, | am
informed, the only armored division on the Pacific coast will be

H
:
%
|
i
E
E

Santa Maria and Guadahupe every utility, airfield, bridge, tele-
, il power line or other fBacility of importance is flanked
Jupanese, and they even surmound the ofl fields in this area.
Omly o few miles south, however, is the Sunta Yoer Valley, an

and with lands equally available for purchase and lease, but with-
out any strutegic installations whatever, There are no Jspanese in
the Santa Ynez Valley.

Similarly, slong the coastal plain of Sants Barbara County from

As late a5 February 8, Warren had advised the stue personne]
bomrd that it could not bar Nisei eonployees on the bases thet they were
children of enemy alien parentage; such sction was & violation of con-
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stitutionally protected liberties. '? This earlier stance must have given
his performance before the Tolan Committre special force and effect *

At bottom, Warren's presentation had no probative value, and
calm reflection would probubly have led many to question whether
people planning to blow up dams or bridees would have purchased
the surrounding Land rather than masking their mtentns more thor-
cughly. But these were ot weeks of calm reflecton. The overpowensg
mass of Warren's dats—maps and betters and bists from sl over Cali-
bormia—gripped the imaginatson and turmed the discussion to fraities
arpument sbout whether land was bought belore or after a powerline
or plant was built; no one focused on whether there was resson to
believe that this “evidence™ meant anything ot all. A similar “analysi™
of ethnic Italian land ownership would probably have produced an
equally alarming and meaningless pattern, and, as Governor Olson
testificd to the Committee, there were many ltalian languasge schools
which frequently inculcated Fascist values. " Of course, no such com-
parison was made; even Olson’s shocked revelution failed to attract the
attention of the Committee. The fact that the first witness called by
the Tolan Committee was Mayor Rossi of San Francisco and thet a
groeat desl of time was devoted to extolling the ungquestionable Amer-
icandsm of the DiMaggio brothers (although their father and mother
were aliens), clearly brings home the advantages which nembers, po-
litical vokees and comparative assimilation provided in 1842's hoor of
crisis. ™ Helphul, too, was the absence of an orgunized anti-ltalian fac-
tion and the patronizing ethnéc stereotype of being, as President Hoo-
sevelt remarked, nothing but 2 lot of opers singers. ™

In late February and eacly March, the Tolan Commitiee assumed
that Secretary Knox knew what he was talking sbout and that the
President was acting on informed opanion. The vaews of anti- Japanese
witnesses added substance and confirmed what was alresdy koows or
suspected. Although the Committer was cagey to see that the property

*It was covtamdy pormsshe with the Westers Dieferse Compund In
DeWits's Fimal Report, mwoch ol Warmen's presentatson to the Tolss Committer
v repested virtually verbatim, without sttribation. Wernen's argoments,
shey the signing of the Executive Ordey, beosme the contral jus-
tificmtions presested by DeWint for ssoie the Earcutive Order (Compare
Final Report, pp. %10, o Tolen Committee, p. 10674). This quack reongani-
zation of history does Litthe to enhancr the reputstion of the Weitern Defeme
Command for candor end independent analysis, slthough Warren may well
have presented his views to DeWitt earlier in Folwuary.
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of aliens was safeguarded by the government and wanted the Army to
be concerned sbout hardship eases in an evacuation, it returned to
Washingten unwilling to challenge the need for Executive Order 9066
and the evecuation. Ounly in reports issued over the next few months
did the Committes begin to raise serious questions about the policy
underlying exclusion and removal, *®

There was no civil liberty opposition in Congress to meking crim-
inal any viglation of the Exccutive Order. There were, of course, few
Nisei of voting age and they had no voice in Congress. Mo one publicly
questioned the military necessity of the action or its intrusion into the
freedom of American citizens, Such debate as there was focused on
the inclusive waording of the bill.

The linguage of the bill was loose indeed. Senator Danaher won-
dered how a person would know what conduct constituted a violation
of the act, an essential requirement for a criminal statute.'? Senator
Taft spoke briefly against the bill, although he did not vote against it:

1 think this is probably the “sloppiest” criminal law | have ever

read or seen anywhere. | certainly think the Senate should not

pass it. 1 do not want to ohject, because the purpose of it is

understood. . . . .

[The hill] does not say who shall prescribe the restrictions. It
does not say how anyone shall know that the restrictions are ap-
plicable to that particular zone. It does not appear that there is
any suthority given to anyone to prescribe any restriction. . . .

1 have no doulst an act of that kind would be enforced in war
time, | have no doubt that in peacetime po man could ever be
convicted under it, because the court would find that it was so
indefinite and so uncertain that it could not be enforced under
the Constitution. '®

The debate was no more pointed or cogent in the House, where there
seemed to be some suggestion that the hill applied to aliens rather
than citizens. "™ The bill passed without serious ohjection or debate,
and was signed into law by the President on March 21, 1942 %

This rutification of Executive Branch actions under Executive Cr-
der 9066 was particularly important; another independent branch of
government now stood formally behind the exclusion and evacuation,
and the Supreme Court gave great weight to the Congressional sction
in upholding the imposition of a curfew and the evacuation itself 2

*The Administration also considered introducing other legislation which
would have affected Japanese Americans. For example, Scoretary Stimson
wrode to the Director of the Bureau of Bodget on February 24 about begislation

-]
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IMPLEMENTING THE EXECUTIVE ORDER

Exrcutive Urder 9066 rmpowered the Secretary of War or his delegate
0 designate military arvis to which entry of any or all persons would
be barred whenever such sction was deewmed matitarily necesany or
drsirable = On February 20, 1942, Secretary Stimson wrote to Genersl
DeWitt debegating sothorty o mmplement the Exccutive Order within
the Western Defense Command and setting forth a namber of sperific
Tequests and instroctions: American citzens of Japanese descent, Jap-
srese and German sbiens snd any persons supected of being poten-
tially dangrrous were o be exchoded from designasted military aress:
everyone of Ialian descent was 10 be omitted from any plan of eache-
sion, st Jeast fior the time being, because they were “potentially less
dungerous, a5 & whole.” DeWitt was to consider redesignating the
Justice Department’s prohibited areas as military areas, excluding Jap-
anese and German aliens from those areas by February 24 and ex-
cluding actually suspicious persons “as soon as practicable;” full ad-
vantage wis to be taken of voluntary exodus; people were to be removed
wuuymmdmnmyhumm.nd&m&m
and industry “so far as is consistent with national safety.” accommo-
dutions were 10 be made before the exodus, with proper provision for
housing, food, transportation and medical care. Finally, evacuation
plans were to provide protection of evacuees’ property. =

Over the next month DeWitt began to implement Stimson’s in-
structions. On March 2, he issued Public Proclamstion No. 1. an-
nouncing as a matter of military necessity the creation of Military Areas
No. 1 and No. 2 Militery Ares | was the western half of Washington,
Ohregom, and California and the southern half of Arizona. all portions
of those stales not nchded i Military Area No. | were in Military
Ares No. 2 A number of zones were established s well. Zones A-1
through A-06 were primanly within Military Area No. | Zone B was

to e the Soatweadety At of 14D The proposed ssrrodements soukd ke
permitted thesr who did not sprek Engsh to spply for citizenship, ot the
warrer timwe, i wondd have provided a process for canorlbieg citleersbap for those
whise comdisct established allepance 108 ke pvermement. (Meme, Stipson
to Smith, Fb. B4, 1842 [OWRIC 2505]) In cffect, the begilaten would hove
allrwrd naturalization of slieos from enemy countries in Ewope and the can-
cellstion of citizenship of some penons, particulary cthoee Japanese—a step
never before provided, but one which the snti-Japanee faction on the West
Coast had pushed in the past and would continae to urge.
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the remainder of Military Area No. 1. The Proclamation further noted
that in the future people might be excluded from Military Area No. 1
and from Zones A-2 to A-09, and that the designation of Military Area
MNo. 2 did not contemplate restrictions or prohibitions except with
respect to the Zones designated. The Proclamation dearly foreshad-
owed extensive future exclusions. It also provided that any Japanese,
German, or Italian alien, and any person citizen) of Japanese ancestry
residing in Military Area No. 1 who changed his residence, was re-
quired to file a form with the post office. Finally, the Proclamation
expressly continued the prohibited and restricted areas designated by
the Attorney General® A enrfew regulation requiring all enemy aliens
and persons of Japanese ancestry to be in their bomes between & p.m.
and 6 a.m. was added by proclamation on March 24, 19423

In the press statement aceompanying his first public proclamation,
DeWitt announced that Japanese—hboth aliens and citizens—would be
evaruated first (suspicious persons were, of course, being apprehended
daily); only after the Japanese had been excluded would German and
Italian aliens be evacuated. In addition, scme German and Taltan aliens
wonild be altogether exempt from evacuation, =

At this point “voluntary” resettlement outside the designited mpmes
wis contemplated, excluded people weore free to go where they chose
beyomdd the prohibited areas. “Voluntary™ evacustion actually began
before Executive Order 9066, Enemy aliens had been excluded from
areas designated by the Department of Justice as early as December
1841, and many had moved out of the prohibited areas voluntarily.
The Army had an interest in attempting to continue that system; Ben-
detsen noted that many aliens ordered to move after Pearl Harbor had
found new places for themselves, stressing that the Army should not
advertise that it would provide food and housing for those it displaced
because numerous aliens might rush to take advantage of a free living,
He also thought the Army should not be responsible for resettlement,
since its job "is to kill Japanese not to save Japanese;” devoting re-
sources to resettlement would make the Army's primary task—that of
winning the war—more difficale.™

In Seattle, optimism marked the voluntary evacuation program.
Local FBI agents informed . Edgar Hoover in late February that
Japanese aliens were prepared to evacuate, and that the Japanesc
American Citizens League, through the Maryimell Mission, was at-
tempting to secure facilities and employment for the Seattle Japanese
community—both citizens and aliens—in St. Louis, Missouri.® The
Seattle Chapter of the JACL passed and poblished a resolution that
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its members would make every effort to cooperate with the government
to facilitate evacuation measures,
More sober minds saw that the voluntary program could not work.
As early as February 21, the Tolan Committes was beginning to receive
complaints from areas to which the evacuees were moving™ fears of
sabotage and destruction were spreading inland. ™ Both Earl Warren
&nd Richard Neustadt, the regional director of the Federal Security
Agency, saw that only an evacuation and relocation program run by
the government could work. ™
The reaction from the interior was direct and forceful. On Feb-
ruary 21, 19842, Governor Carville of Nevada wrote to General DeWitt
that permitting unsupervised enemy aliens to go to all parts of the
country, particulardy to Nevada, would be conducive to sabotage and
subwversive activities:
1 have made the statement here that enemy aliens would be ac-
cepted in the State of Nevada under proper supervision. This
would apply to concentration camps as well as to those who might
be allowed to farm or do sueh other things as they could do in
helping out. This is the attitude that 1 am going to maintain in
this State and I do not desire that Nevada be made a dumping
ground for enemy aliens to be going anywhere they might see fit
to travel
Covernor Ralph L. Carr of Colorado was characterized by many
contemporaries as the one mountain state governor receptive 1o re-
location of the Issei and Nisei in his state.™ His radio address of Feb-
ruary 25, 1942, gives a vivid impression of how high feelings ran about
these unwanted people:
If those who command the armed forces of our Nation say that it
is mecessary o remove any persons from the Pacific coast and call
wpon Colorado to do her part in this war by furnishing temporary
guarters for those individuals, we stand ready to carry out that
order, If any enemy aliens muest be tansferred as a war measure,
then we of Colorado are big enough and patriotic enough to do
pur duty. We announce to the workd that 1,118,000 red-blooded
citizens of this State are able to take care of 3,500 or any number
of enemies, if thet be the task which is allotted to us. . . .

The people of Colorado are giving their sons, are offering their
possessions, are sumendering their rights and privileges to the
end that this war may be fought to victory and permanent peace.
If it is our duty to receive disloval persons, we shall welcome the
peerformance of that task.

This statemnent must not be construed as an invitation, kowever.
Only becanse the needs of our Nation dictate it, do we even consider
such an arrangement. In making the transfers, we can feel assured
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that governmental agencies will take every precaution to protect

our people, our defense projects, and our property from the same

menace which demands their removal from those sections.

The government was also beginning to realize the hardship which
the “voluntary”™ program brought upon evacuees. For instance, Sec-
retary Knox forwarded to the Attorney General a report that the sit-
uation of the Japanese in southern California was critical because they
were being forced to move with no provision for housing or means of
livelihood* McCloy, stll in favor of the voluntary program, wrote
Harry Hopkins at the White House that “[olne of the drawbacks they
have is the loss of their property. A number of forced sales are taking
place and, until the last minute, they hate to leave their land or their
shop, ™

Inevitably, the “voluntary” evacuation failed. The Army recog-
nized this in Public Proclamation No. 4 on March 27, which prohibited
persons of Japanese ancestry in Military Area No. 1 from changing
their residence without instroction or approval from the Army. The
Western Defense Command explained that the Proclamation was “to
ensure an orderly, supervised, and thoroughly controlled evacuation
with adequate provision for the protection . . . of the evacuees as well
as their property.” The evacoees were to be shielded from intense
public hostility by this approach.® Full government control had ar-
rived.

The change-of-address cards required by Public Proclamation No.
1 show the number of people who voluntarily relocated before March
29. In the three weeks following March 2, only 2,005 reported moving
vut of Military Area No. 1; since approximately 107,500 persons of
Japanese descent lived there, these statistics alone showed that vol-
untary migrativn would not echieve evacuation. Fublic Proclamation
Mo. 4 was issued on March 27 effective at midnight March 29. In the
interval the Wartime Civil Control Administration received a rush of
approximately 2,500 cards showing moves out of Military Areas No, 1
and 2.7 The statistics in General DeWitt's Final Report are not alto-
gether consistent: they show that from March 12 to June 30, 15842,
10,312 persons reported their “volmtary” intention to move out of
Military Ares Mo. 1. But a net total*® of less than half that number—
4,885 left the area as part of the “voluntary” program. Of these vol-
untary migrants, 1,963 went to Colorado; 1,519 to Utah; 305 to Idaho;
206 to eastern Washington; 115 to eastern Oregon; and the remainder
ta other states, Y The Final Report surmises that this net total “probably
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accounts for 90 percent of the tota] number of Japanese . . . who
voluntarily left the West Coast area for inland paints. ™9
othens began to propose programs designed for the cvacoess. On Feb-
rusry 30, 1942, Carey McWilliams, then a California state official and
b#immu-ﬂq—-m’m
that the Presdent estshlish an Alen Control Avthority ran by rep-
resentatives of federal agracies. The ageacy would register, license,
settle, maintain and reemploy the evaceees, and comeerve alen prop-
erty. Ennis forwarded the sugzestion to Mc(loy, who thought it had
merit. ® During the first week of March 1942, the Commissioner of
Indian Afairs in the Interior Department, Joha Collier, proposed what
he considered to be & constroctive program for the evacuers, including
wseful work, education, health care and other services to be provided
to them, as well as a plan for rehabilitation after the war. Callier sad
thut the Department of the Interior would he interested in working
on such a program if it were a meaningful one. * The Tolan Committee
filed an interim report which showed great preschence about future
problems and considerable concern for the fate of the evacuees, *
Whatever their individual merit, these proposals reflect genuinely
wympathetic interest in the evaruees, Unfortunately, much of the thought
und care that went into these programs was lost in the rush to evacuate
anal relocate,

MANDATORY EVACUATION

O the decision was made thet evarustion wa no longer voluntary,
& plan for compulsory evacuation was needed. * The core of this plan

There s & contiming controveryy ovey whwther the Cemses Boress
brescherd the conbdentiality of connes aformetes o order to sad other pos-
ermment grecws @ boosting ethoi fapanrue jobn Tolasd, m b revent ook
Infamy Fearl Harbor end fts Aftermath (Cardes City, NY- Doubledey & Co.,
., 1982, pp. 368, 254855, recounts an episode on Movember 36, 1941, in
which Henry Fiacld, an anthropologist working e an ssde w0 Fresident Roo-
sevelt, was called to the ofice of Graore Tully, Roosevelt's seoretary-

She tobd Ficld that the President wes ordering him o produce, in the

wu-pﬂh,hﬂl_—ddbuni_hm

born and forsign-born Japanese listed by locality within each state. Ficld
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was that evacuation and relocation could not be accomplished simul-
tanegusly. * Therefore:, sites had to be found for both temporary quar-
ters and longer-term settlement.

During the period of the voluntary evacuation program, the Army
had begun a search for appropriate camp facilities, both temporary and
pormanent.*” Hegarding the eriteria for selection of assembly centers,
General DeWitt later wrote:

Assembly Center site selection was a task of relative simplicity.

As time was of the essence, it will be apparent that the choice

was limited by four rather fundamental requirements which vir-

tually pointed out the selections ultimately made. First, it was
necessary to find places with some adaptable pre-existing facilities
suitable for the establishment of shelter, and the many needed

was completely bewildered and didn't know how to begin. She explained

it was to be done by using the 1930 and 1840 censuses,

Within one week, Field is said to have delivered to Grace Tully the names
and addresses of all the ethnic Japanese in the United States,

Calvert Dedrick, a Census Bureau employee whe becume a consultant o
the Western Defense Command in late February 1942, testified to the Com-
mission that to his knowledge the Census Bureau provided the Western De-
fense Command with detailed tabulations of the location of the ethnic Japancse
population but did not provide the names or addresses of individuals, (Tes-
timomy, Dedrick, Washington, DO, Nov. 3, 1961, pp. 170-80.} The Census
Buresu undertook an internal knvestigation after the publication of Toland's
book and concluded that the account to Toland was not sccurate and that
names and addresses had not beem released. (Bureau of the Cenas ~Statement
on Census Bureau Actions at the Outset of World War 11 as Beported in
Infamy: Fearl Harbor and Its Aftermath, by John Teland,” Oct. 1982 [CWEIC
B928-34].) A brief statement by the Census Bureao of its activities in connection
with the evacuation, written in 1646, also states that names and indivichaal
identifications were not provided to the Western Defense Command. (Roger
Dariels, "The Bureaw of the Census and the Relocation of the Japanese Amer-
icans: A. Note and a Document,” Amerasia Journad, vol. 8, oo, 1, 1982, pp.
F0-05. ] In his interview for the Earl Warren Oral History Project, Tom Clark
mentioned the Census Buresy data in passing:

The Census Burean moved out its raw files. . . They would lay out on

tables various city blocks where the Japanese lived and they would tell

me how many were living in each block, (Ead Warren Oral History

Project, Joapanese American Relocation Reviewed, vol. 1, Interview of

Tom C. Clark, p. 9.)

There is no direct evidence or testimony to the efect that the Westerr: Defense
Commaumd was in possession of the names and addresses of individual ethnic
Japanese, as collected by the Census Bureau, at the time that mandatory
evacuation was carried oot, but Field's story mises questions.
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community services. Sccond, power, light, and water had to be
within immediste availability a5 there was no time for a long
development period. Third, the distance from the Center of the
main elements of evacuee population served had to be short, the
connecting road and rail net good, and the potential capacity suf-
ficient to accept the adjacent evacues group. Finally, it was es-
sential that there be some area within the enclosure for recreation
and allied activities as the pecessary confinement would otherwise
have been completely demoralizing. The sudden expansion of our
military and naval establishments further limited the choice, ®

Site selection did not proceed perfectly smoothly, however. After
Onwens Valley in California was selected as a center, Congressman Ford
of California, who had been prominent in urging the evacuation, ob-
jected. In a conversation with Gullion, DeWitt discussed Ford's ob-
jection: "Well, they are going to Cwens Valley, and that's all. T don't
care anything about the howl of these Congressmen or anybody else, ™"
The attitude was typical of DeWitt who, given authority, did not hes-
itate to use it; but Ford continued to press his position, meeting with
Justice Department officials and planning to meet with Bendetsen and
possibly others.™ He was not successful, since Stimson stood behind
DeWitt, but it gave fair warning that many interested politicians who
had pushed to establish the evacuation program and exclude the Nikkei
from the West Coast retained a vital interest. As the months went by
the War Department in Washington was to learn what DeWitt may
have known all alomg: exclusion fulfilled the program of powerful or-
ganized interests in California, and no part of it would be given up
without a fight.

In March work began at the first two permanent relocation centers,
Manzanar in the Owens River Valley and the Northern Colorado Indian
Feservation in Arizong; the sites served as both assembly and relocation
centers.™ The ather assembly centers were selected with dispatch,
The Final Heport explains:

After an intensive survey the selections were made. Except at
Fortland, Oreggon, Finedale and Sacramento, California and Mayer,
Arizona, large Biirgrounds or recetracks were selected. As the
Arizona requirements were small, an abandoned Civilian Con-
servation Corps camp at Mayer was employved. In Portland the
Pacific International Live Stock Exposition facilities were adapted
to the purpose. At Pinedale the plice chosen made use of the
facilities remaining on a former mill site where mill employees
had previously resided. At Sacramento an area was employed
where a migrant camp had once operated and advantage was taken
of nearby utilities. ™
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A major step toward systematizing evacuation at this time was the
establishment of the War Relocation Authority (WRA), a civilion agency,
to supervise the evacuees after they left Army assembly centers. The
War Department was eager to be out of the resettlerment business,
and discussed with the Attorney General and the Budget Bureau the
mechanizsm for setting up a permanent organization to take over the
job. Milton Eisenhower, a candidate fully acceptable to the War De-
partment, was chosen to hesd the agency; McCloy took him to San
Francisco to meet DeWitt before the Executive Order setting up the
WHA was promulgated, ™ By March 17, plans for the independent
suthority responsible for the Japanese Americans were completed; the
next day Roosevelt signed Executive Order 9102 to establish the War
Relocation Authority,™ appointed Eisenhower Director,™ and allo-
cated 85,500,000 for the WHRA, 5

WRA was established “to provide for the removal from designated
areas of persons whose removal is necessary in the interest of national
security. . . . The Director was given wide discretion; the Executive
Order did not expressly provide for relocation camps, and it gave the
Director suthority to “[plrovide, fosofar as feasible and desirable, for
the employment of such persons at useful work in industry, commeree,
agriculture, on public projects, preseribe the terms and conditions of
such public employment, and safeguard the public interest in the
private employment of such persons, ™ In short, the WRA's job would
be to take over the supervision of the evacuees from the Army's as-
sembly centers, With that final destination put in the hands of a civilian
agency, the Army was ready to push firmly ahead with its part of the
evacuation,

Cmnee Public Proclamation Mo, 4 took effect on March 29, and
persons of Japanese ancestry were barred from moving out of Military
Area No. 1, systematic mandatory evacuation began, Both the evac-
uation and the operation of the assembly centers were under the au-
thority of the Army, by agreement with the War Belocation Authority.
Evacuation was under military supervision. The centers themselves
were operated by the Wartime Civil Control Administration (WCCA),
the civilian branch of the Western Defense Command. Ninety-nine
geographic exclusion areas were established in Military Area No. 1;
an additional nine were specified later. The California portion of Mil-
itary Area No. 2 was declared a prohibited area in June ™ Areas re-
garded as militarily sensitive were evacuated first. The order of eva-
cuation was kept seeret “so that the information would not reach any
affected person within the area,” Once announced, each evacuation
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plan gave seven doays from the date of posting the order until the
mavement of evarness.™

The small-seale evacuation of Terminal Island was a precursor of
the mass evacuation of the West Coast and provides a vivid impression
of the hardship brought by evacuation. Roughly sic miles long and a
half-mile wide, Terminal Island marks the boundaries of Los Angeles
Harbor and the Cerritos Channel. Lying directly across the harbor
from San Pedro, the island was reached in 1841 by ferry or & small
drawhridge.

The Japanese community on the island was isolabed, primarily
oceupied in fishing and canning. A half-dozen canneries, each with its
own employee housing, were located on the island.™ In 1942 the
Japanese population of Terminal Island was approximately 3,500, of
whom half were American-borm.® Most of the businesses which served
the island were owned or operated by Issei or Nisei, The island econ-
omy supported restaurants, groceries, barbershops, beauty shops and
poolhalls in addition to three physicians and two dentists, "™

Om February 10, 1942, the Department of Justice posted a warning
that all Japanese aliens had to leave the island by the following Momnday,
The pext day, a Presidential order placed Terminal 1sland under the
jurisdiction of the Navy. By the 15th, Secretary of the Navy Knox had
directed that the Terminal Island residents be notified that their dwell-
ings would be condemned, effective in abowt 30 days. ™ Even this pace
was too slow: on February 25 the Navy informesd the Terminal Islanders
tht they had 48 hours to leave the island, Many were unprepared for
such a precipitous move

The FBI had previously removed individuals who were considered
dangerous aliens on December 7, 1941, and followed this by “daily
dawn raids . . . removing several hundred more aliens.™ As a con-
sequence, the hesds of many families were gone and mainly older
women and minor children were left.® With the new edict. these
women and children, who were unaccustormed to handling business
transactions, were forced to make quick financial decisions. With litthe
time or expericnce, there was no opportunity to effect a reasonable
disposition.

Dir. Yoshihiko Fujikawa, o resident of Terminal Island, described
the scene prior to evacuation:

Tt was during these 48 hours that I witnessed unscrupulous vul-

tures in the form of human beings taking advantage of bevildered

housewives whose hushands had been rounded up by the F.B. 1

within 48 hours after Pearl Harbor. They were offered pittances
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for practically new furniture and appliances: refrigerators, radio

consoles, ete., as well as cars, and many were falling prey to these

people. ™
The day after evacuation, Terminal Island was littered with abandomed
household goods and equipment, ™ Henry Murakami's loss was typical.
He had become a fisherman after graduating from high school. After
gaining experience he leased a boat from Van Camp Seafood Company
and went oot on his own, saving money to increase and to improve
his equipment:

By the time World War 11 had started, 1 was now the owner of 3

sets of purse seine nets. These nets were hard to get and the

imate costs of these nots in 1941 were:

set of nets for Tuna F10,000
set of nets for Mackerel 47,500
set of nets for Sardines £5,000

When Pearl Harbor was sttacked we were stopped from going
out to fish and told to remain in our fishing camp.™
In early February, along with every alien male on Terminal Island who
held a fisherman’s license, Murakami was wrrested and sent to Bis-
marck, North Dakota. His equipment lay abandoned, accessible for
the taking. '

The first exclusion order under the Army program was issued for
Bainbridge Island near Seattle in Puget Sound, an area the Navy re-
garded as highly sensitive, It is illustrative of the Army's evacuation
process, The order was issued on March 24, 1942, for an evacoation &
week later™ that was carded ot under the direction of Bendetsen,
whio had been promoted to colone] and put in charge of the evacnation
by DeWitt as head of the WCCA, which operated in conjunction with
other lederal agencies.™

Tom G. Rathbone, field supervisor for the U5, Employment
Service, filed a roport after the Bainbridge Island evacuation, with
suggestions for improvernent which give a clear picture of the govern-
ment’s approach. A meeting to cutline evacuation procedures was called
on March 23; representatives of a number of federal agencies were
present. After setting up offices on the island, the government group
“reported to Center al 800 a.m. . . . for the purpose of conducting a
eomplete registration of the forty-five families of persons of Japanese
ancestry who were residents of the Island.” Rathbone suggested that
more complete instructions from Army suthoritics would elarify many
problems, inclading what articles could be taken, climate at the as-
sembly centers and timing of evacuation. He also suggested better
planning so that the evaruees would not be required to return re-
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peatedly to the center: “such planning would have to contemplate the
ability to answer the type of question [sic] which occur and the ability
to give accurate and definite information which would enable the evac-
wee to close out his business and be prepared to report st the designated
point with necessary baggage, ete.” Further, Rathbone noted that
disposition of evacvees property following relocation caused the most
serious hardship and prompted the most questions. He reported:
We received tentative information late Friday afterncon to the
effcct that it was presumed that the Government would pay the
transportation costs of such personal belongings and equipment
to the point of relocation upon proper notice. When this word
was given to the evacuees, many complained bitterly because they
had not been given such information prior to that time and had,
therefore, sold, at considerable loss, many such properties which
they would have retained had they known that it would be shipped
to them upon relocation. Saturday morming we receive additional
word through the Federal Beserve Bank that the question had
not been answered and that probably no such transportation costs
would be paid, Between the time on Fridey afternoon and Sat-
urday morning some Japanese had arranged 1o repossess belong-
ings which they had already sold and were in a grester turmoil
than ever upon getting the latter information. To my knowledge,
there still is no answer to this question, but it should be definitely
decided before the next evacuation is attempted.™

After the Bainbridge evacuation, exclusion orders were issued for
each of the other 98 exclugion areas in Military Area Mo, 1 and areas
“were evacuated in the order indicated by the Civilian Exclusion Order
number with but a few exceptions.™ (A typical order, with map and
instructions attached, appears after page 111.)

Later evicuations were better onganized, but difficulties persisted.
The handling of evacues property presented a major problem for the
government; one to which considerable, cnly partially successhul effort
was sddressed. Congressman Tolan had sent a telegram to Attorney
General Biddle on February 28, first urging the appointment of an
Alien Froperty Custodian at the same time as an evacustion order was
issued and the appointment of a eoordingtor for other enemy alien
probdems; Tolan did not address the problems of property protection
or relocation assistance for citiens. ™ When MeCloy informed Harry
Hopkins of evacuees’ property problems, he asked that a property
custodian be appointed ™ Hoplins replied that sliens” property could
already be protected through the Treasury Department; as to the prop-
erty of citizens, if MeCloy would draw up documents for the President
to sign, Hopkins thought a custodian for citizens’ property was a good
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idea. ™ The War Department drew up the papers, ™ but the custodial
plan did not go through; instead the Trewsury Department directed
the Federal Reserve Board to assist evacuees in disposing of their
property—"not & custodianship matter at all but a sort of free banking
service.” For vears to come, problems of property disposal and pro-
tection continued to haunt the evacuees and the federal povernment.

A minor but flluminating problem occurred when the Navy lan-
guage school, which had Japanese personpel, realized it would have
to relocate from Monterey to a place inland, The Navy was not pleased,
but DeWitt prevailed once more, showing that he would enforce his
authority to the letter without regard to the consequences for other
government agencies or services, ™ There were no cases that merited
making exceptions.

Om May 23, 1842, Bendetsen spoke to the Commonwealth Club
of San Francisco and reported that evacuation would be nearly com-
pleted by the end of May,™ By June 6, all Japanese Americans had
been evacuated from Military Area No. 1 to the assembly centers,®
On June 8, 1842, DeWitt issued Public Proclamation No. 7, which
provided “should there be any aress remaining in Military Area No.
1 from which Japanese have not been excluded, the exclusion of all
Japanese from these areas is provided for in this proclamation.™ By
that proclamation, any ethnic Japanese remaining in the area and not
exempt were ordered to report in person to the nearest assembly
center.

In early June, the nest stage of the evacuation occurred when, by
Public Proctamation No. 6, DeWitt ordered the exclusion of Japanese
aliens and American citizens of Japanese ancestry from the California
portion of Military Area No. 2 on the grounds of military necessity_ *
Earlicr the voluntary evacuees had been encouraged to move inland
with no suggestion that Military Area No. 2 in California or any other
state would be cleared of ethnic Japancse.™ Indeed, in late April,
Bendetsen was still resisting the politicians and agricultural interests
who were pushing for expansion of the exclusion zone beyond Military
Area No. 1.* The exchusion from the California portion of Military
Area No. 2 appears to have been decided without any additional evi-
dence of threat or danger in the area. The Final Report lamely explains
this d\.'a.nge:

Military Area No. 2 in California was evacuated because (1) geo-

graphically and strategically the eastern boundary of the State of

California approximates the casterly limit of Military Area No. 1

in Washington and Oregon . . . and because (2) the natural forests
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FIGURE A: An Exclusion Ovder

Headquarters
Wastern Defense Command
and Fourth Army

Preskiic of San Frandico, Colfornia
April 30, 1943

Civilian Exclusion Order No. 27

1. Pursuant to the provisons of Public Proclamations MNos. 1 and 2, this
Hesdqurters, dated March 2, 1942, and March 16, 1942, respectively, it @
hereby ordered that from and after 12 o'clock noon, P.W.T., of Thursday, May
7, 1942, all persons of Japanese ancestry, both alien and noo-shen, be excluded
from that porton of Military Ares Mo, 1 described s follows:

All of that portion of the County of Alameda, State of California, within

that boundary beginning ar the paint at which the southerdy limio of dhe

City of Berkeley meer San Francisco Bay; thence easterly and following

the southerly limits of mid oty o College Avenue; thence scoutheriy on

College Avenue to Brondway; thence southerly on Broadwry 1o the south-

erly limims of the Ciry of Caklind; thence following che Limits of mid cicy

westerly and morcherly, and following the shoreline of Sen Francaco Bay
to the paint of beginning.

L A responsible member of each fumily, and each individual living alome,
in the shove described area will report between the hours of 8:00 A, M. and
5:00 P. M., Friday, May 1, 1942, or during the same hours on Ssrurday, May
2, 1942, to the Civil Contraol Stscion locared ae:

530 Eighteenth Screet
Oakland, California.

}. Any person subject to this arder who fils w comply with any of i
provisions or with the provisions of publithed instroctioms permaining herem
ot who ot found in the above ares afier 12 o'clock noon, P.W.T., of Thursday,
May 7, 1942, will be liable to the criminal penslties provided by Public Law
Mo. 303, 77th Congress, approved March 21, 1942 entitied “An Act 1o Provide

Mn;,hmu@h;h%uﬂmﬁ;m&uhlﬁhunm
or Zones,” and alien Japanese will be subject to immediaste apprebension and in-
ternment.

4. All persons within the bounds of an established Assembly Center pur-
suant o inscructions from this Hesdquarters are excepted from the provisons
of this order while those persoms are in sach Amembly Center,

J. L DxWirr
Licutsnant Genenl, U 5 Army
Cormynding

Source: |. L. DeWitt, Final Report: Japanese Evacuation from
the West Coast, 1942 (1843), p. 97.
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FIGURE B: Map of a Prohibited Ares

PROHIBITED AREA
EXCLUSION ORDER NO. 27
Western Defense Command and Fourth Army

This Map s prepared for the convenlence of the public; see the
Civilias Exclusion Order for the full and correct description.

Source: |. 1. DeWitt, Final Repori: Japanese Fracuation from
the West Coast, 1942 (1943), p. 58
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FICURE C: Instructions o Evecaess

Presidic of S5an Fromdce. Californie

INSTRUCTIONS
TO ALL PERSONS OF

JAPANESE

ANCESTRY
LIVING IN THE FOLLOWING ARLA:

All of thet portion of the County of Alameds, State of California, within

that boundsry beginning st the point st which the southerly limics of

the City of Berkeley meet San Francisco Bay; thence essterly and following
the southerly limits of said city to Callege Avenue; thence southerly an

College Avenue to Broadway; thence southerly on Brosdway to che south-

erly limits of the City of Ouakland; thence following the limics of said

city weatarly and northerly, and following the shorhine of San Francisco

Bay to the point of beginaing.

Purmant to the provisiors of Civilian Exclusion Order No. 27, this Head-
quarvers, dated April 30, 1942, sll persons of Jupaness sncestry, both slien and
noa-slen, will be evacuated from the sbove ares by 12 o'clock noon, P.W.T,
Thursdey May 7, 1942,

Mo Japanese person bring in the above sres will be permicted to change
resdence siver 17 o'cdock soon, PW.T., Thursdsy, April 30, 1942, withou
chasising special permusson from the reproseststeve of the Commanding Gen-
enl, Nordern Californn Seveer, st the Civill Control Ststion locaned at:

330 Exghecemah Sereet,
Okl Califarne.

Swch permws will oaly be gracted for the purpow of wniting mesbers of &
Benly, or @ casm o grave cmerpency.
afecred by tha rvscestion is the following way:

L Give adwice and metrectons oa the «

L Provede srvce with ropery 1o the sunsgemwn, lesing, ule, wonge
or other duponiton of moe kinds of property, rach w ral otste, busoes and
professons] equipmens, boosehold goods, bousts, swtormobiles sad [vestock.

§. Provade pemporary residence cluwhers for all Japantse in Gmily groups.

4. Tramsport p and 3 hmiged of clothing and equipesent to
their new resdence.
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THE FOLLOWING INSTEUCTIONS MUST BE OBSERVED:

1. A responaible member of each family, prefersbly the head of che family,
or the perion in whose ame most of the property s held, and each individual

living alone, will report to the Civil Control Station to receive further in-
scructions, This must be done between 8:00 A. M. and 5:00 P. M. on Friday,
May 1, 1942, or berween §:00 A. M. and 5:00 . M. on Sarurday, May 2, 1942

2. Evacuess most carry with them on departure for the Amembly Center,
the following propercy:

(2} hﬂqtﬁdﬁnﬂ{mm}ﬁtmmﬁdﬁgﬁmﬂy

{b) Toilet articles for cach member of the family;

{e) Extra clothing for each member of the family;

(d) Sufficient knives, forks, spoons, plaves, bowls and cups for each mem-

ber of the family;

(e} Ementia] personal effects for each member of the family.

All icerns carried will be securely packaged, tied and plinly marked with
the name of the owner and mumbered in sccordance with instructions cbesined
st the Civil Control Station. The sixe and pumber of packages iy limited o
that which can be carried by the individual or family group.

3. Mo pets of any kind will be permiceed.

4. Mo personal itemu and no household goods will be shipped to the As-
sembly Center,

3. The United Stater Government through ity sgencies will provide fior
the storage at the mle risk of che owner of the more substantial housshold
izems, such a5 jcchoxes, wubing machines, plancs and other besvy fuminure,
Cooking weensils and other small items will be sccepred for smorage if crated,
packed and pluinly marked with the name and address of the owner. Ounly one
name and address will be used by a given family.

€. Each family, end individual living alone will be furnished transportation
to the Asembly Center or will be authorized to travel by private amtcmobile
in & mpervised group. All instructions pertsining to the movement will be ob-
taimed se the Civil Control Station.

Go to the Civil Oontrol Btation between the hours of B:00 A. M. and

6:00 P. M, Friday, May 1, 1042, or betwesn the hours of

B:00 A M and 5:00 P. M, Baturday, May £ 1943, to receive

further
J. L. DeWnr
Licutenant General, UL 5 Army
Commanding

Apeil 30, 1942
See Civilian Exclusion Order No. 27,

Source: J. L. DeWitt, Final Report: Japanese Evacuation from
the West Coast, 1942 (1943), pp. 99-100.
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and mountain barriers, from which it was determined to exclude
all Jupanese, lie in Military Area No. 2 in California, although
these lie in Military Area No. 1 of Washington and Oregon."
It is hard to believe that this is a candid anabysis of the decision. The
eastern boundary of California lies more than 100 miles east of Military
Area No. 1 at the Oregon border. If there had been a general decision
to exclude the ethnic Japanese from forests and mountains, why had
they been allowed to resettle in Military Area No. 27 Morton Grodzins
carefully analyzed this second exclusion decision and made a persuasive
case that it was another example of the Western Defense Command
adopting an utterly unsound military rationale to earry out the program
of politicians, agriculturalists and agitators in eastern California who
were intent on removing all ethnic Japanese from the state, %
Whatever the motivation, there were two obvious results: the
“volumtary” evacuees who had resettled in eastern California were
aprooted a second time, and, by August 18, 1942, everyone of Japanese
descent had been expelled from the entire stale of California except
for those under gueard at the Tule Lake and Manzanar camps and a
small handful under constant supervision in hospitals and prisons.®
California’s anti-Japanese faction had triumphed.

PUBLIC OFINION AND PROTEST

From March 28 to April 7, as the program evolved from voluntary to
mandatory evacuation, the Office of Facts and Figores in the Office
for Emergency Management polled public opinion about aliens in the
population. Cermans were considered the most dangerous alien group
in the United States by 46 percent of those interviewed; the Japanese,
by 35 percent. There was virtual consensus that the government had
done the right thing in moving Japanese aliens away from the coast;
58 percent of the interviewees also favored moving American citizens
of Japanese ancestry, The answers reflected clear educational and geo-
graphic differences. Relatively uneducated respondents were more
likely to consider the Japanese the most dangerous alien group, and
they were also disposed to advocate harsher treatment of the Japanese
who were moved away from the coust, The east considered the Ger-
mans most dangerous, the west the Japanese. People in the south, in
particular, were prone to treat Japanese harshly, The Pacific Coast
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public led all other regions in believing the evacuees should he paid
lezs than prevailing wages.™

Despite the strong endorsement of public opinion, protest aginst
the mass evacuation continued through a small but steady stream of
letters and public statements and through litigation which contested
the enforcement of the curfew and exclusion orders.

Protest was most common among church figures and academies,
The Federal Counei] of Churches and the Home Missions Council had
already made known their views that the evacuation of American cit-
izens of Japanese ancestry was wasting a national resource.™ Mrs.
BRoosevelt sent along to McCloy the objections of Virginia Swanson, a
Baptist missionary.™ Eric C. Bellguist, a professor of political science
at Berkeley, presented to the Tolan Committee a lengthy and re-
markably well-informed analysis which forcefully dissented from the
policy of exclusion and evacuation, ™ & few days later, Monroe Deutsch,
Provest of the University of California, sent a telepram to Justice Felix
Frankfurter protesting evacoation of people, including the Japanese,
identified only as members of a group. To Deutsch this struck “an
unprecedented blow at all our American principles.”™ He did not
receive any support in that quarter; an exchange between Frankfurter
and McCloy concluded with the Justice assuring the Assistant Secretary
that he was handling a delicate matter with both wisdom and appro-
priate hard-headedness. ™

The sccond stream of protest came through court challenges to
the curfew and evacuation, Althgugh the Japanese American Citizens
League firmly opposed test ltigation,™ several individuals either brought
lawsuits challenging the government's actions or failed to obey re-
quirements, thereby challenging the legality of curfew and evacuation.

Om April 13, 1942, Mary Ventura, an American citizen of Japanese
ancestry married to a Filipino, filed a habeas corpus petition in the
federal district court in the State of Washington to challenge the curfew
and other restrictions imposed on her, The court denied the petition
on the ground that, becanse Mrs. Ventura had not violated the curfew
and was not in custody, she was not entitled to the remedy of habeas
corpus which provides release from custody. But, in addition, the judge
discussed the reasons why he would be likely to deny her petition on
the merits:

The question here should be viewed with common sense consid-

eration of the situation that confronts this mation now—that con-

fronts this coast today. These are critical days. To strain some
technical right of petitioning wife to defeat the military needs in

E3-174 - §7 - §
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this vital area during this extraordinary time could mean perhaps
that the “constitution, laws, institutions™ of this country to which
her petition alleges she is “loyal and devoted” would be for & time
destroved here on Puget Sound by an invading army. . . .

The petitioners allege that the wife “has no dual citizenship, ™
that she is in no “manner a citizen or subject of the Empire of
Japan.” But how many in this court room doubt that in Tokyo they
consider all of Japanese ancestry though born in the United States
to be citizens or subjects of the Japanese Imperial Government?
How many here believe that if our enemies should manage to
send a suickde squadron of parachutists to Puget Sound that the
Enemy High Command would not hope for assistance from many
such American-born Japanese?

I do not believe the Constitution of the United States is so
unfitted for survival that it unyieldingly prevents the President
and the Military, pursnant to lew enacted by the Congress, from
restricting the movement of civilians such as petitioner, regardless
of how actually loval they perhaps may be, in critical military areas
desperately essential for national defense.

Aside from any rights involved it seems to me that if petitioner
is as loyal and devoted as her petition avers she would be glad to

conform to the precawtions which Congress, the President, the

armed forces, deem requisite to preserve the Constitution, laws

and institutions for her and all Americans, born here or natoral-

ized, B

Habeas petitions should have been a particularly attractive vehicle
for testing the military orders, since the Nisei would not have to come
into court under arrest in vielation of the law as written, but even the
great writ was no help in the crisis of 1942; obviously the War De-
piurtment would not be put through a critical review of its decision by
this judge.™

The Nisei received no greater measure of reliel in the eriminal
test cases. Minoru Yasui was a member of the Oregon bar and reserve
officer in the Army who was working for the Consulate General of
Japan in Chicago at the time of Pearl Harbor, He immediately resigned
his consular position and sought to go on active duty with the Army,
which would not accept him. In March he decided to violate the curfew
regulations in order to test their constitutionality and was indicted by
a grand jury. Yasui moved to dismiss the indictment on the ground
that the curfew order was unconstitutional as applied to American
citizens. The district judge agreed, but found that Yasui by his work
for the consulate had rencunced his citizenship, and procesded to
eonvict him as an alien of viclating the curfew order.™ Although sat-
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The evidence introduced through officers of Military Intelligence
showed that the Eastern Military Area since the beginning of
hostilities snd up to the present date is known as 8 “sensitive ares”

{am area in which are located large concentrations of war-time

installations or activities and also an area in which observation can

be made and information valuable to the enemy can readily be
ohtained); that the area is open to offensive sction and maneuvers;
that it is exposed to direct attack by air and because of the tre-
mendous amount of war installations and wtilities exposed to sab-
otage, The evidence further showed that the area covering less

than 14% of the land area of the United States includes about 40%

of the population and over 60% of all plants mamdacturing tools.

There is also contained in this area 8 major portion of war-time

installations and naval activities. It is the seat of the federal gov-

ernment and installations of management over communications.

There are vast freight movements of supplies and equipment pass-

ing over its transportation lines; ship movements of men and sup-

plies with their convoys and naval activities are easily discernible
in this area, "

The government's evidence was clearly focused on the persons to
be excluded s it had never been in the Nisei cases. Ebel, for instance,
had served in the German Army in World War 1, was president of the
Boston branch of the Kyffhaeuser Bund from at least 1939 to January
1942, when the group was dishanded, “This Bund was one of the
foremost international German societies in America in its encourage-
ment of the military spirit and keeping alive the love of Germany in
the hearts of former German soldiers and civiliane, ™"

The courts did not in any way dispute the legal standards estab-
lished in Hiroboyashi, Nevertheless, in testing whether, under the
war powers, there was military danger on the East Coast in 1943
sufficient to justify depriving citizens of the right to live and conduct
business where they chose, the courts concluded that they had 1o
determine whether the degree of restriction bore a reasonable relation
to the degree of danger. In both cases the restriction was found ex-
cessive and the exclusion order struck down.

Surely an impartial judge would have reached the same conelusion
on the West Coast in 1942 had the military been put to its proof against
Misei with ungquestionable records of loyalty to the United States. How
enuld a conscientions ohjector like Hirabayashi seriously be considered
a threat to the security of Seattle? But in the spring of 1942 on the
West Coast, not even the courts of the United States were places of
calm and dispassionate justice.
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Economic Loss

Exclusion From the West Coast imposed very substantial economic
losses on the Nikkei. The complete pioture of those losses is a mosaie
of thousands of personal histories of individual families. Owners and
operators of farms and businesses either sold their income-producing
asscts under distress-sale circumstances on very short potice or at-
tempted, with or without government belp, to place their property in
the custody of people remaining on the Coast. The effectivensss of
these measures varied greatly in protecting cvacuses’ eoonomic inter-
ests. Homes had to be sold or left without the personal attention that
ownens would devote to them. Butinewes lout their pood will, their
eccomaom crrumstances deterorated fusther while they were o cmp
The years of caclosion were freqoently punctusted by fnancial tros-
bles trying to ook after property without bring on the scene when
Aficulties arose. lacking 2 sowrce of iIncome to mert tax, mortgege and
insurance payments. Goods were lost or stolen. Income and caming
capacity were reduced to almest nothing during the long detention n
relocation conters, and afier the war hie had 1o be started anew on
meager resourres. War disrupted the economn well-being of thowsands
of Americans, but the distinet situstion of the Nikker—unsble to rely
on family or, often, on close friends to tend their afain—nvolved
demonstrably greater hardship, ansiety and loss than cther Americans

ny
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suffered. Forty years after the events, a detailed reckoning of Nikkei
losses and suffering is difficult, as the postwar effort to caleulate these
losses and to make partial recompense for them shows.

CALCULATING AND COMPENSATING FOR LOSS

In 1845 Congress passed the Japanese-American FEvacuation Claims
Act' which gave persons of Japanese ancestry the right to claim from
the government “damage to or loss of real or personal property,” not
compensated by insurance, which occurred as “a ressonable and natural
consequence of the evacuation or exclusion. ™ The Act was amended
ever the years but remained the central vehicle by which the federal
government attempted to compensate for the economic losses due to
exchusion amd evacuation, There were many kinds of injury the Evac-
uatign Claims Act made no attempt to compensate: the stigma placed
on people who fell under the cvacuation and relocation orders; the
deprivation of liberty suffered during detention in the asembly and
relocation centers, the psychelogical impact of evacvation and relo-
cation; the loss of earnings or profits; physical injury or death during
detention; and losses from resettlement outside the camps. The leg-
islative history reflects that such claims were considered too specula-
tive.”

Twenty-six thousand, five hundred sixty-eight claims otaling 8148
million were filed under the Act; the total amount distributed by the
government was approximately $37 million.® 1t is difficult to estimate
the extent of property losses which were not fully compensated under
the Evacuation Claims Act, for the evidence is suggestive rather than
comprehensive or complete,

First, by the time the claims were adjudicated, most of the es-
sential financial records from the time of the evacuation were no longer
available. When the Evacuation Claims Act was set in motion in 15945,
the Department of Justice discovered that the Internal Bevenue Serv-
ice had already destroved most of the 19309 to 1842 income tax returms
of evacuees—the most comprehensive set of federal fnancial records.®
Nor was the situation better among the evacuees themselves, The
Japanese American Citizens League emphasized this problem in tes-
tifving in favor of amending the Evacuation Claims Act in 1954:

It was the exception and not the rule when minute and detailed
records and documents were retained. In the stress and tension
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of 1942, when one could only take to camp what could be hand
carried, when one did not know how long he would be detained
or whether he would ever be allowed to return, it would be
unreasonable to expect that emotion-charged men and women
would have chosen to pack books and records instead of the food,
the medicines, and the dothing which they took with them to war
relocation centers,

The whole community was moved, and so books and records
could not be left with neighbors or even with friends.

And, today 12 vears later, with all the great changes that have
taken place particularly om the west coast, it is almost impossible
to secure even remotely accurate appraisals and evaluations of the
homes, the businesses, the farms and the properties of more than
a decade ago, a decade of war and upheaval.

To add further diffieulties, under Federal and State codes, most
of the Government records of 1942—which might have been of
value as cross-references—have been destroved pursuant to law,®

Thus the best evidence of economic losses no longer existed by 1954,
The passage of another twenty-cight vears, coupled with the deaths of
many Tssei and witnesses, has enly added to the difficulty,

Ome study of property and income losses due to evacustion was
done shortly after World War 11, Broom and Hiemer's Removal and
Return. It focused en Loz Angeles and the authors estimated that each
evacuated adult had a median property loss of 81,000 and an income
loss of $2,500°—which would have resulted in approximately 77 mil-
lion in claims payments under the Evacuation Claims Act, rather than
the approximately $37 million sctually paid. The Broom and Riemer
estimates are conservative. Replacement costs of 1941 were used to
estimate persenal property losses, Estimates of real property losses
were not presented separately and it is not clear how they wero cal-
culated. In addition, Broom and Riemer did not distinguish between
income losses imputable to property and that part of income imputable
to labor and management components.® In 1954 the JACL character-
ized this study as authoritative to the Congressional subcommittes
considering amendments to the Act® and it is certainly the maost thor-
ough analytical work that is even roughly contemporanecus with the
evacuation.

A second suggestive study by Lon Hatamiya, “The Economic
Effects of the Second World War Upon Japanese Americans in Cali-
fornia,” relies on Broom and Reimer's work but develops other data
in analyzing the income of the ethnic Japanese in California. Hatamiya
points out that Broom was already dealing with recollections which
were five vears old and that the study was limited to Los Angeles, but
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his analysis supports Broom on income figures and thus suggests the
general soundness of Broom's property loss figures. Hatamiya estimates
the 1940 median annual income of Japanese (alien and citizen) at $6232 ¢
Broom had estimated the mean as $671-694."" Hatamiva argues that
since median figures are often less than mean figures, there is no major
discrepancy between these numbers. Hatamiya does not attempt to
estimate property losses directly.

For years, writers and commentutors have cited an estimate by
the Federal Reserve Bank of San Franciseo that evacues property losses
ran to $400 million.”® The Commission has inguired of the Federal
Reserve, which can find no basis in its records for such an estimate,
and the Commission can identify no known source for the number. In
short, the $H-million figure sppears to be unsubstantiated,

Consideration of how claims were disposed of under the Evacu-
ation Claims Act allows one to judge further the firmess of its results,
The program moved very slowly in its first vears, when the Attorney
General was required to adjudicate each claim presented to him. In
1849 and 1850, only 232 cluims were adjudicated out of more thin
26,000 filed." In 1851 the formal adjudication requirement was re-
moved from the Act for claims settled for the lesser of $2,500 or 75%
of thedr value.' A rush of settlements followed: by the end of 1855
approximately 22,000 cleims had been settled. ™ These limitations must
have operated as a foreeful incentive to reduce claims in order to get
a quick resolution and cash payment. In 19568, with a small number of
large clims remaining {approdmately 2,000 claims for $55 million),
the Act was again changed to allow the Attorney General to settle for
up to S100,000 and to permit contested cases to go to the Court of
Claims. Thereafter, almost all claims were compromised and settled—
only 15 cases were taken to the Court of Claims. "

Regardbess of the low level of litigation, the settlement procedure
was tlted in favor of the government. It was not until 1956 that the
Act wis amended to provide for appeal past the Attormey General to
the Court of Claims.'™ Before 1956, decisions of the Attormey General
were final and, in approaching settlement, the Justice Department’s
attitude, not swrprisingly, balineced protecting the interests of the United
States with trying to give claimants such liberality as the Act provided, *®
In practice, the Department tried to reach the same result trial might
have produced. ™ “Where the problem is created by failure to supply
information, the amount should be on the low side.™™ Moreover, no
matter was too small for eareful consideration by Justice Department
officers, and the rulings were published in a volume of “Precedent
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Decisions™ to guide all future similar cases. For instance, 2 8750 claim
for Japanese phonograph records destroyed by the climant becanse
i was rumered that agyvone with Japanese reeords would be arrested
wus caused by “the grocral hysteria among an alien people arising out
of the state of war,™ bt a 3300 claim for the cost of advertising a
car for sale ot the time of evacuation was thoroughly reviewed and
allrwed = Thus the difernlty of providing perassie evidence of clase-
anty’ bonses, the evidentiary standards followed by the Justioe De-
partment and & compromise suthority which encouragesd the reductaon
of many claims, would tend o result in settements well below the
actual value of keises ™ Recently relessed from camps, stroggling to
survive and to reestablish their lives, the daimants badly needed fi-
nancial resourees to sustzin themselves; this too played & part.

One cannot readily appraise how much below truly fir compen-
sation were settlements under the Act, but evacuees” testimony before
the Commission drew a picture of economic hardship and suffering
that could not be faily compensated by an amount close to 837 million.

THE IMPACT OF EVACUATION

Evacuees repeatedly pointed out that they had had little time in which
to settle their affairs:
We had sbout two weeks, | recall, to do something. Either lease
the property or sell everything ™

While in Modesto, the final notice for evacustion came with a
four day notice =

We were gren enght davs o hiquidsle our possessions =

| rememsber how agonizing was @y despair to be given only
Mﬁﬁsiﬂn&wdwmuﬂpﬂﬂ
poaseisacen
Trstumony emphasized that the prvernmental wsbeguards were never
entircly successiul; they began late, and nformation about the pro-
Erams wis never widely disieminated among cvecuees; the evaceers
abo distrusted even a quasi-governmental body. The protection and
management of the property and personalty many evacuees left behind
wis inadequate. Businessmen were forced (o dispose of their inventory
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vation, while only one out of every four acres of total farm land was
planted in crops.™ Fruit, trock and specialty crops predominated.
Musch of their acreage was planted snd harvested two 0f more tmes
s year ™ In Califiwnia the Nikkei dominated the wholesale and retail
distributson of friets and vegetables In Loy Angrles County $16 miltion
of the samual $25 million Qower market businesn was in Nikkei bands =
When the japanese srrived in the United States they were af the
hasttewm of the economic ladder. Gradualh they wved mones snd were
ablr to rent or indirectly purchase cheap land. By working hard, Eving
frugally and with Emily cooperation, they were shie to increase thedr
srrage The impact of evacuation is made more poignant by the St
that #t cut short the lfe and strength of the immigrants, frequently
destroving the fruit of years of effort to overcome grindingly adverse
Depression conditions. Mary Teukamoto described the yeardy eoo-
momibe oycle many farmers followed, especially those sround Florin,
California:
This was important, to have time to bring in their crops. The
money that they had borrowed from the stores and shipping com-
panios was & tremendous burden. They had to depend on the crop
andl the harvest to pay for their debis before they could be free
again. Euach year this was the pattern.

They had struggled hard through the Depression to come out
of it, graduslly some of them were beginning to pay off their
mortgages. Many people still had mortgages 1o pay.™

Others also spoke of just beginning to recover from the effects of the
Depression at the time they were forced to leave the West Coast. The
west's expanding economy had enabled many to purchase new equip-
ment or bease additional land and, in general, to mise their standard
of ving. Henry Sakai's Gther had been 3 usceessful businessman-
&ﬁ-ﬂhhm-ﬂhhhiﬂ_lli-
too bie to start over again. .
hhﬂmtﬂi&r!—hﬁr-ﬂurudrh
the Depressson in which:
[the ] burmes receiveld] 25¢ for 3 log of tormators all packed, nesth
sebected as to size and color. | had to stey on the farm and belp
on the frm. | had to go through those days we were oo poor to
have tractors—wr had only prowd hores and mules. However,
twward the end of the thirties, | began 1o pet [a] foothold . . . 1
had two tractors, several trocks and peckups. and wis just beginning

to make headway by vsing machinery in furming. 1 [had] just
bought & new K5 Internatkon Truck and a used 1941 Chevrolet
Sedan for $650.00 and loaded it on the new truck in Springfield,

L



124 FERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

Ohio and arrived home oo December 5, 1941 Tm&uhhr
Pearl Harbor was bombed and the war started ®

Ome rvacuer had followed in his Bther's footsteps 3 8 commeroial
Enherman working the coastal weters off Monterey. He described their
struggle to keep their boat-

We built one of the first purse seiners . . . in 1989 pricr o

&!Gﬂﬂqluudhﬂs.ﬂyﬂhru&d I struegled

during thow yean to keep the finance compasy from repossesting

omar boat s not ondy our family but revhve crew members and
their familics depended on the continuing operation of the boat.

Becanse of the changes in the industry, | sold the boat in 1935

and began to charter vasioos vessel. The purse-setne net was my

imvestmient i the business and at that time valued around $5 000

Todsy the same net would cost in the noighborhoed of $50,000.

Every cent | owned was imvested in my fishing eguipment,
ﬂﬂlhﬂhmnmﬂtl—ﬂy knowing it would de-

Irrhlﬂuﬂbnmﬁleu-ﬂﬁ-m.‘

For many evacuees the most immediate, painful loss was their
profit from what promised to be a bumper crop in 1842, The parents
of Jack Fujimoto lost the proceeds from an abundant erop of cucmmbers
and bereies which they were unable to harvest before evacuation in
May, Instead, the caretaker benefitted from the hard work of this
couple who had tilled the sofl without much sucoess until then. The
Fujimotos nover heard from the caretaker, ™

Hiroshi Kamei recounted:

My family's grestest economic loss was loss of standing crops. We

had several ascres of celery just about ready for harvest. . Several

wewks after our evacuation, the price of celery jumped up to ahout

5 or $6 & crate. ™
Another described how he had worked on his farm unnl be was evac-
wated, but bis crop had been harvested by strangens and he himse¥
recetved no return for bis labor snd time ™

The white prowers and shippers who expanded in the wake of the
evaruation did very well in 1942 The managing secretary of the West-
ern Growens Frotective Association summed up matters o the cnd of
the year:

A very great dislocation of our industry oocurred when the

ancse were cvecusted from Military Zones one snd two in

Pacific Coast Arcas, and slthough as shipping groups these dis-

locations were not s0 severe the of the cities in dose

wnhmmm w;m

Mhmmdmmmmmﬂ
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buying power in practically every district of the United States,
also brought to the growers and shippers most satisfactory prices
mﬂmtcwmﬁndlb'ﬂmuﬂﬁ'mﬂaﬂmmamdm

For many families who owned nurseries, evacuation occurred near
one of the richest days in the flower business—Mother’s Day, which
secounts for one-fifth of the snnual sale of flowers. With the Mother's
Day erop about to be harvested, evacuation upon short notice caused
obvious financial hardship:

The hardest thing to lose was the full 1942 Mother's Day crop of

flowers which [had been] in process from Christmas time, 9

When No. 9066 evacuation came, most of the nurseries, with
Mother's Day crop before them, were left with very precarious
arrangements, or abandoned.

Many evacuees who had been in the flower and nursery business
told similar stories. Heizo Oshima described the voluntary evacuation
of ome eommunity of Japanese families in Aoriculture around Richmond,
El Cerrito and San Pablo:

The evacuation of the Japanese in the Richmond and El Cerrito
area came earlier than the Executive Order 9066, The Tssei in
this area were ordered to leave in February of '42 because they
were posed as a threat to the Standard Odl plant in Richmond,
. . - Nisei children remained behind to tend the nurseries. . . .
The Japanese in this community were very frightened and con-
fused by the order to evacuate the Tssei *
The Misei children left in charge of the nurseries were untrained and
unaccustomed to handling financial details of the family business. They
were at a distinet disadvantage when they had to sell in a market of
rock bottom prices. Mary Ishizuka told of the heavy loss suffered by
her father, who in 1942 had one of the largest nurseries in southern
California:
He had 20 acres of choice lind on Wilshire and Sepulveda. He
had very choice customers [such] as Will Rogers and Shirley Tem-
ple’s parents , . . because he had specimen trees. . . . But wealth
and standing did not save my father from being arrested . . . on
the night of December 7, 18941, When . . . 9066 mandated that
all Japanese were to evacuate, we were faced with the awesome
task of what to do. And my mother on her own without father,
father taken to Missouls, was not able to eonsult him. We didn't
know what to do. You cannot get rid of large nurserics—nursery
stock—at this short notice, 5o what did she do but she gave all
of the nursery stock to the U. 5. Government, the Veterans Hos-
pital which was adjoining the nursery. It was written up in the
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loal newspaper with the story of our evacustion. [lemized
'mhqmﬂ!%-u-ﬂ a .'Il“*'dﬂm,“hm-

lmagine his delight. afier 2 ldetime of farming with nothing bot
& borse, plow, shovel and his bare hands, to fnally be shle o use
ﬁmﬂﬁuumuﬁummn
was coming troe
He had much to look frward to. Then came the noticr, and

his prize tractor was sold for 2 mesley §75. 9

The exchusion and cvacuation seriously disrupted the agricultural
economy of Califernda and led the government to exhort those sus-
pected of dislovalty to produce food for war needs until the final mo-
ment when they were thrown off their land, The Secretary of Agric
culture had established farm production goals for 1842, and the Japanese
farmers of California had been expected o produce over 400% of all
truck crops.* It was sufficiently eritical to the government that the
evacuees prodice as much as possible, that continued erop production
became a measure of boyalty,™ Tom C. Clark, Chief of the Civilian
Stafl, Western Defense Command, dechued on March 10, 1942

There can be no doubt that all persons who wish to show their

hnh-_. to this country should continue farming operation to the

Fullest eatent *

Three days later Clark was no konger equating crop production with
evacues boyalty. Crop neglect or damege had bevn elevated to an act
of sahotage

[T wonld be most helpfl if you would sdvise the Japanese [in

Hood River County! that they are merely themsehes
when they il to taker care of their orchasds, In to this,
q&!hbnﬂlhm-“-ﬂnﬁm
them to svere penalties. =

Wit ey revalled the gravernment s mantensce tht they comtinne

With the beginning of the war, we not caly had to terminste
our baiket business, but we kst all financial investments in the
asparagas farm as well However, we were forced 10 continee
farming with no financial gam because the grmernment stated that
any neglect on our part would be considered an act of sabotage. @

A gentleman . . . wanted to harvest o small strowberry crop.
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He wanted 24 hours, He came to me [a U, S, Employment Service
Employee assigned to the Federal Beserve Bank] and asked if [
could get some kind of time deferral, T could not. 5o another
frustration, he plowed his crop under, The following day [ found
out that the FBI had picked him up and he had been jailed because
he had committed an act of sabotage.®

Shigeo Wakamatsu told how the Lssei truck farmers of the Puyallup

Valley in Washington responded to the regulation to continue crop

production;
By the middle of May, when the valiey folks were sent to the
assembly center, the telephone peas were waist high and strung,
the pole beans were staked, early radishes and green onions were
resuly for the market, strawberries were starting to ripen and the
lettuce had been transplanted.

Mot much is known how the erops fared in the harvest nor what
prices were obtained, but the Issei farmers went into camp with
their heads held high, knowing that they had done everything
that was passible to help our nation e fts first summer of World
War I1.7#

SMALL BUSINESSES

Neat to agriculture, major occupstions of evacuees were in small shops
and businesses. Shops, hotels, restavrants and other service-oriented
businesses were commen. Witnesses told how they were forced by
circumstances to accept low prices or sbandon property or, with a
mixture of desperation and hope, to place the property in insecure
storage.

Seattle cvacvees had two himdred hotels which were typically run
as family enterprises. ™ Shokichi Tokita's father had purchased a hotel
in & prime downtown Seattle location after his health had been threat-
ened by his original profession as a sign painter. As a painter the elder
Tokita had been acelaimed by the Seattle Art Museum as one of the
ten best artists in the Pacific Northwest. He made an equal success of
hiz hotel:

They did very well . . . saving over $16,000 over a five or six year

period before the war, This was all Jost in the evacuation, ™
One evagues with extensive property holdings was forced to sell his
forty-five room hotel for $2,500 to a buyer who was able to make only
a 8500 down payment; the balance was sent to the evacues in camp
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two months later. The hotel owner's loss was accentuated by the fact
that he was denied the profits which would have accroed to him in &
defense boom town such as Seattle became during World War 115

A former interviewer with the U5, Employment Service who had
been assigned to the Federal Reserve Bank cited a number of loss
cases; one woman had owned a bwenty-six room hotel:

She came to me and said she was offered $500 and no more and

that she had three days in which to dispose of the property.

Three days later, she came to me in tears, frustrated and fright-
encd. She told me that she had to sell it for the $500,%

Other instances of women who had built up businesses and lost
the: fruit of years of labor were described. Widowed at age 32 with
four young children to raise, one had used the proceeds of her deceased
hushand's insurance policy to buy a hotel in Stockton, California. Her
son testified:

The hotel was a suceessful venture for [her] and then the war . . .

[amd ] my mother was forced to sell the hotel for a piddling [amount]

the day hefore we left.™
She had purchased the hotel for $8,000; it had been a home for her
and her children. Now it was gone.

Ome Issei woman described taking over her hushand's insurance
business after he was confined to a tuberculosis sanitarium. She buil
up the business to the point where she had an sversge monthly income
of $300 to $400 to support herself and her children. She found herself,
her family and her northern California clients born from their homes.
Many of her clients had no way to continue paying their policy pre-
miums, nor could she effectively service their policies.™

The owner of an Oakland Oriental art and dry goods store was
unable to dispose of his merchandise in the few weeks given him prior
to his evacvation. Mo one wanted to purchase “Japanese products,”
He had to store an inventory worth more than $50,000 in a Jepanese
Methodist Church which had been converted into a warehouse, ™

The Yoshida family, owners and operstors of the Western Goldfish
Hatchery and Western Aquarium Manufscturing Company, gave away
their goldfish because they required constant care and feeding. Unable
to find someone to purchase the goldfish within the three weeks before
their evacustion, the Yoshidas had no other recourse. The hatchery
comprised six large fish hatching ponds on an acre of land; they stored
the aquarium inventory and personal property in the business sales
office, *

Anti-Japanese sentiment caused financial problems for the owners
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of many stores and restaurants. For example, at the Subiyaki Restaurant
in Salem, Ovegon, FBI visits heightened anti-Japanese feeling. Vandals
struck the restaurant and customers ceased to patronize it, afraid of
being viewed as unpatriotic.® In short, the small businessman fared
no better than the farmer.

WHITE COLLAR WORKERS

The smaller numbers of salaried workers and professionals also testified
eloquently to the economic impact of evacuation; their losses were less
tangible, but no less real than those of farmers and entreprencurs.
Doctors, dentists and architects lost their homes, their practices, their
equipment and a lucrative period of their careers,®

Many businessmen and professionals couldn’t eollect outstanding
accounts and lost their accurmulated charge account receipts.™ Mrs.
Mutsu Homma gave an example of the financial predicament of many
evacues professionals: ]

[Dr. Homma] after 10 vears of dental practice in West Los Angeles

and several months of working on people preparing to leave for

relocation camps, had more than $20.000 uncollected hills. ™
The salaried worker in some instances found that the curfew restricted
his movements and prevented him from doing his job, or else he lost
his chance for economic advancement. ™

AUTOMOBILES

Cars and trucks were in demand during the evacustion period by both
the Army and the civilian populstion of the West Coast. In this post-
Depression period of a growing economy the automobile was a prowd
symbaol of economic advancement. The auto’s importance to the way
oflife and economic well-being of evacuees can be seen in the frequency
and detail of car sales described by witnesses:

We had a 1939 car which 1 recall we sold for 8100 and a brand

new Ford pickup trick for $100.%

In 194] we purchased a new Chevrolet which the Army took
and reimbursed us in the amount of 5300,
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Owne man wanted 1o buy our pidop truck. My Esther had just
spent about $125 for & set of new tines and tubes snd & brand new
m. 50, bhe asked for $125 The man “bought™ our pickup Tor
Evacuees were permitted to dispose of their vehiclkes by private

sale. The other option was to place the cans in government storage,
bast the detrrioration likeh to result from beg-term storagr cacouraged
evacness to sell Ceneral DeWitt's Fimal Report states that the majpority
of can in storge were “voluntardly” sold o the Army. ™

Cars driven to the sssembly centers were sustomatically placed in
the custody of the Foderal Feserve Bank. The wehicles were then
valurd by twn disinterested appratsens and the possibility of resale o
the Army or the civilian sector was considered. Those which qualified
For Army purchase were quickly bought up by the government. The
new 1942 models were sold ooly to soto dealers, so they would have
stock; factories were being converted to wartime production.

Originally 1,905 vehicles were placed in the custody of the Federal
Reserve Bank; 1,468 were voluntarily sold to the Army and 319 were
released acconding to evacuee instructions, The remalning 117 re-
mained in storage under Bank contral.

In late full 1942, the joint military authorities decided 1o requi-
sition these vehicles “in consideration of national interest during war-
time, and in the interests of the evacuees themselves. ™™ Justifying this
move, General DeWitt explained that only those vehicles in open
storage whose owners had refused to sell were requisitioned. ™

It carme to the sftention of the Tolas Committer rarly in its West Coast
hearings that frightened. bewildered Japanese wire being preved upon
by sccond-hand dealers and real estate profiteers. On February 25,
the Committee cabled Atormey General Baddle recommending that
an Alien Froperty Custodian be appointed ™

Befure any vuch action was taken, however, evacustion was under
the Department of Justice, the Navy had evacusted Terminal Island-
and the Western Defense Command had wrged a number of West
Coast residents of Japanese ancestry o leave the military area vol-
untarily. Whatever their good intentions, the military’s primary con-
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oern was to remove evacoess from the designated areas, not to look
after their property.

In carly March, the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisoo was
given responsibility for handling the wrban property problems of the
evacuees, an Alien Property Costodian was appointed oo March 11
e oo March 15 the Farm Security Admanntraton assomed respon-
wibility for ssnisting with farm probless Fach spenoy retained its ob-
ligation wntil the WHA assumed total respomsibility in Ampest 1942 =
By this time, many sbeses had slready been committed . The Tolss
Committer gove a socrinet exmple of what # discovered was goimg
on:

ht}#m‘-&mm-ﬂhrﬂﬂh

individuals representing themselos sa F B 1 agents and advised
that an order of immediste evacustion was forthcoming. A few
hours later, a different set of individuals would call on the Japanese

#0 forewarned and offer o buy up their household and other

Under these conditions the Japanese would accept
offers at a fruction of the worth of their possessions.

were thus reported to have been sold for as low as §5.™

Property and business losses also arose from confusion among
gevernment agencies. The military's delay in providing reasomable and
adeguate property protection and its fallure 1o provide warchouses or
other seoure structures contrituted to initisl evacuee kosses. Confusion
existed among the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisen, the Farm
Security Administration and the Office of the Alien Property Custodian.
Kot caly did each agency have different policies; there was also con-
fusion within cach about how to implement its program. Dillon §.
Myer decried the resule-

The ks of hundreds of property leases and the dissppearance of

& numbser of equities in land and buildings which had been built

up over the major portion of & lifctime were among the most

wfﬂﬁdﬁhdﬂhﬂrmdﬂzﬂ

Facumton.

In peaeral people were encouraged to take care of their cwn goods
and thew own affairs ™ Given the immense diffculties of protectng
the diverse economic interests of 100,000 prople, i is Dot srprising
that despite the povernment's offer of aid it relied primarily on the
evacuers to care for their own interests. Comversely, it is not surprising
that, facing the distrust expressed in the government s exclusion pobicy,
most evacuees wanted to do what they could for themsehes. Appros-
imately 11% of their farms were transferred o noo-Japanese (there
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was a transfer of 3% to ethnic Japanese, probably the result of settle-
ment of business affairs in anticipation of exclusion),™
Evacruees were valnerable to opportunists. Droves of people cume
to purchase goods and to take advantage of the availability of househald
furnishings, farm equipment, autos and merchandise at bargain prices,
Our house was in from Garden Grove Boulevard about 200 yards
on a dirt driveway and on the day before the posted evacuation
date, there was a line up of cars in our driveway extending about
another 200 yards in both directions along Garden Grove Bou-
levard, waiting their tum to come to our house. . . ™

Swarms of people came daily to our home to see what they
could buy, A grand piano for 850, pieces of furniture, $50. . . .
Ome man offered $500 for the house.™

It iz difficult to describe the feeling of despair and humiliation
experienced by all of us as we watched the Cancasians coming to
we had no recourse but to accept whatever they were offering
because we did not know what the future held for us.

Feople who were like valtures swooped down on us going through
our belongings offering us a fraction of their value. When we
complained to them of the low price they would respond by saying.
“wou can't take it with you so take it or leave it”. . . . T was trying
to sell a recently purchased $150 mangle. One of these people
came by and offered me $10.00. When | complained he said he
would do me a favor and give me $15.00.%

The: evacuees were angered by the response of their former friends
and neighbors; some attempted to strike back bowever they could. Joe
Yamamote vented his feelings by

putting an ad in our local paper stating that 1 wanted to dispose

of a car, o 1941, which had three brand new tires with it. These

were premium items in those days, 1 gave an address that was
fictitious. They could go chase around the block for a few times. ®

Another evacuee related how he tried to destroy his house when
he abundoned his property and his business after evaruation notices
were posted on February 19, 1942:

1 went for my last look at our hard work. . . . Why did this thing

happen to me now? [ went to the storage shed to get the gasoline

tank and pour the gasoline on my house, but my wife. . . . said
don't do it, maybe somebody can use this house; we are civilized
people, not savages,



ECONOMIC LOSS 133

ORAL CONTRACTS AND CARETAKERS

The evacuees were unprotected and vulnerable, The prevalent use of
oral contracts ereated difficulties for many. The practice of regarding
a person's word as binding, a carryover from Medji Japan reinforced
by dealing primarily within their own ethnic group, made it difficult
for many evacuees to document when, where, how amd to what extent
financial loss oocurred. Their verbal agreements with caretakers fre-
guently brought theft, fravd or misappropriation.

Kimiyo Okamoto followed the prevalent practice of evecuees in
all walks of life and entrusted his property to a fréend:

Prior to the evacuation we had a8 successful hotel business in

Sacramento. Because of the time that was allotted to us, we were

not able to sell our hotel . . . One of the trusted guests offered

to manage our hotel He was inexperienced, but we had no other

choice ™

Ancther Seattle witness asked Cauvcasian friends to take over the
property and financial management of their apartment house. Unfor-
tunately, they retumed from camp to discover the property faced
foreclosure due to three vears' tax arrearnge. ™

The daughter of concessionaires at Venice and Ocean Park Piers
and small carnivals throughout California spoke of the problems created
by FBI detention of her father. In desperation, her mother gave the
carnival equipment—truck, trailer, games—to one employee and tumed
over the beach concessions to another who had agreed to act as care-
taker until the evacuees returned. When the family did returmn, neither
the business nor the emplovee could be found. ®

When the part-owner of a movie business was picked up by the
FEI, his business was hurriedly entrusted to the man who had handled
his business insurance. The eager earetaker visited the owners while
they were in camp to secure power-of-attormey from them so he could
handle corporate affairs,. Hiving gained power-ol-attorney, the care-
taker moved to gain corporate ownership on the basis that all Japanese
members of the corporation were “enemy aliens. ™

In sum, economic Josses from the evacuation were substantial,
and they touched every group of Nikkei. The loss of liberty and the
stigma of the accusation of disloyalty may leave more lasting scars, but
the oz of worldly goods and livelihood imposed immediate hardships
that anyone can comprehend. Moreover, it was the loss of so much
one had worked for, the accumulated substance of a lifetime—gone
just when the future seemed most bleak and threatening.
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Assembly Centers

On May 16,1942, my mother, two sisters, niece, nephew, and 1

left . . . by train. Father joined us liter. Brother left eardier by

bus. We took whatever we eould carry. So much we left behind,
but the most valuable thing [ lost wag my freedom.

On March 31, 1942, the evacuation began, Until August 7, 1942,
groups left their homes for assembly centers, directed by one of the
108 "Civilian Exchusion Orders. ™ About $2,000 people were evacnated
to the centers,” where they remained for an sverage of shout 100 days. *
Some TR were citizens of the United States ¥

Elsborate preparstions had preceded their departure. Onee 2 no-
tice of Fvacuation had been posted, a representative of each family
woukd visit a control center where the family was registered and fased
» pumber, whkd when and where to report, and whar conld be taken
along * The numbering process was particularh, offensive:

1 lost my identity. At that time. | dida’t even have a Soca) Secority

number, but the WHA gove me an 1D somber, That was my

identification. 1 lost my privacy and dignity.”

Hemry went to the Control Statéon to rogister the Benily. He
came home with twenty tags, all numbered W710, tags to be
sttached to cach picoe of baggage, snd one to hang from our coat
lapels. From then on, we were known s Family #107100°
Baggage restrictions posed an immediste problem, for many evac-

woet did not know where they would be going. They could take only
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what they could carry,” a directive that required much anguished sort-
ing of a lifetime’s possessions.

Om departure day, the evacuees, wearing tags and carrying their
haggage, gathered in groups of about 500 at an appointed spot. Al-
though some were allowed to take their cars, traveling in convoys to
the centers, most made the trip by bus or train. The Wartime Civil
Control Administration (WOCA) had made an effort to foresee prob-
lems during the journey. Ideally, each group was to travel with at least
one doctor and a nurse, as well as medical supplies and food. One of
every four seats was to be vacant to hold hand luggage. The buses were
to stop as needed, and those who might need medical care would be
clustered in one bus with the nurse '

Despite such plans, many evacuees experienced the trips differ-
ently. In some cases, there was no food on long trips."! Sometimes
train windows were blacked out, aggravating the evacuee’s feelings of
uncertainty. '® The sight of armed guards patrolling the trains and bus-
ses wils not reassuring, ™ Grace Nakamura recalled her trip:

On May 16, 1942 at 9:30 a.m., we departed . . . for an unknown

destination. To this day, I can remember vividly the plight of the

elderly, some on stretchers, orphans herded onto the train by
carctakers, and especially a young couple with 4 pre-school chil-
dren. The mother hed two frightened toddlers hanging on to her
coat. In her arms, she carried two crying babies, The father had
dizpers and other baby puraphemnalia strapped to his back. Tn his
hands he struggled with duffle bag and suitcase, The shades were

drawn on the train for our entire trip. Military police patrolled
the zisles.™

At the end of the trip lay the assembly center. Evacuees often
recall two images of their arrival: walking to the camp between a cordon
of armed guards, and first seeing the barbed wire and searchlights,
the menacing symbols of a prison. Leonard Abrams was with a Field
Artillery Battalion that puarded Santa Anita;

We were put on full alert one day, issued full belts of live am-

munition, and went to Santa Anita Bace Track . , ., There we

formed part of a cordon of troops leading into the grﬂunds busses

kept on arriving and many people walked along .

or simply dazed, or bewildered by our formidable ranh "
William Kochivama recalled his entry into Tanforan:

At the entranct . . _ stood two lines of troops with rifles and fixed

bayonets pointed at the evacuces as they walked between the

soldiers to the prison compound. Overwhelmed with bitterness

and blind with rage, 1 screamed every cbscenity I knew at the
armed guards daring them to shoot me, *




ASSEMELY CENTERS 137

For many evacuees, arrival at the assembly center brought the
first vivid realization of their condition, They were under guard and
considered dangerous.

Onee inside the gates, some evacuees were searched, finger-
printed, interrogated, and inoculated; ' then they were assigned to
gquarters. Red Cross representatives who visited the centers described
soime evacuess reactions soon after arrival:

Miny families with sons in the United States Army and married

daughters living in Japan are said to feel terrific conflict. Many

who consider themselves good Americans now feel they have been
classed with the Japanese. . . . There is a great financial insecurity.

Many families have lost heavily in the sale of property. . . . Savings

are dipped into for the purchase of coupon books to be used at

the center store, and with the depletion of savings comes a mount-
ing sense of insecurity and anxiety as to what will be done when
the money is gome, . . . Doubtless the greatest imsecurity is that
about post-war conditions. Many wonder if they will ever be ac-

cepted in Cavcasian communities. '8

HOUSING AND FACILITIES

All sisteen assembly centers were in California, except Puyallup in
Washington, Portland in Oregon and Mayer in Arizoma. The WCCA
had tried, not always successfully, to place people in centers close to
their homes. "™ Table 1 (page 138) summarizes basic information about
the centers, ™

Design and construction of the centers varied; most were located
at fairgrounds or racetracks, In Portlind's Pacific International Live-
stock Exposition Pavilion, all of the evacuees could be housed under
one roof because the pavilion covered eleven acres. Puyallup had four
areas; the first three were originally parking lots, the fourth was the
fairground itself ** Existing facilities usually housed everything except
living quarters, and the WOCA sometimes added new buildings. =

The WCCA reported that generally it had construeted living quar-
ters for the evacuees, although in a few places existing facilities were
used. The basic community unit was usually a “block,” a growp of units
housing 6 to 80 people. Each block had showers, lovatories and
todlets. Where possible each block had its own messhall, though some
larger groups were fed at a single place.®*

WCCA policy was to allot a space of 200 square feet per couple.
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Foyallup 7390 Ty 25 Apeil B8 Sept 12
Portlasd A6 Jrame & Moy £ Sept. 10
Marvwille 145 June 2 My & Jrame 35
Ty ' 473 My 30 May & Jume 35
Tandboran T.516 July 25 Aprd 3B Oct. 13
Stochton 4,571 Mday 21 My 10V Oct 17
Tharkock 661 June 2 April 30 Aug 12
Sabinas 3586 June 3 Agpril TT Juby 4

Merord 4.508 June 3 May & Sept. 15
Pirwdale 4,7 June 26 May T July 23
Fresno 5120 Sapt. 4 May 6 Oct. 30
Tulare 4. 9TH Aug 11 April 20 Sept. 4
Santa Anila 15,718 Aug. 23 March 27 Oct. 27
Pt 5,434 July 30 May 7 Aug. 24
Muayer 245 May 25 May 7 Jume &
Manganur! 8,837 March 21 June 2

! Trunsforred to WHA for use as a relocation cunp

Family groups inside the centers were to be kept together and familics
would share space with others only if it were unmoidable. To mest
these needs, units would be remodeled if necessary, and each was o
be furnished with cots, mattresss, blankets and pillows. Each was o
have clectrical cutlets * But the speed of evacustion and the dhortages
of Lsbor and lumber™ meant thet living armengements did not sbaays
condorm to WOCA pobicy. At Tasdoran, for cxssple. a single dormitory
hemased 400 hachebors ™

During the Commizsion's hearngs, cvscwess desoribed  topical
living srrangements that were far below the WOUA's Spartan stand-
ards

Pinedale. The hastily built camp consisted of tar paper rocked
barracks with gaping cracks that let i msects, dirt from the
dunt storms . . . no toilet Gcilibies except smelly cuthouses, and

in to serve as showers. The furniture was camp cots with dirty
straw mattresses 7

Manzanar. [The barracks wers| but a 20 by 25 foot of
barrack with roof, sides of pine wood ocovered with thin tar
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paper . . . oo attic, no insulation. But the July heat separated the
pine fAoor and esposed cracks to a guarter of an inch. Through
this a cold wind would Blow in or during the heat of the day dusty
sand would come in through the cracks. To heat, one pot bellied
wood stove in the center of the barracks %

Fuyallup (Camp Harmeny). This was temporary housing, and
the room in which I was confined was a makeshift barracks from
a horse stable. Between the floorboards we saw weeds coming up.
The room had only one bed and no other forniture. We were
given & sack to fill up with hay from a stack outside the barracks
to make our mattresses, ™

Portland. The assembly center was the Portland stockyard, Tt
was filthy, smelly, and dirty. There was roughly two thousand
people packed in one lange building. No beds were provided, so
they gave us gunny sacks to fill with straw, that was our bed.™

Santa Anita. We were confined to borse stables. The horse
stables were whitewashed. In the hot summers, the legs of the
cots were sinking through the asphalt. We were given mattress
covers and told to stulf straw in them. The toilet ficilities were
terrible. They were cormmunal. There were no partitions. Toilet
paper was rationed by family members. We had to, to bathe, go
to the horse showers. The horses all took showers in there, re-
gardless of sex, but with human beings, they built a partition . . .
The women complained that the men were climbing over the top
to view the women taking showers. [When the women com-
plained] one of the officials said, are you sure you women are mot
climbing the walls to look at the men. .

It had extra guard h:rwmmﬂuamrdﬂ:ghtpamrmmgﬂ\e
camp, and it was very difficult to sleep because the light kept
eoming ioto our window . . . 1 wasn't in a stable area, . . . [but]
everyone who was in a stable area claimed that they were housed
in the stall that housed the great Sea Biscuit. ™
Diespite these problems, the Fed Cross representative who visited

the centers at the Army's request concluded, taking into account his
own experience in housing large numbers of refugees, that as a whole
the evacuees were “comfortably and adequately sheltered:™
Cenerally, the sites selected were satisfactory with the possible
exception of Puyallup, where lack of adequate drainage and sewage
disposal facilities created a serious problem. . . . In studying the
housing facilities in these centers, it is necessary to keep in mind
that the job was without precedent, and that the sites were se-
lected and buildings completed in record-breaking time in the
face of such handicaps as material and labor shortages and trans-
portation difficulties, *
Evacuees immediately began to improve their quarters, One man
salvaged two crates that he redesigned into an armehair with a reclining
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back. For & hammer he used & rock ™ Sorap lumber piles left over
from construction provided some wood, and government carpenters
still ot work lost building materials regulardy. ™ Victory gardens were
planted besade the harracks, and Tanforan cvacuess even built 2 min-
isture aquatic park with brider, promenade snd slands ™

O of the most severs discomiorts of the amembly centers was
the lack of privacy. Overcrowding continued despite WOCA planning.
Eight-person fsmilies were placed i 20 by 20 foot rooems, sia. persons.
in 12 by 20 foot rooms, and four persons in 8 by 20 foot ooms. Pegey
Mitchell described seven of her 2mily m one compartment;™ Kando
Ige told of nine to 2 room. ** Many smalier families had to share a single
rocm. ™ James Coto and his wille lved with three other married couples:
they were separsted by sheets hung on wires across the room * Nor
did the partitions between spartments provide musch privacy, for many
dicd pot extend up to the roof, and conversations on the other side were
Yoneda finally approached the Serviee Division Director to get toilet
partitions and shower curtains and was told that existing armngements
conformed to Army specifications. Six weeks later, after much protest,
partitions and curtains were installed, **

The woather often made conditions more oppressive, On hot days,
overcrowding and sewage problems made the heat seem unbearable. 3
At Pinedale Center, temperatures sosred to 110* and evacuees were
given salt tablets, ™ Puyallup had its own problem:

We fought a daily battle with the camivorous Puyallup mod. The

ground was & vast ocean of mud, and whenever it threatened to

dry and cakr up, the rains came and softened it into shippery

FAMILY SEPARATION

Many families srrived at the asembly centers incomplete. In some
canes, family members, vsally the fathey, had parlier been taken mto
custody by the FBI.© Feter Ota, 16, snd his 13-year-old sister travelled
without either parent. His Gther had been detained and his mother
was in & tuberculosis sanitorium, where he was allowed to visit her
only once in four and a half months.* The Kurima family was forced
to institutionalize 8 mentally retarded son who had always been sble
to live at home. ® The Shio family was separated fram their father whe,
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because he had cancer, was not interned although he was directed to
move out of the evacuated area,™

Another source of family separation was the WCCA policy defining
who was “Japanese.” Many individuals of mixed parentage had some
Japanese ancestors; others were Caucasian but married to someone of
Japanese ancestry. Many of these people went to the assembly centers
but had a particulirly difficult time because they were not fully ac-
cepted into the community. Those who were allowed to leave often
did z0.®

Some families were separated after they reached the centers. A
sevenleen-year-old who sneaked away from Santa Anita to go to the
movies one night was apprehended. He was sent to a different camp
and didd not see his family again for three years,®®

Family separation probably oceurred most often among those who
lived in different homes. Grown children were sent to centers different
from their parents if they lived in another community. There were, of
course, no visiting privileges save for exceptional circumstanoes.

FOOD, SANITATION, CLOTHING AND MEDICAL CARE

[We stood two hours three times a day with pails in our hands

like beggars to receive our meals. There was no hot water, no

washing or bathing. It took about two months before we lived half

way civilized. =

The assembly centers had been organized to feed the evacuees in
large messhalls™ At Santa Anita, for cample, one evacuee recalls
three large messhalls where meals were served in three shifts of 2,000
each.™ Where shift feeding was instituted, a system of regnlatory badges
prevented evacuees from sttending the same meal st various mess-
halls.™ Lining up and waiting to eat is a memory shared by many:

We stood in line with a tin cup and plate to be fed. [ can still

vividly recall my BS-vear-old grandmother gravely standing in line

with her tin cup and plate,™

The community feeding weakened family tics. At first families
tried to stay together;™ some cven obtained food from the messhall
and brought it back to their quarters in order to eat together. In time,
however, children began to eat with their friends.®™

All who testified agreed that their food left much to be desired.
One remembered his first meal at Tanforan: two slices of discolored
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cold cuts, overcooked Swiss chard and a slice of moldy bread.™ Another
recalls: "breakfast consisted of toast, colfee, oocasionally egirs or bacon.
Then it was an ice cream scoop of rice, a cold sardine, a weeny, or
sanerkraut. ™ A third recollected: “For the first few months our diet
. . . consisted of brined liver—salted liver. Huge liver. Brown and
bluish in color . [that].. would bounce if dropped. . . . Then there was
rice and for dessert, maybe balf a can of peach or a pear, tea and colfee.
Mornings were better with one egg, oatmeal, tea or coffee.™ In time
the kitchens were taken over by evacuees,™ and culinary style im-
proved, but basic problems of quality remained.

The Bed Cross reported that, given the inherent imitations of
mass feeding, menus “showed no serious shortages in nutritive val-
ues,”™ glthough several evacuees testified that food was a problem.
Many evacuees testified that there was enough milk only for babies
and the elderly, which contradicts the WOCA report that “per capita
consumption of milk by the population was higher than before evac-
uation and that it was also higher than that of the American population
as a whole."™ At some centers, the problem was agpravated by a
prohibition on importing food into the center, ®

The: WOCA had the same food alkneance prescribed for the Army—
50 cents per person per day. The assembly centers actually spent less
than that—an average of 39 cents per person per day.™ The outside
community pressed the government to cut expenses even more.

Food became controversial at Santa Anita, where a camp staff
member was apparently stealing food. A letterwriting campaign began™
and, at one point, 8 confrontation with the guards was narrowly avoided
when evacuees tried to halt the car of a Caucasian mess steward whom
they believed was purloining food. Following an investigation, the
guilty staff member wis dismissed,®

Frimitive sanitation arrangements are vividly remembered. Shower,
washroom, toilet and laundry facilities were overcrowded. “We lined
up for mail, for checks, for meals, for showers, for washrooms, for
laundry tubs, for toilets, for clinic service, for movies. We lined up
for everything. ™ The distance to the livatories, more than 100 yards
in some parts of Puyallup, posed a problem for the elderly and families
with small children. Chamber pots became a highly valued com-
maosdity, ™ At some centers sewage disposal was a problem as well ™
“The plumbing was temporary and the: kids played in the shower water
that overflowed from the plombing, ™ To minimize health risks, WOCA
estahlished a system of block monitors to inspect evacues quarters™
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supervisor, ™
Securing everyday necessities was difficult. Most evaruees had
brought their own clothing but a few, either because of poverty or
because they had not anticipated the climate, did not own appropriate
clothes. In these cases, upon application, the WOCA provided a cloth-
ing allowance of between $25 and $42 19 & year depending on age and
sex.™ The centers had canteens, though often there was nothing to
buy.™ Everything else was ordered from mail order houses.™
Perhaps the greatest problem in the assembly centers was inad-
equate medical facilities and care. Usually the medical problems were
not life-threatening, but most brought added fear, pain and inconven-
ience.™ Medical care was under the jurisdiction of the Public Health
Service, which recruited evacuee doctors and nurses to staff infirmar-
ies.™ An evacuee physician in esch center was designated as chiefl
medical officer and dealt directly with the management.® Upon arrival,
these recruits found minimal equipment and supplies.® At Pinedale,
dental chairs were made out of crates and the only instruments were
forceps and a few syringes.™ At Fresno, the hospital was a large room
with cots; the only supplies were mineral oil, iodine, aspirin, Kaopec-
tate, alcobol and sulfa ointment.™ Yoshive Togasakd, s San Francisco
doctor, went early to Manzanar to prepare for the incoming evacuess:
The nurse and 1 had to set up the medical services and program
until additional staff arrived. At this time only one barrack was
lva.iiable for medical “clinic” living quarters. Construction was
open trenches, gutters, ete. The usual camp strocture
ufblthh:ﬂhﬂlndlutub:nwcmmhahudbutsﬁﬂunmu&d.
Equipment sent in for medien] care was the usual packaged unit
for a military emergency hospital. To obtain necessary supplies
such as vaocines for children, laboratory materials for tests, special
medication for pregnant women, [ had to depend on the generous
contributions of a few friends until the government could set up
its usual channels. Problems of formula preparation, since barracks
had no water, no stove, only & single electric light in the center
of a room, created much hardship for the mothers who had to care
for newborn infants and children.

In thres weeks time we were faced with children ill with mea-
sles, chickenpon, whooping cough, diarrhea, The only place we
had for care were barracks without heat, no stove, no water. In
due time the Military Emergency Hospital Unit [equipment] ar-
rived as did medical staff among the evacuees. For me, it was a
matter of 14-16 hours per day of struggle and frustration. =

Some of the doctors who had not brought their instruments were sent
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home to retrieve them™ and all relied, to some extent, on donated
supplies.™ There were shortages of personnel as well, At Fresno, two
doctors had to care for 2,500 people.™ At Manzanar, high school stu-
dents were trained as technicians and ourses aides, ®

With a few exceptions, medical staff treated the normal range of
illnesses and injuries. There were, however, some special challenges.
At Fresno an outhreak of food poisoning affected over 200 people. At
Puyallup, there was a similar inchdent.® At Santa Anita, hospital rec-
ords show that about 75%: of the illnesses came from oecupants of the
horse stalls.® More seriows illnesses were treated at nearby hospitals
outside the camps and the Army reported that it paid for these services.
Some evacuees, however, recall paying for themselves, ™

LIFE IN THE CENTERS

Because the WCCA had planned only short stays in the assembly
centers, they paid little attention to how evacuees would spend their
time. As the move to permanent centers was further postponed the
WOCA and the evacuees together tried o restore a semblance of
normal life.

The educational program got off to a slow start but progressed
rapidly at most centers. The Red Cross reported that-

Because removal of Japancse families to the assembly centers

ceeurred near the end of the school term and becanse it was

contemplated that the centers would be only temporary, there

was mo provision in the original plan for schools or educational

work.®
The WOCCA appointed a director of education at each center. Rudi-
mentary classrooms were staffed by evacuee teachers, mostly college
graduates, a number of whom were certified. ™ They were paid 516 &
month,*® At Manzanar, Frances Kitagawa began a preschool and kin-
dergarten in May with 65 children. Three or four months later, it was
renrganized and expanded by the WRA.™ At Tanforan, schools opened
late™ but were well attended; of 7,800 evacuess, 3,650 were students
and 100 teachers. Merced had 110 students; Tulare 300.% At Santa
Anita, there was no organized education, ™

The curriculum varied, but all the traditional subjects were taught
in elementary and high schools, and adult education offered English,
knitting and sewing, American history, music and art. Progress reports
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were issued and work was exhibited regularty. Lack of texthooks and
supplies was a constant problem. Textbooks came principally from the
state and county schools the children had attended; supplies arrived
from outside, the gifts of interested groups and fedividuals, 19
Recreation was organized cooperatively between WOCA and the
evacuees. Scout troops, musical groups, and arts and crafts classes were
formed. Sports teams and leagues for baseball and basketball began.
A calisthenics class at Stockton drew 350, Donations helped remedy
equipment shortages. " Movies were shown regularly at many eenters.
At Tanforin, the mess card served as an entrance pass; different nights
were reserved for different messhall groups. "™ Some centers opened
libraries to which both evacuees and outside donors contributed. '™
Virtually all had some playground area and some had more elaborate
facilities; one had a pitch-and-putt golf course,
Holidays were cause for elaborate celebrations. Sachi Kajiwars
desceribed her preparation for the Fourth of July at Tanforan:
1 worked as a recreation leader in our block for a group of 7-10
vear old girls. Ferhaps one of the highlights was the yards and
vards of paper chains we (my 7-10 vear old girls) made from cut
up strips of newspaper which we colored red, white, and blue for
the big Fourth of July dance ahoard the ship (recreation hall)
dubbed the 5.5.-6.

These paper chains were the decoration that festooned the walls
of the Recreation Hall, It was our Independence Day celebration,
though we were behind barbed wire, military pobice all around
us, and we could see the big sign of “South San Francisro™ on the
hill just outside of the Tanforan Assembly Cepter, '™
Some recreation was more ad hoe. At Tanforan, the camp police

raided several gambling games, "™ Coh and Shogi, Japanese games akin
to chess, were popular among the Issei, who ran frequent tournaments
and matches. '™ Enitting was a great pastime among the women. "™
The evacuees were predominantly Buddhist or Protestant. WCOUA's
policy allowed evacuees to hold religiows services within the centers
and to request any necessary assistance from outside religious leaders,
The center manager arranged for services and designated facilities.
Caucnsian religions workers were not allowed to live in the centers
and could visit only by invitation. "™ The services themselves were
monitored for fear they might be used for propaganda or incitement,
The use of Japanese was generally prohibited and written publications
had to be deared ' The prohibition on speaking Japanese created
particular problems for the Buddhists, who had few English-speaking

59-1724 - 897 = B
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priests; their services had to be restructured and service books re-
written, 10

Control of publications extended to the mimeographed center
nowspapers as well. There were fifteen of these, written in English
under the “guidance” of WCCA public relations representatives, who
confined news items to those of “actual interest” to the evacuees, '™

At some centers, evaruees began to organize a government, At
Tanforan, for example, the evacuees elected a Center Advisory Coun-
cll. In August, however, the Army ended these efforts with an order
diggolving all self-government bodies. 1'®

Even though no evacuee was required to work, the WOCA had
planned that assembly center operations should be carried oot prin-
cipally by the evacuees. " There was “the standard round of jobs, from
doctor to janitor. ™ Evacoees also assisted WOCA edministrators. For
example, Yayoi Ono was a secretary to the public relations officer; her
husband was chief of personnel who oversaw movement to the “per-
manent” relocation centers, ' Over 27,000 evacyees—rmore than 30%
of them— worked in center administration, "'

The appropriste payment for these services was a matter of some
difficulty. At first there was no pay. Eventuslly evacuees were nomi-
nally compensated for work actually done, and given subsistence, ghel-
ter and a small money allowance. General DeWitt established the
following wage schedule: unskilled work, $5.00 per month; skilled,
$12.00 per month; professional and technical, $16.00 per month. Sub-
sistence, shelter and hospitalization, medical and dental care were to
be furnished without cost. """ These low wages and allowances were a
source of continuing dissatisfaction among evacuees.

Two centers experimented with establishing enterprises for the
war effort, Manzanar evacuees tried to devise practical methods of
rooting guayule rubber cuttings, plasting more than 230,000 seedlings.
The project was successful in exploring the potential of guayule rubber,
but met market resistance. Santa Anita’s camouflage net project pro-
duced enough to offset the cost of food for the whole camp.*® Limited
to American citizens, the project attracted more than 500 evacuees.
The camouflage net factory was the site of the only strike in the as-
sembly centers, a sit-down protest over working conditions, including
insufficient food. "' At Marysville, in May 1942, a group of evacuees
was given leave to thin sugar beets,'® This situation was exceptional;
from most assembly centers, there was no leave.
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SECURITY

Day and night , . . camp police walked their beats within the
center. They were on the lookout for contraband and for suspicions
actions,

Two groups were responsible for security at the centers, Military
police patrolled the perimeters and monitored entries and exits. The
internal police were responsible for security inside the centers: most
were deputized to handle violations of local and state laws. The FBI
had jurisdiction over suspected subversive activities and violutions of
federal laws 122

The Army police guarding the perimeters aroused substantial con-
cern; armed with machine guns, they appeared menacing. In some
cases, they propositioned and otherwise harassed female evacuees 12
In general, however, they were rather remote from the life of the
centers, entering only at the director's request, but this is not to suggest
that they had no effect on the centers, As the Ked Cros described it:

The high fences and the presence of the military police definitely

signify the loss of freedom:and independence. Although there is

general group acceptance or rather compliance with evacuation,
many individuals reject it =

The internal police caused more hardship, Internal security meas-
ures varied among centers, but curfews and rollealls were common.
At Puyallup, curfew was at 10 p.m.*** At Tanforan, rollcall was held
twice a day, at 645 am. and 6:45 p.m, '™

Muost centers held inspections as well, designed to search out and
seize contraband. The definition of “contruband ™ changed as time went
on. Flashlights and shortwave radios that could be used for signalling
were slways contraband. '™ Hot plates and other electrical appliances
were usually contraband, although exceptions were sometimes granted,
Alcoholic beverages were forbidden. '™ “Potentially dangerous™ items
were also prohibited; in addition to weapons, the “potentially danger-
ous” category sometimes included knives, scissors, chisels and saws. '™
At Tulare, inspection sometimes oecurred at night. ' At Tanforan, one
w:soclnﬂuc'tl:dhy the Army, which placed each “section” under armed
guard while searching. ™ At Puyallup, evaruees were told to remain
in their quarters during the search ™

Santa Anita evacuess vividly recall the “riot™ of August 4, 1942,
The uproar began with a8 routine search for contraband, particularly
electrical hot plates, which had, in some cases, been authorfzed. Some
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of the searchers became over-zealous and abusive. When the evarnees
filed for several hown to reach the chief of internal security, rumors
began to spresd and crowds formed. The searchers were harassed,
called in with tanks and muchine guns, ending the “riot. ™ The “over-
prabon” offucery were Later replared

Visits to the conters were tightly controlled. Visstors bringing gifts
watched packages being opened. melons. cabrs and pies were ot in
half to evure that none contzined weapons or contraband ™ At sane
centens, rvacuess might alk to visitors only through & wire fence
Others designated special visiting aress. At Tasforan, & room at the
top of the grandstand was reserved for receiving visitors during cortain
hours. "™ Ai Pomona, the arrangement was similar. ™ At Sants Anits,
each family was allowed only one visitor's permit 5 week, and visits
were limited to 30 minutes '

Evacuees endured the frustrations and incomveniences of the as-
sembly centers for the most part peacefully and stoically. They believed
these centers were temporary and most hoped for better troatment at
the next stop on their journey—the relocation center,



6

The Relocation Centers

Mear the end of May 1942, the' first evacuees began to arrive at the
relocation centers.! Most came directly from the WOCA assembly
centers, although a fow arrived from other places, as shown in Figure
A. Evaruees had been assured that the WRA centers would be more
suilable for residence and more permanent than the hastily established
assembly centers. They also believed that at the new camps some of
the most repressive aspects of the assembly centers, particularly the
guard towers and barbed wire, would be eliminated.® All things con-
sidered, they were prepared for an orderly, cooperative move.

By June 30, over 27,004 people were living at three relocation
centers: Manzanar, Poston and Tule Lake.® Three months later, all the
centers except Jerome had opened, and 90,000 people hid been trans-
ferred * By November 1, transfers had been completed and, st the
end of the year, the centers had the highest population they would
ever have—108,TT0 people.® Over 175 groups of about 500 each had
moved, generally shoard one of 171 special traing, o & center in one
of six western states or Arkansas.®

The train trips, particularly the longer ones, were often uncom-
fortable. Even on trips of several days, sleeping berths were provided
only for infants, invalids and others who were physically incapacitabed.”
Most evacuees sat up during the entire trip,* and mothers with small
children who were allowed berths were separated from their hus-
bands.® Ventilation was poor because the military had ordered that the
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FIGURE A: The Evacuated People
FROM TO

18
Islands

219

Source: U8, Department of the Interior, WHA, The Evacuated
People: A Quantitative Description (1946), p. 8,
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shades be driven. ' The toilets sometimes RBooded, soaking suitcases
and belongings on the floor. The trips were show because the trains
were old, and sometimes they were shunted to sidings while higher-
priority trains passed. Delays coubd be as long as ten hours, ' Although
the WCCA reported that it had made provision for meals on the tradns,*
these armngements were not always satisfactory. ™ Medical care was
sometimes poor; although the WOCA had ordered that trains be stopped
and ailing evacuers hospitulized along the route, ™ two evacuees tes-
tified about separate incidents of infants dying during the journeys.'®
The military guards harassed some evacuees. " Two testified about
their experiences:
When we fnally reached our destination, four of us men were
ordered by the military personnel carrying gone to follow them.
We were directed to unload the pile of evacuess’ belongings from
the boxcars to the semi-trailer truck to be transported to the
concentration camp. During the interim, after filling one trailer-
truck and waiting for the next to arrive, we were hot and sweaty
and sitting, trying to conserve our energy, when one of the military
guards stunding with his gun, suggested that one of us should get
a drink of water at the nearby water fascet and try and make a
run for it so he could get some target practice, *®

The secomd evicues reported:

At Parker, Arizona, we were transferred to buses, With bagiage
andd carryalls hanging from my arm, T was contemplating what 1
could leave behind, sirce my husband was not allowed to come
to my aid. A soldier sid, “Let me help you, put vour arm out,”
He proceeded to pile everything on my arm. And to my homor,
he placed my two-month-old baby on top of the stack. He then
pushed me with the butt of the gun and told me to get off the
train, knowing when 1 stepped off the train my baby would Fall
tor the ground. 1 refused, But he kept prodding and ordering me
to move. 1 will always be thankful [that] a lieutenant checking the
cars came upon ws. He took the baby down, gave her to me, and
then ordered the soldier to carry all our belongings to the bus and
see that T was seated and then report back to him. ™

At the end of these long train and bus rides were the new centers
and the “intake” procedure, which wsually took about two hours. !
Leighton deseribed the process at Poston:

They begin to file out of the bus, clutching tightly to children and

bundles. Military Police escorts anxiously help and guides direct

them in English and Japanese. They are sent into the mess halls
where girls hand them ice water, salt tablets and wet towels. In
the hack are cots where these who faint can be stretched out, and
the cots are usually occupied. At long tables sit interviewers sug-
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gesting enlistment in the War Relocation Work Corps. . . - Men
and women, still sweating, holding on to children and bundles,
try to think. . . . Interviewers ask some questions about former
occupations so that cooks and other types of workers much needed
in the camp can be quickly secured. Finally, fingerprints are made
and the evacuees troop out across an open space and into another
hall for housing allotment, registration and a cursory physical ex-
amination. . . . In the end, the evacuees are loaded onto trucks
along with their hand baggage and driven to their new guarters.

“Intake” was a focus of interest and solicitude on the part of the
administrative staff. The Project Director said it was one of the
things he would remember longest out of the whole experience
at Poston, He thought the people looked lost, not knowing what
to do or what to think.®

It was not an auspicious introduction to the War Relocation Authority.

THE WAR RELOCATION AUTHORITY

When cvacuees stepped off the buses and began the “intake™ proce-
dures, they left Army jurisdiction and cume into the custody of 2 new
agency, the War Relocation Authority {WRA), Three months belore,
the WHA had been created on March 18, 1942, by Executive Order
9102, o

formulate and effectuate a program for the removal, from [des-

ignated areas] of the persons or classes of persons designated . | .

and for their relocation, maintenance, and supervision.
To carry out this function, the Director was to

provide for the relocation of such persons in appropriate places,

provide for their needs in such manner as may be appropriate,

supervise their activities . . . provide . . . for employment . . |
prescribe the terms and conditions of such employment. ®*

On the same day, President Roosevelt had sppointed as the WHRA's
first director Milton Eisenhower, brother of the generl, who had
previously served as an official in the Department of Agriculture, By
his own account, Eisenhower knew little about the West Coast ethnic
Japunese, the deliberations that had preceded the decision to evacuate
them, or future plans for the evacuees. ™ He faced & mammaoth task—
building an agency to direct and supervise the lives of over 100,000
people and, st the same time, deciding what to do with them. He
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quickly eoncluded that the evacuation would eventually be viewed as
“mvoidable injustice.™
Eisenhower faced an initial deciston that would shape the rest of
the WRA program—would the evacuees be resettled and placed in
new homes and jobs, or would they be detained, confined and super-
vised for the duration of the war? He: had been given almost no guidance
on this crucial matter. Beyond the fact that the military would deliver
the evacuees to the WRA and thercafter wished no further part in the
“Japanese problem,” nothing had been decided,
The Tolan Committes had reported this major deficiency in plan-
ning in March:
To date the committes has been unable to secure from anyone
charged with responsibility a clear-cut statement of the status of
the Japanese ovacuees, alien or citizen, after they pass through
the reception center.®®
They also offered some guidance. The Committee was firmly opposed
to incarcerating the evacuces for reasons that proved remarkably
prophetic: i
The incarceration of the Japanese for the duration of the war can
only end in wholesale deportation. The maintenance of all Japa-
nese, alien and citizen, in enforced idleness will prove not only
a costly waste of the taspayers’ money, but it sutomatically implies
deportation, since we cannot expect this group to be loyal to our
CGovernment or sympathetic to our way of life thereafter.
Serious constitutional questions are raised by the forced deten-
tiom of citizens against whom no individual charges are lndged, ®
Instead, they fvored a loyalty review at the assembly centers:
Presumably, the loyalty and dependability of all Japanese, alien
and citizen alike, would be examined ut the reception center. This
would be followed by arrangements for job placement outside of
the prohibited areas of all persons certified

Only when this process failed to resobve all questions did the Com-
mittee envision the creation of resettlement commumnities.
Eisenhower and his Heutenants started from premises much like
those of the Tolan report; they believed that the vast majority of evae-
vees were lw-abiding and loyval and that, once oot of the combat zone,
they should be retumed quickly to conditions approximating normal
life. Believing WHRA's goal should be to achieve this rehabilitative
messure, they immediately devised a plan to move evacuees to the
intermountain states. ® The government would operate “reception cen-
ters” and some evacuees would work within them, developing the land
and farming. Many more, however, would work outside the centers,
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in private employment—manufarturing, frming or oresting new sel
supporting communities. ™

Mikr Masscka, MNational Secretary of the Japanese American Cit-
ierms League (JACL), soon spprosched Eisenhower with a lengtin
letter setting oul recommendations and suggestions for policies the
JACL had taben on exchesion and evacustion:

We hove not contested the right of the militsry o order this

minement, even though it mesnt kaving all that we hokd dear

and wcred, because we bebieve that cooperstion on oor part will

mean & reciprocal cooperation on the part of the government.
Among the letter’s many specific recommendations was the plea that
the government permat Japanese Americans to have as much contact
as possible with white Americans to aveoid isolation and segregation. ™

The WHA's own plans were in sympathy with such an approach,
but the gavernment's experience with voluntary relocation suggested
that the WHRA would only be successful if it could enlist the help of
the interior state governors.™ WA arranged a meeting for officials of
the ten western states for April 7 in Salt Lake City, the day after
Masaoka had sent Eisenhower his appeal for s cooperative relationship
with the government. From the federal side, the two principal rep-
resentatives were Bendetsen and Eisenhower; from the states came
five governors and a host of other officials, as well as & few farmers
who were anxious to emplov evacuees for harvesting.

Bendetsen made the first presentation, describing the evacuation
and the WIDC's reasoms for it. He argued that, although some evacuess
mighi be diskoval, once they were removed from the West Coast, the
danger would be minimal. There were two real problems, as he s
it: possible fifth colume activity in the event of an lovasion and the
possibility of confusing the Japanese Americans with the enemy: both
probiem werr peruliar to the West Cosst Fiaenhower then deseribed
his plassed program. He assured state partcipants that security pre-
cautions would be taken Evacsees would not be permatted to own
Laned against the wishes of the state, and the WHA would msure that
portions of the plan imvolving private emphoyment.

The governors of the mountain ststes fully grasped the politics of
the situation, and they were unimpressed by both Bendetsen'’s so-
phistry and Eisenhower's social engineering. They opposed any evae-
vee land purchase or settlement in their states and wanted guarantees
that the government would forbid evacuees to buy land and that it
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would remowve them at the end of the war. They objected to California
using the interior states a3 3 “dumping ground™ for & Califrnia “prob-
kem.” Prople in their states were so bitter over the voluntsry evacy-
stion, they said, that ungnarded evacuees would face physical danger.

Covernor Herbert Maw of Utah put forth & ples whereby the
state woukd be given a quots of everuees for which it “would bare the
state puards, and would set up camps of Japanese and would work
them under geveral policies and plans specificd by the Federal gow-
emnment.” The evarness could not be allowed to roem ot largr, sid
Maw, citing strategic works in Utsh. Accusing the WEA of being too
concerned shout the constitutional rights of Japanese American citi-
zem, he sugpested that the Constitution could be chisnged.

The Governor of Idaho agreed with Maw and advocsted rounding
b said, had as many strategic works as California. The Governor of
Wyoming wanted evacuees put in “comcentration camps.” With few
enceptions, the other officials present echioed these sentiments. Only
Covernor Carr of Colorado took & moderste position. The voices of
those hoping to use the evacuees for agrieultural libor were drowned
ot ™

Benidetsen and Esenhower were unable or unwilling to face down
this united political opposition. Bendetsen briefly sttempted to defend
the War Department’s actions. Eisenhower closed the meeting: the
consensus wis that the plan for reception centers was acceptable, as
long as the evacvees remained under guard within the centers. ™ As
be left Sabt Lake Gity, Eisenhower had no doubt that “the plan to
move the evacuess mito private employment had o be shandoned—
st brast temporarily. ™ Bendetsen, too, had received the same mes-
mage As he described #t several weels ster: “You can't move people
scroms the street! The premise is that who you comider © be 5o dun-
prrows, that you can't pormit him to dey @ post “A'—pomt B will
not acoept. ™

Brfore it had begon, Esenbower and the WERA this ahandoned
resettlement and sdopted confinement. West Coast politicizss b
had schieved their program of detention. Without giving up its belief
that cvacuecs should be brought back to normal productive fife, WRA
had, in effect, become their jmiler, contending thet confinement was
for the benefit of the evacuees and that the controls on their departure
were designed to prevent mistreatment by other Americans. ™
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WHA had to move quickly in finding centers to house 120,000
people sad in developing pobicies and procedures for handling the
evaruees soon o come snder @ jurisdiction. The Presdent had stressed
the meed for immediste srtion™ both the War Department and the
WEHA were anmous to remove the evacuess from the primitive, make
shift amembly conters.

Sebecting the sites for the relocstion centen prosed complsted
Two sites had been chosen by military suthorities belore the WHA
was born. ™ Eight more locations were needed—designed o be “aress
wheere the cvaruees might scitle down to & more stable kind of lffe
umti] plans coubd be developed for their permanent relocation in com-
munities outside the cvacuated arces ™ Site sedection required the
War Department and the WEA to agree, although cach had differeat
interests. ™ The WHA retsined the portion of its early plan that called
for large-scale agricultural programs in which evacuees would dear,
develop and cultivate the land. Thus, the centers had to be on federal
land so that improvements would become a public benefit. The Army,
now face-to-face with the actual movement of people, no longer ad-
vocated freedom of movement outside the Western Defense Com-
mund. Tt became concerned about security and insisted that sites be
located ut n safe distance from “strategic installations,” a term that
inchided power lines and reservoirs. The Army also wanted each camp
10 have & populstion of at least 5,000 so that the number of guards
could be minimized. To be hahitahle, the centers had to have suitahle
transpartation, power and water facilities. * By June 5, after consid-
ering 300 proposed sites*® and negotiating with many potentially af-
fected state and local proermment officials, the WHA chose the final
eight sites.

More than any other sicgle Bartor, the requirrment ko largs tracts
of land virtually poarsnteed that the sites would be inbospitable As
Foger Daniels explained - That these arems were still vacast land in
1942, land that the cver-voracioos pioncers and developers had cither
passed by or shandoned, speaks volumes shoust their sttractiveness. ™

The sites were indeed vnattractive. Manzsser sod Poston, se-
lected by the Arory, were in the desert. Although both coubd eventualh
pﬂemmmﬂhm‘ﬂﬁzm‘l
Gils River, near Phoeniz, * suffered almost as severcly from the heast <
Minidoks and Heart Mountain, the two northernmost centers, were
known for hard winters and severe dust storms. Tule Lake was the
st developed site; Jocated in a dry lake bed, much of it was ready
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for plunting.*® Topaz was covered in greasewood brush.*® Cranadawas
litthe better, although there was some provision for irrigation.™ The
last two centers—Robwer and Jerome in Arkansas—were entirely dif-
ferent. Located in swampland, the sites were heavily wooded, with
severe drainage problems.™ Table 2 lists the location and capacity of
each center.

TARLE 2°: Relocation Centers

Caparity

Nume Lacation (in persons)
Central Utsh (Topsaz) Wist-central Utah 10,000
Colorado River {Poston)

Unit 1 Western Arizona 10, 000

Unit 2 Western Arizoma 5,0

Unit 3 Western Arizona AL
Gila Hiver (Hivers)

Butte Camp Central Arizona 16,000

Canal Camp Central Arizona 5,000
Granada {Amache) Southeastern Colorado B, 000
Heart Mountain Northwestern Wytming 12, 000
Jerome (Denson) Southeastern Arkansas 10, 00
Manzanar East-ventral California 10, Dy
Minidoka (Hunt) South-central Idaho 10, Dy
Rohwer Southeastern Arkansas 10, Cuk
Tule Lake {Newell) Morth-central California 16,000

Having selected the sites, the WRA's second job was to develop
the policies and procedures that would control the lives of evacuees.
This was begun almost immediately, with help from the JACL. In his
April 6 letter to Eisenhower, Massoka set forth a long list of recom-
mendations for regulating life in the camps and stressed, among other
things, the importance of respecting the citizenship of the Nisei, pro-
tecting the health of elderly Issei, providing educational opportunities,
and recognizing that the evacuess were “American” in their outhook
and wanted to make a comtribution to the war effort.™ The first set of
policies issued May 29 were labelled by the Director “tentative, still
fairly crude, and subject to immediate change.” Further, they did not
reach the centers until three weeks after the first groups had arrived.
They were not clarified until August, when over half the evacuee
population had been transferred to the centers. Given the limited time
available and the novelty of WRA's task as both jailer and advocate for
the evacuees, it is not surprising that the agency was not fully pre-
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pared. ™ Still, the fact that WRA was not able to provide dependable
“hhﬁrwﬁ-ﬁﬂliﬂhmﬂhm
to the relocation centers.

The confluence of drverse political interests had sgain conspired
sguinst the evacuees. The new centers at which they were amiving
wrre harely an imprvement over the asembh crnters they bad befe
The imcreased froedom nd possible resettiement they had antcipated
had been reversed in favor of confinement. And the rsles that would
grvern their lves were oncertan o pon-existent.

LIFE IN CAMF

Housing and Facilities

Except st Manganar, which was built as an assembly center and
transferred to the WHA for use as a relocation center, all the relocation
camps were built from scratch. Thus, the design and facilities were
relatively standard. By agreement with the WHA, the camps were built
by the War Department according to its own specifications. ™ Barbed-
wire fences, watchtowers, and armed guards surrounded the residential
and sdministrative areas of most camps.™
quarters, more spacious and better furnished. At most centers, evac-
wees built the sdministrative housing, which had not been inchuded
in the original construction contracts At Topaz, Gladys Bell and hes
Gamily. who were with the administrative stafl, had an entire four-room
barrack complete with piano ¥ At Manzanar, staff houses were panted
and had revsdentsl cooling nstems, refrigerston, medoor toilkets and
baths ™

Arrangreents for the evaruees were nol comparable. The basic
orgpastrational unit was onor agein the “hlock.” conaating of shout 12
to 14 barracks, & mess hall, baths, showers, inilots, & lasndry and a
recrestion hall ™ Esch harrack was shout 20 by 100 to 120 foet, divided
into four or siv rooms, cach from 20 by 16 to 20 by 25 feet ™ Each
room housed st least one fsmily, even i the family was very large.
Even ot the end of 1942, in 928 cases, two fumilies shared 3 20 by 25
fioot room.*

Constroction was of the kind used to house sobdiers
the so-called “theatre of operations” type,™ modified somewhat to
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accommodiate women and children.® The barracks were built of planks
nailed to studs and covered with tarpaper.™ In some places the green
wood warped quickly, eracking walls and floors.* Congressman Leland
Ford said of the Manzanar barracks that “on dusty days, one might
just as well be outside as inside.™™ “So much of our work was done
sloppily,” Dean Meeker testified of Heart Mountain:

I can remember the foreman’s comment when he found cracks in

the building. He said, “Well, T gueess those Japs will be stuffing

their underwear in there to keep the wind out.”
In my defense, [ will say | applied a bit more diligence and
care to my work when [ realized people would sctuslly have to
survive a Wyoming winter in this housing. We all knew that there
was no way anyone accustomed to California weather could pos-
sibly survive o Wyoming winter in those barracks. If they were
from California, they probably didn't even own the proper clothing
for a winter in Cody.™
Mo inside walls or ceilings were included in the original plans. As part
of a winterization program, however, evacues construction crews even-
tually added Frboard ceilings and inside walls in many of the centers.™

A visiting reporter from The San Franciseo Chromicle described
quarters at Tule Lake:

Boom size—about 15 by 25, considered too big for two reporters.
Condition—dirty.
Contents—two Army cots, each with two Army blankets, one
pillow, some sheets and pillow cases (these came as a courtesy
from the management), and a coal-burning stove (no coal). There
were no dishes, rugs, curtaing, or houwsekeeping equipment of any
kind. (We had in addition one sawhorse and three pieces of wood,
which the munagement did not explain,
The furnishings at other camps were similie, At Minidoka, amiving
evaguees found two stacked canvas cots, a pot-bellied stove and a light
bulb hanging from the ceiling,™ al Topaz, cots, two hlankets, a pot-
bellied stove and some cotton mattresses.™ Rooms had no running
water, which had to be carried from community facilities.™ Running
back and forth from the laundry room to rinse snd lsunder soiled
diapers was a particular inconvenience, ™

For some evacuees the camps were an improvement over the
assembly centers.

At least there were flush todlets in the community bathrovns and

we: were given two rooms instead of one,™

The butldings were the same type of barracks, although they
had flooring. ™
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Our new homes were better insulated from the dust and storm
antl noise than those at the assembly center,™

Others, however, found not even the minimal comforts that had
been planned for them. An unrealistic schedule combined with wartime
shortages of lahor and materials meant that the WHA had difficulty
meeting its construction schedule.™ In most cases, the barracks were
completed, but at some centers evacuees lived without electric light,
adequate tollets or laundry facilities,™

When we first arrived st Minidoks, evervone was forced to use

outhouses since the sewer systemn had not been built. For about

a year, the residents had 1o brave the cold and the stench of these

accommodations. ™

Mess halls planned for about 300 people had to handle 600 or SO0
for short periods.™ Three months after the project opened, Manzanar
still lacked equipment for 16 of 36 messhalls. ® At Gila:

There were 7,700 people crowded into space designed for 5,060,

They were housed in messhalls, recreation halls, and even latrines.

As many as 25 persons lived in a space intended for four.®

As at the assembly centers, one result was that evacuees were

often dented privacy in even the most intimate aspects of their lives.
Apartment is shared by marmied couple, age around 50 years, and
our family of four, one girl just nine and one ten years old, my
husband is out during the day on 2 job. . . . The heat is terrific
and the lady in our apartment is very sensitive to heat, so whenever
her washing amd ironing is done she is always taking naps—makes
it hard for children to run in and out—for fear it may disturb her.
She (s an understanding person, but still there is time she wished
she could have slept just another ten minutes, ®

Even when families had separate quarters, the partitions between

rooms failed to give much privacy. G].'a.d.:.ri. Bell described the situation

at Topae:
[TThe evacuees . . had only one room, unbess there were amund
ten in the family. Their rooms had a pot-bellied stove, a single
electric light hanging from the ceiling. an Army cot for each person
arl & blanket for the bed. Each barrack had six rooms with only
three Mues. This meant that a hole had to be cut through the wall
of one moom for the stovepipe to join the chimney of the next
room, The hole was large so that the wall would not burn, As a
result, evervthing said and some things whispered were easily
heard by people living in the next room. Sometimes the family
wiould be a couple with four children living next to an older couple,
perhaps of a different religion, older idews and with a difference
in all ways of life—such as music.™
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Despite these wretched conditions the evacuees again began to
rebuild their lives. Several evacuees recall “foraging for hits of wall-
beoard and wood ™ and dodging guards to get materials from the scrap
humber piles to build shelves and furniture.™ Even the refuse of better
times was treasured in camp:

To a friend who became engaged, we gave nails—many of them

bent—precions nails preserved in froit wrappings, snitched from

our fathers’ meager supply or found by sifting through the sand
in the windbreak where scrap lomber was piled.®
Eventually, rooms were partitioned and shelves, tables, chairs and
other furniture appeared.™ Paint and cloth for curtains and spreads
came from mail order houses at evacuee expense.®™ Flowers bloomed
and rock gardens emerged;™ trees and shrubs were planted. Many
evacuees grew victory gardens.™ One described the chunge:

[W]hen we entered camp, it was a barren desert, When we left

camp, it was a garden that had been built up without tools, it was

green around the camp with vegetation, fowers, and also with
artificial lakes, and that’s how we left it.™

The success of evacuees offorfs to improve their surmoundings,
however, was absays tempered by the harsh climate. In the western
camps, particularly Heart Mountain, Poston, Topaz™ and Minidoka,
dust was a principal problem. Monica Sone deseribed her first day at
Minidoka;

[W]e were given a rousing welcome by a dust storm. . . . We felt
as if we were standing in a gigantic sand.mixing machine as the
sixty-mile gale lifted the loose earth up into the sky, obliterating
everything. Sand filled our mouths and nostrils and stung our
faces and hands like a thousand darting needles. Henry and Father
pushed on ahead while Mother, Sumi and 1 followed, hanging
onto their jackets, banging suitcases into each other. At last we
stagpered into our room, gasping and blinded. We sat on our
suitcases o rest, peeling off our jackets and scarves. The window
panes rattled madly, and the dust poured through the cracks like
smoke. Now and then when the wind subsided, 1 saw other evac-
uees, hanging on to their suitcases, heads bent against the stinging
dust. The wind whipped their scarves and towels from their heads
and zipped them out of sight.™

In desert camps, the evacuees met severe extremes of temperature
as well. In winter it reached 35 degrees below zerc™ and summers
brought temperatures as high as 115" Becanse the desert did not
cool off at night, evacuees would splash water on their cots to be eool
enough to sleep.™ Rattlesnakes and desert wildlife added danger to
discomfort, ™
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The Arkansas camps had equally unpleasant weather. Winters
were cold and snowy while summers were unbearably hot and humid,
heavy with chiggers and clouds of mosguitos:™

When the rains came in Bohwer, we could not leave our quarters.

The water stugnated at the front steps. . . . The mosquitos that

festered there were horrible, and the authorities never had enough

quinine for sickness . . . Rohwer was a living nightmare, '™

Mecessities: Food, Clothing and Health

The WA walked a fine line in providing for evacuees’ basic needs.
On the one hand was their genuine sympathy for the excluded people.
On the other was a well-founded apprehension that the press and the
politicians woukd seek out and denounce any evidence that evacuees
were being treated penerously, '™ WHA's compromize was to strive for
& system that would provide a healthy but Spartan environment. They
did not always succeed, and it was usually the evacuees who suffered
when they failed.

The meal system was institutional—food served in messhalls at
designated times. Lines were long and tables erowded. Special ar-
rangements were made for infants, the sick or elderly, but, as in most
institutions, they were developed from necessity, not convenience.
There were formula kitchens for the habies, to which their mothers
brought them at designated times; some mothers walked many “blocks”
as often as six times a day to get their infants fed when the eamps first
opened, "™ Others bought hot plates to make formula, but without
running water this systemn was almost as unsatisfactory. " The arrange-
ments for those on restricted diets were difficult. The diet kitchens
were often located in the administration complex, far from the resi-
dential area; the sick and the elderly had to walk as much as a mile
three times a day to get their special food. "™

Food quality and quantity varied among centers, generally im-
proving in the later months as evacuess began to produce it themselves.
The WHEA's expressed policy was that evacuees were entitled to the
same treatment as other American citizens: WHA was to provide an
mlequate diet; foods rationed to the public would be available to evac-
wees in the same quantities. "™ The reality, however, was very different.
Weiners, dry fish, rice, macaroni and pickled vegetables are among
the fonds evarnees recall eating most frequently. "™ Meatless days were
regular at some centers—two or three times o week, "™ and many items
were unavailable. Continuing dairy shortages meant that, at most cen-
ters, fluid milk was served only to those with special needs, '™ while
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at others, there was watery skim milk."™ In fact, no really appetizing
mesls could be produced regularly under a requirement that feeding
the evacuees could not cost more than rations for the Army, which
were-set at 50 cents per person per day."*® Actual costs per evacuee
were approximately 45 cents per person per day;"™! sometimes they
fell as low as 31 cents 2

In January 1943, after accusations that evacuees were being cod-
dled, the WRA adopted new policies which showed that their fear of
adverse publicity had overcome any humanitardian impulse, “At no time
would evacuees” food have higher specifications than or exceed in
quantity what the civil population may obtain in the open market.”
Centers were ondered to submit their planned menus for each 30-day
period to Washington for advance approval to make sure that the public
was adequately informed of WRA feeding policies and procedures, 112
Perhaps the best that can be said of the meal system is that no one
starved.

Mo one froze cither, As winter approached, many evacuees were
unprepared, either because they had brovght no warm dothing due
to baggage limitations or bocause they did not own such clothing, never
having needed it at home. In response, the WRA provided monthly
clothing allowances and distributed surplos clothing. Each employed
evacuee and his or her dependents were supposed to receive from $2
to 83.75 each month, '™ depending on the evacuee's age and the climate
of the center. The system, however, did not work well because the
shorthanded WRA assigned it to an inexperienced, overworked staff,
which was unasble to handle the additional workload,"® and delays
continually frustruted evacuees ot the mercy of the WHA for their
survival. The surplus distribution became the principal source of warm
clothing during the first winter, when need was greatest. The clothes
were old G peajackets and uniforms, sizes 35 to 44. However unat-
tractive, they were warm and a source of great amusement. 115

The adequacy of bealth care in the camps has been s matter of
continuing debate. No issoe was mised more frequently during the
testimony. The WHA itself readily acknowledged some of the system's
karger flaws, The hospitals that had been planned were behind sched-
ule; some were not completed until the end of 1942, Equipment
shortages were constant and many supplies, including medicines, were
unavailable. '** Evacuees were foreed back on their own resources,
hringing their own equipment from home or making it from materfals
found in camp. '™

By far the biggest problem, however, was too few medical per-
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somnel, particularly nurses, '® The result was overworked doctors and
nurses and delays in treatment. '® At Jerome, for example, only seven
doctors were on hand to care for 10;000 people in October of 1942 12
The only medical profession filled to capacity in the comps was dentists;
there were so many at some centers that not all could practice.'® By
1943, the situation in most centers had grown worse as medical per-
sonnel left to resettle. By the last half of 1943, not only were personne]
few, but hospital bed usage rose as older evaruees whose families had
resettled fell back on hospital rather thun family care. '™ The shortage
of nurses was handled in part by training evacuees as aldes.'"™ Some
feelt that their training was inadequate: ™

In Topaz, 1 took three weeks of instroction from one of the five

Registered Nurses assigned to Topaz and went on duty as a Nurse's

Aide. I didn't even know the names of the instruments—I felt

terribly inadequate to take care of some very sick people, *7

As a result of nationwide medical personnel shortuges, some staff
physicians were not the best. At Manzanar, for example, a Cancasian
doctor set strict limits on work by the evacuee doctors in his charge,
limiting the efficiency of the medical progrm for some time, =% At
Tule Lake, the elderly physician in charge was not aware of and would
not allow newer medical procedures, After a great deal of protest from
the evacuees, he departed. #?

Caring for people with special medical needs was particularly
difficult. In a situation where running water was a luoury and normal
conveniences virtually absent, it was very difficult to provide special
care. Tuberculosis might well mean separation from one’s family 1o
owtside [acilities for the duration of the evacuation. "™ Retarded chil-
dren who could have been cared for by their families at home had 1o
be institutionalized. ™ Serious illnesses, such as mental breakdowns,
meant removal to state hospitals.

There were, however, some positive aspects to the system. Most
of the centers stressed preventive health care and set up immunization
programs as soon as possible. ™ The camp hospitals were nearby, al-
though reaching them might be a problem with no transportation but
walking. "™ Care was free, and evacuees had time to attend to their
health,

Any real measure of the system's effectiveness would require a
statistical evaloation of the center’s health recomds compared to the
records of a comparable group outside the centers. No such studies
exist. The WRA noted few problems. Epidemics of chicken pox and
respiratory tract infections were mentioned, ™ as were problems “de-
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veloped in connection with the water supply at some centers, ™™ In
the Arkansas centers, there was malaria, which abated after s mosquito
eradication campaign, better public education and more screening. ™
The WRA asserted that evacuees’ physical health remained satisfac-
tory, "™ and, in a 1946 comparison of death rtes in the camps to deaths
in the U.5. population as a whole, they found that death rates in the
camps were lower than those in the general population. '™

Testimoay before the Commission, however, suggests a different
story. The evacuees recall more than one problem caused by inade-
quate sewage disposal. Epidemics of dysentery were reported at To-
paz, " Minidoka,'" and Jerome:, ' and a typhoid epidemic ocourred
at Minidoka, 1

Evacuees testified about polic and tuberculosis as well.'# The
polio problem was apparently quite severe at Granada during the latter
pirt of 18943, Some organized activities were cancelled, ' and WHRA
stopped giving passes to nearby towns. " At Poston, Rita Cates found
140 cases of tuberculosis in 8 months. "™ Several evacuees testified
ahout situstions in which inadequate cire led to death or disability that
might have been avoided, 14 !

Employment

Omne of the many unresobved issues for arriving evacuess was the
extent to which they would be required to support themselves. Were
they in fact prisoners for whom the state had an obligation to provide
continuing minimal help? Or were they simply to be regarded as people
who had moved, responsible for themselves, for whom WERA would
provide initial help and encoursgement? Eisenhower’s original plan
tended toward the latter view. The WRA would, in the main, help
provide or locate opportunities for the evacuees, not regard them as
indefinite dependents. Onee the decision had been made that evacuees
were to be confined, however, WRA expectations had to change. Evac-
uees confined to government camps would definitely have Hmited
career opportunities. Still, the WRA was not prepared to regard evac-
uees as wards of the state. The WHA, determined to strive for com-
munities that would be as self-sufficient as possible, " wanted to avoid
creating & permanently dependent population like the Indians. They
believed that prolonged idleness would deepen the evacuees” feelings
of frustration and isolation. Further, the war effort demanded that all
labor be used, and WHA believed constructive work would rehabilitate
evacuees in the eyes of their countrymen. '™ Therefore, the WHA
approach to employment (as to many other issues) became & compro-
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mise—expecting and encouraging cvacoees to work while denying them
freedom of choice or incentives to perform. Needless to sy, the result
satisfied no one.

The first plan to emerge from these conflicting objectives was the
notion of an evacesee work corps. Esch working-sge evacuee would be
Even an opportunity o join the corps. Enkistment was volustary bt
the evacoee had o ocnlist o be ebigible for work. The corps was to
develop land, build irrigation structures. produce food and turn oot
war-relsted manufectured ftems B

By May 25, the WRA had refined its plan. Each center would be
a “partnenhip enterprise.” WRA woulkd furnish the esscntials of living
and try to develop work opportunities. Evacuee members of the work
corps were to work toward providing their own lving requirements,
developing the center’s kand, and producing surplus goods for sale. At
the end of the year, any profits (the surplus of eamings over mainte-
nance costs] would be distributed to work-corps members, Meanwhile,
evicuees would receive cash advances. Eligible residents who chose
not to join the corps would be charged $20 4 month for themselves
and each dependent to cover subsistence costs, "™

This plan set the amount of "cash advances,” which eventually
became “wages.” On March 23, before any policy had been adopted,
a Hearst newspaper ran u story alleging that evacuees “will be paid
much more than the American soldiers Aghting the country’s battles
oversens.” The evacuees, it reported, would get $50 o $84 a month,
while the soldier’s base pay was $21 a month. This misleading story
led 0 & Congressional investigation and attendant publicity that put
great pressure on Eisenhower. Eventually he agreed that evacuer pay
would not, under any crcumstances, exceed the base pay of 3 soldier.
the scale adopted was $12 a month for wnskilled kibor, $16 for sialled
labor, and 816 for professacea] employess. ™ Congrens and the press
had delrvered & message parallel o thet of the mountsn states pov-
ernory: the WRA might look on its work s returning o normal lie a
Eroup against whom there were o charpes and mest of whoesn were
concededly keval to the United States, but & grest many members of
Congress and the press ssw WRA as warden of & dangrrous group
whose subnerive potential required stern control As 8 result. most
of WEA's comitructive programs wers defested by meassures of com-
pulbsion or deprivation.

Despite elaborate planning. neither the work corps nor the “part-
nership” idea ever got off the ground. The evacoees dectsively rejected
the work corps by refusing to sign up in large numbers. The partnership
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notion, with or without the work corps, was lawed. Some centers had
greater potential than others; the accounting system would have been
extremely complex, and the whole scheme was subject to allegations
of “unfair competition™ from local interests. By August 1942, it was
dropped. The only element that remained was the schedule of “cash
advances,” now known as “wages, '™
The new policy adopted in August remained substantially un-
changed throughout the WRA program. Its principal elements were:
* Evacuees in centers would receive food, shelter, medical care and
education without charge.
* Evan.le}fs working at the coenters would be paid $12, $16 or 819
a month,

* Unemployment compensation payments, at rates ranging From
$1.50 10 $4.75 a month, would be paid to each emplovable evacuee
fl.ndrle::h dependent) who was out of work through po fault of his
own.

The wage scale immediately became controversial and remained
s0. Public opinion dictated that wages should be low., Evacuees de-
manded a higher scale; they saw themselves as vietims of a misguided,
hysterical war reaction and utterly undeserving of treatment different
from that of other Americans.

Moreover, the systern caused severe financial hardship. Evacuees
eould not afford to meet even their minimal needs inside the centers.
Sometimes the barest essentials in the Sears catalogoe, such as shoes
for the children, were out of reach. Meeting their putside obligations,
such as mortgage payments, was impossible unless they already had
savings or income-producing property. And it was insulting. A WERA
librarian received $167 a month, while her evacuee staff received §16
a momth. " Despite the agitation, the systern was never changed. By
the: time it might have been, the WHRA was encouraging evacuees to
lenve the centers and did not want to create an incentive to stay.

Opportunities for work were also the subject of continuing debate
and change. The WHA had promised jobs for those who wanted to
work, bat meager opportunities led to overstaffing and encouraged
slack work habits, When the WHA decided 1o tighten up in 1843,
eliminating many jobs and much of the unemployment roll, there was
considerable protest. Labor grievances were widespread and motiva-
tion was a real problem. Many evacuees saw no reason to devote their
best efforts to a system which displayed so little trust in them and held
out such demeaning rewards. '™

Despite these problems, the employment program was not a total
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failure. The centers were staffed almost completely by evacuees, and
some agricultural efforts and war industries succeeded moderately.

At all centers, workers were most needed in operations—food
preparation, *** winterization, "™ health and sanitation, security™' and
the like, "™ Feeding the commumity was most lnbor-intensive. "= Among
those who testified about their employment, by far the largest group
worked in center operations.

Although the centers never met WHRA expectations for agriculture,
some did prodece considerable amounts of food. Begun at Tule Lake
and Gila River, vegetable production later became substantial at other
centers as well, " By the end of 1543, WHRA estimated that the centers
were producing 85 percent of their own vegetables and that 2.5 million
pounds had been sold. "™ In addition 1o vegetables, all of the centers
eventually raised hogs."™ "The hogs ate everything we left and ulti-
mately we ate the hogs, " Most raised poultry as well. Four had beefl
herds, and Gila River ran a dairy. 7

The first industry in operation was the camouflage net project at
Manzanar. From June to December 1942, nearly 500 citizen evacueces
garnished nets with colored fabric in summer, winter and desert pat-
terns. Mear the end of 1942, net factories operating under contract
began production at Gila River and Poston. They set up an incentive
system that allowed workers to make extra money by high production.
Mot surprisingly, the incentive system was resented by those to whom
no incentives were offered. "™

During 1943, two other war-related industries were established:
i silk-screen poster shop at Heart Mountain and a model warship facility
at Gila River, both preparing Mavy orders. '™ In 1943 sawmills began
at two centers, '™ Severn] other industries began to produce goods for
internal consumption. By the end of 1942, sewing projects to renovate
and repair work clothes; woodworking establishments to produce fur-
niture; and projects to produce bean sprouts ind soy sauce were under
way, '™ In 1943, others were added. "™ Susurn Togasaki desceribed the
growth of small-wale enterprise through the birth of his tofi (bean
curd) factory:

We began manufacturing with & meat grinder and a washing ma-

chine. 1 recruited my friends and acquaintunces (Messrs. Yama-

guchi, Shimizu, Asakawa, Harada, Tsuruoka, and Mrs. Umezawa)

There was some controversy regarding our spending too much

money, 5o we instituted an invoice system with the administra-

tion, We invoiced all the tofu and bean sprouts delivered to the
mess halls in the three camps, We also contra-sccounted the re-
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ceipt of raw materials, and the salaries of the members of the tofu
factory. We showed a profit at the end of the first month,

Onur invoices were later to be a problem. The administration
made inquiries in varkus cities regarding the prices of bean sprouts
and tofu. They apparently felt our paper profits were too high.
However, complaints were voiced by civilians in the cities that
Our prices were oo low,

Omce the tofu and bean sprowt operations were running smoothly,
our group looked for other projects. In response to the unavail-
ahility of fresh flowers for funerals, weddings, and gatherings, we
decided to mamifacture artificial fowers. We purchased crepe
paper and wire on a retail hasis from Phoenix, We soon realized
the crepe paper prices were exorbitant, and wrote to the manu-
facturer. We began buyving enough crepe paper to be swarded
the sole distributorship for the Pacific Southwest, My friends later
sold crepe paper to the retail stares in the Phoenix area. We also
started a greeting cand manufacturing business, wsing linoleum
block prints. The cards were designed and executed by artists
among the internees,

The: majority of the people working these operations were paid
§19.00 per month, The administration felt some of the people
should be paid less, since that was a supervisorial wage rate, 1
argued that each person on our staff was exercising independent
judgment. Thus the salary levels were justified and continued, 1™
Finally, “community enterprises” provided goods and services to

the evacuees beyond the WRA subsistence iterms—stores, hairdressers,
newspapers, theaters and the like. Most of these were begun under
WHA auspices; the plan, however, was to transform them into con-
sumer cooperatives. '™ Many centers did in fact establish such coop-
eratives,'™ purchasing goods on credit from wholesalers. Those not
set up as cooperatives were organized as trusts. '™ By the end of 1642,
there were 116 such enterprises doing over $700,000 worth of business
a month. '™

From Day to Day

Life begins cach day with a siren blast at 7-00 0. m. , with breakfust
served cafeteria style. Work begins at 8:00 for the adults, school
at 8:30 or 900 for the children. '™

Camp life was highly regimented and it was rushing to the wash
basin to beat the other groups, rushing to the mess hall for break-
fast, lumch and dinner. When a human being is placed in captivity,
survival is the key. We develop a very negative attitude toward
authority, We spent countless hours to defy or beat the system.
Our minds started to function like any POW or convicted crimi-
pal, 1

Living in a relocation camp meant waiting, not just waiting for food
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and facilities, but waiting to see what would happen next. There was
no way to prepare for the future—to plan for retivement or to choose
a career path. There was litthe reason to work, except to pass the time
or to fll immediate community needs, Choices were denied, from the
choice of where to live to the choice of what to eat. Merely surviving
was physically and psychically draining. Getting to the messhall on
time; finding an empty shower; keeping the diapers clean; coping with
the heat, the cold, insects or snakes were major tasks. Holding the
family together withoul privacy or authority required a full commit-
ment. Yet the camps were busy places. Most of those who could work,
did 0, and both WHA and the evacuess clearly tried to create the
Mlusion of & normal community with normal pastimes. Nowhere was
this more evident than in their efforts to set up community activitics.
Yet the same contradictions within WHA applied here as in other
aspects of Hving. How could they provide enough without being ac-
cused of providing too much? How could they permit evacuees to
control their communities without compromising their responsibilities
as jailers? The illusion that the captive population controlled their own
lives could not be sustained. Once again, compromise satisfied no one.
Education. When the evacuees arrived at the relocation centers,
the education program was little more than & promise that schools
witild be the first order of business. " School buildings and equipment
had not been part of the origingl construction, so clisses were held in
barrack-like: recreation halls, "™ The WRA deseribed conditions as schools
opened somewhat later than usual between 1942 and January 1843:
With no exceptions, schools at the centers opened in unpartitioned
harracks meant for other purposes and generally bare of furniture.
Sometimes the teacher had a desk and chair; more often she had
only a chair. In the first few weoks many of the children had no
desks or chairs and for the most part were obliged to sit on the
Noor—or stand up all day. Linolenm laying and additional wall
insulation were accomplished in these makeshift schoolrooms some
timee after the opening of school. At some centers cold waves struck
before winterization coubd be started.

By the [end of 1942] . . . it was po longer necessary for many
pupils to sit on the floor, but seating was frequently of a rudi-
mentary character. Text books and other supplies were gradually
armiving, Laboratory and shop equipment and facilities, however,
were still lacking. No center had been able to obtain its full queta
of teachers. "™
At Minidoka, the “washroom became the biology and chemistry

laboratory, "= At Tule Lake, students in the typing class never saw a
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typewriter: “We drew circles on a sheet of paper, lettered the circles,
and practiced by pressing our fingers over the circles. ™™ The shortage
of texthooks and supplics was mitigated, though never resolved. States
domated old texthooks'®® and other donations came through the Amer-
ican Friends Service Committee '

Recruiting and training teachers was a constant problem. Few
evacuees were certified, because teaching opportunitics before the war
were few for those of Japanese ancestry, It was difficult to recroit
outside teachers because of the centers” harsh living conditions, '™ and
staff turmover was high.'® Thus, many evacuees with two or more
years of college became: “assistant teachers”™ who in some cases assumed
a full teaching load. "™ Although an evacues certification program was
estahlished at each center, the shortage continued, particularly as the
resettlement effort quickened. '™ One evacuee described his chemistry
class:

I recall sitting in classrooms without books and listening to the

instructor talking about technical matters that we coubd not study

in depth. The lack of qualified evacuee teachers, the shortage of
trained teachers was awful. 1 remember having to read a chapter

a week in chemistry and discovering at the end of a semester that

we had finished one full year's course. There was a total loss of

scheduling with no cxperiments, demonstrations or laboratory

H'CII"L =

Despite these problems, education began at four different levels:
nursery school, elementary school, high school, and adult edwcation. ™
Limited vocational edvcation was added. "™ School clubs and cxtra-
curricular activities began, '

The curriculum, set in consultation with state education author-
ithes, was consistent with the recopnized standards of the state in which
the center was located, "™ although some evacuees recall a dearth of
science, language, math and other college preparatory courses '™ All
schools except Tule Lake were accredited. The children of families
leaving the centers could usually transfer to outside schools without
losing credit, ™ although some evacuees testified that some of their
camp credits were nol accepted. '™

Fducation was a high priority in the centers, but adverse condi-
tions took a toll. Many evacuees bolioved that deficiencies in the ed-
ucational program have handicapped them ever since, ™ both because
the physical eovironment was poor and because evacuess’ attitudes
toward the centers colored their attitudes about education.

The education program, irenically, emphasized " Americanization”
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and inculcation of the country’s values. The centers certainly provided
a new context for the precepts of the Founding Fathers:
An oft-repeated ritual in relocation camp sehools . . . was the
salute to the flag followed by the singing of “My country, "tis of
thee, sweet land of liberty ™ —a ceremony Cancasian teachers found
embarmassingly awlward if not cruelly poignant in the austere
prison-canmp setting. ™
The: life of children is, of course, In many ways oblivious of the
frars and angers of adults, but experiences of childhood teach their
own lessons, and the half-free, half-prison world of the camps left its
mark:
In some ways, | suppose, my life was not too different from a lot
of kids in America between the years 1942 and 1945, T spent a
good part of my time playing with my brothers and friends, learned
tor shoot marbles, watched sandlot haseball and envied the older
kids who wore Boy Seout uniforms. We shared with the rest of
America the same movies, screen heroes and listened to the same
heartrending songs of the forties. We imported much of America
into the camps because, after all, we were Americans. Through
imitation of my hrothers, who attended grade school within the
camnp, | learnod the salute to the flag by the time [ was five vears
old. T was learning, as best one could learn in Manzanar, what it
meant to live in America. But 1 was also bearning the sometimes
hitter price one has to pay for it
Recreation. In the eary months, the recreation halls often had to
be used for other purposes, equipment was minimal, and professionals
to organize the program were few. By the winter of 1942, however,
conditions were improving. Church groups loaned or gave equip-
ment, ™™ and superdsors were on the job in all centers but one. ™
Athlotics were a major recreation, While the preferences of Issei
and Nised differed in most cases, baseball was a common denominator.
At some centers, there were as many as 100 teams active at one Hme,
ranging from children to Issel in their sixties.® Basketball and touch
foothall were popular as well, Indoor sports were limited to those that
took little space—primarily ping-pong, judo, boxing®® and badmin-
ton. ™ Sumo wrestling bouts were given for those interested in the
traditional sports of Japan.®™ By the end of 1943, evacuces were sorme
times allowed to lesve the grounds, so that hiking and swimming
became popular pastimes. 29
The evacuees also diverted themselves with dancing, plays, con-
corts, and games—eards, chess, checkers, Goh, Shogf and Mah-jongg =
Sume activities were underwritten by outside groups—an art com-
petition in 1943, for example, was spomsored by Massachusetts Quak-
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ers. ™ There were numerous art or craft exhibitions® and films that
came to each messhall ®* At Manzanar, an outdoor walk-in theatre
was eventually built, where evacnees could sce most current films. 22
Although there were few instruments, there was a good deal of music.
Dancing classes at Topaz, for example, included tap, ballet, toe and
Oriental, and there were two orchestras, ¥4

Most of the centers had libraries. By 1943, the Manzanar library
had a staff of sixteen and five branches including a main library, a small
fiction branch, s high school and «lementary branch and a teacher's
library. 25 By the end of 1943, most of the libraries had Japanese
language sections as well, 21

Holidays remained important, as they had been in the assembly
centers. At Topaz, for example, Arbor Day was celebrated by distrib-
uting small shrubs to each block; at Christmas, there were decorated
trees, special food, and presents donsted by the American Friends
Society;"17 New Year's was celebrated™® traditionally with mochi, a
kind of rice cake; at Easter, a large owtdoor coremony was planned;
and the Buddhists held a parade and folk dances to celebrate the
anniversary of the birth of Buddha =%

The WRA encouraged the establishment of bocal chapters of na-
tional organizations. ™" By the end of 1942, most centers had chapters
of the American Red Cross, YMCA, YWCA, Boy Scouts and Girl
Scouts, ! There were serap metal drives, bond sales, Red Cross drives
and blood donations.®* Ultimately, these organizations, particularly
the YMCA and YWCA, were active in helping evacuees (o resettle, 22

Mot all recreation, of course, was organized. At Topaz, women
created beaotiful designs in seashells collected around the camp-
ground, once the bottom of an ancient lake. Many of the men did
woodworking. At other centers doll-making, sewing, crochet, callig-
raphy and flower-arranging were popular, 2

Religion. The WRA's policy was to allow complete freedom of
worship, except for barring State Shinto on the grounds that it involved
Emperor worship.®™ A building—generally the recreation hall—was
provided for services, and evacuees were permitted to invite outside
pastors if they wished.®® Planos and organs were oaned or donated, =
Originally, the WRA was willing to allow churches to be built,#* but

later reversed this plan because of materials shortages.®™ The WRA

did not pay ministers,** so they were financed by their congregations
or the national churches,®™* Unlike the assembly centers, here the use
Newspapers. All centers had community newspapers, published
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in English with a Japancse language section. They were supervised by
the WRA center information officer but the editors and staff were
evacuees. The San Francisco Chronicle reported that there was no
censorship at Tule Lake and that the content was “inmocuous, "= though
one must question whether censorship would be necessary where the
seat of power was so obvious and the effective paths of protest so few.
Most papers published two or three times a week, although some were
weekly and Poston's came out daily ® Most were underwritten by the
WHA; at Manzanar, Minidola and Heart Mountzin, papers were printed
and managed by the community entesprise associations. = The papers
were intended to kecp the evacuees informed about the center and
outside. Camp administration vsed them for announcements, and re-
scttlement news appeared frequently once it was under way. 2%

Government. From the beginning, it was clear that a channel of
communication between camp administrators and evacuess would be
needed. WHA planned o system of community povernment to meet
this meed and also to function like 8 municipal government adopting
ordinances and policies on internal matters.®™ The form was to be an
elected eommunity couneil of representatives from each block. For
legal and policy reasons, however, WRA held a veto over the legislative
activities of the governments and adopted policies describing how they
would be structured. ®*® Because of these restrictions, particularly one
barring Issei from holding elective office, many evacuees regarded the
system as a sham, further evidence that they were not trusted, and an
example of bad faith by the WHRA =

Despite these problems, most centers eventually did have some
sort of government. By the end of 1942, eight centers had temporary
community councils, Eventually, all the centers had councils except
Manzanar, which continued to function through its system of elected
block managers.

At some centers, block managers were the real channels of com-
munication. Generally appointed by the project director {except at
Manzanar, where block managers were elected) and vsually a respected
Issei, the block manager had three specific responsibilities: to ensure
that evacuees had necessities; to supervise maintenance of grounds
and structures; and to transmit official WA annowncements and reg-
ulations, ™ They were paid the going wage of $16 & month.™® Many
of these individuals enjoyed a measure of patriarchal respect that gave
them authority™ within the community and allowed them to lead when
the community councils could not.

Security. The typical relocation center was surrounded by barbed-
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wire fences punctuated with guard towers. ™ At Topaz, the evacuees
themselves built the fences and towers after they arrived. * By agree-
mient between the Army and the WRA, the Army assumed responsd-
bility for guarding the perimeter, ™ controlling traffic in and out of the
centers and, within the Western Defense Command, inspecting parcels
for eontraband. ™7

1 worked at the camp post office alongside American soldiers who
were to inspect packages for comtraband. Although not all could
be described as such, most were callous, destructive in their in-
spection of mail order packages, and insensitive. Clothing was cut
with their knives and intimate articles (including condoms, etc.)
were held up for all to see, causing great embarrassment to the
recipients, ®*

The military police were solely for external guarding unless they
were called in by the project director to handle an emergency, ™ Even
s, they created problems in several instances. A& WRA investigation
of Manzanar in the summer of 1942 reported:

The guards have been instrocted to shoot anyone who attempts
to lesave the Center without a permit, and who refuses to halt
when ordered to do so. The guards are armed with guns that are
effective at a range of up to 500 vards. 1 asked Lt Buckner if a
guard ordered a Japanese who was out of bounds to halt and the
Jap did not do so, would the guard actually shoot him. Lt. Buock-
ner's reply was that he only hoped the guard would bother to ask
him to halt. He explained that the guards were fnding guard
service very monotonous, and that nothing would suit them better
than to have a little excitement, such as shooting a Jap.

Some time ago, a Japanese [Nisei] was shot for being outside
of a Center. . . . The guard said that he ordered the Japanese to
halt—that the Japanese started to run sway From him, so he shot
him. The Japanese was seriously injured, but recovered. He said
that he was collecting scrap lumber to make shelves in his house,
and that he did not hear the guard say habt. The guard’s story
does not appear to be accurate, inasmuch as the Japanese was
wounded in the front and not in the back. ™

There were shootings at other centers as well. At Topaz, an elderly
evaruee thought to be escaping was ldlled.®* Mine Olubo described
the incident:

A few weeks later the Wakasa case stirred up the center. An elderly

resident was shot and killed within the center area inside the

fence, by a guard in one of the watchtowers. Particulars and facts
of the matter were never satisfactorily disclosed to the residents,

The anti-administration leaders again started to howl and the rest

of the residents shouted for protection against soldiers with guns.
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As a result, the goards were later removed 1o the rim of the outer

project area and Arearms were banned, =2
At Gila Hiver, a gnard shot and wounded a mentally deranged evac-
vee. = At Tule Lake, aftor segregation, an evacuee in an altercation
with a guard was shot and killed 254

Even when the guards were not shooting, their presence had a
lasting impact. As Goorge Takei described it:

I was too young to understand, but 1 do remember the barbed

wire fence from which my parents warmed me to stay away. 1

remember the sight of high guard towers. | remember soldiers

carrying rifles, and I remember being afraid. =%

Internal security was the center manager's job. Generally, he
winild appoint an internal security officer to supervise a police force
composed largely of evacuees. The intermal security forces were to
make all arrests. Misdemeanors were handled at the center, and felony
suspercts were turned over to outside suthorities, The FBI was called
if intellipence or investigation of subversive activities wis needed =6

Generally, the crime record at the centers compared favorahly
with that of an average American community of similar size. A 1944
survey of comparative crime rates indicated that the law was being
broken about a third as often in relocation centers as in an ordinary
city. =7

Tensions and Crisis

Two-thirds—the younger, American-born and American-citizen
Miset—are becoming increasingly bitter, resentful and even sul-
len.

The camp is a mare’s nest of rumors, of suspicion and distrust.
Many of the Japancse feel that the Government has not kept all
its promises—and the Government certainby hasn t—and they wait
apprehensively for the next blow o fall =

Discontent over camp living conditions was inevitahle. Housing
and food were poor. Swspicion that stafll was stealing and selling food
was widespread ¥ Wages and elothing allowances were delayed. For
many older residents, there were no jobs, WHA had promised that
household goods would be brought to evacuees as soon as they arrived;
months later, none had come. There were continual shortages of equip-
ment and material for education and recreation. WHA had promised
that one of its first jobs would be to build sehools and Furnish school
equipment, but priority often went instead to improving quarters for
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Fear, uncertainty and the monotony of enforced idleness aggra-
vated tension. At the older centers, WHRA policies had not been set
when evacpees arrived, and there were no answers to many of their
questions.® They feared the future—not only what would happen
aftor the war, but also whether there would be enough food or quality
medical care al the centers.®™ Many had lost income and property,
which left them few resources to fall back on. They fearcd the “outside.”
Relations with outside communities were poor, and evacuees knew
that some towns had passed resolutions ageinst the free movement of
evacners. Local commumities and politicians had investigated the camps
for evidence of “coddling. ™

Evacuees feared and resented the changes forced by e in the
centers, particularly the breakdown of family authority, created in part
by a situation in which children no longer depended so heavily on
their parents. Family separation was common, and mass living dis-
difficult, the position of the head of the family had been weakened.
Mo longer the breadwinner providing food and shelter, he had been
supplanted by the government; his authority over the family and his
ahility to lead and discipline were diminished. Children unsettlingly
found their parents as helpless as they,

At the root of it all, evacuees resented being prisoncrs against
whom o crime was charged and for whom there was no recourse.
Armed puards patrolled their community and searched their packages.
Mo evacuee coubd have a camera. Even beer was prohibited. For @
long time, no evacoee could leave the center, except for emergency
reasons, and then only in the company of seomeone who was not of
Japanese ancestry, ™ Evacuee positions were subordinate to WHA per-
somneel, regardless of ability, and wages were bow, ™7 At some centers,
project officials actively tried to maintain elass and role distinetions,
forbidding WRA personnel and evacuees to cat in the same messhall,
for example **

Mot all hostility was directed at the WHA; lensions among evicuees
also began to surface. Conflicts between Issei and Nisei arose. Most
difficult was coping with the WHRA-mandated “sell-government,” which
specified that only citizens could serve on community councils. Paralle]
organizations, like competing block manager groups made up largely
of Tssel, heightened conflicts, ®

There were also conflicts between early and later arrivals. Early
arrivals tended to be young, aggressive people who had volunteered
to open the centers. They were accused of having taken the best jobs, =™



1T FPERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

olften the level of administration just below WHRA staffl Charges of
corruptem, ncompetence and, most divisive. collsboration began
row. *
The same kinds of problems developed between JACL leaders,
who were often fvored by conter administrators, =* and other evac-
wees, particularty the Kibes, who were denied some of the rights (sach
a5 student keave) that other evacoees reooived ™ Some JACL lesders
blamed the lssei and Kibei for camp disturbances and charged them
ﬂhﬂ'&hﬂ“hhm_ﬂdhﬂjﬂﬂ
JACL leaders might identify the “known agitstors™ ot the camps =
that the WRA could scparate them from the rest of the evacoees. ™
Some cvacuoes fidlt that the JACL had sold out the cause of Japanese
Americans. ™
mmw.mmﬂuhuhm
became suspect as an inu or dog.®™ At Manzanar, a group called the
Black Dragons surfaced, a handfiul of profascist enthusiasts for Imperial
Japan. Among other activities, the Black Dragons instigated rock-throwing
at the camouflage-net workers™ and beat those they considered inu.
Other gangs, too, were involved in beatings. As the leave program got
under way, draining the centers of many of the most constructively
aggressive young men,"™ the gangs grew.,

Other signs of disaffection were emotional meetings and a petition
in Faver of better living and working conditions. ®™ Karl Yoneda testi-
fiod:

[We] formed the Manzanar Citizens Federation on July 20, 1942

Some of the topics wr discussed were improved camp conditions,

education of citizens for lesdership, participstion in the war efforts

and postwar preparsiions. =
Finally came the crises at Poston and Manzner Although these were
the oaly two major confroststions (escept of Tule Lake after the seg-
regation), bestngs and hostilities contimued ™

Incidents of Poston end Manzamar. Ai Fostom on November 1,
1942, an evacues who had cooperated with the WRA and was suspected
of being an “informer” was beaten by & group of unidentified men.
Evacuee police arrested two men on suspacion and held them at the
FBI's request while the beating was investigated. After the two had
heeen detained two days, & groop of older evacures msked their release;
the request was refused. The next day, a crowd of about 1,000 de-
manded the release of the prisoners as did the community council
When their request was refused, the council resigned. Although one
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suspect was released after the FBI investigation, the other was held
to be tried in the county court, 2

The evacuees formed o leadership committes which decreed a
general strike®™ and organized pickets surrounding the center’s jail to
prevent removal of the detained man. On November 23, an agreement
was finally reached in which the prisoner was relensed to custody of
two evacuee lawyers pending trial, and the emergency leaders agreed
to help stop the beatings and try to establish better rapport with the
administration. =%

On December 5, 1842, at Manzanar, a suspected “informer”™ was
assaulted by sixn masked men. From the hospital he sid he could
identify one of the attackers, who was arrested and jailed outside the
center. The next day a mass meeting was held to protest the arrest.
The crowd decided to trv to negotiate with the project director, ap-
pointing &5 committee of five, Meanwhile, the project director had asked
military police to stand by, At first the director refused to negotiate,
Later he agreed to do so and thought he had reached o compromise:
the suspect would be returned and tried at the center and evacuees
would ooperate on various future matters. Under the agreement, the
suspect was returned to the center jail *

Later that day, the crowd reassembled.® They demunded the
suspect’s release and made plans to get ten or eleven other suspected
“informers.”** At this point, the project director ealled in the military
police. When the crowd refused to disperse, the MFs threw tear gas.
The crowd formed again as soon as the gas had blown away. When a
person in the crewd started an emvpty car and headed it toward a
machine gun, the MPs opened fire. Two evacuees were killed and
nine wounded ®*

I ran and became one of the curious spectators. The MP fired

shots into the defenseless crowd. A classmate, Jimmy Ito, was

shot and killed. It was a terrifying experience. ®®

The suspected “informers,” a group who had coopersted with
WHA administrators, were removed for safety to the military police
barracks and later to zn abandoned COC camp, from which they re-
settled, ™ Those whom the authorities believed to have been impli-
cated in the mass demonstrations were sent either to Justice Depart-
ment internment eamps (if aliens) or to 8 WRA isolation camp at Maab,
Utah {if citizens), Eventually the WEA isolation camp and its inhab-
itunts, now including dissidents from other centers as well, were moved
to Leupp, Arizons. From Leupp, some eventually returned to relo-
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ity analysts operated in good fith. In carly 1943, the WRA bad
extablished 3 Community Ansheds Section designed to "asist in the
problems of sdministering the refocation centers, in the interests of
both administrators and evacuees ™ The analysts, masy of whom
were sociologists and anthropologists, observed and interviewed WEA
staff and evacuees, then made recommendations to improve the WEA
program, yiekling & substantial litersture of over 100 reports. The
Commission heard some testimony, particularly that of Dr. Peter 5o-
zuki,™ alleging that some of the analysts were not oljective reporters
and problem-solvers, but informers for the WHA who suppressed fm-
portant information. Dr. Edward Spicer, formerly head of the com-
munity analysts, offered a rebuttal of the Sumuki charges. ™

The rule of the analysts and the question of whether cooperation
with or resistance to the WHA, passive or active, was the better course
for evacuees, remain matters of intense, sometimes hitter controversy
among those who lived in the camps. There s no “right” answer to
the evacuees' dilemma; nor do isolated examples of informing prove
or disprove WHA's intentions. In both cases, the facts are almost im-
possible to determine. For the Commission to delve into these matters,
attempting to settle old scores, would be inappropriate.

Leave

It was an opportunity for the Brmers and hakufing [white folk]

out there because they were looking for cheap labor. Here was

this source, in this camp, for cheap labor and they said why not?

We ww il &3 an opportunity to get o go to the store and to by

stuff to bring back tn the Bmily =

Even o Enenhower decided in April 1942 that the WEA would
plan primarily in terms of confining the evacuen, the process that
wonzkd sevure thew release was beginning  Before the first evaruees
reached the relocation conters, the WIDC had begun to relesse 5 few
for ome of two purposes: to continoe their college education or to harvest
crops.

The evacuation meant that some 3,500 Japancse Americans would
be prohibited from sttending colleges and universities on the West
Coast—an incaleulsble loss to both the nation and the ethnic Japanese
community.™ First to recognize and confront the probilem was a group
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from the University of Califomia st Berkebey led by Robert Gordon
Sproul, then president of the university. Sproul and his collesgues st
out to transfer a8 many students a3 possible o universities in the
interior. ™ Milton Esenbower, slio conterned shoot the problem, hed
contacted Clarence Fickett, 3 prominent (Quaker leader. Pickett re-
eruited & group of educstors, industrsksts aod culturs! leaders o form
the Nationa! Student Rrlocstion Council, which then srt sbout trans-
ferring students to other mstitutions =

Even with such impressnve support, numerows kinds of resistinee
to the program had to be cvercome. Many institutions refused to acorpt
evaruer students because the university was mvolved m war-related
rescarch ™ The students themselhves were sometimes harassed:

Al my first opportunity, in March, 1943, 1 left camp o attend

school m Milwaukes, Wisconsin. On my way to Mileaukee, T was

harassed by MPs checking for my 1D number and pass many times.

1 even got spat upon by some of the passengers on the train.

When I arrived in Milwaukee, | discovered that the engineering
school had misrepresented themselves and only wanted my money.
Then | moved to Chicago, Hllinois and with the help of American
Friends Service Committes, found a job (n a box factory. [ workesd
there for three months.

Then | tried to enroll in & school of engineering at the University
af Wlinois, but when T told them 1| was an evacues from camp,
they refused my admission, | told them of my WHA dearance,
but my protests went unheeded. Finally, | was acoepted at the
University of Michigan in Ann Arbor, because § listed my Chicago
sddress and did not mention internment. ™!

The federal grvernment pever supported thes students, ewcept
to subsidize travel. The magority were aided by private philanthropy,
et of it organized by varions Christian groups ™ Seversl evacooes
mentioned the efiorts of the American Friends Service Committes, ™

Nevertheless, some 250 students had left to sttend one of 143
collegrs and universities by sshumn 1942 ™ Eventually, the program
placed sbout 4,300 stodents. ™

The second ex=pe from the camgs was the srasonal lesve program
for farm labor. As carly o the beginning of April 1942, the WDC was
receiving requests to relesse evacuees for seasonal rm labor snd trying
to construct a policy ™ By early summer, the agricultural producers
had become increasingly concerned that, without help, the crops, par-
ticularly sugar beets, would be lost. At the beginning of May, they
petitioned the White House for help, and the agricultural Jeave pro-

grum began, ™
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The frst group of 15 evacuees was released on May 21 from the
Portland Assembly Center to help thin beets in castern Ovegon ™
The program had a number of requirements. Governors at the state
level. shertfi, presecuting sttorneys, commissioners and judges af the
county level, were required to pledgr in writing thet labor was needed
and that workers” safety woukd be guaranteed, employen were required
to Furnish trassportation znd bhed to pey provailing wages. evacoess
coulkd not be hired in place of svailsble local bor. The U.S. Employ-
ment Service in the aected counties sgreed 1o provide housing in the
ares of employment st no cost to evacoees. By the end of June, 1.500
workers had been recruited under the program. Incidents were fow
and minor, Because the evacnees were efficient and well-liked. “labor
pirating” by prospective emplovers oocurred. Contracts between em-
ployers and evacuee groups helped correct the problem. In September
the demand for seasonal workers from the coenlen increased enor-
mously; by mid-October, 10,000 evacuees were on seasonal leave, and
the demand well exceeded the supply.™™ When the harvest ended,
the Nisel were credited with having saved the sugar beet crops of
several western states, ™!

Although the WRA tried to ensure that employers made clear the
conditions in which evacuees would be working, ™ they were not al-
ways succesaful.

[Wihen we arrived there, we were met by a farmer supervisor

who led us to & large horse barn, one-third of which was filled

with hay. He told us this was where we were going to sleep.™

Our living quarters was a shack without running water, heated
by 1 coal stove, and we had to bathe in a ditch that was on the
farm. =

Deespite the gpusrantees. some evaruees on agricultural work leave also
encountrred hoatility from cormumunites in which they worked and
trovelled One evacuee was arrested and braten by policr while tran-
elling back to Poston ** Ancther describes bow local toughs made
teenage cvacuees cresd through the city park ** A survey of Manzanzr
returnees taken in Fall 1642 chowed that the majority believed the
Fﬂcﬂ'ﬂﬂrﬂd}'hﬂnw-if.ﬁ,m’"
Still, overall, the program was judged a sucoess. For the frmers,
crops were saved. For the evacuess, it was o chanor to get out of the
camp and to make more then camp wages, which was particularly
important for the many evacuees in increasing financial distress. *
The success of the student and sgricultural leave programs con-
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tributed to the decision to attempt resettlement on a larger scale.
Perheps even more important was the appointment of & new director,
On June 17, 1842, Eisenhowoer resigned;»® the President appointed a
new Director of WHA, Dillon Myer, who saw the program through to
its comclusion. Myer felt strongly that the evacuees should be released
and resettled, which ked him to make resettiement 8 WHRA priority, 0

Myer did not, however, simply return to the position that the
evacuees were free to leave the camps when and how they chose. On
July 20, the WRA issued a carefully circumseribed relocation policy
statement, which permitted relocation by Nisei who had never studied
in Japan and who had a definite offer of employment outside the camps,
The clewrance process, which involved the WHA, FBI and other federal
intelligence agencles, was lengthy, and eften job offers were cancelled
because clearance took s long. As a result, few evaruees were able
to relocate, ™1

In late July, the WHA established a stalf committes to work out
a more comprehensive policy, Importantly, one possibility considered
was an all-out program permitting any evacues to leave a center at his
or her own discretion, While this would have been ideal from a eivil
liberties standpoint, the lack of public understanding and the earlier
experience of the voluntary evacuwees made such a drastic policy seem
impractical both to WRA and to the Justice Department. ™2

The new rules, which became effective om October 1, 1942 3%
over WD ohjections, *** stopped far short of opening the center gates.
They allowed both Tssei and Nisei to apply and provided three kinds
of leave: short-term leave for up to 30 days (for example, for medical
purposes); work group leave (for sewsonal employment); and indefinite
leave for employment, education or indefinite residence outside the
relocation area. To obtain indefinite leave, which was in fact relocation,
a person had to show that he had a mesns of support and thet no
evidence in his files (either at the center or after a check by the FBI)
showed that he might endanger national security. He needed to show
his presence was likely to be acceptable where he planned to live, and
to agree to inform WHA of any change of address. Special provisions
applied to aliens of enemy nationality who were issued leave permits.

In his autobiography, Myer states that when these relocation reg-
ulations were issved, key WRA staff members were convinced that
such a leave policy was essential for a number of reasons: discriminatory
segregation would discourage lovalty; “wide and enforced deviation
from normal cultural and living patterns might very well have lasting
and unfivorable effects upon individuals, particulardy children wmd young
people;” the WHA had an obligation to the evacuees and to the people
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of the Undted States to restore loval citizens and law-abiding aliens to
“a normal wseful American life™ with all possible speed. confinement
in centers bred suspicion of evarmes; and oontinued confinement would
help foster & new set of reservabions similar to Indian reservations ™%
This was the voice of that side of WRA which s stself as the advocate
of japacese Amercan intevests, but, as usual, that voice did not spesk
supposed to be undey mrmed guad mnles the prvernment permitted
otherwne, md even thise relesced were grasted oohy Tedefate ke T
At least in theory, the government retained its control.

In mid-November 1942, WERA reorganised to refloct its increasing
emphasis on rescttiement. It brought most of its functions into the
Washisgton office snd estahlished & series of fiekd offices 1o expedite
the relocation process. Seven district offices had already opened in the
west; estabbished at first to supervise the seasonal work program, they
hegan now to promote indefinite leave. Midwestern field offices were
aleo establivhed, beginning on January 4, 1943, with an office in Chi-
cago. By 1643, 42 field offices were scattered throughout the country.
Myer deseribed their important jobs

In the early months these offices were primarily concerned with

ereating favorable community acceptance and in finding suitable

johs for evacuees and in working closely with community reset-
tlement committees. The officers gave talks to business, profes-
lhnll social, civic, church and fraternal met with
Muﬂhw the mid of unions,
ﬂhmﬂm-;ﬂ:hlhlmﬂmlﬂ]‘p—
mmmﬂhwmhhmnﬂ
carried on a public relations job in general ™
Organizing support among community groups and citisens to form local
resctthement committees was slen 8 WHA sk during the fll of 1942 %7
Church organizations in particoler were imvolved, ™ o was the Pacific
Coast Committer o Americss Principles and Fair Play, onganiaed in
1842 =

By the end of 1942 the WHA was firmby committed to s program
of beanve arwd resettbement Manpower demands were growmg. and the
agricultural and student lesve programs: hed gooe well Conditions in
ingly disafiected and the original plans for larpe-scale agriculture and
industry within the centers had been largely shandoned. Although the
indefinite leave programs had not been particulardy sucoesdful in re-
settling large numbers, the WRA was commitied to getting evacuess
out of the camps and into the war effort.
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Loyalty: Leave and Segregation

By October 1942, the government was holding over 100, 000 evacuees
in relocation conters. Evacustion had been an emergency measure,
but politics and the chimera of a threat to military security hod sen-
tenced the evacuees to indefinite confinement. They were still detained
although no individual charges had been, or could have been, made
against them. Supported by neither statute nor explicit executive order,
the legal basis for confining evacuees was plainly suspect. The human
toll the camps were taking was enormous—physical hardship, growing
anger toward the United States and deteriorating morale. The tide of
war turned with the American victory at the battle of Midway in June
1942 gndd 2 the possibility of Japanese attack grew more remote, the
military necessity for detention and exclesion became increasingly dif-
ficult to defend. Mevertheless, other than the WERA's incflective leive
program, the government had no plans to remedy the situation and
no means of distinguishing the loyal from the disloval—if it were in-
clined to do so. Total control of these civilians in the presurmed interest
of state security was rapidly becoming the sccepted norm

How would the government deal with this new status quo in the
fall of 18427 Having bowed to political pressure in deciding to eontral
and detsin the ethnic Japanese, what standard or test or presumption
was to be established to return the evacuees to liberty® Or would the
government embrace the proposition that, in wartime, total control of
suspect groups of civilians is justified and legally permissible?
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Commentators have characterized the exclusion and detention of
the ethnic Japanese as o triumph of military over civilian authority.?
As our account of the decisions to evacuate and detain makes clear,
this view is sccurate to a limited degree since the military was carrying
out a program largely conceived and promoted by civilian groups and
politicians. The friction between military and civilian interests is more
clearty seen in the decision of whether and how to end the detention.
Some in the Western Defense Command argued that there was a
military interest in restricting the release of the evacuees to these who
posed no conceivable military threat and, ultimately, that the Army
should prepare through planning and intelligence work to control large
groups of suspect civilians in any future war. The security of the state
should be paramount. The civilians at the top of the War Department
understood their responsibility differently; retumning the loyal evacuess
to normal life gutside a dotention camp should be the touchstone of
government policy and, since exclusion and detention rested on &
military justification, the War Department had to play an active role
in that effort. The WHA shared this view and had more liberal opinéons
on the indicia of Joyalty. It is a bitter irony that the loyalty review
program, which the WRA and the War Department established as the
predicate for release from the camps—the first major governmental
decizion in which the interests of the evacuees prevailed—was carried
out without sofficlent sensitivity or knowledge of the evacures. De-
signed to hasten their release, the program instead became one of the
mast divisive, wrenching episodes of the captivity.

McCLOY AND THE NISEI COMBAT TEAM

The government decision makers closest to the evacuees increasingly
believed that wholesale confinement was not justified or acceptable.
DinquM}wEhvnglyheldﬂlhﬁewmdmnlmd}'huldngfmwys
to achieve large-scale resettlement. Milton Eisenhower had never been
comfortable with the program. Now in the fall of 1942 John ]. MeCloy
also adopted this view as the matter was raised with him in the context
of whether evacuees should be permitted to serve in the Army,
Omee the decision to evacuste was made and the WERA had taken
custody of the evacnees, Stimsom and McCloy had largely left the
treatment of Japanese Americans to others. The Nisel in the Army,
their only immediate concern, were few because the Selective Service
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had stopped induction at about the time of the evacuation.® In Feb-
ruary, making the decision to evaruate, Stimson and MeCloy had relied
heavily on DeWitt, ignoring the contrary views of the FBI and failing
to seek other opinions. Since then McCloy had begun to study the
matter and to hear that most evacwees were Joval, that they wanted
to et out of the camps and prove their loyalty, and that they could
asgist the war effort.® He was persusded by what he heard and believed
it should be applied to War Department decisions.,

Allowing the Nisei to serve would reverse a policy which had
evolved over the previous year. On December 7, 1841, about 5,000
young MNisei from Hawaii and the mainland were in the Army, the
majority having been drafted.* Immediately after Pearl Harbor, the
Selective Service delegated discretiom for the induction of Japanese
Americans to local draft boards. Some Nisel volunteers were accepted,
but the induction of others was delayed.® During the late winter and
early spring of 1942, local draft boards became increasingly reluctant
to draft Nisei. The center of discriminatory practice was again the West
Coast. & War Department order of March 30, 1842, discontinued the
induction of Nisei on the West Coast.” Enlisted Japanese Americuns
found themselves in a precarious situation. The personal attitude of
their commanding officer was decisive; some Nisei stayed in service,
while pthers were discharged without explanation.”

No dear-cut Selective Service policy was established to evaluate
the status of draft-age Japanese Americans until June 17, 1942, when
the War Department announced that it would not, aside from excep-
tional cases, “accept for service with the armed forces Japanese or
persons of Japanese extraction, regardless of citizenship status or other
factors.™ In July, 8 War Department Board convened to examine Nisei
induction, and “no immediate change in War Department policy was
made except for selected individuals proeurred [sic] for special pur-
poses.”™ On September 14, the Selective Service adopted regulations
prehibiting Nised induction, and classifying registrants of Japanese an-
cestry IV-C, the status of enemy allens. Previously, many drafi-sge
Nisei had been reclassified from I-A to IV-F, unsuitable for military
service. !

McCloy had favored using Nisei in the military since at least May
184211 By fall, opinions supporting his position were beginning to
trickle in. Delos Emmons, the commander in Hawaii, was particularly
persuasive, arguing that the Nisei would make “grand soldiers.”™"? His
opinion was substantiated by the excellent performance of the all-MNised
Hawaii National Guard group then in training at Camp McCoy. ** Nised
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the issue with the President. In order to establish the legitimate in-
terest of the OWI, Davis characterized the issue as one of war pro-
paganda and asked the President to intervene and authorize the en-
listment of Japanese Americans. His memorandum also reflected the
debate’s humanitarian overtones:

Laoyal American citizens of Japanese descent should be permitted,

after individual test, to enlist in the Army and Navy, It would

hardly be fair to evacuate people and then impose normal draft
procedures, but voluntary enlistment would help a lot.
This matter is of great interest to OWL Japanese propaganda

to the Philippines, Burma, and elsewhere insists that this is a
ragial war. We can combat this efectively with counter propaganda
only if our deeds permit us to tell the truth, Moreover, as citizens
ourselves who believe deeply in the things for which we fight, we
cannot help but be disturbed by the insistent public misunder-
standing of the Nisei, .,

As Davis and Eisenhower no doubt expected, the memorandum
was referred to Secretary Stimson for comment. McCloy set out to
persuade Stimson and General Marshall of the wisdom of his position.
Dismissing the War Department study as too narrow, McCloy made
three major points: almaost everyone agreed that most Nisei were loyal;
citizens had s fundamental right to serve their country; and enlistment
would have an important psycholegical effect internationally. ™ Stimson
took little convincing and sent Marshall a handwritten note which read
in its entirety:

T am inclined strongly to agree with the view of McCloy and Davis,

1 don't think you can permanently proscribe a lot of American

citizens because of their racial origin. We have gone to the fill

limit in evacuating them. That's enough,®

Meanwhile, the careerists were reviewing their previous findings.
Their September recommendstions against Nisei combat service had
not been unanimous and, with indications that their civilian leadership
was tending in the other direction, they revised their conclusions. On
December 16, the general staff seat Marshall 2 memorandum advo-
eating an all-Nisei combat team. =

The new recommendations were approved by Marshall on January
L. 1843.® In testimony before the Commission, McCloy recalled: 1
encountered opposition from everybody except those on my immediate
stafl and General Marshall. 1 went to General Marshall who then
ordered the wnit formed, ™

On January 2, 1943, & committes was convened by Deputy Chief
of Staff McNarney and told that some evacuees might be released. The
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committor’s job wan to "determine by what means Japanese- Americans
of the Nisei clmss may be relessed from war relocstion centers, and, il
refemsed, what disposition may be made of them. ™ A weck later, the
committes reported back, recommending the procedure that -
matedy prevaded

A questemraire for Japanese A merrsns would be devised to reveal
“tendencies of loyalty or disloyalty to the United States. ™ including
questions shout the background and affilisties of the Nisei, and also
soliciting & pledge of loyalty to the United States. Teams of Army
perumne! would supervise exeomtion of the ke st the relocstion
centers. Copies of the questionnaires for males within the age limits
for military service would be sent o military intelligence to decide
who should be inducted. The remaining questionnaires would go to
the Frovost Marshal General's office which would check with the FBI
and Noval Intelligence and evaluate the answers given. Then the ques-
tionnaires would be shipped to the Western Defense Command for
investigation.

The second phase of the program would be handled by a Joint
Board, (ncluding representatives of the Navy, WHRA, military intelli-
gence and the Provost Marshal General, which would decide whether
the individual might be relessed from the relocation center and whether
he might be employed in & plant important 0 the war effort. ™ The
Board's mission was subsequently amended to make the Board's de-
termination on relesse advisory to the WHA, which retalned fnal au-
tharity.* The Joint Board retained power to decide whether an indi-
vidual would be allowed 1o work in & war production facility.

The Joint Board was comorived & & way to svold multiple imves-
tigations. Individuals who had been mvestigated and released by the
WEA wrre being reimvestigated by the Army sector commander after
they reached their destination. This inefficient process abo handi-
capped the wriving evacuee by branding him suspiciom. The Board
woishd pow ik the ooly imvestigation.

The WRA had not been involeed in the War Department’s plan-
ning.** Upon kearning of the forthcoming registration, carly in Jamuary,
the WEA proposed that the process be enlarged to cover all persons
over 17 years of age, including the lsei This step, they believed,
would expedite the existing besve cearance process which took so long
that promised jobs were sometimes gone before the evacuee was re-
leased. By msking everyone to 6l out the form, the WRA reasoned,
much of the investigative work could be done before the evacues was
actually ready to leave. The WHA thus prepared a companion ques-
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thionnaire, titled “Application for Leave Clearunce,” to be filled out by
the Issei and Nisei females.™ The entire review program was vehe-
mently but unsuccessfully opposed by DeWitt and the Western De-
fense Command, who remained firmly persuaded that the loyval could
not be distinguished from the disloyal. ® The War Department rejected
these views and prepared to go forward with the WRA on the broad
program of loyalty review and release.
Secretary Stimson announced the new policy on the combat team:
1t is the inherent right of every citizen, regardless of ancestry, to
bear arms in the Nation's battle. When obstacles to the free expres-
sion of that right are imposed by emergency considerations, thase
barriers should be remeved as soon as humanly possible. Loyalty
to country is & voice that must be heard, and [ am now ahle to
give active proof that this basic American belief is not a casuakty
of war. ™
There was also a letter from the President, released the following week,
approving the combat teamn. With a fine disregard for past treatment
of the Nisei, Roosevelt proclaimed:
Mo loyal citizen of the United States should be denied the dem-
ocratic right to exercise the responsibilities of his citizenship, re-
gardless of his ancestry. The principle on which this country was
founded and by which it has always been governed is that Amer-
icanism is 8 matter of the mind and heart; Americanism is not,
and never was, a matter of race or ancestry, A good American is
one who is loyal to this country and to our creed of liberty and
democracy. Every loyal American citizen should be given the
opportunity to serve this country wherever his skills will make
the greatest contribution—whether it be in the ranks of our armed
forces, war production, agriculture, government service, or other
work essential to the war effort, ™

The first significant steps to end detention had been taken,

RECISTRATION

By Febroary 6, ten teams of Army officers, enlisted men and WHA
staff, trained for this assignment, were on the way to the relocation
centers.™ The questionnaires they carried sought background infor-
mation, but also asked two prospective questions. Question 27 asked
draft-age males: “Are you willing to serve in the armed forces of the
United States on combat duty, wherever ordered?” For others, in-
chuding the Issei and women, it asked whether they would be willing
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to join the WACs or the Army Nurse Corps. Question 25 was the
loyalry question:

Wil yous rwenr ungualified allegiance to the United States of Americs

dﬂhﬂydﬁ&rmmﬁmw-ﬂ-ﬂh

forrign or domestic forces, sad forswear any form of allegince or
obedience o the Japanese emperor, or any other foreign povers-
ment, power or i Tand

The regstration teams arriving st the centers during the first
weels of February 1943 found 2 hostile sudience. In the past yeas,
evaruees had endured the evarustion, the sssembly centers and the
relocation camps. Living conditions were poor, their lives outside the
centers had disintegrated, and the government had broken many prom-
ises. Congressmen in Washington continued to agitate for stripping
the Nisei of citizenship. Disturbances at Foston and Manzanar during
the two previous months showed tensions that existed to some degree
at all the camps. It was not surprising that many were resdy to question
any government action that might aflect thelr future, ™ and there was
considerable sentiment for putting the claims of family ahead of those
af country,

It became rapidly apparent that the government had not thought
through the implications of the Jayalty review progrim. Not only was
the program forced on the evacuees with no notice and with few an-
swers to important questions, but the documents themselves were
flawed. The evacures did not know how their responses would be
used ! Particularly critical to the Issei was Question 25 on loyalty. The
question was both unfair and unanswerable bocavse it called upon the
by lew from becoming United States citizens. To answer it affirms-
tively, they argued. would have made them “men without 3 country. ™%
ﬂlhmumlw*ﬂhm
&m-‘-hﬁ-ﬂm—pmu—ﬂ-.m-rii_
The WEA quickly cormectrd the question 1o avoid forcing bssei to make
such & Holwon's choice, @ but suspicion and distrust bngered. There
was confiosion sbout the program and its basic intent. The document
for Issei and women was titled ~Application for Leave Clearance. ™ Did
this mean, asked many, that they would be forced to leave the center®
They had lost their bomes and property; with no sssets were they pow
to be abandoned by the government in hostile communities? One
evacuer described this dilemms:

Ome can understand a situation of the hesd of & househald, his

livelihood taken away, having to face the possibility of earning a
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the Japanese Emperor required admitting that they had once had such
an allegiance, *
Mot anly had our government disregarded our citizenship but put
us behind barbed wire, but now was asking these same citizens

to foreswear [sic] allegiance to the Emperor of Japan and to swear
allegiance to the United States as if at one time all of us had sworn

allegiance to the Japanes: Emperor,*

Then, there was the insult of being asked to fill out another ques-
tionnaire which implicitly doubted one’s lovalty, To many, their earlier
compliance with the orders to evacuate and to be confined in the
relocation centers had sufficiently shown their lovalty, ®

Still, despite reservations, most answered that they were loyal,
Some retained their faith in the United States; some felt that, whatever
happened, their future lay here; some simply wanted to leave camp.

[M]y family all wrote “yes, yes.” There is a Japanese saying, “umi-

no-oya-yori mo sodate po ova,” meaning, “your adoptive parents

are your real parents, ™

[TIn my case 1 registered “ves, ves” because | felt that this is
the only country 1 have. ™

In those centers where good relations between government au-
thorities and evacuees had fostered a sense of trust in the government,
& higher proportion of evacuees were willing to state their loyalty,
Minidoks, for example, had the highest number of positive responses.
There, the project director consulted with & aumber of Issei leaders
before any meetings on the loyalty questionnaire. Some of the lssei
participated in the meetings, and thorough discussion followed. **

At the other extreme was Tule Lake. There, discussion was cursory
and no time was allowed for discussion from the floor. When registra-
tion was to begin, many evacuees were unwilling to fill out question-
naires. After the administration announced that registration was com-
pulsory, there were still refusals and resistance, Gangs formed to prevent
others from registering and, eventually, a group of resisters were re-
moved from the center. Finally, the community council and Tssei plan-
ning board resigned. ™ Frank Kageta described his experience at Tule
Lake:

The most tragic, as well as traumatic, event that happened during

my stay in Tule Lake that still remains with me: is the questionnaire

with the loyalty cath that was required of all of us to answer. 1

have never even mentioned this to my children, This, as you may

know, was a controversial document that affected each of us 17

years of age or older, in one way or another, We were forced into
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concentration camps by the government, and then we were being

forced into taking a loyalty cath. Furthermore, at this point there

was no indication as to what the consequences would be for re-
fusing. We had area block meetings on the issue. Bumors were
numerous and sinister. We voted, st that tiine, as a block, not to
sign the loyalty cath. Soon after we voted not to sign this docu-
ment, based solely on rumors, | was pointedly accused by-my
peers as having been seen going to the administration office to
gign the guestionnaire, Our family got together after this ugly
imgi:?ntmdtuldﬂumtlmlludmgtmmsipﬂmmhy
oath.

Registration at Tule Lake was never completed,™ approximately 3,000

ultimately refused to register,™

Despite the turmaoil, the WRA judged the program a success. The
agency acquired the background data to expedite leave clearance, and
1,206 volunteers for the Army had been recruited. ™ Although this was
& small proportion of the 10,000 eligible that the War Department had
estimated,™ and fell short of the 3,000 that it had expected to recruit,
the WHA judged that those who had volunteered represent=d “the
cream of the draft-age group. ™ By WRA's count, 77,957 residents had
been eligible to register, of whom 68,018 (57%) had answered the
loyalty question with an ungualified “yes.” OF the remaining %,939,
about 5,300 had answered “no,” and the rest had failed to register,
failed o answer the loyalty gquestion, or qualified their loyalty in some
way. Helatively few were umwilling to profess their loyalty. Stll, pov-
ernment planners were disturbed to find that over 20 percent of the
Mised males were in the negative category. Of the approximately 21,000
Nisei males eligible to register, about 4,600 answered the lovalty ques-
tion with a “no,” & qualified answer or no reply,

Although the Western Defense Command interpreted the results
a3 a vindication of its position that there were many disloyal evacuers,®
ather observers looked behind the responses for reasons, Certainly
some evacuees wanted to g0 to Japan and serve that country.® But,
for many, the ressons for answering “no” had little to do with loyalty.
As Dillon Myer explained it, the negative answers meant many things.
They were the answers of people unhappy st the way they had been
treated, enraged at the government, and discouraged sbout their future
in the United States.” Testimony before the Commission supports
Myer's conclusion—the loyalty questionnaire demanded a personal
expression of position from each evacuee, a choice between fuith in
the future in America and outrage st present injustice. Most evacuees
probably had deeply-ambiguous feelings about a government in whose
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rhetorical values of liberty and equality they wanted to believe, but
who found their present trestment s painful contradiction of those
values. The loyalty questionnaire left litle room to express that am-
biguity. Indeed, it provided an effective point of protest and organi-
zation against the government, from which an increwsing number of
evacuees felt alicnated. The gquestionnaire finally raised the central
guestion underlying exclusion policy, the loyalty issue which had dom-
inated the political and personal lives of the Nildei for the past year.
Questions 27 and 25 forced evacuees to confront the conflicting emo-
tions aroused by their relation to the government:
I answered both questions number 27 and 28 in the negative, not
because of disloyalty but doe to the disgusting and shabby treat-
ment given us. A few months after completing the questionnaire,
U.5. Army officers appeared st our camp and gave us an interview
to confirm our answers to the questions, and followed up with a
question that in essence was asking: “Are you going to give up or
rengunce your U8, citizenship?” to which 1 promptly replied in
the affirmative as a rebellious move. Sometime after the interview,
a form letter from the Immigration and Naturalization Service
arrived saying if | wanted to renounce my U.S. citizenship, sign
the form letter and return, Well, I kept the Inumigration and
Naturalization Service waiting. ™
Well, T am one of those that said “no, no™ on them, one of the
“ne, no” boys, and it is not that 1 was proud about it, it was just
that our legal rights were violated and T wanted to fight back.
However, 1 didn’t want to take this sitting down. 1 was really
angry. 1k just got me so damned mad. Whatever we do, there was
no help from outside, and it seems to me that we are o race that
doesn't count. So, therefore, this was one of the reasons for the
“mo, no” answer.™
Personal responses o the questionnaire inescapably became pub-
lic acts open to comeunity debate and serutiny within the closed world
of the camps. This made difficult choices excruciating.
After 1 volunteered for the service, some people that 1 knew
refused to speak to me. Some older people later questioned my
father for letting me volunteer, but be told them that 1 was old
enough to make up my own mind. ™
[Tlhe resulting infighting, beatings, and verbal abuses left fun-
ilies torn apart, parents against children, brothers against sisters,
refatives against relatives, and friends against friends. So bitter
was all this that even to this day, there are many amongst us who
do not speak about that period for fear that the same harsh feelings
might arise up again to the surface,™
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Becanse of the incarcerations, here | was, a 19-year-old, having
tnmalaeadecirionﬂhtwmid-&etdmwe]&mdt}:wlmhfmﬂr
K1 signed, “no, no,” I would throw swiry my citizenship and foree
my sisters and brother to do the same. Being the oldest son and
being brought up in the Japanese tradition, it was up to me to
take: care of my parents, sisters, and brother, It was about & mile
to the administration building. I can still remember vividly, Every
step I took, I questioned myself, shall 1 sign it “no, no,” or "no,
yest” The walk scemed like it took hours and then when [ got
there, & colonel asked me the first question and 1 cursed him and
answered, “no.” To me, he represented the powers that put me
in this predicament. T answered “yes” to the second question, In
my 37 years, | have never had to make such a difficult decision
as that. ™
The response to the call for Army volunteers in Hawail, where
there was no substantial exclusion or detention, underscores the efects
of the exclusion program. There, nearly 10,000 Nisei voluntecred—
one third of those of draft age, although the Hawaiian quota had been
set at only 1,500.™
The registration process, conceived by the War Department and
WEA as a deamatic step toward freedom, had become for many evac-
uees their bitterest experience in the camps.

LOYALTY REVIEW

With the ambiguous results of the loyalty questionnaire in hand, the
government began to decide who should leave the camps. The WHRA's
leave policies had been in effect for several months, It was now ready
to modify these. The War Department was not content to leave this
matter to the WHA. Despite the continuing protestations that evacuees
were a matter for the civilian WRA, the Wir Department plan of
January 1943 called for the formation of a Japanese American Joint
Board (JAJBl—a largely military body—which would also have a hand
in deciding whom to release. While the WRA would retain ultimate
authority, the JAJB would recommend individual releases,

In devising a release poliey after a year of war the justification for
the evacuation and detention—military necessity—required reexami-
nation, Logic suggests that the appropriste course would have been
to have recognized that no threat to security existed in 1843 (whether
or not it ever had), and to have thrown open the gates of the camps.
No one, however, advocated this position. Tt would have created a
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public relations problem and perhaps mised doubt about the original
decigion to evacuate—both unpalatable. Two choices rematned: one,
to determine that the security risk still outweighed the right to indi-
vidual liberty and, thus, to release as few people as possible. This was,
in essenge, the view of the WDC, which had never conceded the
validity of the lovalty program. The other alternative was to find a
compromise to balance the claims of security and liberty in individual
cases, This was the position adopted by the JATB and WHRA. But, lacking
common assumptions or precedent to guide their task, and having
differing views on the matter, the two agencies found actual decisions
about leave comfusing, inconsistent and a cause of friction,

The Western Defense Command

O January 14, DeWitt first learned of the loyalty review program.
For months, he had argoed that the War Department’s responsibility
on Japanese American issues had ended with the exclusion from the
West Coast; now the loyalty review program undermined DeWitt's
fundamental premise that the loval could not be separated from the
disloyal. Bejection of that premise implied that the War Department
was reversing DeWitt and his policy. Worse still from DeWitt's point
of view, it would be difficult to sustain the exclusion of certified loyal
evacuees from the Western Defense Command. DeWitt and Bendet-
sen turned to defeating the plan. They failed, but they did not change
their minds, DeWitt and his associates remained firm in their belicf
that the evacuees were a risk to security. As long as they believed that
the loval could not be separated from the disloyal, they would find all
ethnic Japaness suspect. Far from rethinking their position, they worked
to substantiate it through a project designed to demonstrate “danger”
from the ethnic Japanese,

The WDC research project began in 1942 to remedy the dearth
of information oo individual evacuees.™ [t was designed too to collect
adverse information om as many ethnic Japanese as possible. The proj-
ect’s approach was to collect masses of material on the Japanese Amer-
AN community—oewspapers, immigraton records, magazines and
pamphlets of evacuee organizations—and to use it to identify dangerous
organizations and individuals. For example, four [apanese language
newspapers were analyeed from 1937 to 1942, information thus gained
about organizations and their members were noted in individual files.
Upon deciding that an organization was suspect, for example, because
it had sent money to Japan to support the Russo-Japanese War, the
WDC would identify all members of the organization and label them
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suspicious as well. From there, it might implicate their close relatives.
The idea was to investigate an entire population and to evaluate jn-
dividuals not by their statements or illegal acts but primarily by their
affiliations and travel patterns. From records of entirely legal prewar
activities, the WDC tried to evaluate an individual's potential risk to
military security. The: task was mammoth, the method crode and, by
the WDC’'s own admission, fraught with error. After two and & half
vears, shortly after General Emmons took over the Western Defense
Command, the research project remained incomplete but was halted
due to insufficient manpower.

The most notable festure of the WDC project was the extraor-
dinarily large effort it devoted to extracting & minimum of useful in-
formation. There is no indication that it uncovered evidence of criminal
activity, much less espionage or sahotage. The entire project was hased
on dubious assumptions. The fnding that 40% of adult Nisei had been
to Japan at some time is important only if one accepts the assumption
that those who went to Japan were potentially danperous:™ that there
were 20,704 accounts of fixed deposits (similar to savings certificates)
in Japanese banks is irrelevant unless fixed deposits are linked to se-
curity risk.™ The connection WDC attemnpted to make between care-
fully researched material and security risk was simply not credible.

Nevertheless the WIDC did not abandon its fundamental premise
that individuals could be judged by the organizations and programs in
planning should be devoted to the task. The WDC urged that the
military be better prepared for the next erisis and recommended, in
its postwar analysis of the program,

That there be created a peacetime unit within the Federal gov-

ernment charged with the continued study and research relative

to all organizations with foreign connections within the United

States. This unit should be small, but composed of highly trained

personnel who will have access to all intelligence information. In

wartime this personnel should form the nucleus of a central or-

That complete planning be instituted by the War Department
as to necessary civilian controls in the event of a future war, upon
the assumption that the next war will involve a large portion of
our civilian population from the outset. The planning should in-
clude types of controls, the mechanics of putting the control into
force, the methods of notification, and the means of enforcement. ™

The WD did not finch from the conclusion that they were urging
ahandonment in wartime of the normal protections of American con-
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stitutional government. In the view of the WDC, the review and
eontrol of civilians who presented some security question might well
require other methods:

Oune of the most fundamental parts of the problem is that Amer-
icans, having been trained under our Common Law system of
courts and juries, are strongly imbued with the idea that deter-
minations by courts and juries are not only reasenably accurate
but also that they completely solve a specific problem, and that
a problem, having once been decided by a jury, cannot be re
opened under the double jeopardy theory of our law. This un-
questionably is the reason so many people felt that hearing or
screening boards could easily have examined the records of the
members of the Japanese population and satisfactorily separited
the sheep from the goats, At the same time, they would be quite
undisturbed by the fact that possibly some who should have been
goats were labelled as sheep. It is a real guestion whether in
wartime we can afford to protect our peace and security by these
quite: slipshod determinatidns. Ordinarily in peacetime, if a crim-
inal, who has committed 8 theft or some crime of violence, has
been avquitted, there is little likelihood that the public as 8 whole
will be penalized for this inaccurate judgement of the court or
jury, for such a criminal will only again commit a crime probably
affecting one member of society; but in the case of gne committing
espionage or sabotage, the effect upon the population as a whole
is quite different. The furnishing of a vital piece of nformation to
the enemy may affect thousands of lives, rather than just ome
individual. . . . So the guestion has to be asked whether our
Common Law system of trial by jury for an individua) crime is
sufficiently sstisfactory in the situation under discussion here.

Another phase of our court system that works well enough in
the eves of the majority in peacetime, but which has to be re-
examined in time of war, is the theory that the jury can onlv be
composed of people who have formed no opinion about the trial
at issue, for otherwise a jury member either will be removed for
cause or pre-emptorily [sic] challenged by either side. . .

The theory that any reasonably honest and intelligent person is
capable of passing judgment upon many complex factors is cer-
tainly open to severe question in the case of making determinations
in the interest of the peace and security of the country in time of
war. ™

The WD went the additional step of suggesting a citizen edu-
cation program to condition the public to accept such deprivations of
due process in a future war,

In essence, the WDC was willing to advocste military control of
civilians in wartime: unfettered by rormal constituliomal restraints. Having
prejudged the loyalty of Japanese Americans on the flimsiest evidence,
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they also believed the United States should begin a continuing program
of domestic intelligence-gathering to make judgments about which
civilizns should be “controlled” in future wars, The interests of state
security would predominate over the civil liberties of suspect citizens,
even if there were no basis for criminal charges against them. This
would truly exalt military suthority in war over every traditional pro-
tection of American government.

The Japanese American Joint Bosrd

The JAIB, composed almost entirely of representatives of the
military intelligence agencies, had remendous difficulties from the
start in administering the loyalty review. Indeed, in asttacking the
lovalty program, General DeWitt had pointed out one omission in
planning symptomatic of JAJR's entire effort. If the Joint Board were
presented with an individual on whom it had no information, asked
DeWitt, would it presume boyalty and recommend release of that
individual, or presume disloyalty and recommend continued confine-
ment# ™

Under normal circumstances, n.slung such a gquestion sbout United
States citizens would be absurd, but the question was important now.
Whatever the original intent, the Bet of exclusion and detention worked
as a presumption against Nisei loyalty and innocence. Ifthe Joint Board
presumed innocence, then the government would be reversing its
previous position, implicitly admitting that its earlier assumption of
potential danger had been wrong. As DeWitt put it

If the presumption is favorable to loyalty then the federal gov-

ernment would seem to be embarrassing its original position that

evicuation was a military necessity. This follows because it was
the fundamental premise that Japanese lovalties were unknown

or doubtful, *

If, on the other hand, the Joint Board were to remain consistent
and presume probable danger, the procedure would become unwaork-
able. As DeWitt expressed it:

1f the presumption is unfivorable to loyalty then the chances of

determining the loyvalty of any substantial segment will probahly

be low. This is because there is a great dearth of positive infor-
mation on the majority of Nisei. There are two reasons for this:

(1} Only the Japanese themselves know the answers and (2) the

Misei Japanese are mostly too young to have any records, . . - The

resultant inability to establish the loyalty of any substantial seg-

ment of Nisei may unonecessarily embarrass the government.

In fact, the problem was even more difficult than DeWitt thought,
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Proving lovalty would be impossible in any circumetaness. Unlike prov-
ing disloyalty, which involves showing only one disloyal act, proving
loyalty wénld require exploring & person’s entire life o show the ah-
sence of dinboval scts Undertaking voch » task for even 3 small groop,
ket alose tres of thousands, would be bopelenly expensne and time-
TR

That the JAJB nover answered then fundamental question spesls
volurnes abowt its effort. Rather thas face the hard questions., it SBoun-
dered, trying various systems o determine the “dengrrousness” of
each everuee A point system Giled s did & system of avagning ceses
to indreidual members of the Board. Finally, an rver changing sestem
was adopted that woukd bring an adverse recommendation # any one
of & number of “factors™ were present. The factors™ included whether
the person was Kibei: whether he refused to register; whether be was
a leader in any organization controfled or dominated by aliens; and
whether he had substantial fived deposits in Japan.™ By adopting this
approsch, the JA]B was spared having to find an illegal or even disloyal
sct ms the buds of recommending continued confinement. Instead,
imdividual charascteristics and legal acts became cavse for a finding of
“dungerousness.”

After abiit a year of making such determinations as well as doing
its ather work of clearing lsborers for vital war plants (an equally
uncertain venture), the JAJB was finally terminsted. It had handled
nearly 36,000 cases and made over 25,000 recommendations for leave
chesrance ™ (O 12,600 recommendations against relesse, the WDC
reported that the WHA ignorod hall sand relessed the peophe anyway. ™
That no espionage or sabotags occurred among this group of over 6,000
released despite JAJB objection sugprsts the doubtful value of the
JAJE's work. Clearly, it crred on the side of security, once again ©
the detriment of evarmess

The WHRA

Compared to the WDC or the JA]B, the WHA pursued a Eberal
course, althowgh its policies contmued to compromes>s indinadm! ol
Lbertics. At the beginning of 1943 WHA policy was a teo-step process:
the Pvacuee needed both “leave dearance ™ —whach required 3 fndmg
that he was not a danger tn national security—and & “leave permit™—
which would be issued if WHA was satisfied with the resettlement
arrangements he had made.™ The policy’s central disadvantage was
the extended time it took o process individual evacuses.

With the results of the mass registration in hand, WRA moved o
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from Washington, it allowed project directors o grant leave to those
comsitdersd unquestionably loyal ® In March 1843, a financial sid sys-
tem was instituted. Although the grants were minimal—about §25.00
per person plus transportation costs, they did provide some assist-
ance ™ A leave dearance review was established in the summer of
1943 for those who had some adverse information in their fle. Prin-
cipally these were cases in which Cruestion 28 had not been answered
with an unqualified “yes;” where repatriation or expatriation had been
asked, or there was an adverse report from an intelligence agency or
the JAJB.™ Using this system, 16,000 evacuees left the coenters on
indefinite leave during 1843 in addition to 5,000 seasonal farm workers
and a sumber of students.™ Not one case of espionage or sabotage was
reported among these evacoees, ™

In early 1944, two changes in leave regulations were made, again
to encourage resettlement. Agricultural work leaves were restricted in
order to encourage indefinite leaves. Indefinite leave for a four-month
trial period was made available, with no retum to centers allowed
during that time. Retum was permitted only during the two months
following the initial four.® Before December 1944, 18,500 more evac-
uees left the centers on indefinite leave, ™

Despite the government’s cautious Jeave decisions, WHRA contin-
ved to have political problems with relocation. In April, Mayor Fiorello
LaGuardia of New York objected to Under Secretary Fortas about the
number of Japanese Americans who could come into the city. Fortas
told LaGuardia that barring relocatees from New York would imme-
diately become a natioowide issue and would be vigorously opposed
by organizations throughout the country which were interested in hu-
mane, decent handling of these people. In addition, a prohibdition
would adversely affect the fate of American citizens, including New
Yorkers, interned in Japan; it would also be used by the Japaness in
anti-American racial propaganda® LaGuardia raised the old cry to
haunt every government resettlement effort since the exclusion de-
cision: “1f it was necessary to evacuate themn from their homes originally
and put them in a concentration camp, what justification is there for
turning them loose in Eastern cities at this time? If Washington, Or-
cgon, and California do not want them, what right has the Federal
government in placing them in New York?™

Continuing public hostility was reflected in WRA policies. In Feb-
ruary 1944, Dillon Myer wrote the Attorney General explaining WRA's
leave regulations; he stressed that the WHRA had eonsidered permitting
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people with leave cdearance to leave the centers at any time, instesd
of requiring them to show some means of support and a good chance
of community acceptance: i
We decided, however, that it was not administratively wise to
take that course. The enemics of the relocation program could
eusily distort such an action on our part and picture it as a dan-
gerous relaxation of controls in disregard of the national fnterest
in time of war.

If the Supreme Court should bold that detention of such an
evacuee under such circumstances is imvalid, the very fact of the
Court's decision would serve to provide public justification for
such a change in the program. 1 believe, thercfore, that com-
munities generally throughout the Nation would continee to be
willing to receive evacuees alter such a Court decision, whereas
the storm thal might attend an administrative change of the Reg-
uhitions in this respect might very well seriously retard the re-
location

program.

This is one case where | strongly believe that it is more desirable
to have the change made as a result of 3 Court decision than a
result of unforced administrative action, ™

The Executive now hoped that the Supreme Court would kill the
monster it had created,

LEAVING THE CAMFS

Muost evaruees found beginning a new life difficult; many were unen-
thusiastic aboul the prospect. A mid-1943 WHA survey gave the rea-
sons: unertainty about public reaction; lack of funds or information
about conditions; fear of nability to support onesell and family; and
fear of failing to find adequate housing.*™ Many had come to view the
camps as refuges and would prefor to stay where their most basic needs
would be supplied.™ The young were most willing to lesve. Seven of
every ten individuals leaving the camps in 1843 and 1944 were between
15 and 35, Many were women, Those who came from the northwest
were more willing to resettle than the Californians. ™ Those who left
found that, while their experience was fundamentally peaceful, it was
not without incident and hardship *® Some faced housing diserimdnation ™
and cramped guarters. '

[Wle could not get housing. It is eritical for anyone, but for Jap-

anese and someone with a child—we have walked miles and miles
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every day, dragging Linda here and there, snatching a few hours

for & nap here, carrying her there, looking for a place to stay, 1™
MMMMMWJmmﬂm
and ended up working at menial or low-paying jobs,"™ depriving the
country of skills needed during the war. "™

The uncertain period of resettlement was not easy for my family.

My older sisters worked st low paying jobs. For four years, we

lived in a one bedroom apartment that boused five of us. 1™
In a few places, there were incidents. In New York City, for example,
the establishment of a hostel in Brooklyn met local resistance that was
eventually overcome, ™ May Ichida described her experience in Cleve-
land:

Chur two soms were immediately placed in public schools and the

experience of being a resettled person was compounded with jeer-

ing remarks and fights, '™

The WRA made some effort to help ovacuees resettle, as did
severa] church groups. "™ The WHRA opened field offices in key castern
and midwestern cities designed to creste community acceptance and
find jobs that evacuees might fill. They worked with rescttlement
committees set up by concerned individuals and groups, particularly
the churches, " By mid- 1843, church groups were running hostels for
short-term living space in four midwestern cities. '

Although the evacuees moved to many cities, particularly Denver
and Salt Lake City,"'® Chicago became the center of resettlement.
There was less discrimination there, integration into the larger Can-
casian community was easier, and jobs were plentiful. As word of
conditions in Chicago filtered hack to the camps, the midwest becume
a favored area. When the exclusion ended, Chicago was the only re-
settlement community from which there was no mass exodus to the
West Coast. "™

The evacuees leaving in 1943 and 1944 took all manner of jobs.
A few had enough capital to begin their own businesses, "™ although
not all were successfol.

{W)e relocated to Brigham City, Utah, and worked at the Brigham

City Laundry and Dry Cleaning Company. Because my uncle

wanted to get back to farming which was his profession, we moved

to American Fork, Utah, in 1946, to try farming one more time.

That summer we planted cnions, cabbage and celery. As it tumed

out, this was a fissco, In the fall, while we were still harvesting

the crops, heavy frost came early and destroyed the cabbage erop,
destroyed the celery crop. If it was not for the onions, we would
have come out of there poverty-stricken. The summer’s hard labor
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was all for naught. By Christrmas 1846, we were hack at Brigham
City, my uncle and mother going back to laundry jobs. Mother

I lived in a one bedroom apartment in the heart of the city
ahove the ].C. Penney Company, rat infested, roach infested. We
lived like a poverty-stricken downtrodden ghetto dweller, Mother
cooked on a two burner kerosene stove. [ had the bedroom and

mother slept on the couch, 15
Most went to work for others. Seabrook Farms in New Jersey, the
largest single employer of ethnic Japanese, took 1,500 workers [nto
farming and processing food.""® Several evacvees recalled the long
hours, eamp-like conditions, and hostility from surrounding commu-
npities that marked Seabrook, 117

Most who went to the larger cities were employed in industry,
although white-collar work was also available. "™ Departing from pre-
war patterns, most evacuees did not work in jobs serving the ethnic
Japanese community. Following WHRA advice, many resettlers avoided
associating exclusively with each other, working instead to become
integrated into the larger communities. %

The lovalty program was partly responsible for allowing many to
leave the camps and resettle in the interdor. For the many more left
in camp, the questionnaire was less benign, Now it would become a
tool to distinguish the loyal from the disloval before moving all the
disloval to Tule Lake.

SEGREGATION

The idea of separating evacuees into groups arose almost at once after
evacuation. The WIDC, still protesting that it wanted nothing further
to do with the evacuces, interfered again, By August 1942, General
DeWitt was convineed that Nisei should be separated from Kibei and
advocated stripping the Kibed of their citizenship, interning and ex-
patriating them (along with the Issei) to Japan as rapidly as possible. ™
DeWitt pressed his point with Chief of Staff Marshall in four letters
from September 8 through November 23; the Kibei were subverting
otherwise loyval Nisei and shoukd be sepregated, '™ By the end of Oc-
tober, McCloy had come to believe the idea was worth considering, '
and in November he wrote both DeWitt and WHA that he too favored
segregation, '™ although he was unwilling to impose his view on WRA,

By mid-December, DeWitt had developed a plan for the segre-
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gation. In extraordinary detail, his plan envisioned a surprise move in
which designated evacuees would be gathered, put aboard trains and
moved to the Poston camp, where evacuces not to be segregated would
then be removed, The people to be segregated would include those
whio wished repatriation; parolees from detention or intermment camps;
those with “bad” records during their confinement in assembly centers
or relocation camps; others whom the intelligence services thought
dangerous; and immediate families of segregants. The plan anticipated
ahout 5,600 segregants, ™4

As the War Department view of segregation evolved, WRA was
also comsidering the idea. WHRA objected to DeWitt's eardy proposals
because they suggested segregating by category. As Myer explained
it:

The War Relocation Authority, after full consideration, rejected
the idea of segregating entire categories of the population. We
felt, and still feel, that while we should probably look with par-
ticular care at the individuals who fall into certain specific cate-
gories, the arbitrary removal of an entire class would be unjust,
unwise, and seriously damaging to evacues morale, The evarua-
tion process itsell was such a categorical segregation involving, as
has been acknowledged, many injustices to individuals, The evac-
uation was justified by military urgency, but military necessity
could not justify segregation on a categorical basis as proposed to
the Authority. The disloyal of the group were now in safe custody
under military guard.

Moreover, there were practical eonsiderations. Removal of the
Issei en masse would have disrupted the majority of the families.
There are in the centers some 40,000 American citizens under 20
years of age, most of whom are sons and daughters of aliens. At
the: time of evacuation General DeWitt had repeatedly reassored
the evacuees that family composition would not be disturbed; in
fact, the Western Diefense Command put itsell to great trouble
to unite families during and immediately following evacuation to
assembly centers, Removal of the Kibei, likewise, would have
penalized many boval citizens. In this connection, it is relevant
that a large proportion of the evacuees recruited for the special
Army school at Camp Savage, Minnesota, and for the Navy lan-
guage school at the University of Colorado are Kibei, '=

WEA rejected the December plan for differcot reasons. It ealled for
secrecy, military control, cancellation of normal activities, and it raised
the probability of doting and bloodshed—all entirely at odds with the
semblance of normality that WRA hoped to achicve.'™ Three steps
already under way would, WRA hoped, eliminate a nesd to segregate:
the indefinite leave program; Justice Department custody for aliens



208 FERSOMAL JUSTICE DENIED

whom WERA believed should be interned; and an isclation center at
Leupp for troublemakers, '

During Spring 1943, however, pressure grew to segregate. Sen-
ator Chandler’s Senate Committes recommended segregation, which
MeCloy publicly {and Secretary Stimson privately) endorsed. The JACL
favored it, and in May WRA project directors unanimously approved
segregation. '™ Remarking that he still felt relocation was “the only
civilized way~ of separating the evacuees, Myer finally agreed. '™

Tule Lake was chosen as the segregation center because it was a
large fcility and already housed many potential segregants. Five groups
would be segregated:

= those who had applied for expatriation or repatristion to Japan and
not withdrawn their application before July 1, 1943;
* those who answered “no” to the loalty question or refused to
answer it during registration and had not changed their answers;
= those who were denied leave dearanee due to some accurnulation
of adverse evidence in their records;
* aliens from Department of Justice internment camps whom that
agency recommended for detention; and
* farnily members of segregants who chose to remain with the family, '
Om July 15, 1943, the WHRA announced the policy of segregating per-
sons who “by their acts have indicated that their loyalties lie with Japan
during the present hostilities or that their loyalties do not lie with the
United States. ™3

Mext came a series of rehearings for individuals selected hecause
of a "wrong” loyalty answer. Despite the consequences, most evacuees
stuck by their original statemnents and the rehearing process registered
mostly grief, disappointment and anper. Numerous Issel professed
“disloyalty” as 8 way of getting back to California or of avoiding release.
Many Kibei chose Tule Lake out of frustration with official distrust of
their group. Others had no choice: they were family members—el-
derly, children or handicapped—wheo could oot leave their relatives.
A number of evacuces already at Tule Lake embraced disloyalty to
avold moving again, 1

Between mid-September and mid-October, thirty-three trips
transferred 6,289 people from Tule Lake and 8§ 559 to Tule Lake from
other centers; later transfers moved 249 more residents out and 3,614
additional segregants in. 5ix thousand old Tuleans staved. Meanwhile,
Tube Lake was heing transformed. A double eight-foot fence was erected,
the guard increased to a battalion, and six tanks lined wp conspicu-
ously, =

Tule Lake now had a more diverse population than any other
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center. People had come from all over California, Hawail, Washington
and Oregon, They were disproportionately rural people and unmarried
farm lahaorers. '™ OF 18,422 cvacuees at Tule Lake between September
1843 and May 1844, 68 percent were citizens. Most were there because
they had requested repatriation or expatriation (39 percent), answered
the loyalty questionnaire unsatisfactorily (26 percent) or were family
of someone who was segregated (31 percent). '™

The arriving group immediately found themselves at a disadvan-
tage, There was not enough housing, so segregants were squeezed into
quarters that did not give them even the usual small space, or they
occupied makeshift dormitories in recreation halls. Improvements by
former occupants were gone, for they had taken mo.t of their handiwork
on leaving. Remaining furmiture and shelves had been appropriated
by other residents before the segregants arrived; even plasterboard
and wood had been ripped from the walls to make crates. The “old
Tuleans” had tuken all the best jobs, too. Finally, many transferees
found the facilities, the food and the envirnment inferior to their
“home” projects. ™ ;

Tule Lake's population and restrictive policies guaranteed conflict
there. The first incident was a labor dispute when on October 7 the
administration fired 43 coal workers, No one would take the vacant
positions. On October 12, the administration reinstated the workers
and made other concessions. Three days later an accident touched off
a strike when a truck carrving a work erew to the project farm over-
turned, killing one worker and injuring several. Dissident leaders used
the incident to begin a strike of agricultural workers for more safety
precautions. The next week a committee presented demands to the
project director including a demand for “resegregation —separating
those who preferred the Japanese way of life from those at Tule Lake
for other reasons. The committee also requested physical improve-
ments and stuff changes. The work stoppage among the farm workers
was not resplved. On October 28, the administration announced it was
firing the farm employees and bringing in a group of “loyal” evacuees
from other camps. Compounding the insult, food from evacuer ware-
houses was requisitioned to feed the new farm workers. '

On Movember 1, while Myer was visiting the camp, a large group
gathered and the committee demanded to talk to him. During their
discussion, another group of evacuees had visited the hospital and
ended up beating the chief medical officer. Eventually, Myer addressed
the full group and the gathering dispersed. '

Several days later, on November 4, the explosion came. A gang

E3-124 - 82 - 8



210 FERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

moved into the administrative aea to prevent the romoval of food for
volunteer farm workers from other centers. They fought with the in-
termal security foroe and s staff member was injured. When the rioters
moved toward the project director’s house, the military guard was
called in *™

As if the camp authorities had been expecting this incident
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detaines compound with tanks, machine guns, and tear gas, and
started their repressive measures to cow the detainees, and to
overwhelm the youth organization which was made up of unarmed
and defenseless teenagers. The repressive measures and the mar-
tial law instituted by the camp authorities took the following forms:

1. The MP tanks and jeeps constantly patrolled the area in a
show of force designed to harass and frighten the detainees.

2 Unannounced and frequent inspections of the detainees’ bar-
racks in search of alleged contraband such as kitchen paring knives,
sewing scissors, carpenters’ and gardeners” tools,

3. Firing of tear gas at small groups of unarmed internees as-
sembling at bath houses and bathrooms to get water for washing,
or standing st the coal pile to get cosl or kindling for heating, or
standling at the shower area waiting to bathe, or at the laundry
area o do their liundry. These repressive measures lasted two or
three months and resulted in nightmarish fear, particularly among
the very young and the very old detainees, '

Leaders of the demonstration were isolated in o detention center that
became known as “the stockade, ™
The Army retained control of Tube Lake until January 15, 1844,
The period was one of “turmail, idleness, impoverishment, and un-
certainty. 14
I was thirteen years obd when we were at Tule Lake, California.
The most upsetting expericnce happened to me when martial law
was declared throughout the camp because of & food riot. We were
told that the military police would come to search each one of our
families in the barracks. The two MPs looked formidable as they
walked in with guns at their side and asked roughly if we had any
weapons, liquor or cameras. To be forced to let the MPs in our
small humble quarters seemed like such invasion of personal pri-
vacy that the emotional effect of thet search still haunts me. "
The partial strike continued and the stockade’s populition grew. Al-
though there were no more major outbursts, the distinction sharpened
between “loyal amd disloyal,” and suspicion of collaborators and in-
formers flourished.

The loyalty program pushed evacuees in opposite directions. Some
heac] beseeny relensed and were heading toward a more normal, productive
life. To those who expressed their anger and frustration, however, the
loyalty program brought a more repressive, violent and frustrating
period at Tule Lake. The loyalty program is rightly remembered as
ome of the most divisive events in the camp. It broke apart the com-
munity of evacupes by forcing each to a clear cholce—a choice that
consld be made only by guesswork about a very uncertain future. It
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was it choice that was hard to hedge, and it divided families and friends
philosophiécally, emotionally and, finally, physically, as some went east
to make new lives and others were taken off to the grimmer confine-
ment of Tule Lake.
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Ending the Exclusion

Historical writing about the exclusion, evacuation and detention of the
ethnic Japanese has two great set picces—analysis of events which led
to Executive Order 8066, and life in the relocation camps.® In lange
meqsure, these events were socessible to historians from the moment
they took place; equally impertant events have remained obscure—
most significantly, the end of the exclusion from the West Coast. Ex-
amining how exclugion ended brings one full cirde to a deeper under-
standing of the forces and ideas behind Executive Order S066.

The ending of the exclusion should logically depend on its begin-
ning: when the circumstances that justified exclusion no longer exist,
exclusion itself should cease. Three separate justifications for exclusion
suggested two distinet sets of ciroumstances in which it would end.
Theough the first six months of 1943, a long struggle was waged in the
War Department to determine which of these theories and programs
would prevail,

General DeWitt and the Western Defense Command embraced
at one time or another two theories for exclusion, The first, which
DeWitt relied on in his final recommendation to Stimson urging ex-
clusion, was that loyalty was determined by ethnicity, ® For thal reason
the ethric Japanese would ultimately be loyal to Japan. The second
theory employed the stereotype of the “inscrutable Oviental;” it was
adopted by the Western Defense Command in its supplement to the
Final Report, the fully developed apologia for evacuation. The ethnic

213
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wmnhhhmﬂmwdb
havior, this theory suggested, that it was impossible o distinguich the
loyal from the disloyal * For the Western Defense Command, both
theories justified the exclusion of Nisei and lusei from the West Coast
for the durstion of the war: in the frst cose, beoause they were pres-
umptively dangerous and oltimately enemies and, i the second, be-
cane no one could distinguish enemy from friend.

The third theory held that koyvalty was a matter of individhu! choice
and that the keyal coubd be distinguished from the dnloyal, but wrgency
required eaclusion becaise it was mmpossible to conduct individual
loyalty reviews in early 1542, under imminent threst of Japanese raids
or sabotage. The War Department in Washington, particularly McCloy
and Stimson, held this view.? Its logical conclusion wes that o good
reason extsted to exclude from the West Cosst ot least those lesei and
Nisei who cleared a loyalty review. At root, this theory held that the
ethnic Japanese were s greater threat to security than ethnic Germans
and Italiuns, and it did not extend the presumption of loyalty to Amer-
ican citizens of Japanese descent; but it also saw limits to the danger
they were belicved to present—and made government responsible for
reviewing loyalty and reassessing the military position so as to return
people to normal life as soon as possible.

The intensity of the argument between the Western Defense
Command and the War Department over how and when to end the
exclusion demonstrated the truth of what the Tolan Committee sus-
pected as early s March 1942 there had been no common under-
standing of the basis of the original decision to exclude nor of how to
treat keyal ethoic Japanese after cxclusion ®* As McCloy told Bendetsen
in April 1943 “We never thought sbout it.™ In early 1941, debate
over ending exchavion ranged over a number of mswes. starting a lovalty
review in conpection with resing the voluntrer combat unit fwhich
the Western Diefense Command recognized s kogpcally beading to the
end of exchuion for the loyall: the question of the comditions under
which Niset soldiers and other classes of ethni Japancse who presented
no obwviout srcerity risk could retu o the West Coast, the bnguage
for General DeWitt's Final Report justifving the evecustion; snd. §i-
mally, the conditions under which the War Departmert would revole
the escluson orders.

The War Department recognized by early 1943 that military ne-
cessity could not justify the exclusion from the West Coast of loyal
American citizens or resident aliens of Japanese ancestry, but it was
unwilling to force o revision of the exclusion orders or to make public
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the opinions which Stimson, Marshall and McCloy then held. Only in
May 1844 did Stimson recommend to President Koosevelt and the
Cahinct the ending of exclusion, and only after the 1944 election did
the President act on the recommendation. Just as the exclusion was
born of political pressure, it was continued out of political considera-
tions long after those who first believed it io be militarily justified had
abandoned that position,

THE WESTERN DEFENSE COMMAND V5. THE WAR
DEFARTMENT

On Jamsary 14, 1943, the same day that MeCloy received word that
the project for raising the MNisei combat undt was lunched, General
DeWitt first became aware of the full dimensions of the project, in-
cluding the plan for a review and determination of loyalty. His reaction
was immediate and candid, DeWitt telephoned his old ally General
Gullion, the Provost Marshal General, and expressed his concern,
reminding him that “[t|here isn't such a thing as a loyal Japanese and
it is just impossible to determine their loyalty by investigation—it just
can’t be done. ™ DeWitt got the lay of the land at the War Department,
then cabled General Marshall asking an opportunity to comment before
the plan was put into operation.®

Between January 14 and 27, when DeWitt dispatched formal com:-
ments to Marshall, DeWitt and his aides (including Bendetsen) honed
their arguments.* By the time the comments were prepared, they
believed the lovalty review program weuld undermine total exclu-
sion—first, by adopting & rationale for exclusion which inchuded in-
dividual review of loyalty and, second, by permitting the loyal to returm
to the West Coast, Both actions would expose the War Department

*although it is difficult to distinguish the voives of DeWitt and Bendetsen
in the documents, it is clear Uheir points of view differed. DeWitt was strident
and assured: he never hesitated to make racist remarks and never expressed
doubts shout the wisdom of his position, Even after the War Department bud
endorsed the loyalty questionnaire, DeWitt continued to assert that foyalty
could not be determined. Bendetsen was hesitant. Although the written doc-
uments are undoabtedly the work of buth men, final respensibility for positions
of the Western Defense Command was DeWitt's, and we have attributed them
to the Commanding General



216 FERSONAL JUSTICE DERIED

ard the Western Diefense Command to bitter criticism. The first issoe
immediately drew evervone to reexamine the orgging decison to evas-
uate It had always been DeWitt's view, expressed aften and publicly,
that the loyal could not be separated from the disloyal. The koyaley
revicw program. established © do exactly that, was, by its very exist-
ence, & repudistion of DeWitt. As DeWin described it to McCloy-
1 feel that | woulds't be loval to you or honest to vou if 1 didn’t
say that it is & sign of weskness and an sdmission of an original
mmtake Dd:nru—-e-udlh'th-emd&utpmpk:
all if we could determine their loyalty *

While De'Witt was unwavering in believing the evanmtion deci-
wwon sound, Bendetien was sufficiently disturbed by the War Depart-
ment’s position that he apparenthy began to question the original de-
cision. Discussing the ssue with Captain John Hall, one of MeCloy's
assistants, Bendetsen remarked:

Of course [the difficulty of determining loyalty] is probably true

of white p!n';pllln1 hn’t:ti¥? You know that old prlr:wurh about “not

being able to look into the heart of another™# And “not even daring
to ook dnto your own” . . . well maybe there's something in that,'®

Both DeWitt and Bendetsen must have realized that their con-
tention that loyal could not be separated from disloyal was unlikely to
previdl at the War Department strictly on the merits; the loyalty pro-
would react badly to the Army’s shift of position and the Department
would look foolish for changing its mind. Bendetsen mentioned this
scveral times in conversation with War Department staff:

[The record shows that (1) that it was & concentration of 3 large

number of of anrestny i ArElC I ATTRS DEEr war
plants snd ol that that it could not be And @
That you couldn’t determine koyalty aad vou had to take

just eonshedn't 5o that's whet the origuns] record shows S0 whatever
you do, | think you ought to bear thet pretty closely in mind
That's what the record shows out here where the maim recond was
made . . . in the Fress and the Periodicals

I'm scared to death principally because of the public relations part
of it. That's it. to put it in 2 nutshell **

DeWitt was somewhat more circumspect but raised essentially the
same issues in his formal comments.**

The War Department hierarchy, however, was not persuaded.
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Regardless of what DeWitt had said, for McCloy the issue was one of
timing. His view had never been that loyal could not be separated
from disloyal, but that they could not have been distinguished fast

enough. Now, MeCloy argued, the Department was moving to deter-
mine loyalty, as it had always planned to do.'™ But Bendetsen and
DeWitt believed this would also expose the Department to criticism.
If the plan had slways been to determine loyalty, why had it not been
done earlier, when evacuees were still in the assembly centerst If
loyalty review had gnly been postponed, then the government had
unnecessarily prolonged the confinement of 100,000 people and wasted
880 million building relocation centers. Bendetsen and Braun, drafting
comments for DeWitt, explored this point:

Braun: You had them under control [in the assembly centers)]
but you had not yet moved them inland—you had not yet spent
any 50 million dollars—you had accomplished the main thing as
to time and space. And at that point, if you could determine
loyalty, it should then have been done.

Bendetsen: And that will have to be answered.

Braun; It will have to be answered.

Bendetsen: . . . [TThe answer may be thet vou could have, but
that's not such a hot public relations answer,

Broun: I've just been talking that over . . . and I said "I you
fellows were to say to me tomorroe,—that is the big rub, whet
were we going to do about #P—because we're going thru with
this anyway,” the best thing 1 had thought of up to this moment
was for us to be completely honest and say “wel] maybe we could,
though we didn’t think so at the time.”

Bendetzen: Right. We still don’t think so [at the Western De-
fense Command],

Brawn: No but T'm talking now about suppose we were told
“you gotta do it” and “how are we going to do it?” That's the only
answer | could think of that would make any sense,

Bendetsen: Didn't think so then but we do now. Maybe our
ideas on the Oriental have been all cock-eyed.

Braun: We've got more information now than we had . . . and
than we thought we could get.

Bendetsen: That's right. Maybe he isn't inscrutable ™
There is no record of how Stimsen and MeCloy would have ex-

plained why they had waited so long to separate loyal from disloyal
It may be that with the other massive problems of fighting the war,
this question had occupied little or none of their attention; there is no
evidence that, when they addressed it, they believed that detention
camps, at least for the loyal, could be justified. As Stimson said: "We
have gone to the full limit in evecuating them, ™
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cficet of the koyalty program on the evacusted ares. The plan itself§ was
silent on this point, but & Nissi cortified loval by the government coald
hardly be comidersd too dangerous to return o the West Coast. If
exchusion of the loyal were to end, DeWitt's judgment would be pub-
bicly reversed and, particulacly o the West Coast, the War Depart-
ment might ook very foolish for spending millons of dollars on relo-
eation camps and uprooting the lves of thouwands of people. It would,
as Bendetsen put #. be “confess{ing] an originel mstake of terrifically
horrible proportions. ” Bendetsen was not prepared to make the confis-
S

Even if the decision was T wonskdn 't make it & practice gallop.
Even in that case. 1 would it very hard to justify the ex-
of 50 million dollars to build Relocation Centers, merely
hrmdrdﬂ;ﬁmmhlwmuhdm
o do.

If, an the other hand, the exclusion policy were not ended, then
the loyalty review plan would be logically inconsistent. Bendetsen
discussed this with Captain Hall, McCloy's assistant:

Bendrtsen: How could you keep him out of the evacuated zone,
if you said he was [loyal enough] to work in & war plant?

Hall: [The program is] . . . going to be li to the aress
outside of the evacuated area.
Bendetsen: How can you be consistent—do one end say that he

can't come in the other?
Hall: Simply sensitivity of the West Coast to enemy attack. The
reasons justifying the origine] evacustion still exist in certain de—

gree.

Bendetsen: No, [ doo't see how they do . . . [tfhe plan seys thet
veu assurne that one of the reasons for cvacustion was that
wis mo tme to determine bwvalty. One of the primasy ressons. So
that now that you decide that you can determine loyalty you've
erased that resson. heven't you®

Hall Well not necessartly. As far a3 the boyalty of this fellow i
concerned, we foel that be is completely koyal But becanse of
errtwn militan conaderstns—partly reponuble for the ovac
uation, we feed at besst for the present e should pot go back intn
the evecuated srea

?gnlmn Kind of beats the devil around the bush, doesn’t
|

In fact, in January, McCloy was not prepased to press this peint
with the Western Defense Command. When McCloy first discussed
the boyalty program with DeWitt on January 14, he sssured the General
that it would not affect exclusion from the West Coast.™ McCloy did
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not explain why he took this position. There are various possible ex-
planations: he may have believed that continuing military necessity
required the exclusion of the loyal; the War Department may not have
wished or been able to overcome political opposition on the West Coast;
or McCloy may not have wanted to invite charges that the Department
had wasted money building relocation camps. Only military necessity
would provide a defensible explanation and, a few months later, McCloy
made clear that he could not find military reasons for excluding people
the povernment found loyal.

MeCloy's assistant, Captain Hall, in discussing the matter with
Bendetsen, attempted to argue for such a course and merely succeeded
in demonstrating how hopeless the task was:

Bendetsen: . . . when you come out with a plan and say that
vou can determine loyalty for working in & warplant around high-
explosives . . .wumnhardl'{:a that “well he can” [sic] go back
to San Franciseo . . . it will ifficult to say that he can't” and
when you do that you confess a very original, horrible mistake.

Hall: . . . confess an original horrible mistake. [What about] the
possibidlity of Fifth Column sctivity of landing of parachute troops
dressed as civilians, the passibility of confusion. 1 think those are

Bendetsen: Suppose you drop white troops dressed ss civilians,
You don't evacuste sll the white folks. That's no point. Suppose
white people drop dressed as civilians. You don't evacuste all the
white people.

Hall; Your danger on the West Coast is . . . Japinese.

Bendetsen: Well your danger on the East Coast is from Ge
and Ttalians, who are white.

Hall: Yes but there are too many of them out here.

Bendetsen: Too many what?

Hall: Far more assimilated than the Japanese population ever
have been.

Bendetsen: You mean too many white prople on the East Coast.
That's not a point, becaunse the enemy could drop white soldiers
dressed as eivilians, and [wha] could speak English. That . . .

Hall: But that would be on the East Coast.

Bendetsen: Well, they could do it on either coast,

Hall: Not so easily on the West Coast.

Bendetsen: I'm just trying to give you my reacton to the point.

Hall: ‘There is a logicality there, there's no doubt about it. But
1 think it might be wise to take this as a first step, perhaps looking
toward {if this works all right) toward eventual retirn 1o the evae-
uated area providing the military situation warrants it.

Bendetsen: Well 1 think that's certainly true, when the peace
comes. That's when T think the military situation would warrant
it with consistency. ™
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For the moment, the debate on lifting the exchusion arder did not
move beyond McCloy's pesition of Jancary 14: loyalty would be de-
tevmined and loyal evacvees reicased, but exchmion would not be
terminated. But the srgmment could not and did not end, simply shife-
ing to other isvues, first to the question of exceptions to the universal
ban of ethnic japanese from the West Coast.

During the carly months of 1943 DeWitt fooght an unrelenting
war of sttrition with Mooy, who tried to perusde the Ceneral o
fntrodhuce some bumsne common semse by allowing some return o
the West Coast DeWitt opposed cvery such effort. For imstance, at
the WHA's urging. = McCloy suggested that keyalty to the United States
would be 8 better standard thas race for dealing with “mized marriage”™
mh_,upﬂtﬂﬂtw-w'!ﬁhﬂnh
“Japanese problem,” he wanted to recognize the loyalty of individuals
rather than to presume the disloyalty of the entire group. DeWitt did
not accept the suggestion. ™

The breaking point came over the issue of letting Nisei soldiers
on furlough into the excluded ares. DeWitt fought for months to pre-
vent or encumber such entries, but MeCloy drew the line at this and
was supported by Stimson and Marshall. ® [ Jap was o Jup to DeWitt,
a GI was & Gl to McCloy. The War Department ordered that Nisei
soldiers be allowed onto the West Coast with a minimum of interfer-
ence and control.

This argument clarified the connection between loyalty and ex-
clusion and foreed a conscious reassessment of the military justification
for exclusion. Om April 8, 1943, McCloy set out the dissgreements
between the War Department and the Western Defense Command
in & frank letter to General DeWitt He first addressed the ciroum-
stances that had changed since eardy 1842

The threat of japanese strack is fr from what it was. We are better

erganized o mect sach an stiack if #t oocurred. And we know a

grest deal more ahout cur Japanese populstion. Furthermore, the

War Department hes estsblished a combat tram for voluntesr

Ammerican citirens of jEpanese sncestry. This program hes been

indorsed by the President who Jooks upon it a5 “a netural and

logical step toward the reistitution of the Selective Service pro-
erdure, whach were temporarihy disrupted by the evacustion from

the West Coast.” Similarly, the War Department has initisted a

process for loyalty investigations of all Japancse Americans to de-

termine their cligibility for work in plants and cilitics vital to
the war effort. In other words, in the face of manpower difficalties,
the policy of the national Government, as well as that of the War
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Department, is presently looking towurd the restaration to all loyal
persons of Japanese ancestry of all their normal rights and privi-
leges, to the end that they may be able to make their maximom
contribution to the war effort. The very “entering wedpe™ which
you appear to dread is precisely what must be sccomplished.

McCloy next assailed the corrupt policy he believed the Army
acveded to on the West Coast:
That there is serious animosity on the West Coast against all
evacuated Japanese 1 do not doubt, but that does not necessarily
mean that we should trim our sails accordingly. The: longer Cal-
ifornia luxuriates in the total shsence of the Japanese the more
difficult it will be to restore them to the economy of California.,
They have a place in California as well as in any other state as
long as military considerations do not intervene. T cannot help but
feel that social considerations rather than military ones determine
the total exclusion policy. The Army, as 1 see it, is not responsible
for the general public peace of the Western Defense Command.
That responsibility seill rests with the civil authorities. There may,
as you suggest, be incidents, but these can be effectively dis-
couraged by prompt action by low enforcement agencies, with the
eooperation of the military if they even assume really threatening
proportions. 1 certainly deplore any policy which prohibits an
American soldier from entering areas in the United States for fear
of the consequences which may attend such entry.®
MeCloy concluded by urging on DeWitt the policy of gradual reset-
tement onto the Pacific Coast that had been debated all that spring.
MeCloy suggested allowing the reentry of screened individuals in four
broad categories; wives, parents, brothers and sisters of soldiers; wives
of Caucastans; individuals whose employment on the coast would aid
the war effort; and veterans of the First World War and their families.
Om April 13, 1943, DeWitt appeared before a House Committes
looking into the effect of large military facilities on local communities;
he used the occasion to answer MeCloy publicly. Asked whether he
had any problems he would like to discuss, DeWitt fired both barrels:
1 haven't any except one—that is the development of a false sen-
timent on the part of ceriain individuals and some organizations
to get the Japanese hack on the West Coast. [ don't want any of
them here. They are a dangerous element. There is no way o
determine their lovalty, The West Coast contains too muny vital
installations essential to the defense of the country to allow any
Japanese on this coast. There is a feeling developing, 1 think, in
certain sections of the country, that the Japanese should be allowed
to return. | am opposing it with every proper means at my dis-
posal *
DeWitt did resist pointing the finger directly at MeCloy and Stim-
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son in public. Asked whethes “the element responsible for bringing
them back [was] the same one that wants them put in the Army,” the
General replied that he dida’t know what element the Congressman
nrﬁﬂhﬂnﬂp_nt_.-huﬂhﬂnﬂ
for priting the evacuation ordered, and Mott opposed any such change
of polacy and told the Genersl they woukd watch the situation. ™
The meat day, for good measure, DeWitt once more sired his
differrnces with the War Department over allowing Nisei soldiers on
the West Coast Al an o the-record pews confierener be tald sym-
pathetic reporters:
Mlhﬂk“[wﬂ.ﬂ!hﬂmm
out we are bringing in.thﬁehiﬂphﬂnﬂ:-z
men in uniferm. . . . [A] Jap is a Jup. The War
jlp—ﬂmﬂ!ﬂerhmt:hthkm“':l,llrﬁt
hud.lhneﬂuj-pmtnuhmd‘udrmmwh
®.. -
Of course, DeWitt mived this with avowals of being » loyal soldier
who did not oppase his superiors, but his conduct could not have been
more clearly ecaleulated to sabotage any War Department effort to
achieve guiet, gradual resettlement of evacuees on the West Coast.
These episodes occurred while General DeWitt was preparing his
Final Report on the Japanese evacuation. The document was to be
both the Army's official explanation of the reasons for the exclosion
and evacuation and its account of this massive movement of people.
The Final Report was to be formally submitted to Seeretary Stimson,
but there was an understanding that a draft would be reviewed and
discussed with McCloy beforehand. McCloy was surprised when it
came to him in pristed form in mid-April, and livid after reading the
first few chapters. He found 8 “too self-glorifying and too seliserving
for the type of document that 1 think shoukd be perpetusted ™ but
two statements particolarly angered McCloy: first, that it was impos-
sible o determine the loyalty of the ethoc Japancse and that this
impossibility, not urgency, was the “military necessity” on which ex-
clusion rested, second, that the ethnic Japanese should not be allowed
o return to the West Cosst entil sfier the war, regardicss of the
improved military situstn =
McCloy plainly considered the printed report DeWitt's shempt
to talk past his War Department superiors to politicians and the pohlic.
Because DeWitt's gambit put the War Department in & most oncom-
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McCloy over the Report’s final language followed. First, Bendetsen
was called to Washington to work on revisions and get McCloy's views
and objections firsthand. ® He was then sent to DeWitt, who was in
Alaska, to discuss the changes McCloy wanted, though the General
would not be compelled to make them.™ At first the General was
adamant in opposing any changes, ™ but after Bendetsen's visit to Alaska
DeWitt not only accepted MeCloy's suggestions but set out to destroy
every copy of the April version. ™ One can only speculate om what
persuaded DeWitt, but it may have been Bendetsen’s memorandum
on the War Department’s position about excluding loval ethnic Japa-
nese from the West Coast:
After an extended discussion, Mr. MeCloy stated his conclusion
to be thet there no longer existed any military necessity for the
eontinued exclusion of all Japanese from the evacuated zone. He
stated that the War Department, of its own motion, would not
take any action to direct or require the revision or revocation of
present restrictions in this regard. He did say, however, that if
the question were to be presented officially to the Secretary of
War by the White House or by any other official federal agency
having a legitimate interest whether from the viewpoint of the

War Department there is longer any military objection to the
return of those Japanese “whose boyalty had been determined,”
the answer had to be, “No. "

McCloy told Bendetsen that these views were shared by Stimson
and Marshall * Persistence by DeWitt might have resulted in o public
break with the War Department over exclusion. DeWitt was obviously
unwilling to press this far, and MeCloy seemed remarkably determined
not to let their differences become a matter of public debate. This is
demenstrated by three incidents. After DeWitt's appearance before
the House subcommittes, Secretary Tokes wrote in sarcastic outrage
ahout press reports of the General's testimony, but McCloy replied
merely that DeWitt had been inaccurately quoted and did not disclose
his disagreement with the General ==

Next, in late May, McCloy would not spread the public impression
that DeWitt wis heing relieved of his command and kicked upstairs,
a5 he was in Fall 1943, because of his stand on the exclusion policy.
The Assistant Secretary urged that DeWitt be kept on the West Coast

*The press had used DeWitt's off-the-record remark that " Jap i a Jap.”
Tckes repeated this in his letter to McCloy and the Assistant Seeretary, no
donsbit unaware of the pross conference, dended that the General had made the:
remark.
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a short time longer to avoid this inference,™ and later he vetoed a
draft announcement by General Ermmons, DeWitt's successor, iden-
tifving the exclusion policy as DeWitt's rather than the War Depart-
ment's. ™

Finally, McCloy and Stimson faced the problem of answering a
lomg letter from Dillon Myer of the WHA about plans for getting
evacuees out of the relocation centers. The letter fairly, though indi-
rectly, asked the War Department’s justification for continued exclu-
sion from the West Coast.™ Stimson, in a letter apparently drafted by
MeCloy,™ commented only on the WRA's administrative problems
and avoided discussing the military justification for continuing exch-
sion, a matter plainly within the War Department’s competence, *

This was extraordinary: the War Department no longer believed
that military necessity justified excluding loyal ethnic Jepanese from
the West Coast, but #t was unwilling to reverse its orders. What is
more, officials of the first rank consciously withheld their views from
others hoth in and outside the government although the context fairly
demanded some expression of opinion. Probably they feared a political
firestorm——the War Department was reluctant, or perhaps [elt itself
unable, to face down strong political ohjection to returming 1ssei and
Misei, regardless of lovalty, to the West Coast,

In the first half of 1943, anti-Japanese forces on the West Coast,
reacting to the leave program and loyalty review, were stirring again,
The first prominent group to sct was the California American Legion
which, in January, began to pass resolutions urging deportation of all
othnic Japanese, both citizens and aliens.* Soon grand juries, Jocal
governments, and state legislvtures joined the crusade, while numer-
ous civic groups were created expressly to voice anti-Japanese senti-
ment, <

The: issue renched Washington in the form of a resolution to trans-
fer the WHA to Army control, accompanied by allegations that evacuees
were being “pampered” and “coddled. ™ The resolution was referred
to a Senate subeommittes headed by Senstor A. B, Chandler of Ken-
tucky, who, seeing an opportunity for headlines, determined to hold
hearings and visit four camps himself. His tour featured a number of
sensational announcements, Chandler thought 60 percent of the res-
idents at one center were disloyal, adding that “in my mind there is
no question that thousands of these fellows were armed and prepared
to help Japanese troops invade the West Coast right after Pear] Har-
bor."* In May the committee released its report, with conclusions
that had little to do with the Senator’s previous announcements bt
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recommended that the draft be resumed, that disloyals be segregated,
and that loyal ethnic Japanese be privately employed.

The committes had nevertheless again aroused people around the
country on the “Japanese problem, ” Seeing the agitation in California,
other states and local governments began to consider restrictive leg-
islation. Arizona passed a bill curtailing the liberties of released evac-
vees and Arkansas made it illegal for ethnic Japanese to own land
there. *

General DeWitt's remarks before the House Naval Affairs Com-
mittee in April had set the newspapers to editorializing against the
ethnic Japanese once again. The San Franciseo Chronicle put its view
simply in the caption, “DeWitt Is Right,” and, waving aside “the ethical
factors, the constitutional factors, the guestion of the Bill of Hights,™
went on to announce that the return of ethnic Japanese cleared by the
jovalty review would mean riots, The Loz Angeles Times summarized
its view of the possible end of exclusion in three words, “Stupid and
Dangerous,” and concluded its lengthy editorial by underscoring the
political consequences:

How much of the recent smashing defeat for reelection of former

Governor Olson of California was due to his suggestion that the

Japs be recalled for agricultural work cannot be estimated, but it
was undoubtedly considerable. There are worse things than food

shortages,
As a race, the Japanese have made for themselves a record for
conscienceless treachery unsurpassed in history, Whatever small
theoretical advantages there might be in releasing those under
restraint in this country would be enormously outweighed by the
risks involved. ¥
In April 1943, when the Western Defense Command announced
that Nisei soldiers on furlough would be allowed to return to the coast
and rumors circulated that General DeWitt might be relieved,* anti-
Japanese forces renewed their assanlt by urging the Dies Committes
on Un-American Activities to investigate. Even before the Committee
began its work, Representative |, Parnell Thomas visited Los Angeles
and, without touring a single camp, began to issue press releases ahout
the evacuees. He accused the WRA of pampering and overfeeding
them and declared! that there had been an organized division of the
Japanese Army on the West Coast before Pearl Harbor. He called for
halting the “WHA policy of releasing disloyal Japs™ ontil the Dies
Committee had completed its repart.*

Even the Pacific Coast Committee on American Principles and
Fair Play, a group of prominent citizens under honorary chairman De.
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Fobert Gordon Sproul, President of the University of California, ex-
pressly took no position on the jssue of whether persons of Japanese
ancestry should return to the Pacific Coast at that time, even though
the group had issued a statement in June favoring an “oppertunity for
loval Americans of Japanese ancestry to resettle in the manner, which,
in the judgment of the federal government, is best designed to meet
the manpower shortage, ™™

Dies Committes hearings began on June 8, starting with the anti-
evacuee group. The most sensational witness was 1. H. Townshend,
& former WHA employee who claimed, among other things, that evac-
vees cached food in the desert and that over 1,000 Japanese soldiers
lived in the Poston Center,™ Throughout the hearings, committee staff
made other observations to the press, for example, that WRA was
releasing spies and saboteurs, ™

This time the WRA decided to fight back. Demanding to testify,
the agency prepared a strong statement in which the Committee was
accused of seeking publicity by making and soliciting “sensationa] state-
ments based on halftruths, exaggerations, and Blsehoods.™ One WHRA
document rebutted the Townshend testimony, pinpointing 42 Lies or
misleading statemnents. In his autohiography, Myer recounts the re-
action of Committee Chairman Costello to this document. After re-
viewing it, the Chairman opened the session:

Mr. Myer we have reviewed your document on the Townshend

testimony in which you say there were 42 lies or half-truths, but

we find ooly 39,
Myer agreed to “settle for 39,7

Omnee again, the final committes report of September 1945 was
extremely mild, advocating segregation, a new hoard to investigate
evacoees to be released, and an “Americanization” program in the
camps. For the first time the government had taken on the anti-Jap-
anese groups, and it had won. Not only were the Committes's rec-
ommendations consistent with WHRA policy and planning, but, every
bit as important, the Committes was denounced by the national press
for its prejudice and procedure, =

The tide had turned. The rest of the country no bonger shared the
West Coast view. A Washington Post editorial responding to General
DeWitt's succinet analysis that "a Jap is a Jap,” put the matter in simple
terms:

The general should be told that American democracy and the

Constitution of the United States are too vital to be ignored and

flouted by any military zealot. The panic of Fearl Harbor is now
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past, There has been ample time for the investigation of these

people and the determination of their loyalty to this country on

an individual basis. Whatever excuse there once was for evacuating

and holding them indiscriminately no longer cxists, ™
President Roosevelt may have helped a little during the summer by
responding to a Senate request for Administration views on returning
ethnic Japanese to the West Coast; the President announced that while
there were no present plans to end exclusion, its continuation de-
pended only on military considerations.™ It is unlmown whether Roo-
sevelt had in hand the War Department’s opinion at that time on the
military necessity for continuing exclusion, but the President’s state-
ment certainly suggested that the government did not foresee exclusion
for the rest of the war.

As his support at the top of the government ebbed, General DeWitt
did not stop trying to maintain complete exclusion. Alerted in early
July by Governor Warren that two ethnic Japanese were reported to
be on a fishing trip near Dinuba, California, DeWitt not only mounted
a thorough investigation but also wrote the Governor about his fears
of the future: .

I am fully aware that persons released from the War Relocation

Authority Camps may in considerable numbers attempt to return

to the prohibited zones, perhaps as a trial effort to learn the official

reaction to their presence. Tt is only through the mutual efforts

of the military authorities and the Federal and State law enforce-

ment officers that such plans will be defeated ™

Given such constant effort to defeat any humane, orderly return
of ethnic Japanese to the West Coast, it was a palpable relief to McCloy
when, in Fall 1943, DeWitt and Bendetsen left the Western Defense
Command and General Delos Emmons took command at the Pre-
gidio.™ Emmons did not immediately urge that the exclusion be re-
voked, but he began to review individual hardship cases more leni-
ently, and cautiously prepared for ending exclusion before the war was

over.™

WAITING FOR THE ELECTION

At the end of 1943, Attorney General Biddle returned to the fray. He
wrote the President about a group of Californizns and the Hearst press,
who continued to make trouble for people of Japanese ancestry, stress-
ing that:
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Thwhhhmhm:fﬁmﬁm
Jupanese, of whom teo-thinds are citizens and who give every
induation of being loval to the United States, into normal Amer-
ican life. The present practics of keeping loval American citizens
in contemiration camps on the basiv of race for longer than &
mmnhﬂd#hh#
of our Covernment. |t & also mecessary to st now so that the
agitation againe! these citizess doss not continoe after the war

Baddle, sware of the political problems from puble bostily bo reset-
thement on the Wiest Coast, recommended that the WHA be made part
of & permasent cabinet sprncy, most likely the Interor Department
to give it & more effective voice with the poblic and within the gpov-
emment. “Care thould be taken to make it clear that any change of
administration is not a reflection upon the WRA relocation policy or
sdministration. . . ™

U Janvary 5, 1844, President Roosevelt directed that an Exec-
utive Ovder be prepared placing “the whole of WHRA under the In-
terior,"™ and on February 16, the President signed Executive Order
8423, transferring authority over WRA to the Department of the In-
terior, the authority of the Director went to the Secretury of the In-
terior, who retained Dillon Myer as operating hoad of the program.®
Harold lekes, alresdy a champion of the evacuees, was now their
spokesman,

In the spring of 1944, the War Department finally proposed to
the Prexident that the esclusion be ended. Socretary Stimson took the
issue to the Cabinet on May 26, 1944, Attorney General Biddle noted:

The Secretary of War raised the question of whether it was ap-

propriste for the War Department, st this time, to cance] the

Japanese Exclusion Orders and ket the Jups go home. War, In-

terwor, and Justice had afl agreed that this could be done without

it wt this time before the election ™

The fuct thet ~military necessity” no looger pustified exchusion was
repeasted often during the bllowing months. In June, Secretary bokes
blumtly urged the Presidest to decide the ks

[The continued retention of these innoceat people in the relo-

cation centers woukl be a blot upon the history of this country. ™
Edhward Stettinius, Jr., the Under Secretary of State, summarized the
matter for the President: “The question appears to be largely a political
one, the reaction in California, on which | am sure you will probably
wish to reach your own decision. ™
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Roosevelt expressed his views to Ickes and Stettinius on June 12,
1944:

The more 1 think of this problem of suddenly ending the orders
excluding Japanese Americans from the West Coast the more T
think it would be a mistake to do anything drastic or sedden.

As 1 said at Cabinet, 1 think the whole problem, for the sake
of internal quiet, should be handled gradually, i.e., T am thinking
of two methods:

a. Seeing, with great discretion, how many Japanese families
would be acceptable to public opinion in definite localities on the
West Coast.

b. Seeking to extend greatly the distribution of other families
in many parts of the United States, | have been talking to a number
of people from the Coast and they are all in agreement that the
Coast would be willing to receive back a portion of the Japanese
who were formerly there—nothing sudden and not in too great
quantities at any one Hme.,

Also, in talking to people from the Middle West, the East and
the South, T am sure that there would be no bitterness if they
were distributed—one or two families to cach county as a start.
DHssemination and distribution constitute a great method of avoid-
ing public cutery.

Why not procesd seriously along the shove line—for & while at
least?

Whatever the military, legal or moral virtues of the evacuees’ cause,
the President would not do anything precipibous to upset the West
Coast. There would be an election in November.

It 1942 paolitical pressures for exclusion came from the West Coast
and, somewhat transformed, wound through the War Department to
the President. In 1944 the President was plainly leading his subordi-
nates by responding to political demands for which they could no longer
find military justification. Even the Western Defense Command was
prepared to shandon the military rationale, The new Commanding
General, C. H. Bonesteel, wrote McCloy on July 3, 1844:

My study of the existing situation leads me to a belief that the

great improvement in the military situation on the West Coast

indicates that there is no longer & military necessity for the mass
exclusion of the Japanese from the West Coast as a whole. There
is still a definite necessity for the exclusion of certain individuals. ™
Moreover, after a July courtesy visit to Boosevelt in San Diego, Bo-
nesteel reported to McCloy that the President’s plans for scattering
the MNikkei population lacked realism:
The solution envisaged by the President would be entirely sat-
isfactory i the Japanese excludees would conform. However, al-




30 PERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

though a few thousand will do so, it is my opinion and the opinion
of all of those who are closely connected with the problem that
the great majority of the Japanese will insist on going back to the
areas from which they were originally removed. There is more
than a guestion of obstinacy involved, for if one or two families
should be located in a single white community, they weuld be
isolated from their own ;ﬁl& and would particularly be deprived
of the religious, social cultural contacts to which they are
accustomed and which the se particularly treasure. In ad-
dition, it must be apprecisted that the economic factor s an im-
portant one. For example, a Japanese dentist or merchant will
have great difficulty in establishing himself in a white community.
I think that we must base our action on the fact that a major
portion of the excludees will wish to return to their original homes
and that if they are not returned o very large number of them will
bring legal action to aceomplish it.®®
Now that sobriety and sympathetic common sense were the order
of the day at the Presidio, the hollowness of the existing policy was
discussed more openly, MeCloy began one meeting with the old Justice
Department adversaries of exclusion by remarking to J. L Burling
that
it was curious how the two major cases in which the Army had
interfered with civilians had started out for serious military reasons
and had ended being required by wholly non-military consider-
ations. For example, the Japanese were evacuated back in the
dark days before Midvway when an attack on the Pacific Coast was
feared. MNow the exclusion is being continued by the President for
social reasons. ™
Finally, and importantly, in September 1844 even the Navy came
around. Admirzl E. ]. King, the Commander-in-Chief, United States
Fleet, comeurred that “the military situation no longer justifies the
miass exclusion of persons of Japanese ancestry from the Western Die-
fense Command. ™™
Through 1944, the new guard at Western Defense Command had
been recxamining the mass exclusion orders. During the spring, Gen-
eril Emmons suggested that the size of the prohibited area be reduced,
and that the War Department end the exclusion of individuals not
actually or potentially dangerous. ™ This position reversed DeWitt and
brought the WDC into line with the War Department. Despite the
lack of movement on this broad propesition, Emmons began issuing
Certificates of Exemption from the exclusion orders; these allowed
people who had passed security investigations to return permanently
to the West Coast. Other individual exemptions were granted as well:
for travel and temporary residence on business; for a serious illness
within the immediate family; for travel 1o relocation centers and public
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institutions inside the exclusion zone (st WHA's request); or for in-
duction into the armed forees. Applications were extremely low at first;
by April 1, 1944, 40 had been filed; by August 1 there were 235 and
515 by September 15. By the end of 1844, 1,485 ethnic Japanese were
residing in the Western Defense Command by special exemption, Mast
were spouses of Cavcasian residents.™ In a very quiet way, General
Emmons had begun the return of the Nikkel to the West Coast,

Emmons and Bonestee]l were also concemesd shout lawsnits brought
by the ethnic Japanese.™ Three cases were central: Shiramizu v, Bo-
nesteel, Ochikubo v. Bonesteel, and Ex porte Endo, In Shirgmizu, the
Nisei widow of a sergeant in the 100th Battalion who had died of combat
wounds and against whom there was no evidence of disloyalty, chal-
lenged the continwed exclusion of such Japanese from the Western
Defense Command, and sought to restrain interference with her return
to Catifornia. ™ Ochikubo, a dentist, sought similar relief.™ In Enda,
pending for some time in the courts and under review in the Supreme
Court, Mitsuye Endo, a concededly loyal American citizen, had been
granted leave clearance by the WRA, but was not permitted to reenter
the Western Defense Command. ™

The government’s lawyers, including the Judge Advocate of the
Western Defense Command, oo longer believed that the exchusion
poliey could be justified to a judge.™ They knew it would be difficult
to prevail on the two evailable grounds: the present possibility of es-
pionage and sabotage, and the unrest which resettlement would cause—
the so-called “social resistance defense.™ To avoid & court ruling on
these questions, the government eonsidered granting special exemp-
tions to the plaintiffs. But exemptions might signal that anyene who
sued would receive an exemption, thereby foreing a fliood of uncon-
trelled reentries,

When the government offered Mre, Shirmizu an exemption, more
than a personal interest was at stake; “she had brought legal action in
order o restore the rights of her rmce which she felt had been im-
properly taken away. "™ Nevertheless, the Department of Justice rec-
ommended that the exemptions be granted snd that the cases of Mrs.
Shiramizu and Dr. Ochikubo be rendered moot. The government nesded
time to develop some administrative method for dealing with its in-
creasingly untenable position.® In Ochikubo's ease an exemplion was
not granted because he had been denied leave clearance by the Jap-
anese American Joint Board, ™ but the government was still able to
prevail because the court determined that Dr. Ochikubo was unlikely
to face immediate use of force if he retumed; therefore an injunction
mj“_“ ﬂ'.e ““dﬁmmnmwﬁm.“mmmﬂm
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government that it had to develop promptly a plan for orderly retum
to the West Coast or the courts might well permit a less controlled
return.

The War Department now assumed that the exclusion would end
soon, and the Western Defense Command focused on meintaining the
power to exclude individuals and assure an orderly return, On August
B, 1944 General Bonesteel sent General Marshall a long, detatled
memorandum cutlining reasons to terminate mass exclusion and in-
stitute an individual exclusion program. Recognizing that public epin-
ion against the ethnic Japanese might lead to unrest, Bonesteel thought
it could be confined if dangerous individuals were excluded. A number
of important groups stood ready to assist the returning Nisei, he noted,
because they “feel strongly that the Japanese who are citizens are
entitled to their rights as such.™™ The memorandum brought oo re-
SpOnse,

On September 19, 1944, Bonesteel wrote a rather alarmed fol-
lowup memorandum. More requests for travel and residence permits
in the prohibited area, and more publicity about changes in the ex-
clusion program sugeested by the settlement of suits such as Shiramizu,
led Bonesteel to fear forced change by the courts if mass exclusion
were not lifted, ®* Two days later another Bonesteel memorandum re-
peated that prompt action was essential and outlined the West Coast
publicity given to Skiraomizu and Ochikubo; again he insisted “[i]t
would be most unfortunate if the return of Japanese Americans should
be sccomplished abruptly and without adequate controls. "

Bomesteel wrote again on October 24, this time to MeCloy, whom
he asked for a personal meeting. A week loter McCloy at last began
to address the matter, revealing why the Department had been le-
thargic:

[Flrom what I can judge to be the sense of those who will have

the ultimate decision on most of these questions, there is a dis-

position not to crowd action oo closely upon the heels of the
election. As many of the considerations will have to be dealt with
on high political rather than military levels, 1 am inclined to think

we shall have a greater opportunity for constructive plans at o date
somewhat later than November 6th, 97

THE END OF EXCLUSION

The presidential election brought matters to s head. At the first Cabinet
meeting after the election, on November 10, it was decided to 1ift the
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exclusion. On Nevember 13, a meeting in the Atorney General's office
discussed how to implement that decision, talking of plans and a ten-
tative date for lifting the order.™ Clearly, impending decisions in the
Supreme Court cases, which would address the legality of exclusion
and detention, were spectres harrying the decision makers.

On Movember 20, 1944, Attorney General Biddle wrote McClay
that rumors of the proposed releases are “ahout the West Coast™ and
he emphasized “utmost secrecy. ™ The President didn't drop his guard
on the subject. At a press conference en November 21 he was directly
asked about ending the exclusion:

. Mr. President, there is a great deal of renewed controversy
on the Pacific Coast about the matter of allowing the return of
these Japaness who were evacuated in 1942 Do you think that
the danger of espionage or sabotage has sufficiently diminished so
that there can be a relazation of the restrictions that have been
in effect for the last two vears?

The President: In most of the cases. That doesn't mean all of
them. And, of course, we have been trying to—1 am now talking
about. . . ., Japanese Americans, [ am not talking about the Jap-
anese themselves. A pood deal of progress has been made in
scattering them through the country, and that is going on almost
every day. [ have forgotten what the figures are. There are about
roughly a hundred—a hundred thousand Japanese-origin citizens
in this country. And it is felt by a great many lawyers that under
the Constitution they can't be kept locked up in concentration
camps. And a good many of them, as [ remember it—you had
better check with the Secretary of Interior on this—somewhere
wround 20 or 25 percent of all those ctizens have re-placed them-
selvies, and in a great many parts of the country.

And the example that | always cite, to take a unit, is the size
of the county, whether it's in the Hudson River valley or in western
“Joe-gia” (Georgia) which we all know, in one of those counties,
probably half a dozen or a dozen families could be scattered around
om the farms and worked into the community. After all, they are
American citizens, and we all know that American citizens have
certain privileges. And they wouldn't—what's my favorite word f—
discombobolate—{Laughter}—the existing population of those
particular counties very much. After all—what?—75 thousand
families scattered all around the United States is not going to
upset anybody. . . . And, of course we are actuated by the—in
part by the very wonderful record that the Japanese in that bat-
talion in Ttaly have been making in the war. It is one of the
outstanding hattalions we have,

(. Bui, sir, the discussion on the West Coast is more about the
relzxation of the military restrictions in that prohibited area, as to
whether they should be allowed in the areas from which they have
been excluded. It isn't about allowing them to go elsewhere in
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the country. [ was wondering if you felt that the danger of espi-
onage had sufficiently diminished so that the military restrictions
that were passed could be lifted?
The President: That 1 coubdn’t tell you, because I don't know. =
Thus, the government entered December with the decision made but
not publicly announced.

By December 8, the government was establishing policies and
procedures for the “final phase of the program™ and preparing press
statemnents to be issued when exclusion was lifted. The statement noted
that the WERA would extend its relocation program to cover the entire
eountry, but lifting the order did not mean that a hasty mass movement
would return all evacuees to the West Coast. "One of the major WHRA
aims, from the beginning, has been to encournge the widest possible
dispersal of evacuees throughout the Nation, and this will continue as
u prime ohjective during the final phise of the program.” By December
1844, 35,000 of the 110,000 persons originally evacuated had relocated
outside the Western Defense Command arca. The statement also noted
that WHA would work toward early shutdown of the relocation centers,
with all to be closed within a year.™

As an essential part of ending exclusion, the Departments of War
and Justice began to develop lists of individial evacuees. Separately
enumersted were Japanese aliens under segregation parole orders pro-
hibiting them from leaving Tule Lake Segregation Center; ordinary
parolees st Tule Lake who might be excluded from military areas;
Japanese aliens paroled under Immigration Service safeguards that
forbade their return to the Coast; and individuals under ordinary parole
putside Tule Lake who might be excluded from the West Coast, The
Justice Department believed that being on parole was not a sufficient
busis for exclusion.™ On December 9 the Western Defense Command
delbvered to the Chief of Staff a list of persons it thought had to be
excluded from critical areas of the WDC and detained in a camp similar
to Tule Lake ™ The list consisted of 4,963 persons, of whom 3,066
were in the Tule Lake Segregation Center; others were in & number
of other camps; 510 were unaccounted for.™ The Army suggested to
Dillon Myer that the number might grow to approximately 5,500,%
The standards by which excludees were selected were:

* Refosal to register on the Selective Service questionnaire.

» Refusal to serve in the United States armed forces,

-:;lﬁfa!.wﬂiwutquaﬂﬁcaﬁm.hmuﬂeginncemﬂ\ﬁumbd
5.

* Voluntary submittal of a written statement of lovalty to Japan,

* Agents or operatives of Japan.
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* Voluntary request of revocation of American citizenship, ™

Finally, after extensive preparation, the termination plan was pre-
sented to Roosevelt for concurrence. On December 13, 1844, Secretary
Stimson told the President, yet again, that continued mass exchision
was no longer a matter of military necessity—the loyal had been sep-
arated from the disloyal and the morale of Japanese American soldiers
was suffering because of continued exclusion. Stimson worried about
sabotage and espionage, but was persuaded that return of most Japa-
nese to the West Coast should nonetheless be carried out. He set forth
safeguards to assure that return would be gradual and that efforts would
continue to relocate those of Japanese descent in other parts of the
country. An individual exclusion program would be instituted, The
Department of Justice would ultimately take responsibility for deten-
tion and for determining who should be released. Because it would be
announced that only persons cleared by the military authorities would
be permitted to return, Stimson was confident that any civil unrest
could be handled. Finally, Stmson noted that a system to permit
orderly return was much preferable to an unfavorable court decision
that might require sudden, unplanned return.® In a cover memoran-
dum to Hoosevelt's secretary, Stimson noted that he wanted to be sure
the President had no objection, but that he wis not asking Roosevelt
to make the decision.™ The President did not object to the announce-
ment. ™

Implementation remained. On December 15, Colone]l William
Hyan of the Western Defense Command sent Dillon Myer the so-
called “white list™ of 25,975 names of those who would not be excluded.
He noted that an additional 19,956 persons under age 14 were in the
same category (totaling ever 115,000)."™ On December 16, 1944, the
Solicitor General sent copies of correspondence about the rescission
of exclusion and a copy of Public Procdlamation Number 21 to Chief
Justice Stone, presumably in the hope of mooting any decision in the
Ends case. ™

Finally, on December 17, 1844, Public Proclamation Number 21
was issued. General DeWitl's mass exclusion arders were rescinded,
and individual exclusions from “sensitive” areas of the Western Defense
Command took their place. Even in the proclamation the federal gov-
emment worked to protect its political pesition on the West Coast by
stressing the care it took before restoring the ethnic Japanese to their
full Fights:

The people of the states situated within the Western Defense

Command, are assured that the records of all persons of Japanese



An sccommpanying press relesse rebheaned the history of the exchusion
order, then stated that persons of Japanese ancestry had their Jovalty
mvestigated " probubly more thormoghly then ey other segpment of oar
populstion. ™™ Another press relesse stressed that Jifhose persons
who will be permitted to retum have been cleared by Army authori-
m‘“
Seorvtany bokes marked the oomsion by semling sppropriate thanks
o the entire stalf of the War Relocation Autharity:
Behind you is & record of accomplishment of which youo all
hmdrmheeﬁmhuddrmﬂrmﬂmtd
the most difficult and trving jobs that has been entrusted to an
agency of Government. You, and particularly Mr. Dillon Myer,
the Director of the War Relocation Authority, have been subjected
to m good deal of abuse from persons who coubd not or would not
understand the problem with which you were dealing. But in spite
af this, mhlivem:.ﬁ:mh a carefully ﬂh.;\'iiﬁdpﬂgmmudﬂl
regard not only itions imposed by military authority,
bt also for the human values concerned, "™

THE SUPFREME COURT RULINGS

Immedistely after the announcement the Supreme Court handed down
opinioss in both Kerrmstrs and Ex perte Endo.™ In Koremetsu, a
divided court upheld the oriminal comviction of Fred Koremstse for
failing to report to an sssesnbly center i May 1942 poramnt to the
plas Bwrough whach be would be pachuded from Calfnis snd st o
a rebocation center. Justws Huogo Black wrote s short opinion for the
majority which is remarkable i its treatment of both the facts and the
lrw. The Court did oot endertale any careful review of the Bty of
the situstion on the West Coast in eardy 1842 It svoided this task by
choosing to give great deferencr to the military judgment on which
the decision was based. This approach of deferring to the militery
judgment rather than looking closely at the record which the govern-
ment had been shle to pull together was the only plausible course for
the Court to follow i it were to conclude that exclusion was consti-
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tutionally permissible. If the Court had looked hard, it would have
hmd&ﬂhmwmhmgMBmmmmh il
itary competence which could be rationally related to the extraordinary
action taken. Justice Murphy's vehement dissent made that plain as
he dissected and destroyed General DeWitts Final Report, It is the
inevitable conclusion which the Commission has also reached after
extensive study of a very substantial body of facts. It was also the
canclusion of those who carefully studied the opinion, the briefs and
the record immediately after Korematsu was decided. Evgene Rostow
wrote the seminal article sbout the cases in 1945 and dealt paintedly
with the issue of factual proof of “military necessity.” Rostow believed
a comvineing and substantial factual case had to be made before civil
rights could be permissibly invaded as they were here, but he con-
cluded that one did not have to insist upon that rule of proof to conclude
that the Japanese American cases were wrongly decided:
No matter how narrowly the rule of proof is formulated, it could
not have been satisfied in either the Hirabayashd or the Korematsu
cases. Not only was there insufficlent evidenoe in those cases to
satisfy a reasonably prudent judge or a reasonably prudent general;
there was no evidence whatever by which a court might test the
responsibility of General DeWitt's action, either under the statute
of March 21, 1942, or on more general considerations. True, in
the Hirabayashi case the Court carefully identified certain of Gen-
eral DeWitt's proclamations as “findings,” which established the
conformity of his actions to the standard of the statute—the pro-
tection of military resources against the risk of sabotage and es-
pionage. But the military proclamations record conclusions, not
evidence. And in both cases the record is bare of testimony on
either side about the policy of the curfew or the exclusion orders.
There was every reason to have regarded this omission as a fital
defect, and to have remanded in each case for a trial on the
justification of the discriminatory curfew and of the exclusion or-
ders.
Such an inquiry would have been illuminating. General DeWitt's
Final Report and his testimony before committees of the Congress
clearly indicated that his motivation was ignorant race prejudice,
not facts to support the hypothesis that there was 5 greater risk
of sabotage among the Japanese than among residents of German,
Italian, or any other ethnic affiliation. The most significant com-
ment on the guality of the General's report is contained in the
government's brief in Korematsu v, United States. There the So-
licitor General said that the report was relied upon “for statistics
and other details concerning the actual evacuation and the events
that took place subsequent thereto. We have specifically recited
in this brief the facts relating to the justification for the evacuation,
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of which we ask the Court to take judicial notice, snd we rely

upon the Final Report only to the extent that it

Yet the Final Report embodied the basic decision under review

and ststed the rezsons why it was sctually undertaken. General

DeWitt's Final Recommendation to the Secvetary of War, dated

Febaruary 14, 1942, included in the Final Report, was the dosest

sppronimatcon we have in theswr cases to an suthortstive deter-

nination of bt ™
trrmining kyalty which are central to DeWitt's final recommensdstaon.
arsd hanve poanted out the wealmess of the prvernment's e when it
was put 1o its proof oo the facts in cases such s Fhel srd Schueller.

Mo pne reading the Sopreme Court's apinion today with knowd-
cdge of the excheion, evacuation and detention can conclude that the
by the government in the momentous historical events under review.
The only concrete item pointed out to show dishoyalty smong evacuess
was the fsct that spproximately 5,000 American citizens in the relo-
eathon camps had refused to swear ungualified allegiance to the United
States, 8 fact that is meaningless without understanding conditions
within the camps.

What of the law on which the case was based? There are two
principles in contention in the majority opinkn; the presumption against
invidious racial discrimination which requires that recial classifications
be given strict scruting, and the deference o miliry judgment in
wartime based on the war powers of the Constitution and expressed
in the banal sphorism that the power o wage war is the power to wage
war successfully. In this cese. of course, the Court found that military
intrrests prevailed over the presumption against racial dserimination.

Todey the decision in Korematrs les overruled in the conrt of
history First, the Supreme Court, a litthe more thas s year later in
Duncen v. Kehenemoku, reviewed the imposition of martis] bee n
Hpwaci and struck it down, making sdamantly chear that the principles
and practices of Ameriran pvernment are permested by the belicf
that boval citerems in loval territory are to be poverned by civil rether
than military suthority, and that when the miltary ssammes civil fonc-
oo in sesch circumstances it will recerve oo deference from the courte
in feviewing its sctinns ™ Korematsu fits the Duncen pattern—the
civil government, it was besed on coltural and secial facts in which the
military had no training or expertise. Genersl DeWitt had assumed
the role of omniscient sociologist and anthropologist. Duncan makes

i
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clear that no deference will be given to military judgments of that
nature,

The other legal leg of the opinion, the fiilure to strike down an
invidious racial discrimination, stands isolated in the lyw—the Japanese
American cases have never been followed and are routinely cited as
the only modern examples of invidious racial diserimination which the
Supreme Court has not stricken down, Typically, Justice Powell wrote
in 1980:

Under this Court’s established doctrine, a racial dassification is

suspect and subject to strict judicial serutiny, . . . Only two of

this Court's modern cases have held the use of racial classifications

to be constitutional. See Koremaotsu v. United States, 323 U.5.

214 (1944). Hirchayashi v. United States, 320 U.5. 81 (1943).

Indeed, the failure of legislative action to survive strict scrutiny

has led some to wonder whether our review of racial elassifications

has been strict in theory, but fatal in fact, "™

Moreover, the law has evolved in the last forty years and the equal
protection of the laws, once applicible only to the states by the language
of the Fourteenth Amendment, has now been applied through the doe
process clause of the Fifth Amendment to actions of the federal gov-
emment. ™ Thus the constitutional protection against federal discrim-
ination has been strengthened. Korematsu is a curiosity, not a prec-
edent on questions of mcial discrimination.

Finally, insofar as Korematsu relied on the inherent authority of
an executive order from the Commander in Chief and not on 2 program
articulated and defined by statute, that precedent has been overruled
by the decision of the Court in the steel seizure case.'"!

Korematsu has not been overruled—we have not been so unfor-
tunate that a repetition of the facts has oecurred to give the Court that
opportunity—but each part of the decision, questions of both factus]
review and legal principles, has been discredited or abandoned.

The result in the companion case of Ex parte Endo was very
different. The Court unanimously reversed Ends and ruled that an
admittedly loyal American citizen could not be held in @ relocation
camp against her will. But even this ruling was on the narmow ground
that no statute or even an explicit executive order supported this course
of conduct, The Supreme Court does not reach constitutional issues
unnecessarily, but the tone of Justice Douglas’s writing in Endo was
nonctheless crabbed and confined. Even this very substantial and im-
portant victory for the evacuees did not come with an air of generosity
or largeness of spirit.''®
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COING HOME

Fesettlement now moved forward, altheugh the government continued
to develop lists of individual excludees, with the WHA and the War
Department disputing how many were on the lists and whether new
persons could be added. For example, Dillon Myer was concerned
that the Western Defense Command continued to exclude those who
had been granted leave clearance by WRA, most Buddhist priests, and
other previously unlisted persons. ' The Eastern Defense Command
was anxious shout accepting people of Japanese descent excluded from
the West Coast. ' Governor Wallgren, newly-elected in the State of
Washington, continued to favor mass exclusion; he was “extremely
antagomistic toward the Japanese and . . . positive in his assertion that
& mistake had been made, from the point of view of the war effort, in
allowing any to return and that this mistake should be remedied, "1
But generally the Army was pleased with the course of events on the
West Coast. General Pratt, now in charge of the WDC, wrote, “The
first reactions to the change in the policy with reference to control of
Japanese Americans has been even more favorable than | hoped. While
I anticipate that this favorable reaction will continue and will be a
strong factor in preventing the development of unfavorable agitation,
wie should be prepared in case any untoward incident occurs. ™1
Whether and how quickly to close the relocation centers was
another concern. Proclamation No, 21 indicated that the centers would
be closed within a year. WHA believed that such an announcement
was esgential to assure that people in the centers would move out, and
that evacuees in the camps would not become a dependent group like
the American Indians. The public and some government officials, how-
ever, expressed concern that some persons of Japanese ancestry would
be left homeless and without livelihoods if the centers were perma-
nently dosed. "™ On the other side, Congressman May suggested in-
troducing legislation to have the centers closed by June 30, 1945
Secretary Ickes, sensitive to the need to provide for relocatees, opposed
the hill."™* Indeed, all centers but Tole Lake were closed by January
1946. Tule Lake was kept open to permit the Justice Department o
complete its hearings on detainees there 1% :
The end of mass exclusion didd not spell the end of hardship for
the evacuees, Throughout 1945, evacuees returned to the West Coast,
not only from the eamps but also from interior states where they had
been resettled. For many, leaving the camps was as traumatic as en-
tering them. However unpleasant their lives in camp, it was preferable



ENDING THE EXCLUSION 241

to an unknown, possibly hostile reception on the West Coast, By
January 1845, only one of every six Issei had left. '™ Now they would
have to be persuaded to leave, ' Suicides, especially among elderly
bachelors, were reported."™ Many were frightened, particulardy of
reintegrating with whites after the segregated life of the camps. ™ Some
came to resettlement lacking self-esteem, and perhaps identifying with
the stereotypes that had been projected upon them, " Some felt shame
when they were let out of camp. "™ A great many felt the burden of
starting over, at an older age and for & second time. '™ After encouraging
evenyone to leave and scheduling closing dates for each camp, the
WRA finally gave the remaining evacuees train fare to the point of
their evacuation, and made them leave, 7

They returned by the trainkoad to Los Angeles, San Francisco and
Seattle. Often elderly and infirm or burdened with heavy family re-
sponsibility, the last evacoees to leave “piled into temporary shelters,
hotels, converted Army barracks, and public housing, ™™ Each person
was given an allowance of 825, Very few could come back to their
prewar holdings. Only about 25 percent of the prewar farm operators,
for example, retained property.'™

Many testified that their stored possessons had been lost or stolen. '
Sometimes taxes had not been paid, and special measures to keep
property from tax sales were required. " Others found their bomes or
farms ill-cared-for, overgrown with weeds, badly tended or de-
stroyed. '™ Furnishings, farm equipment and machinery were lost or
stolen. ™ One person reported finding strangers living in his former
home. **

Almost uniformly, those who did not return o homes they owned
testified that housing was extremely hard to find because of postwar
shortages and discrimination against Japanese Americans. " The WHRA
eomeluded that “ne other problem has provided so widespread an ob-
stacle to satisfactory adjustment. ™™ Families lived in a single room,
sometimes with a common bathroom or kitchen down the hall, or they
lived in hotels or churches. ™ Some, particularly women, took room-
and-bnard jobs—low-skilled and Jow-paying work—in order to have &
plare to live. "™ Indeed, it was not uncommaon that almest every family
member had to work in order to make ends meet.™ John Saito’s
experience typifies much of the testimony:

My father first came back to Los Angeles in July of 1845, and

worked as a dishwasher at a skid row restaurant on Sth Street. T

came back to Los Angeles after my father and stayed at his hotel
room in the skid row area, There was ooly one room, and only

$3-124 - 97 - 9
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ene bed, he worked the graveyard shift and 1 went to school during

the day, therefore, we managed to use the same bod at different

hours of the day. My mother was stll in Idaho working as & cook
at a farm labor camp, My older brother was still overseas with the

#42nd Regimental Combat Team. My mother had scrimped and

saved her salary as a cook for over three years, and finally had

enough money for a down payment on & house. We purchased
the house in 1546, and tried to move in only o find two Caveasian
men sitting on the front steps with & court injunction prohibiting
us from moving in because of a restrictive convenant. I we moved
in, we would be subject to $1,000 fine and/or one year in the

County Jail. We were in a financial bind because we could not

afford both mertgage and rental payments, We had to sell our

house during a period of a housing shortage. ™

Housing was not the only problem—during the first six months
af 1845, violence was relatively common. One of the first incidents
oocurred on January B, when someone tried to dynamite and burn an
evacuee's fruit packing shed. About thirty incidents followed, maostly
shots fired into evaruee homes. " Boyeotts of evacuee produce were
threatened. ' General harassment, such as signs announcing “No Japs
allowed, no Japs welcome,” was widespread, "

Although jobs on the West Coast were relatively plentiful, much
employment discrimination blocked evacuees, " and many had to take
menial jobs."* Although they had little difficulty finding work as farm
laborers, ™ the number who ran their own establishments was much
lower than it had been before the war. Only a fourth as many were
farming now, which meant severely curtailed opportunities for whole-
sabe and retail cperations, ¥ So the majority moved into other fields,
scattered among many different jobs. Others were compelled to take
welfare payments, " Almost all worked long and hard to restore their
former status, The Fssed were particularly burdened, for many would
otherwise have retired; but now they had to work. '™

Another matter of great concern during this period was reuniting
familics. In many cases the younger, more emplovable members had
relocated to the cast during 1843 and 1944, Their parents were likely
to return to the West Coast on leaving the camps. Thus the resettle-
ment process was marked by much second-time resettling, as children
carme from the east to join thedr parents or vice versa. !5

Despite the many problems faced by the retuning evacuees, most
were successful in rebuilding their lives. The political leadership, both
federal and state, was working to expedite their return. The West
Coast was experiencing tremendous postwar growth and the ethnic
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Japanese were becoming just one of many minority groups. Equally
important were the groups working for justice for the ethnic Jupanese.
Many were church people, particularly Quakers and liberals, who worked
with the Army and WRA. They offered temporary shelter, provided
moral support, sponsored public talks about the Nisei military record
and tried to counteract anti-Japanese movements. ¥ At long last the
Nikkedi captivity was over; the ardwous task of cresting new lives had
begun.



9

Protest and Disaffection

The loyalty questipnnaire brovght each evacuce a choice: would he
believe the country’s rhetoric and hope for his own foture in the United
States, or protest the sqoalid injustice of camp life and the betrayal of
Amecrican promises? Rage and protest were deeply human reactions
to circumstances that often allowed no dignified response. But, inside
the camp, bitterness offered little on which to build a new and satisfying
life. As 1944 began, the energetic and optimistic were rapidly relo-
cating. leaving behind in camp the old and hostile, Tule Lake was a
nightrnare of strikes and Army occupation, for any progress toward
ending the exclusion had not touched these evacuees. They had lost
almost evervthing, even modest control of their own lives. And their
deepening sense of loss and frustration had virtually no ootlet,
When the government forced choices upon them, by restoring
the draft and making it possible to renounce citizenship, many evac-
wees, particularly those swayed by strong leaders, reacted with pre-
dictable outrage. They would reject decisively the country that had
rejected them. Even those whose character forbade angry outhursts
could vent their anger in a quiet way—hy asking to go to Japan. Draft
resistance and renunciation illuminated the darkest shadows of exclo-
sion and detention, showing losses as painful as loging home or business:
the loss of eonfidence in American society and its moral values. He-
sistance and renunciation were all the more poignant because they
often seemed the only way to maintain one’s dignity and self-respect,

245
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THE DRAFT

In December 1943, the government announced that Selective Service
would begin to induct Nisel. The idea of drafting the Nisei was not
new. [t had been discussed ot least as early as October 1842, when
Elmer Davis argued to the President that “it would hardly be fair to
evacuate people and then impose normal draft procedures ™! At that
time, Davis's view had prevailed. Now the War Department was chang-
ing its mind, which Secretary Stimson attributed to the fine record of
Nisei volunteers.? The need for manpower and the small number of
volunteers from the camps were undoubtedly factors as well.* Sup-
porting the decision as a return to normal nondiscriminatory citizenship
were the JACL and WRA, which had long been on record supporting
the druft.*

Mot until January 14, 1944, however, did Selective Serviee local
board regulations permit Nisei eligibility for the draft, subject to War
Department acceptability, principally a review of loyalty.® Acceptable
registrants were reclassified [-A, the status of other eligible citizens.
Many of the 2,800 Nisei inductees from the camps welcomed the draft.
It reinstated their rights, offered 8 means to evade their parents’ ob-
jection to voluntary enlistment and produced a job as well as escape
from the debilitating idleness and confinement of camp. The draft
suecessfully solicited replacements for the 100th Battalion and the
442nd Regimental Combat Team.

For others, however, the draft was yet another humilistion. The
gevernment that had already behaved so shabbily now was forcing its
prisoners to fight the war. About 300 refused to report for physicals
or induction® on the grounds that their citizenship rights should be
fully restored before they were compelled to serve in the armed forces.
The most organized resistance came from Heart Mountain, although
Poston had a greater number of refusals.” In early 1944, Rocky Shimpo,
a Denver newspaper, ran & series of articles against the draft, and at
Heart Mountain, a “Fair Play Committee™ took over the resistance.
Although the newspaper was silenced, the Committes dissolved and
its leaders sent to Tule Lake, their work had effect: sixty-three Nisei
at Heart Mountain resisted the draft, fifty-one of whom said they would
serve if their citizenship rights were restored.® The resisters argued
that their cases were test cases o clarify their citizenship rights. They
were tried, convicted, and sentenced to three years in federal prison;
appeals ffled ®

Three hundred fifteen young men refused to be inducted, Of
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these, 863 were convicted. The rest were released, or volunteered, or
were in prooess &t the time these statistics were compiled. ™ In 1947,
2 Frossdential pardon was granted to those who had been convicted 1

I think this was a2 program in the Department of Justice which
Euled —Edscard Ennds™
By mad- 1944, relations between the sdmmnistration and the evac-
wees were of a bow ebb. Evacuees had been confined for bao years and
mood was particularly blesk at Tule Lake. The first siv months of 15944
were highly emotional as the accommodationists struggled for power
in camp with more extreme pro-Japan forees, The extremists had poor
conditions on their side. Although the Army fully withdrew from the
camp In May, the stockade—the prison within a prison—establiched
alter the November “riot” remained. Sanitation was primitive and food
inadequate, Mail was censored and visitors prohibited. ' Tokio Yamane
deseribed conditions in the stockade’s “bull pen:”
Prisoners in the stockade lived in wooden buildings which, al-
though flimsy, still ofered some protection from the severe win-
of Tule Lake. However, prisoners in the “bull pen™ were
outdoors in tents without beat and with no protection

g
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the
extra clothing to ward off the winter chill And, for the frst
| “baall

it
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oudd :
near the Oregon border. and | shall never forget that harrible
experience. ™
Apprals to the Spanish consul_ scting & istermediary for the povern-
ment of japan. had been krgely unsuccessful ™ Although the stockade
—qﬂhﬁﬁhﬂhmumn’m&hmﬂ
suit in August 1944 " in June, afier cight months of existence, it
apprared permancnt. L )
Outside the camps, repercussions from the “riot” of the previous
November continued. The old idea of stripping the Nisei of their
citizenship revived. Under Congressional pressire, Attorney General
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Biddle finally agreed w compromise; he would support & new option—
& statute permitting voluntary renunciation of citizenship. ™ A hill was
passed and signed into bew on July 1. 1964, designed primarily o
get the extremist group who demanded return to Jspan oot of Tule
Lake and into Justice Department internment camps. ™
After conferences between WHA and the Department of Jostice,
a procedure 1o cficct repenciabion was snnounced in Octoher 1944 ™
The cvaruee would make a written request to the Justier Department,
followed by & bearing After the hearing and & krmal renoncation,
the Attorney General woold grant approval ®
At Tule Lake, the new resuncistion process began just as the
strongly militent pro-Japen faction emenped in camp. From the begin-
ming of Tule Lake's cxistence as a segregation cenler, sOme cvacpees
(dubbed ~resegregationiats”) had adeed for & camp composed solely of
people who preferred Japan and the Japanese way of life.= By mid-
1944, this group generally dominated the camp, and the WHRA seemed
unwilling or unable to restore balance to the community. In July a
moderate evacuce had been murdered, and the resegregationists were
implicated, There had also been o wave of beatings of people who were
suspected fnu—dogs, who collaborated with the authorities.® Few
were willing to risk falling victim to this terrorist sctivity.™ The re-
segregationists had also begun a series of “Jepanese”™ activities—lan-
guage schools, lectures and athletics,™ which attracted & wide follow-
ing. ™ Soon morning outdoor exercises were added, which gradually
sun.™ Taeko Olamura described her childhood experience of this time
st Tule Lake-
My sister and | were enrolled in a Japanese schoal in preperation
fior our eventual expatriation to Jspan. Our teschen were proerally
nmﬂhﬁuﬂﬂrhbﬂdmhm
aho to be provd as Japanese. Their goals were to teach us o
be pood Japenese so that we would not be embarrened when we
Eot to Japan
We were often ssked 1o wesr red or white hesdbands and do
rarching corroises. We were seakened carhy, humedly got dresed
and gathered of one end of the block where 8 lesder led us in
traditional Japanese calisthenios. As the sun rose, we bowed oor
heads to the east. This was to show our respect to the Emperor.
We wepre also bed in the dean-up of our Block ares before breakfast.
Our block was locsted on the southwest corner of the camp
prounds. The double barbed wire fence was just beyond the next
barrack from our compartment. A guard tower with uniformed
men and weapons were in view at all times, Search lights were
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beamed onto the camp grounds at night. Uniformed men with
weapons driving around in jeeps was & common sight, As a result
of this experience, | used to be afraid of any white adult male for
a very long time.

Demonstrations in protest of one thing or other were frequent,
We very often locked ourselves in our room to avoid participating
in these demonstrations. Physical violence and verbal abuses were
ecommon at these demonstrations where feelings ran high. And
whenever a large demonstration took place, we could always ex-
pect the camp authorities to send out soldiers to search our rooms
for comtrabund. These searches were very thorough and evervthing
was ransacked.

Life in Tule Lake Segregation Camp for children was not very
pleasant. There was very little to do for entertainment. Toys were
searce, We often plaved hopscoteh using the coal pieces from the
pile in front of the bathroom area. Coal was fed into the furnace
by a man to make hot water. Cur mothers gave vs outdated Wards
or Sears catalogues so we could cut out the models to use as paper
dolls. We also spent a great deal of time looking for tiny shells
which our mothers bleached and mede into necklaces and pins, ®*

Other witnesses recalled similar experiences:

It was slmost mandstory for all Japanese students to attend Jap-
anese Language School. The pressure of academic excellence was
stressed. ™

The militant group were the Kibei and they had control of the
people by strong arm tectics. They had military marching exercises
and attempted to make evervhody get out and march around the
camp.™

Mow the resegregationists added renunciation of citizenship to
their program.

As spon as official procedures for renunciation were established,
stromg pressure was applied by the extremists. The resegregationists
stepped up militaristic activity, began to spread news of Japanese vie-
tories,™ and circulated rumors that those who did not renounee would
b drafted or ineligible for repatriation. Despite these tacties, however,
by mid-December only about 600 people had filed their applications. **

On December 17, however, two announcements tumed the tide
in faver of renunciation: the WD rescission of the mass exclusion
order and WHA's decision to close the camps within a year ™ To the
segregees, alienated and distrustful, this meant destruction of the ref-
uge of the camps and the synthetic world they had created there ™
Communications from campmates who had left for the West Coast and
news reports then convinced the evacuees that their old neighborhoods
were more hostile and dangerous than before evecuation.™ Renuncia-
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thon seemed the best way 1o escape resettlement. ™ The December 27
Justice Department roundup and removal to internment camps of a
oumber of the frst groop of renunciants seemed to confirm this =
Fenuncistion also seemed a way to keep the family toprther. Mamy
believed that diskoyal bsei would be deported after the war; by re-
nouncing. the Nisei could join them ™ Thas strengthened, resegre-
gatiomints intensified their coercive tactics, ™ inchoding thrests to beat
up Eamilies umbess the Nisei renounced * and WHA continued o allow
resegregationists o terrorize the camp. Finally, renuncistion was one
more way to cxpress resentment. As Fdward Ennds described it re-
munciants were “civioushy 2 lot of people who were deprived of their
liberty and put into camps. This was 3 perfectly honest expression of
what they felt. They just threw back their citizenship at us. ™

By January, renunciation had beeome a mass movement, as 3,400
applied in that month alone.® Over a thousand spplied in February.
In March, after four more transfers to internment camps, the WRA
finally decided to crack down. They decreed that Japanese nationalistic
activithes were unlawfiul and began to step into the internal affairs of
the camp.* At this point, the fervor declined. But by then over 5,000
citbzens, including more than 70 percent of the Tule Lake Nisei, had
renounced their citizenship. *

In the late spring of 1943, thousands of renunciants began to regret
their decisions. The success of the Nisei combat team was beginning
to turn the tide of public opinion, and relocation went more smoothly.
Japan was on the verge of defeat. The Justice Department had decided
to use Tule Lake to hold many renunciants while their lssei parents
were resetthed

The Justice Department, unmoved by the plight of Nisei who
wanted to regain their citizenship and leave camp with the rest of thear
families, announced on October 5 that @ would begin o send =
nmnciants to Japes * To fght the deportation, & group of renenciaats
again called vpon Wiyne Collins, who filed @ federal courts to release
the repunciants and void the remuncistions. The suity charged that
these were pot free acts end that the grvernment had keowingly 2l
kowed the resegregationists to carry ot their violent, seditions cam-
paign.” When the judge staved the deportation, the Justice Depart-
ment began individual bearings to determine whether internees should
be released. All bt 448 were allowed o relocate. ® On June 30, 1947,
the court ruled that none could be held, and remaining repunciants
woent free. In 1945, the same court ruled that all renunciations were
invalid *
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In 1850, however, the later judgrment was overturned by the Ninth
Circuit Court of Appeals, which decided that the District Court's find-
ing of mass coercion was incorrect; coercion had to be shown in each
case. ™ Collins continued the fight, filing over 10,000 affidavits on behald
of the renunciants. Not until 1968 was the last of these finally pro-
cessed. ™

REPATRIATION AND EXPATRIATION

While the stories of draft resisters and renunciants deamatically reveal
the angry disillusion of the camps, a brief account of aliens or citizens
wha filed for repatriation or expatriation to Japan shows with equal
foree the disaffection cinsed by evacustion and prolonged detention.
During 1942, the year in which those who felt instinctively loval to
Japan could have been expected to ask to po there, relatively fow
applications were made. By the end of 1842, the WHA had only 2,255
applications from a possible group of about 120, 000.% About 58 percent
of these came from aliens; another 23 percent were citizens under 18,
many of whom were probably dependents of aliens.™ In short, very
few adult American citizens had made an independent effort to express
allegiance to Japan by leaving the United States,

By the end of 1943, the situation had changed remarkably. There
were 8,028 applications on file, an increase of 6,673, Furthermore,
by more than two to one, applications came from American citizens.
What prompted this surge of feeling against the United States? The
lowalty registration was clearly one Betor. Over 40 percent of the mew
applications had been filed during approximately ten wecks of rogis-
tration,* They came from all camps, but Granada and Minidoka, which
had little problem with registration, produced fewest applications,™
Clearly, a request to leave for Japan had become one of the few ontlets
wherehy imprisoned evacuees could vent their anger about the lovalty
guestionnaire, and perhaps escape it entirely.™

In 1944, the numbsers jumpt_-,d again. The WEA records 15,014
applications in December 1844, an increase of 9 9586 over the previous
vear. Over 75 percent of these came from Tule Lake,™ where filing
an application made one less lkely to face “inu” taunts from resegre-
gationists. ™ By the end of 1945, over 20,000 requests had been mache
through the WOCA and WHRA—over 16 percent of the total number
of evacuees,
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Most of the applicants never left for Japan. Only 4,724 travelled
directly to Japan from the WRA centers™ and, nationwide, only about
B, 000 left.® When the exclusion order was lifted, many repatriate and
expatriate applicants were free to resettle; more were released after
their renunciation hearings. Apparently neither the government nor
the evacuees actively attemnpbed to follow up after the war,

Mo other statistics chronicle so clearly as these the decline of
evacuees faith in the United States. In the assembly and relocation
centers, applications to go to Japan had been one of the few nonviolent
ways to protest degrading treatment, During three years of rising
humiliation, 20,000 people chose this means to express their pain,
outrage and alienation, in one of the saddest testaments to the injustice
of exclusion and detention. The cold statistics fail, even so, to convey
the scars of mind &nd soul that many carried with thesn from the camps.
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Military Service

Since their words would not have been believed, especially in
wartime, [Japanese Americans] communicated by action and be-
havior. “We are good Americans,” they said. “"We are good neigh-
bors. We are useful and productive citizens. We love America
and are willing to die for her.” These messages were commumi-
cated by the industry of workers and businessmen and furmers,
by their service to the communities in which they live, by their
behavior as good citizens, and by the war record of the 442nd. It
tas a form of communication for which there is no verbol or
symbolic substitute,

—=&. 1. Hayakawa"

Faollowing the attack on Pearl Harbor, the War Department stopped
taking Japanese Americans into the military, and many already in ser-
vice were relecased. Almost from the beginning, two institutions were
exempt: the Military Intelligence Service Language School (MISLS)
and the 100th Battalion, By early 1843, when Nised volunteers were
again accepted, @ new Nisei unit was formed, the 442nd Regimental
Combat Team. Many Nised also contributed in other capacities throughout
the: war,

Approximately 33,000 Nisei served in the military during World
War 1% Although many had come from the camps where their families
were still detained, Nisei service was extraordinarily heroic, At war's
end, their valor and the public tributes heaped wpon them did much
to hasten the acceptance of ethnie Japanese released from the camps:

253
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the guestion of loyalty had been most powerfully snswered by a bat-
tefield record of courage and sacrifice.

THE MILITARY INTELLICENCE SERVICE
LANCUACE SCHOOL

In the spring of 1941, & few alert Army ntellipence officers reslized
that, if war came, the Army would need japanese languege micrpreters
and translstors. After moch delay, Licut. Col John Weckerling and
Capt. Kai Rasmussen won spproval to start s small school for training
persons with some background in Japancse. On November 1, 1941,
the school opened st Crissy Field in San Francisco with four Nisei
instructors and 60 students, 58 of whom wore Japanese Americans. ®
The attack on Pearl Harbor confirmed the value of the program. During
the spring of 1942, while evacuation was proceeding, the school was
enlarged and transferred to Camp Savage in Minnesota.* Meanwhile,
the first group had completed training, and 35 of its gradustes went
to the Pacific—hall to Guadaleanal and half to the Alevtian Tslands ®
The school, now renamed the Military Intelligence Service Lan-
guage School (MIS1S) and officially part of the War Department, began
its first cluss at Camp Savage in June 1942 with 200 students.® By the
end of 142, more than 100 Nisei had left for the Pacific.” By Fall 1944,
over 1,600 had gradusted ® When the school closed in 1846, after being
moved once more to Fort Soelling, Minnesota, it had trained 6 /000
men. OF these, 3,700 served in combet arems before the Japanese
who had recetved formal educstion in Jspan—proved most qualified
for the interpreter’s task: most Nised had too bittle faciliry with Japanese
to be useful * As Mark Murslomi pointed out:
the othey hand hh—h@ﬂqumﬂdﬂ:d
usexd as @ secret weapon by the Army and Naval Intelligence =
At the beginning. MISLS gradustes were poorly csed in the Pa-
cific. A few ended up fighting rather than using their rare haguage
talent. Others were sent to remote, insctive outposts or were inefiec-
tively employed by the Army." As the war went on, however, the
situstion improved as the Army leamed how to use this valushle spe-
clalized resource.
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Many of the linguists worked in teams, translating captured doc-
uments at intelligence centers around the Pacific, Large groups, for
example, were posted in Australia, Mew Delhi and Hawaii.'® Their
assignments included battle plans, defense maps, tactical orders, in-
tercepted messages and diardes. From these, American commanders
eould anticipate enemy action, evaluate strengths and weaknesses,
avoid surprise, and strike unexpectedly, ™ The Nisel's first major ac-
complishment was translation of a document picked up on Guadaleanal,
it eompletely listed Imperial Mavy ships with their call signs and code
names, and did the same for the Japanese Nuvy's air squadrons and
bases, ™ Among other accomplishments was translation of the entire
Japanese naval battle plan for the Philippines as well as plans for
defending the island. **

In addition to rear-echelon duties, langpusre school graduates took
part in combat, adding to their other duties interrogating enemy pris-
oners and persuading enemy soldiers to survender. The first Misei to
help the Allies in actual combat through his langoage ahility was Rich-
ard Sakakida, who translated a captured set of Japanese plans for a
landing on Bataan early in the war, American tanks were ahle to move
up and ambush the invaders as they arrived. " One early group of
linguists in a combat zone went to the Aleutian Islands. " The linguists
took part in every landing in the bitter iskand-hopping campsign through
MNew Guinea, the Marianas, the Philippines and Okinawa, and partic-
ipated in surrender ceremonies in Tokyo Bay.'® Nisei linguists served
with about 130 different Army and Navy units, with the Marine Corps,
and they were loaned to combat forces from Australia, New Zealand,
England and China. ™ Arthur Morimitsu's experiences make clear the
range of demands on the linguists:

This unit later joined other units to form the Mars Task Force, a

cormmando unit. The mission was to cut off the enemy supply and

reinforcements miles behind enemy lines along the Burma Road.
We served as interpreters, questioned prisoners, translated the
captured documents. We also worked as mule skinners, volun-
tecred for patrol duty with sdvanced units and brought down dead
and wommded soldiers from the battlefields,
After we eompleted our duties with the Mars Task Force, I was
sent back to New Delhi, India, assigned to the 085, Office of
Strategic Services, as head of a detachment of Nisei MIS to in-

terrogate Japancse prisoners in preparstion for the invasion of

Japan.®

After the surrender, MISLS shifted to civil matters, and its grad-
uates helped to cccupy and reconstruct Japan. They interpreted for
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military government teams, located and repatriated imprisoned Amer-
icans, and interpreted at the war crimes trials,® Despite their impor-
tance—General Willoughby, MacArthur's chief of intelligence, has said
that the work of the Misei MIS shortened the Pacific war by two
years®—these accomplishments got little publicity; most were classi-
fied information during the war, Instead, the highly-publicized exploits
of the 100th Battalion and 442nd Begimental Combat Team in Europe
first helped to show where Nisei loyalty clearly lay.

THE 100TH BATTALION

The 100th Bartalion began as part of the Hawaii National Guard. As
evacuation plans were formulated on the mainlind, the War Depart-
ment also debated the best way to handle ethnic Japanese in Hawaii,™
On February 1, 1842, Hawailan Commander Livut, General Delos
Emmons learned to his dismay that the War Department wanted to
release the Nisei from active duty, He needed the manpower and had
been impressed with the desire of many Hawaiian Nisei to prove their
loyalty. After much discussion, Emmens recommended that a special
Misei Battalion be formed and removed to the mainland: General Mar-
shall concurred. By June 5, 1942, 1,432 men—soon o be known as
the 100th Battalion—had sailed.® The battalicn went to Camp McCoy,
Wiscomsin, for training and later to Camp Shelby in Mississippi. Cver
& year later, the group finally was ordered to North Africa, arriving on
September 2, 1943.%

From North Africa, the 100th immediately went north to Ttaby,
promptly going into combat at Salerno on September 26.% From then
until March 1844, the 100th plunged into the hloody campaign which
moved the Allies slowly up the Italian peninsula. The 100th suffered
heavy casualties; T8 men were killed and 239 wounded or injured in
the first month and & half alone.™ By the time the 100th finally pulled
pat, its effective strength was down to 521 men.™ The battalion had
earncd 500 Purple Hearts and the nickname “Purple Heart Battal-
ion. ™™ As Warren Fencl, who fought near the 100th, said of it:

The only time they ever had a desertion was from the hospital to

get back to the front. ™

After a brief rest, the 100th was sent into the offensive from the
Anzio beachhead, where it soon joined the other Nisei unit, the 442nd
Regimental Combat Team.
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THE 44ZND REGIMENTAL COMBAT TEAM

While the 100th Battalion fought its way through Italy, the 442nd
Regimental Combat Team had been formed and trained in Camp Shelby.
Compaosed of volunteers from Hawaii and the mainland, mamy of whom
came directly from relocation centers, the team trained from October
1943 to February 1844, Small groups left regularly to replace men from
the 100th. On June 2, the 442nd landed at Naples and moved im-
mediately to the beaches of Anzio. When the 442nd arrived, the 100th
had already pushed toward Rome and engaged in heavy fighting. On
June 15, the two came together and the 100th formally became part
of the 442nd,*

The 442nd fought through Belvedere, Luciana, and Livorno dur-
ing the first half of the summer, finally pulling back for rest in late
July, On July 27, Lieut. General Mark W. Clark, Commander of the
Fifth Army, awarded the 100th'a Presidential Unit Citation and com-
mended the other units for their pedformance during the month, say-
ing:¥

You are always thinking of your country before yourselves, You
have never complained through your long periods in the line. You
have written a brilliant chapter in the history of the fighting men
in America. You are always ready to close with the enemy, and
vou have always defeated him. The 3d4th Division s proud of vou,
the Fifth Army is proud of you, and the whole United States is
proud of you. ™

Cm August 15, the 442nd went back into combat. Their first ob-
jective, to cross the Arno Biver, was accomplished early in September.
Omee again, the cost was great, for the unit's casualties totalled 1,272—
more than one-fourth of its total strength. ™

From the Armo the 442nd moved te France to join the attack on
the Vosges Mountains. ™ Its first assignment was to take the town of
Bruyeres, which was won after three days of bitter fighting, Describing
the encounter, the Scventh Army reported:

Bruyeres will long be remembered, for it was the most viciously

fought-for town we had encountered in our long march against

the Germans, The enemy defended it house by howse, giving up

& yard only when it became so untenable they could no longer

hope to hold it.*

I the same month the 442nd encountered its bloodiest battle—
rescue of the "Lost Battalion, ™™ Deep in the Vosges and meeting heavy
German resistance, the 442nd was ordered to find and bring back a
Texan battalion trapped nine miles away. For six days, the 442nd fought
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enemy infantry, artillery and tunks through forests and mountain ridges
until it reached the Lost Battalion, suffering 800 casualties in a single
week * They then pushed on for ten more days to take the ridge that
was the Lost Battalion's original objective.™ From Bruyeres through
the Vosges, the combat team had been cut to less than half its original
strength. The casualty list numbered 2,000, of whom 140 had been
killed.* After another month of fighting, the 442nd finally came out
of the line to rest.* Sam Ozaki described arriving to join the 442nd
after this engagement:

The four others went overseas with the original 442nd, 1 joined

them later as a replacement. | remember November 1944, when

the replacements joined the 442nd, afler they had pulled back
from the Batile of Bruyeres, the lost battalion. 1 went looking for
my buddies. 1 found one, Ted. Harry had been in 8 hospital, had
been sent back to s hospital with a wound, The two others had

been killed in action, saving the Jost hattalion 4@

Alfter a relatively quiet winter of 194445 in the seuth of France,
the 442nd moved back to Italy in March 1945. During its first assign-
ment, to take a line of ridges, Pfe. Sadao Munemori took over his squad
from a wounded lesder. After destroying machine guns twenty feet
ahead, he saw an enemy grenade fall into a nearby shellhole and dove
on top of it, dying while saving his comrades. For this heroism Mu.-
nemori received posthumously the Congressional Medal of Honor, ®
The 442nd now advanced into the rugged and heavily fortified Apen-
nines. In a surprise attack following a secret all-night ascent through
the mountains, the 442nd took their assigned peaks, thereby cracking
the German defensive line. ™ A diversionary move had turned into s
full-scale offensive;*® from there, the unit continued nerthward until,
on April 25, German resistance broke. By May 2, the war in Italy was
over and, by May 9, the Germans had surrendered. *

In seven major campaigns, the 442nd took 9456 casualties—more
than 300 percent of its original infantry strength, including 600 killed,
More than 185,000 men served with the unit,* Commenting on the
painful loss of many fellow Nisei in the European theater, Masato
Makagewa sdmitted that “it was a high price to pay,” but “[ijt was o
prove our loyalty which was by no means an easy [task]. "% The 442nd
was one of the war's most decorated combat teams, receiving seven
Presidential Distinguished Unit Citations and earning 18,143 individ-
ual decorations—including one Congressional Medal of Honor, 47 Dis-
tinguished Service Crosses, 350 Silver Stars, B10 Bronze Stars and
more than 3,600 Purple Hearts. As President Truman told members
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of the 442nd as he fastened the Presidential Unit banner to their
regimental colors, these Nisei fought "not only the enemy, but prej-
udice.”™®

OTHER NISEI SERVICE

Although the 442nd’s exploits are the most colebrated Nisei contri-
bution to the war, many others plaved effective roles. FBI-trained
Misei operatives in the prewar Philippines kept the Japanese population
under surveillance. Others escaped the Army's segregation policy and
served in other combat units. One Misei even became an Alr Force
gunner and flew bombing missions over Tokyo, A small group served
with Merrill's Maravders in Burma and a few were involved in the
surrender of China,®

Numerous others served in less glamorous bat equally critical jobs.
There were Nisei medics, mechanics and derks in the Quartermaster
Corps and Nisei women in the WACs, Nisei and Issei served as lan-
guage instructors, emplovees in the Army Map Service, and behind
the scenes in the Office of Strategic Services (055) and Office of War
Information {OWT).™ In the latter groups were primarily younger Issei
who had fled Japan after World War [ to svoid political persecution.
At OWT and 085, some made broadeasts to Japan, while others wrote
propaganda leaflets urging Japancse troops to surrender or pamphlets
dropped over Japan to weaken civilian morale, 5

IMPACT OF THE NISEI MILITARY RECORD

Although the exploits of the 442nd and 100th Battalion were publicized
during the war, returning veterans still faced harssment and diserim-
ination. Night riders warned Mary Masuda, whose brother had carned
a posthumous Distinguished Service Cross, not to retwrn to her home.
A barber refused to give Captain Daniel Inouve a haircut. ™ Mitsuo
Usui's story is one that probably typifies the experiences of many
returning veterans:

Coming home, 1 was boarding a bus on Olympic Bonlevard. A

lady sitting in the front row of the hus, saw me and said, “Damn

Jap.” Here | was a proud American soldier, just coming back with
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miy new uniform and new paratrooper boots, with all my campaign
medals and awards, proudly displayed on my chest, and this? The
bus driver upon hearing this remark, stopped the bus and said,
“Lady, apologize to this American soldier or get off my bus™—
She got off the bus.

Embarrassed by the situation, | turned around to thank the bus
driver. He said that's okay, buddy, everything is going to be okay
from now on out. Encouraged by his comment, 1 thanked him
and as I was turning away, 1 noticed a discharge pin on his lapel ™

Men who had served with Nisei brought home stories of their
heroism, and War Department officials praised the valuable servdice of
the 442nd % The WRA sponsored speaking tours by returning veterans
and officers who had served with them.™ On July 15, 1946, the men
of the 442nd were received on the White House lown by President
Truman, who spoke eloguently of their bravery.™ In a few cases,
military service led directly to community acceptance, In August 1946,
The Mouston Press ran a story sbout Sergeant George Otsuka, who
had helped rescue the Lost Battalion, s Texss outfit, and was now
being told to “keep away™ from a farm he planned to purchase. Public
response to the story was strong, and Sergeant Otsuka had no further
trouble moving to his farm.® Even on the West Coast, it was difficult
to continwe abusing veterans with an excellent record.

The: Nisei had indeed distinguished themselves. As the acerbic
and distinguished General Joseph Stilwell said of Japanese Americans:

They bought an awful hunk of America with their Blosd, | | .
vou're dimn right those Nisei boys have a place in the American
heart, now and forever. We cannot allow a single injustice to be
done to the Nisei without defeating the purpeses for which we
fought, ™



11

T e ey e—
Hawaii '

When Japan attacked Pearl Harbor, nearly 155,000 persons of Japanese
ancestry lived in Hawaii—more than 35 percent of the population.
Surely, if there were dangers from espionage, sabotage and fifth column
activity by American citizens and resident aliens of Japanese ancestry,
danger would be greatest in Hawaii, and one would anticipate that the
most swilt and severe measures of control would be taken there. Noth-
ing of the sort happened.

Less than 2,000 Nikei in Hawaii were taken into custody during
the war—barely one percent of the population of Japanese descent.
Many factors contributed to this resction, so fundamentally different
from the government’s alarmed activity on the West Coast.

Hawaii was more ethnically mived and racially tolerant than the
West Coast. Race relations in Hawaii before the war were not infected
with the virulent antagonisms of 75 years of anti-Asian agitation. Anti-
Asian feeling certainly existed in the territory—for instance, there had
been an sttempt to suppress Japanese language schools, but it did not
represent the longtime views of well-organized groups as it did on the
West Coast and, without statehood, xenophobia had no effective voice
in the Congress. In Hawaii, the spirit of aloha prevailed, and white
supremacy never gained legal recognition.®

The larger population of ethnic Japanese in Hawaii mattered, too.
It is one thing to act the bully in venting frustration and historical
prejudice on a scant two percent of the population: it is very different
to disrupt a local economy and tear a social fabric by locking up more

261
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than one-third of the territory’s people. And, of course, in Hawaii the
half-measure of exclosion from military areas would have been mean-
ingless.

Finally, in large social terms, the Army had much greater contral
of day-to-day events in Hawaii. Martial law was declared in December
1841, suspending the writ of habeas corpus, so that through the critical
first months of war, the military’s recognized power to deal with any
emergency was far greater than on the West Coast.

Individuals were also significant in the Hawaiian equation. The
War Department gave greal discretion to the commanding general of
each defense area and this brought to bear in Hawaii and on the West
Coast very different attitudes toward persons of Japanese ancestry,
General DeWitt fivedly distrusted those of Japanese descent and fought
even minor modifieation of the exclusion orders. General Delos Fm-
mons, who became commanding general in Hawaii shortly after Pearl
Harbor had retired General Short in disgrace, took a very different
view., Emmons restrained plans to take medical measures with the local
population, raising practical problems of labor shortages and trans-
portation until the pressure to evacuate the Hawaiian Islands had sub-
sided. Emmons does not appear to have been a man of dogmatic racial
views; in rather practical terms, he appears o have argued quietly but
consistently for treating the Tssei and Nisei as boyal to the United States,
unless evidence to the contrary appeared. He urged the use of Nisei
in the Army’s combat forces; his military intelligence officers scoffed
at the Western Defense Command’s view that the loyal could not be
distinguished from the disloyal:® and he firmly rejected the anti-Jap-
anese stance of the United States Attorney in Hawaii, emphasizing to
the War Department that it was not backed by any evidence of espi-
onage or szhotage. A few months after succeeding DeWitt as com-
manding general on the West Coast, Emmons suggested to the War
Department that the size of the prohibited area be reduced and that
it end the exclusion of persons not actuslly or potentially dangerous;
in addition, Certificates of Exemption from the exclusion orders were
issued so that a program of gradual return to the West Coast was set
in motion.

JAPANESE IMMIGRATION TO HAWAII

The first Japanese arrived as contract laborers in 1868, OF the original
149 laborers, 82 stayed after their contracts expired and disappeared
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into Hawaiian society. Japanese did not come again to Hawaii until
1885, when economic and social unrest in Japan’s swiftly industrializing
ecomomy attracted the Japanese government to exporting contract la-
borers.

Between 1885 and 1694, 28,691 Japanese comtract laborers mi-
grated to Hiwaii, and most staved on after completing their contracts.
In 1894, Hawaii was annexed to the United States but not yet a ter-
ritory. Planters, fearing that the maintand ban on contract labor would
be extended to Hawaii, brought in 26,103 contract lsborers, The fol-
lowing year comtract labor was outlawed by the Organic Act establishing
the Territory of Hawaii. Japanese businessmen also emigrated to Ha-
waii in the 1880 and eventually became leaders of the emerging
Jupanese community. The official number of immigrants from Japan
b Hawaii was high between 1900 and 1910, but a substantial propor-
tion, mostly young single mabes, moved on to the mainland until this
migration was ended by the "Gentlemen's Agreement” of 1907-08. By
1910, one-fourth of those of Japanese ancestry in Hewaii were native-
born. A press, language schools and other elements of Japanese culture
emerged in the islands.®

In 1840, nearly three-guarters of the ethnie Japanese population
of Hawaii was native-born. (In contrast, Californians of Japanese de-
scent comprised less than 2 percent of the state's population, and 64
percent were American-born. J* Despite white fears that Hawaii would
be taken over by the Nikkei, race relations were far better than on the
mainland, By the outhreak of World War I1, Nisei were becoming
integrated into the Hawaiian economy, carning places in the municipal
and territorial government, becoming schoolteachers and administra-
tors, practicing law and medicine, and working in businesses owned
by old line haole (white) families.”

WAR BREAKS OUT

Following the Pearl Harbor attack, control of Hawaii was immediately
turned over to the military, and steps were taken at once to control
people who were believed to present real risks to wartime operations.
The territorial governor invoked the Hawaii Defense Act, suspended
the writ of habeas corpus, and, through Hawail’s Organic Act, placed
the territory under martial law “during the emergency and until the
danger of invasion is removed.” He relinquished all powers rormally
exercised by the governor and by judicial officers and employees of
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the Territory to the commanding general of the Hawaiian Department.®
Enemy agents and “suspicious characters” were immediately rounded
up by Army Intelligence; by December 10, 449 Japanese, German and
Ttalinn nationals were interned, slong with 43 American citizens. ¥

Sahotage at the time of Pear]l Harbor would have been easy, since
the city's utilities as well as the storage tanks of private oil companies
were concentrated in a limited area and were not adequately protected,
After the attack, rumors of sabotuge and fifth column activities shounded.
People reported cars wig-ragging along highways or parking across roads
tor block traffic, shots being fired from ambush or from cars, guiding
swaths cut in sugarcane or pineapple fields to point out important
instalbations, and signals to enemy planes. After investigation, Naval
Intellipence, the FBI and Military Intelligence sl agreed that no sab-
otage in fact took place, ' At the time a quite different public impression
was created. We have already deseribed the background and impact
of the: reports made by Secretary Knox following his brief trip to Hawaii
in mid-December and the more extensive investigation of the Roberts
Commission. " It is sufficient here to emphasize that the Koberts Com-
mission heard conflicting opinions from the intelligence services about
the security danger, if any, posed by the cthnic Japanese in the islands
The Roberts Commission did not attempt to sift or evaluste these
opinions and make a judgment of future threats. Tt simply reparted
that “There were, prior to December 7, 1841, Japancse spies on the
island of Ozhu. Some were Japanese consular agents and other [sic)
were persons having no open relations with the Japanese foreign serv-
jee. "1 The report did not assert that sabotage or fifth column activity
had been carried on to aid the Japanese atteck; nor did #t make clear
whether espionage had been carried on only by Japanese nationals or
also by other aliens or American citizens of any particular ethnic back-
ground, but it was widely understood at the time to mean that Japanese
Amerieans had aided the attack. On his return to Washington, Justice
Roberts personally conveyved to Sccretary Stimson his fear that cthnic
Japanese in the islands posed a major risk of espicnage, sabotage and
fifth column sctivity.*? These official reports, although based on the
divided opinions of intelligence officers, on rumors rife in the islands,
and on the Nithaw Incident, " crested doubts about the ultimate loyalty
of the Japanese Americans—doubls treated very differently in Wash-
ingtom and in Honohilu.

At the December 19 Cabinet meeting, Knox recommended that
the Secretary of War remove all Japanese aliens in the Hawaiisn [slands
and intern them on an island other than Cahu.'® The unpublished
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recommendations of Roberts and his fellow Commissioners may have
taken the same line. Such informal high-level sdvice combined with
anti-Japanese clamor from the West Coast to move Washington toward
stern measures o eontrol the Hawaiian population of Japanese descent.
In Homoluha the atmosphere was easier. On December 21st, in
his first radio address to the public as military governor and commander
of the Hawalian Department, General Emmons stated that “there is
no intention or desire on the part of the federa) authorities to operate
mass concentration camps. No person, be he citizen or alien, need
worry, provided he is not connected with subversive elements.” With-
out mentioning the Japanese or any other ethnic group by name in his
entire specch, Emmons assured the Hawaitan public:
[Tlhere have been very few cases of actual sabotage, . . . Addi-
tional investigations and apprehensions will be made and possibly
additional suspects will be placed in custodial detention. _ . .
While we have been subjected to a serious attack by a ruthless
and treacherous encmy, we must remember that this is America
and we must do things the American Way. We must distinguish
between lovalty and dislovalty among our people. ™
These conflicting views were reflected in the Army's treatment of
the Misei already in military service and those seeking to serve. When
war broke out, around 2,000 Nisei were serving with two infantry
regiments of the Army in Hawaii."™ Japanese American soldiers from
these regiments helped to defend Pearl Harbor, making a commend-
ahle showing. But post-Fearl Harbor romors fed mistrust, and the
relishility of Japanese American soldiers was questioned by military
commanders, concerned whether Nisei and future Japanese invaders
winld be distinguishable. ™ As a consequence, the Nisei were placed
in a segregated unit called the Hawalian Provisional Infantry Battalion
and assigned limited roles in defense of the islands. Pressure from
eivilians and soldiers brought in from the mainland caused the eventual
transfer of the Hawaiian Nisei battalion and Japanese American Na-
tional Guardsmen to Camp McCoy in Wiscomsin, in June 18942, with
the expectation that they would serve as a combat unit on another
front. ™ This hattalion was redesignated the 100th Infantry Battalion.
After Pearl Harbor, draft-age Nisei particularly sought to prove
their loyalty to the United States. They resented being distrusted and
contributed actively to the war effort by purchasing war bonds, do-
nating to blood banks, and volunteering for civil defense organizations.
This included service in the Hawaii Territorial Guard, established on
December T to employ the islands’ manpower. The Guard was com-
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posed largely of draft-age men of Japanese ancestry enrolled in Hono-
hatu high schools and ROTC at the University of Hawaii.® Opposition
to Japanese Americans guarding public utilities and vital waterfronts,
however, caused the dismissal in méd-Janvary 1942 of the 317 Nisei
members of the Guard, without explanation, on orders from Wash-
ington.® The excluded Nisei university students of the Hawaii Ter-
ritorial Cuard petitioned General Emmons to be allowed a productive
role in the war cffort, and in February they were assigned to a regiment
of engineers as a 160-man auxiliary unit called the Varsity Vietory
Volunteers. =

Suspicion and trust in the Nisei competed for the dominant po-
sition in government policy during the next year, while Hawaii's day-
to-day affairs were conducted under a regime of military authority
unknown on the mainland.

MILITARY RULE

Aftor the dedlaration of martial law, Hawaii's civilians were ruled by
military order and proclamation. By the end of the war, the territorial
governor had declared 151 “defense act rules,” the territorial director
of civilian defense had issued over 100 “directives,” and numerous
other regulations had come from miscellanecus govermment execu-
tives. In addition, 18] “old series” general orders were issued by the
military governor (the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Depart-
ment) before March 10, 1943; 70 “new series” orders hetween March
1845 and October 1944; 12 “security orders” and 12 “special orders”
from the Office of Internal Security after October 1944, Many orders
were worded to cover the territory, but in practice, they applied only
to Cabhu unless reissued by authorities on each island =

Some orders were specifically directed at enemy alicns. No Jap-
anese alien could travel by air, change residence or occupation, or
“otherwise travel or move from place to place™ without the approval
of the Provost Marshal General. Nor could Japaness buy or sell liquor,
be at large during the blackout, assemble in groups exceeding ten
persons, or be employed in restricted areas without permission. On
December B, aliens were required to turn in firearms, explosives,
camwras, shortwave receivers and numerous other items. 2 Two months
later, all American citizens of Japanese, German and Italian ancestry
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were ordered to tumn in firearms, explosives, ammunition and weap-
ons. =

Beginning December 7, the Army imposed a curfew applicable
to all residents, shut down bars and banned liquor sales, closed schools,
rationed gasoline, barred food sales in order to make a complete istand
inventory, and supplanted the eivil courts with provest courts.® The
summomning of grand juries and trial by jury were prohibited, and
criminal law was administered entirely by the military.

Within two bours after the Pear]l Harbor attack, censorship was
instituted to prevent information of military value from leaving the
islands, Mail was examined and censored, and censors listened to all
inter-island and trans-Pacific telephone calls, Only conversations con-
ducted in English were allowed. Film developing was limited to those
with permits, and photographs in violation of regulations were withheld
fronn the owners until the end of the war. All radio scripts were cen-
sored in advance, although after March 10, 1943, voluntary censorship
replaced Army censorship of newspapers. Publication of Japanese ver-
nacular newspapers was temporardly suspended and foreign language
broadcasts halted. Censorship in Hawaii finally ended on August 15,
19457

The registration and fngerprinting of all civiltans on Oahu over
the age of six was ordered on December 27, 1941, and in March 1842
the order was extended to include the other islands as well. Besidents
of Hawuii were required to carry identification cards at all times. Cit-
izens found without cards were fined $5 or $10 in police courts; aliens
were fined $25 to 350 in provost courts, ®®

Hoarding immediately after Pearl Harbor threatened the currency
supply. To prevent large amounts of cash from becoming available to
foreign agents or invaders, after January 1942 no person was permitted
to held more than 8200 in cash and no business more than 2500 except
to meet payrolls, New currency, good only in Hawaii, was issued,
replacing regular currency from July 1942 to October 1544 %

Under martial law, Hawaii's civil courts were repliced by a mil-
itary commission which tried offenses punishable by more than a $5,000
fine and five years' imprisonment, and by several provost courts, cach
with a single judge, which heard lesser cases.™ On December 16,
1941, the civil courts were permitted to function in certain uncontestecd
civil matters, and on January 27, 1942, they wers further allowed to
enbertain certain civil cases acting as agents of the military governor.
Jury trials, summoning grand juries, and Issuing writs of habeas corpus,
however, continued to be prohibited. ™
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On July 23, 1942, United States District fudge Ingram M. Stain-
back, a voral critic of martial law, was appointed territorial governor,
replacing Joseph B. Poindexter, whom Interior Secretary Ickes felt
had not been aggressive enough in resisting the Army’s encroachment
on civilian authority.™ On August 31, civil court jurisdiction was ex-
tended to jury trials, and four days later the Army issued an order
listing the criminal offenses against the government or related to the
war effort over which the civil courts had no suthority. ™ By mid-fall,
the Departments of War, Justice and Interior “had agreed upon a
restoration of an appreciable number of civil rights to the civil sdmin-
istration, but . . . [Judge Advocate] General Green had ‘interpreted’
al] of these vital matters out by an order that he had issued subse-
quently.™ On December 10, Secretary Ickes announced that civilian
rule would be restored to Hawaii as soon as possible, and nincteen
days later the President approved a plan for restoration.

Civilian government was substantially returned to Hawail on March
10, 1943, Martial law and the suspension of habeas corpus were still
in effect, however, and the military kept control of labor and certain
other matters. The eivil courts were given jurisdiction over all violations
of criminal and civil laws except cases invelving military personned,
civil suits against them for acts or omissions in the line of duty, and
criminal prosecutions for civilian violations of military orders.

Presidential Proclamation No. 2627 formally ended martial law in
Hawaii on October 24, 1944, The territory was designated a “military
area,” and a series of security orders and special orders replaced general
orders issued by the military, with all civilian violations of these orders
heard in the U8, District Court. Few or ne changes were made in
orders controlling the activities of enemy aliens, eniry to restricted
areas, censorship, labor control or the curfew,®

THE QUESTION OF EVACUATION

The issue of evacuating Issei and Nisei from Hawail is only partially
understood from a litera! reading of memoranda betaeen the War
Department in Washington and General Emmons in Hawaii. First,
the West Coast evacuation was locally popular; in Hawaii the impetus
for evacnation or control of the ethnic Japanese came from Washington.
The wproar in California echoed from Washington to Honelulu. Second,
one can only conclude from his writing that General Emmons saw litthe
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ar no military necessity for action against lisei and Nised not roumded
up in the first days after Pearl Harbor. Geners! Emmons did not
directly oppoie the evacuation of lssei snd Nisei from Hewaii, bhowsver.
Perhaps he preferred wearing down the War Department by stirition
rather than by & sharphy focased reschution of opposing views; perkaps
his views of the danger of sshotage or fifth column actvity adjusted
quickly 1o the changing fortunes of the Americans in the Paciic war.
Emmons emphosived the practical probdees of am eveosten ad
cremsing war productivity in Hawas by removing eaproductive people
from the torritory.

Just 23 General DeWitt largedy surceeded in preventing the War
Department from bumenizing and relaxing the exchusion program in
the Western Defense Command when the policy wes reviewed in the
winter of 194243, w0 Emmons effectively scutthed the Hawsiian evac-
uation program that Washington sought to pursue in 1842

The question of evacuation from Hewall was raised by Secretary
Knon's request to evacuate Oahu and the Wir Department’s inguiry
to Genersl Emmons on January 10, 1942, asking his views on the
subject, Emmons responded that such a move would be highly dan-
gerous and impracticable. Large quantities of building materials would
be needed st & time when construction and shipping were already
taxed to the limit; many additional troops to guard the islinds would
be required, when the Hawaii garrison had less than half the troops
it needed for missions already assigned. Moreover, Emmons f=lt, a
mass evacustion of the ethnic Japanese. citizens and aliens, who pro-
wided most of the island's skifled labor (inchsding « great many Army
employees), would severely disrupt Oshu. Over ninety percent of the
carpenters, nearly all the transportation workers, and & high percentage
of agricultural workers were of Japanese ancestry. They were “shso-
lutely cusential” to rebuild defenses destroyed by the Prarl Harbor
land. I the War Departwent decided to evacuste any or all japanese.
-ﬂm—dl“ﬂnﬂhhhmm
States. ™

In warly Fm.ﬂunﬂﬁ_u-'lth-uuﬁsﬁihﬂ.
He sgreed with the desirability of evacuating to the mainland as many
mm-ﬂﬁ-upﬂh:hmuw
but he did not want to evacuate more than & fow hundred until some
nmmmm-ﬂmummw
all ethaic Japanese against whom there were spocific grounds for sus-
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picion were already i custody, the commander of the Hewaiian De-
partment inkormed the War Department that it would probably be
necessary to cvacuste 100,000 jspaness from Hewail to ensore re-
s imeg, alll the potentially deshoyal ™ This was hardby & practica! program
whes trassportation and shipping were in very short supply.

On February 9. the War Department ordered Ceneral Emmons
to suspend all ethnic Japanese covilians employed by the Army. Em-
moad pow returned to the arpoment that the Japanese were an irre-
placeable labor force in Hawaii and that “the Japanese question” was
both “delicate snd dangerous™ sod “should be handled by those in
direct comtact with the situation. ™ In other words, he did not want
to follow the Department’s anti-Japanese program. The War Depart-
ment rescinded its order.

In mid-February 1942, the War Plans Division recommended that
Ceneral Emmons “be authorized to evacuate all enemy aliens and all
citizens of Japanese extraction selected by him with their families,
suhjoct to the svailability of shipping and facilities for their internment
or survedllance on the mainland”; it was discussing numbers in the
100,000 range, ™ Washington was moving toward a program of complete
control of the lasei and Nisei population of Hawaii since, at the same
time, the Army suggested that the Joint Chiefs discuss establishing a
“poncentration camp” on Molokai or preferably on the mainland be-
canse it wis “essential that the most dangerous group, approximately
20,000 persons . . . be evacuated as soon as possible,” and that “even-
tuslly all Jupaness residents will be concentrated in one locality and
kept under continuous surveillance. ™ On March 13, sfter Secretary
Stimuon s the jomnt Chich: of Staff agreed that an cthnic Jspanese
evarusten o Mokokai, although desirable. was inpractcal, the Fres-
ident reluctanthy approved & mass evacuation of ethnic Jspanese to the
mainlend “on the basis _ _ _ that evarustion would necessarily be 2
shorw preecrss and that what was intended, first, was to et rid of about
20,000 potentially dangerocs fapanese. ™

Despate consenss in Washington, # soon became spparent to
officials that the military asthorities in Hawaii did not agree. On his
visit to the Territory, Assistant Secretary MeCloy lesrmed that the Army
angd Many im Hawaii were opposed to any large-scale evacustion bo the
mainkind or to Moloksi and, ar the March 23 War Council meeting,
be reported that they preformed o “reat the Japanese in Hawaii as
citizens of an occupied foreign country™—a reference that seems to
imply litthe more than the martial law already imposed @ And in &
marked departure from the War Department’s 20,000-person figure,
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on March 27 General Emmons made s “presest estimate™ of 1,500
men and 50 women as the pumber of dangerous Japanee aliens and
citizens, while conording that “circumstances may arise at any Hme
making it advisahle to raise this estimate to much larger Fgures. ™
desirable, evacusting many Japases from the Hiwasisn [sbands was
smply impractical due to shipping and labor problems Emmmons bad
cited, providing suitable facilites for rebocated Japanese would also be
difficult, and there wonld be ~political reperouisions on the West Coast
and in the United States generally to the introducton of 150,000 more
Japancie ” The General, muwegver, oppuosed s substantis] mevemnent
of jupancse before receiving his requested complement of troops and
s thons.

To McCloy's legal mind, removal of the lssei and Nisei from
West Coast, it was difficult to characterize such a program as simply
barring people from sensitive military aross, Here American citizens
womld have to be transported several thousand miles from their homes,
scross the Pacific, and through evacusited areas of the Western Defense
Command into the interior. Moreover, in this case the ultimate des-
tination of detention camps was faced as the reality. At this point
MelClhoy did not oppose the Hawaiian evacustion, but he was uneasy
sbout it, stating in a memorandum to Eisenhower that ~[t/here are
also some grave legal difficulties in placing American citizens, even of
Jepancse ancestry, in concentration camps. ™ Stimson was somewhat
more blunt in his diary-

As the thing stands st present, & number of them hove been

arrested in Hawai without very much e sdencr of dsdovalty, bave

beem shipped to the United States, and are interned there. MeCloy
and | are both agreed that this was contrary o lew; that while we
have a perfect right o move them sway from defenses for the
purpose of protecting our war effort, that does not carmy with it

the right to imprison them withowt convincong cvidence *

Stameson bricied the Fresident on the “realb difrull constiutees|
question” of ~the Presidest’s own sftempt @0 imprisos by istermment
some o the besders of the Japanese in Harswii against whom we however
have nothing but very grove sopiciom. ™ Moreover, the Hawaitan
Jupancse interned on the oainland had spplicd for writs of habeas
corpus. There were, however, very practical limits to the concern at
the top of the War Department for this problem. Stimson and McCloy
gave an unassailable lawyer’s answer to the “Japanese problem” on
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Hawaii; Stimson informed President Roosevelt that they were sending
the American citizens “back to Hawaii which is under a state of martial
law and where we can do what we please with them. ™

On April 20, Secretary Knox renewed his plea for “taking all of
the Japs out of Oahu and putting them in a concentration camp on
some other islind” beenuse he was “gravely concerned about security
in Oahu."* The President supported Knox's solution at the April 24
Cahinet meeting,* and four days later Stimson, Knox, McCloy, Ad-
mirals Wilson, Wilkinson, Bloch and several others met to discuss
evacuating the Japanese from Hawsii. “Everybody was agreed on the
danger” but not on the solution and, Secretary Stimson surmised, “We
shall probably send a bunch of perhaps eight or ten or twelve thousand
of them to the United States and even without internment try to keep
them away from the islands. ™ Later in the summer, General Marshall
and Admiral King told the President they supported such a plan limited
to 15,000 people, thus bringing top professional military opposition o
Knox's call for evecuation, !

Meanwhile, the War Department had received support for its
views in a report from the Department of [ustice warning of conditions
in Hawaii, but a counter-report from Emmons to McCloy discounted
this document as “so fantastic it hardly needs refuting” General Em-
mons was particularly troubled by the statements of Angus Taylor,
Acting United States Attorney in Hawaii:

The feeling that ap invasion is imminent & not the belief of most

of the responsible people. . . .
There have been no known acts of sshotage committed in Ha-

wai,

I talked with Mr. Taylor at great length several weeks ago at
which time he promised to furnish evidence of subversive or dis-
loyal acts on the part of Japanese residents to me personally or to
my G-2. Since that time he has, on several occasions, furnished
information about individuals and groups which turned out to be
hased on rumers or imagination. He has furnished absolutely no
information of value.

Mr. Taylor is & conscientious, but highly emotional, viclenthy
anti-Japanese lawyer who distrusts the FBI, Naval Intelligence
and the Army Intelligence. . . . 1 do not believe that he is suffi-
ciently informed on the Japanese question to express an official
opinipn. . . .

As you well know, the Japanese element of the population in
Hawaii comstitutes one of our most serious problems but, in my
judgment, there is no reason for you to change the opinions formed
on your recent visit. 5
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The view Emmons and McCloy shared reverses the positions taken
by the War and Justice Departments on the mainland and underscores
that personal judgment was as important as institutional predisposition
in the decisions of 1942,

In May, McCloy advised Emmons to make an alternative evic-
uation plan, and on June 20 the Hawaii commander proposed a vol-
untary evacuation to the mainland of not only internees’ Eamilies, but
also persons who were more a drain than a benefit to Hawaii's economy
and war effort. By July 1, again assessing the local situation, the Ha-
walian Department had determined that most of the Japanese popu-
lution was “highly satisfactory” and therefore urged evacuating only
5,000 persons.™ On July 17, 1842, the President authorized resettle-
ment on the mainland of up to 15,000 persons, in family groups, who
were “considered as potentially dangerous to national security, ™

In October, while Knox was still writing the President that sterner,
mare: thorough measures were urgently needed for the ethnic Japanese
population in Hawail, ™ Emmons came forward with ancther evacuation
plan. It was essentially the same plan he had offered in June; now,
though, evacruation would be compulsery not veluntary, with priority
to those who sapped Hawaii's respurces, not to those considered “dan-
grrous,” Emmons proposed to send out 300 Japanese every two weeks
if berths were available, and more if space permitted

Om October 12, Stimson designated General Emmons as s millitary
commander under Executive Order 8066, giving him the suthority to
exclude individuals from military areas within his command—not an
essential authority, since the writ of habeas corpus was suspended in
Hawaii, but for “good public relations™ and to add “another barrel” to
Emmons’s gun, ™

By this time the War Department's conviction that evacusation wis
militarily necessary was ebhing, but Secretary Knox and President
Roosevelt remained uneasy. They still believed that "a very large nom-
ber of Japanese sympathizers, if not actual Japanese agents, [are] still
at large in the population of Oahu, who, in the event of an attack upon
these islands, would unguestionsbly cooperate with our cnemies.”™
Secretary Stimson tried to reassure the President:

[AJll persons of Japanese ancestry resident in the Hawalian Islands

who are known to be hostile to the United States have been placed

under restraint in internment camps either in the islands or on
the mainland. In addition, many others suspected of subversive

tendencies have been so interned.
... Itis intended to move approximately e thousand during

53-124 - @ - 10
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the next six months as shipping facilities become available. This,

General Emmons believes, will greatly simplify his problem, and

considering the labor needs in the islands, is about all that he has

indicated any desire to move although he has been given authority

to move up to fifteen thousand, *

Stimson’s letter, General Emmons wrote him, accurately por-
trayed the Hawaiian situation, but Emmons wanted to clarify the def-
inition of future evacuees:

This group will comprise those residents who might be potentially

dangerous in the event of a crisis, vet they have committed no

suspicious acts. It is impossible to determine whether or not they

are i

In general the evacuation will remove persons who are Jeast
desirable in the territory and who are contributing nothing to the
war effort.™

In other words, the field commander now saw less military justification

for any evacuation.

The President responded strongly to Stimson’s letter:

1 think that General Emmons should be told that the only con-

sideration is that of the safiety of the Islands and that the labor

situation is not only a secondary matter but should not be given

any consideration whatsoever. . . .

Military and naval safety is absolutely paramount.®!

Despite the President’s opinion, Emmons’s plan selectively to
evacuate Japanese residents of Hawaii remained unchanged, for the
Hawaiian Department did not consider the situation dangerous. The
move to the mainland was “primarily for the purpose of removing non-
productive and undesirable Japanese and their families from the Is-
lands™ and “largely a token evacuation to satisfy certain interests which
have strongly advocated movement of Japanese from the Hawaiian
Islands. ™8

THE EVACUATION

Megotiation over the terms of evacuation went on and on, plainly
inconsistent with any pressing military necessity. A year after Pearl
Harbor, only 58 families had been evacusted from Hawaii. By design
or accident, General Emmons had succeeded in reducing Washington's
evacuation program to negligible numbers.

Following the early internees, the first two units of evacuess were
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transferred to the mainland in July and December 1942; 42 percent
were urder the age of 19. Of the 58 families evacuated, 26 were headed
by aliens, 20 of whom were already interned on the mainland, with
17 requesting repatriation. The remaining 33 families were headed by
Americans interned on Sand Island, none of whom asked expatriation.
The Arst |mhllmntmhunﬂl}'lrnnuﬂuf1hnmspcrmn nEver-
theless, evacuation planning continued. By December 1, 1942, pro-
jections for the total number of additional Japanese available and on
evacuation order were:®

Aliens

Repatriates 225
Relief 150
“"Voluntary™ 50
Citizens

“Voluntary™ 350
Non-Internees

Fishermen 2000
Kibei 475
Total 3250

By mid-December 1942, the WHA had ascertained that:

During the next twebve months the maximum number of evacuees
eould be approximately 5,000; but [ believe the sctoal number
will be no more than 3,000, and probably much less than that.
The maximum shipment will be 150 every two weeks, unless the
Western Defense Command succeeds in having the minimum
single shipment mised to 500, There are many reasons for such a
small evacuation, but the most tangible one is the lack of trans-
portation. . . . [ was assured . . . that no evacuees would be sent,
other than rcputnnin, who vmuld not be eligible for indefinite
bepve from our Centers. . . .

After essential war construction has tapered off, the tempo of
the evacuation can be increased if transportation is available. Tt
is extremely important that no Hawaiian Japaness be repatristed,
it least for six months after they leave the Islands, wor should they
be permitted to talk to other Japanese being repatriated, because
maost of the strategic and secret defense work in the islands has
been constructed by Japanese. .

Influential white . . . mﬂh'-duah fear that it may not be Jong
before the ]apmmw.ﬁ.:r.encam will haive economic and political
enntrol of the Territory of Hawaii. Men like J.A. Baleh, Chairman
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of the Board of Directors of the Mutual Telephone Company of

Honolulu, and Angus Taylor, US. Attorney, feel that this is the

time to rid the Ishinds permanently of this dasgrrous Japancse

influence ™

On Angust 25, 1942 the first party of island Japancse, about 40
fmilies, beft Hawaii in cxchange for Americans in Japan ™ Since any
Japanese shen might be exchanged for an American held by Japan,
the War Department tried to me internment snd detention o 2ssure
that no one recrnth femiliss with Hawail's defeonsrs was retumed to
Japan. the Department fvored repatriation from the mainland, not
Hawall *™ O March 30, 1943, the Secrctary of War wrote the Secretary
of State:

There are . . . 753 Japancse nationals niow in the United States

who have been evacusted from Hawail to the mainland prior o

January 11, 1943, All these you may treat as svailsble for repa-

triation subject to the right now exercised by intelligence agencies

to ohject to any particular alien, . . .

[T]here are approximately 261 other Japanese nationals who

have been evacusted from Hawail to the mainland since Janvary

11, 1943, and from time to time that numbser will probably be

fnereased. I there are any in this calegory whose repatriation you

particularly desire to effect, I suggest you furnish me their names

and such other identifying data as may be available and 1 will

undertake to give you a final decision in each case ™

At the end of February 1943, Dillon Myer of the WRA requested
that further evacustion from Hawsii be suspended. At the Jerome
Relocation Center, Hawaiians were “unwilling workers, and half of
them had answered ‘no” to the loyalty question number 25 in the
selective service registration form.” In the director’s words, “They
the West Consl evacures ™ Ak, the space they hoped to use for the
Hawasisns had not become available: and the removal of people Blely
to be repatriated plus evacuess shifting from project 1o project was
obstructing proper rebocation centry sdminit-aton ™

By March “everyone had sgreed that this movement shoold crase,
and oo 2 April 1643 the War Department instructed Ceneral Emmons
to susprnd cvacuation to the mainland until and sniess the mumber of
b internees caoreded the capacity of the Hawalian Department's own
facilities for internment, which never happened. ™

WHFlhﬂTlm-lmwm
1943, betwoen 700 and 900 Hawaiian Japancse were removed to De-
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partment of Justice internment camps on the mainlind, Families were
left behind. ™ Both aliens and Nisei departed, until it was determined
that on the mainkand the Justice Department had no authority to detain
those who were citizens and therefore could not be classified s enemy
aliens, In August 1942, the first group of Nisei were returned to con-
finement in Hawail.™ Between November 12, 1842, and March 3,
1843, about 1,200 Japanese American aliens and citizens were evac-
uated from Hawaii, including approximately 474 adult males. A large
proportion of the group was families of men previously interned. ™ By
the end of the war, a total of 1,875 Hawalian residents of Japanese
ancestry had been removed to the mainland; 1,118 o WRA camps and
the remainder to Department of Justice internment camps. One hundred
forty of those originally assigned to WRA camps were later transferred
to Justice Department camps (some voluntarily to join their families),
and 99 persons originally interned entered WRA camps on their parole
or release. ™

Divergent policies toward ethnic Japanese in Hawaii and those
on the mainland began to ereate administrative problems in 1945. Many
Hawaiians who “voluntarily” evacuated to the mainland in 1943 agreed
to do so partly as a matter of patriotic cooperation with the military
authorities. But by mid-February 1945, reports had reached evacuees
on the mainland that some who had not accepted voluntary evacuation,
staying in Hawaii, had been released from detention and allowed to
return home. The voluntary evacuees—still not permitted 1o go back
to Hawnii—naturally fielt that cooperation with the Army had plunged
them into a worse situation. They were ansious to return. Secretary
Ickes felt that “relocation in non-restricted parts of the United States
.. . at best is a termporary expedient,”™™ The War Department soon
established a board of officers to review the case of each Hawaiian
evacuee to determine whether return would be permitted, and, if so,
to assign that person a travel priority group. Travel preference was
given to persons with children in the armed forces, to the aged, the
infirm, and others in special circumstances, ™

The first group of ten evacuees and their families retorned to
Hawaii in July 1945, Nearly 1,500 evacuees eventually came home,
some bringing children born on the mainland. With them came 206
West Coast Japanese, most of whom were former residents of the
islands or those who had met and married islinders in camp. Only 241
Hawaiians elected to remain on the mainland, and only 248 Hawaiian
Japanese chose wartime repatriation to Japan. ™
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THE INTERNEES

Out of nearly 158,000 ethnic Japanese in Hawaii, less than 2,000 were
taken into custody during the war. Approgimately one-third were
American citizens, mostly Kibei. Several hundred ethnic Japanese were
relessed after investigation, and several thousand more were investi-
gated and cleared without being taken into custody, ™

Who were these “dangerous encmy aliens™ picked up soon after
Pearl Harbort' To qualify as a blacklisted enemy alien, one merely had
to be a Japanese linguage teacher, a priest, a commercial fsherman,
& merchant in the export-import trade. One might have received an
education in Japan, sent contributions and Red Cross supplies for the
Japanese wounded in the China War, or have been one of the toritsugi-
nin, the unpaid subconsular agents who helped illiterate island resi-
dents prepare legal papers for the consulate. For others, grounds for
arrest were mercly leadership in the Japanese community,

None of the internees was guilty of overt acts sgainst American

laws; a few were investigated for espionage, but none fucrsahn‘uge

In nearly every instance, the internees were judged “on person-

alities and their utterances, eriminal and credit records, and prob-

able nationalistic sympathies, ™

Some arrestees were locked up in a county jail, the immigration
station or an internment camp in Hailo, Maui, awaiting transfer to
the Army-administered Sand Island Detention Center scross Honoluha
Harbor, Froen thers some were sent to War Relocation Authority
camps on the mainland; others were transferred to Camp Honouliuli
on Oaho.

Hearing hoards were appointed on each islind to try detainees,
and they had considerable procedural latitude, Hearings usually con-
sisted of o summary of FBI evidence and questions about friends and
relatives in Japan: whether the detainee had ever visited there or had
donated food, clothing or money to that country’s war effort. De-
pending on who was in charge, cases were decided in 15 to 20 minutes,
or in three to four days. The boards’ recommendations for release,
parole or detention were generally upheld by military authorities. ™
Internees parcled before the end of the war had to sign statements
releasing the government and all individuals involved from any lisbility
for their detention, ™

Scmes detainees Selt that Thery hid “pro forma”™ heartngs:

{The] FBI asked me to gn with them to the Department of Im-

migration for a little while to answer a few questions. When we
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reached the Department of Immigration building T was put behind
bars for several weels and no questions were asked of me. We
had our meals out in the yard enclosed by walls under armed
guards with their rifles drawn. All the time [ was there 1 was not
told why I was being held behind bars and oeither the FBI nor
the Immigration officer asked me any questions. After this [ was
sent to Sand Island and remained there for six months, It was
during my stay at Sand Island [that] the FBI [took] me to the
Federal Building where the FBI and military officers gquestion[ed|
me. They put their guns om the able in plain view, like a threat.
I felt that they were interrogating me as though | were a spy—
but I was not. The FBI and military officers told me that since
America was at war with Japan and because [ was raised in Oki-
nawa, Japan and regardless that 1 was an American citizen, 1 was
an internee (P.O.W )L™

A few weeks prior to December 20, 1942, the government
conducted two separate “hearings” at Waihuko, Mani, to deter-
mine the fate of the so-called “bad Japs.”™ The officer in charge
had already predetermined that we were not good American cit-
izens and he would Jock ws up until the war was over. The hearings
were in reality, merely individual interrogation of suspected “had
Japs.” The officer asked several pointed questions which required
& yesno answer, If | answered affirmatively when asked whether
1 am loyal to the United States, they would accuse me of being &
liar. But if T had said no, then T would be thrown in jail. 1 felt
there was no way [ could be considered a loyal American.
Conditions and treatment varied among the islands; internees on
Maui probably fared best. There, families were allowed to visit and
bring in food daily. In contrast, internees at Sand Tsknd on Oahu were
treated as criminals or prisoners-of-war until December 20, 1541, when
the newly-appointed commander of the Hawailan Department stated
that the Japanese were “detainees” and therefore not governed by
military regulations. At first, Sand Island internecs were forbidden to
eommunicate with the outside. Incoming letters had to be in English
and were heavily censored. Starting in May 1942, newspapers and
pencils, pens and paper were allowed in the camp, and family inter-
views were permitted, For sic months internees lived in tents without
floorboards until barracks were completed in May 1942 The camp
office procured a radio in July, and loudspeakers were installed in cach
barrack. The loudspeakers not only broadeast music; they also served
as recelvers to monitor internees’ conversations,™

Many detainees were eventually released or parcled without re-
striction, mostly those who had been picked up for breaking curfew
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or other regulations. The parole policy was colored by militery concern
for pubbc relations:
In carry [sic] cut the parole policy the release of luge aumbers
af any one time is avoided 5o a3 not to creste an inference tat
the military suthoritics are relaxing their vigilance  Likewise the
refease of prominest Japencse leaders of known Japencse ten-
dencies is svoided although in the record of many of these cases
it apprans thet e overt acts huve been committed by them.
themaehves. Families who had once enjoyed prestige and social rec-
ognition were suddenly outcasty, svoided by others who thought that
any signs of friendship would make them suspect, too. Remaining lssei
became reluctant to accept positions of leadership, lest they begome
suspect 1o the suthorities. ™ To emphasize the distance between them-
selves and the enemy, 2,400 persons of Japancse descent in Hawaii
filed petitions to Anglicize their names in 1942, and decrees for that
year totalled more than all name-changes in the previous eight years.
On June 5, 1842, more than 1,700 Hawalian Jepanese presented a
check to the American government for “bombs on Tokyo, ™
Despite these estrangements and hardships, it is to the Army’s
credit that for most of the population in Hawali it followed the precept
of General Emmons: “this is America and we must do things the
American Way." His confidence in the people of the territory was
reciprocated in innumerable intangible ways, most obviously in the
superh record of military service by the Nisel of Hawail Hawaii's
experience was the mirror image of the West Coast, where the official
presumption of disleyalry bore bitter fruit in the alienation of the
camps.
Their disimilar attshudes sppeared most chearhy when the teo groeps
were thrown together in the military. Hawabians fclt that West Coast
Nined lacked warmth, wers not candsd i their prrsonal relatoeships,
and sermed to handle the relocation problerm in & weak, pessive way.
The mainlanders found the Hawsiians uncouth snd too resdy with their
fists. = At the same time, the mainlanders convied the Hewsiians” shility
o take whet comes their way with a smike. ™ That the men from Hawai
had not spent their lives in an stmosphere of anti-Asian prejodice was
reflocted in their whole outlook ™
Ironically, the Duncan case, which reached the Supreme Court
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after the end of the war, challenged military rule in Hawaii, It also
produced a decision that contradicted the Korematsu case on the main-
lared. Two individuals who had been tried in the military provost courts,
a civilian shipfitter accused of assaulting Marine guards at the Pearl
Harbor Navy Yard in February 1944, and a stockbroker tried for em-
bezzling from a civilian in Aungust 1942, challenged the power of the
military to supplant the civil courts.®™ In the sense that the civil courts
were replaced by the military, intrusion into normal evil life was
greater than on the West Coast, but insofar as military courts operated
to find and punish personal guilt, the deviation from the constitutional
norm wiks less than in the exclusion. Hawaii had been sttacked, so that
upholding military eontrol over civilians on the basis of the war powers
of the Constitution should have been more compelling, Justice Black,
author of the Korematm opinion, once agatn wrote the majority opin-
jon. Although in the strictest sense limited to interpreting the power
of the governor of Hawaii under the Hawailan Organic Act which
permitted him “in case of rebellion or invasion or imminent dimger
thereof, when the public safety requires it, [to] suspend the privilege
af the writ of habeas corpus, or place the Territory . . . under martial
law,” Black chose to interpret the statute by examining the historical
relation of civil to military power. The Court itself posed the central
issue by asking:

Have the principles and practices developed during the birth and

growth of our political institutions been such as o us

that Congress intended that loyal civilians in loyal territory should
have their daily conduct governed by military orders substituted
for criminal laws, and that such civilians should be tried and pun-
ished by military tribunals®
Mo extensive paraphrase is needed to transformn this to the central issue
of the Korematsu case, in which military orders effectively became
laws which the courts were not bo question if military judgments under
the war powers were given extensive deference,

Mo such deference was afforded the military in Hawaii. There was
no talk in Duncen of the war powers of the Constitution or emphasis
on Congressional authorization of extrsordinary measures in wartime.
Justice Black followed his question with an historical essay in which
he found total military rule the antithesis of the American system of
government and held that “martial law” in the statute could not have
been intended to authorize supplanting of the civil courts, Since the
statute directly spoke of suspending the writ of habeas corpus this
seems to be a disingenuous analysis indeed. Black's private rermarks
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to Chief Justive Stone in response to criticism of a draft of the opinion
are closer to the mark:
1 think the Executive is without Constitutional powers to suspend
all legislative enactments in loyal, uninvaded states, to substitute
executive edicts for those laws, and to provide for their enforce-
ment by agents chosen by and through tribunals set up by the
Executive. . . . In other words, the Constitution, as [ understand
it, so far as tivilians in legal uninvaded territory are concerned,
empowers the Executive to “execute” a general code of civil less,
not executive edicts.™
This decision in Duncan v. Kahanamoku is another lasting and
important way in which the experience in Hawaii rebukes events on
the Korematsu decision by showing no deference to military judgment
when the control of civilians and civilian institutions in uninvaded
territory is at stake. In deciding Duncan, the Supreme Court relied
on the firm language of a similar case decided at the end of the Civil
War, Ex parte Milligan: “civil liberty and this kind of martial law cannot
endure together; the antagonism is irreconcilable. ™ The same is true
of Duncan and Korematsu, ™




12

Germans and German Americans

In the first six months of 1942, the United States was engaged in active
waurfure along the Atlantic Coast with the Germans, who had dispatched
submarines to American Atlantic waters, where they patrolled outside
harbors and roadstesds. Unconvoyed American ships were torpedoesd
and destroyed with comparative impunity before minefield defense
and antisubmarine warfare became effective several months later. In
the last weeks of January 1942, 13 ships were sunk totalling 53,000
gross tons, most of it strategically important tanker tomnage. In Feb-
roary, nearly 60 vessels went down in the North Atlantic and slong
the American East Coast; more than 100,000 tons were lost. At the
same time, the naval war expanded to the east coast of Florida and
the Caribbean. March 1942 saw 28 ships totalling more than 150,000
tons sunk along the East Coast and 15 others, more than 50,000 tons,
lost in the Gulf of Mexico and the Caribbean. More than hall were
tankers. The destruction continued through April, May and June as
American defenses developed slowly; the peak came in May, when 41
ships were lost in the Culf.!

This devastating warfare often came alarmingly close to shore,
Sinkings could be watched from Florida resorts and, on June 15, two
American ships were torpedoed in full view of bathers and picnickers
at Virginia Beach.® The damage done was deseribed by the Navy:

. “rE B the U-hoats our Atlantic Coast in

E:s':?;t mu:lj\n:nr:t?;rnnl disaster umm had destroved

253
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half a dozen of our biggest war plants, . . . If a submarine sinks

two 6000-ton ships and one 3000-ton tanker, here is a typicsl

account of what we have totally lost; 42 tanks, 8 six-inch Howitzers,

B8 twenty-five-pound guns, 40 two-pound guns, 24 armored cars,

50 Bren carriers, 5210 tons of ammunition, 600 rifles, 428 tons of

tank supplies, 2000 tons of stores, andlmﬂu.nhufgnmlm

!mppcﬁ:thcﬂlmcshlpthldmodepoﬁmdthamwwem

dispersed. In order to knock out the same amount of equipment

by air bombing, the enemy would have to make three thousand
successful bombing sorties.?

Japanese attacks on the West Coast were insignificant by com-
parison. The few shells lobbed ashore at Golets, California, and the
incendiary halloons floated over the Pacific Northwest amounted to
little more than harssment. Yet the far more severe treatment which
Japanese Americans as a group received at official hands, and less
formelly from their fellow citizens, appears to suggest the opposite.
The wartime treatment of alien Germans and Italians, as well as the
German American experience of the First World War, lends new per-
spective to the exclusion and detention of the ethnic Japanese.

The less harsh controls faced by German Americans in 1942 did
not emerge simply from a more benign view of their intentions. Samuel
Eliot Morison, the eminent historian of American naval operations in
Waorld War 11, firmly believed that disloyal elements along the Atlantic
Coast aided German submarine warfare: “The U-boats were undoubt-
edly helped by enemy agents and clandestine radio transmissions from
the United States, as well as by breaking codes.™ Morison does not
support this conchision with any evidence and, given the lack of cor-
rohoration for similar beliefs on the West Coast, one must view it
skeptically, Nevertheless, this view surcly represents the beliefs of
responsible people at the time.

This destructive struggle, with its suggestions of active aid from
people on shore, produced no mass exclusion of German aliens or
German American citizens from the East Coast. The Justice Depart-
ment interned East Coast German aliens it thought dangerous, and a
small number of German American citizens were individually excluded
from coastal areas after review of their personal records. Exclusion or
detention of some categories of German aliens was considered, but
rejected. Immediately after the Pearl Harbor attack, the FBI picked
up Axis nationals whom they suspected, frequently on the basis of
membership in suspect organizations ® By February 16, 1942, the Jus-
tice Department had interned 2,192 Japanese; 1,353 Germans and 264
Italians.® For enemy aliens of all natiomalities, internment differed
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markedly from the exclusion program on the West Coast. Hearings on
loyalty were held promptly, and release was very likely despite the
government's great advantages in the hearing process.

Those arrested were sent to the nearest regional headquarters of
filled, to other temporary sites. Eventally detainees were sent to
camps set up during 1941 and managed by the INS, where they re-
ceived loyalty hearings. Citizens of different professions, including s
least one lawyer, sat on each hearing board, whose members served
for $1.00 a year plus travel expenses.

Hearings were adversarial. The government was represented by
the: local United States Attorney's office, and FBI or INS agents gen-
erally attended.” The detaince was not permitted to have a lawyer
present® and could not object to questions put to him. He could present
through witnesses and affidavits evidence of law-abiding conduct and
loyalty to the United States. Hearing boards could recommend release,
parole or internment for the duration of the war, Doubts about loyalty
were to be resolved in favor of the government. The case record, with
the recommendation of the hearing board, was then forwarded to the
Attormey General for decision. In reality, the decision of the Alien
Enemy Control Unit of the Department of Justice governed,®

Other impediments prevented full, fair hearings. Many cases had
to proceed through translators; hearing board members were busy and
wanted to proceed guickly: sessions frequently lasted until late at night.
Fundamentally, in the absence of evidence of particular acts, deter-
mining loyalty by interrogation is speculative, and the boards could
not overcome that problem. The FBI and the Alien Enemy Control
Unit had a running conflict as to how strict a standard should be applied,
and the Justics Department obtwined removal of hearing officers thought
too lenient. By August 1942, the Department of Justice began to rec-
ognize that some of its decisions were arbitrary and organized an ap-
peals system for internees. One ground for rehearing was lack of uni-
formity in treatment between the carlier and later cases. ' Neverthelbess,
because the government had uncuestioned authority to detain aliens
of enemy nationality in time of war, these procedures did represent
an cffort to provide rough faimess in making individusl determinations
of bovalty and security risk.

In the spring of 1942 the War Department seriously considered
whether the power of Executive Order 9066 should be used to exclude
from certain areas all German and [talian aliens or at least some cat-
egories of such enemy aliens. Secretary Stimson, in his letter and
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memorandum of February 20 delegating sutharity to General DeWitt,
had tnstructed the General to consider and develop plans for exchoding
Cerman aliens, but to ignore the Malians, st beast for the time being '
A week earbicr, the War Department had asked corps commanders for
m-mm-m-ﬂ.&p
rams which would supposedhy provide increased security by exchoding
bargr groups of encmy alien residents from extensive stretches of the
Pacific and Atlantc comstlines. ** General DeWitt pressed for a program
that would have exempted 3 pumber of clsses of German and alisn
aliens, but would still have removed several thousand Germans and
Itbinns from the West Coast ** There were no serious proposals for
the mass movement of categories of American citizens of German and
Balian descent, althowgh local commanders sought the power o ex-
clude individizal citizens. ™

Thmnmﬂﬂ#m-&hﬂuunﬁnﬂuﬂgnp—
posed. With about ene million German and Italisn aliens in the coun-
try, it was quickly recognized that moving such s large group en masse
presented encrmous practical difficulties and economic dislocations. ®
Moreover, exclusion would mean establishing relocation camps, for
exchuded people would not be accepted in the heartland. " Tn addition,
to have detalned many Germans who were already refiugees from the
Waris would have been bitterly ironie. "7

But most critical was the public and political perception of the
kesser danger presented by Germans and Italisns, Within the govern-
ment, there docs not appear to have been much more detailed knowsd-
edge about German and Halian individuals than there was sbout the
ethnic Japanese. Writing after the war, the Western Defense Com-
mand summed up offiews! ignorance:

It would be unbhelivable to anyone net concerned with inteBi-

grnce malters that there wore pot sailable anywhere prior to

Pearl Harbor, & record of German, Italisn snd Japanese organi-

rations in the United States, with sosw knowledge of their stroe-

*In & rare open devistion from the views of bis wperior, Beodetsen gave
his prrsonal recommeradation to MoCloy, he crped that there be no mosement
of ltaluns by groups but only the individual interoments that were abready
being carried cut by the Justice Department Bencetsen wanted to exempt
from amy move wme dasses of Coman sliens in sddition o thoese DeWitt
siggested. Mewo, Bendetsen i MeCloy, May 11, 1842 NARS. RG 107 (CWRIC
267-88).
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ture, purposes, and connections with their homelands, The fuct

remains na such lists existed, ,

In this situation, for the Germans and ltalians as for the ethnic Japanese,
public perceptions and their political implications were very important.
The: Italians were virtually dismissed as a threat. In February, Stimson
told DeWitt to ignore the Italians for the time being because they
were “potentially bess dangerous, as a whole.™® In May, Archibald
MacLeish, in the Office of Facts and Figures, and Alfred Jaretdd, Jr.,
whom McCloy had brought in to help deal with German and Ttalian
aliens, proposed to exempt ltalians from the restrictions on enemy
aliens.™ In the fall, after approval by Roosevelt, who dismissed the
Italians us “a lot of oper singers,”™ Attorney General Biddle an-
nounced that they would no longer be considered “aliens of enemy
nationality. ™

There was greater feeling that there were possibly more sinister
CGerman groups and individuals, but the political weight opposed any
mass movement or detention. In February, when the evacvation of
ethnic Japanese was about to start, Congressman Tolan telegraphed
Biddle shout setting up boards to inguire into the individoal loyalty
of Germans and Italians,® In March, Tolan's Committes published its
findings and recommendations and bluntly dismissed mass movement
of Germans and Italians: “This committee is prepared to say that any
such proposal is out of the question if we intend to win this war, "™
There was no important Congressional support for such 8 program,
and the Justice Department also opposed mass evacuation. ™ The Pres-
ident himsel told Stimson in eardy May, when he heard that evacuation
of East Coast Germans and [talians was under consideration, that alien
control was “primarily a eivilian matter except of course in the case of
the Japanese mass evacuation on the Pacific Coast.” The War De-
partment was to take no action against Germans and [talians on the
East Coast without consulting the President first.™

Wo effective, organized anti-German and anti-Ttalian agitation
aroused the public as it had against the ethnic Japanese on the West
Coast, and the War Department, although it considered meving some
classes or categories of Germans, was not sufficiently persuaded to
press the President to allow it %

On May 15, Stimsen recommended to the President at a Cabinet
meeting that, under the Exccutive Order, area commanders be allowed
to exclude from militarily sensitive areas particubar individuals, but not
classes of German or Italian aliens. ® Roosevelt approved the plan. On
the West Coast, DeWitt, having first demanded that the War De-
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partment abachve him of the conseguences of not evacuating entire
dlesses of German and Ttalian sliens, ™ issued individual eschusion or-
ders to a small number of Cermans and Itslisrs ® O the Fast Coast,
Gerwral [rum followed the same comre bul aha sused orders o dim
Iighits and to exchade all persons, sliess or citisens, from cortain military
areas which had bren narmesty defined o svold requiring people to
redocate * Thewe Faxt Coast orders diffier from the Japuness exrbusion
program because they did not discriminste smong Americsn citizens
on the basin of ethnicity or parenizee.

Very few prople suffered individusl exchaion. For eample, in
the Western Defense Command from August 1942 to July 1943, 174
exclusion orders. Many of those were German-born or Italian-bom
American citizens. Similar action was taken in the same period by the
Eastern and Southern Defense Commands, which barred 59 and 21
persans respectively from coastal areas.

This individualized approach to determining loyalty was followed
despite visible, active pro-Nazi operations among German Americans
before the outhreak of war, As late s February 20, 1939, the Deut-
schamerikaniche Volksbund, popularly and simply known as the Bund,
brought more than 20,000 people to Madison Square Garden for a
rally to praise Hitler while denouncing Roosevelt and his asdministra-
tion. ™ At that time the Bund was organized by chapters throughout
the United States and claimed a membership of more than 200,000 %
This certainly exaggerated the numbers on which the Bund could rely
for sctive pro-Naxi sympathy, and the Bund itself, full of sound and
fury, frequently rang bollow—its leader, Fritz Kubn, was sent to prison
im 1908, convicted of embersling Bund funds after having led 2 dis-
sipated e ueswited to his political mission ® Nevertheles, at the
beginning of the war thers were resonablde grounds for snacety abouot
German directed sabotage or ffth colume sctraty | substantisted when
two groups of Cerman ssboteurs binded in Sew York and Florida from
submanines and were arrested in Fall 1942 =

Wai there 3 coherent policy behind tresting the German aliens
and German Americans on the Fast Coust differently from the Japunese
on the West Coast? If one accepted the Western Diefrnse Comemand's
view that ethnic groups remain boval to their ancestral nation, and
further argued that mass measures were mecessary only sgainst Japa-
nese Americans cither because the loyal could not be distinguished
fram the disloyal within Asian groups or becanse urgency did not permit
individual review, one would expect a careful official review of all
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German Americans in order to detain the disloyal. The government
made no such review. The opposing contention would be that Cerman
Americans were so fully assimilated that there was no doubt of their
undivided loyalty. The prewar history of the Bund makes such an
explanation implavsible. Equally significant, an analysis of voting pat-
terns shows that, as Boosevelt moved toward an anti-German foreign
policy between 1936 and 1940, German American voters shifted away
from Foosevelt toward the Republicans, ™ It might also be argued that,
with England unconguered, the threat of invasion and coordinated fifth
column activity was more remete. But this did not reduce the patent
danger of espionage or sabotage om the East Coast, where U-boats
were deployed with such devastating effect. The divergent trestment
of ethnic Japanese and Germans does not make a logical pattern; one
must look elsewhere to understand these events.

Two typical explanations of the divergent treatment of the two
ethnic groups have been numbers and political influence. ™ The Amer-
ican population of German descent in 1940 was so large that any major
program of exclusion or detention would have been very difficelt to
execute, with enormous economic and political repercussions. Lo 1940,
1,237,000 people of German birth lived in the United States, the largest
foreign-born ethnic group except for the ltalians. Further, if one con-
sidered the children of fumilies in which both parents were German-
born, the number of Germans in the country reached 5 million and,
counting families with one German-born parent, the number rose to
& million. ™ & population of that size had political muscle; the industrial
northeast, the midwest and the northern plains states all had substantial
German American voting blocs, Radical measures such as exclusion or
detention would have carried a very heavy political cost.

Many believe that the explanation for treating German and Jap-
anese Americans differently lies in nothing so mechanical as numbers
or vobes, but in visceral reactions of prejudice. While this explanation
gives a particularly dark cast to events of 1842, it also holds out hope
that as the American people matures, the danger of similarly intolerant
actions diminishes. Insofar as reactions to the ethnic Japanese and
Germans were influenced by unreasoned, uninformed public percep-
tions, this reading of history is persuasive, but the history of German
Americans over the last eighty vears also underseores the importance
of war hysteria in 1942,

The German American experience after the United States entered
the First World War was far less traumatic and damaging than the
Nised and Issei experience in 1942, Still, it makes clear that the emo-
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tional response to war, not racism alone, plays a significant part in the
vilification and deprivation of liberty suffered by any ethnic group
ancestrally linked to an enemy.

The positions of people of German descent in 1917 and of the Tssed
and Nisei at the start of the Second World War were much different.
I 1917, more than 5 million people in the United States had been
born in Germany or had one or both parents born there,*® Although
German Americans were not massively represented politically, their
numbers gave them notable political strength and the support of voices
outside the ethnic group, such as Senator Robert M. LaFollette of
Wisconsin,* In fact, in some states, German immigrants were per-
mitted to vote before becoming American citizens. * German American
sympathy for the fatherland was firmby and publicly expressed during
the period of neutrality, when political German ethnic organizations
urged an embargo on shipping war materiel to England and France,
hoping to prevent war between the United States and Germany. *® This
active support of the German cmse occasionally reached the level of
sabotaging arms shipments to Europe.*

When America went to war in 1917, a steady stream of actions,
officiul and private, were taken against citizens of German descent and
resident German aliens. As in 1942, initial fears of sabotage and
espionage®™ contributed to a broad range of restrictive government
measures, German aliens were excheded from the District of Columbia
and kept out of sensitive military areas such as wharves, canals, ships
and railroad depots; permission was required to change residence.
Several thousand German aliens were interned for minor violations of
these regulations. % Numerous states disenfranchised aliens with voting
rights, ™ In what appears to be a prima facie violation of the First
Amendment, the German language press was smothered by requiring
that it print wir news and comment on government actions in Enghish
and have them reviewed by the post office.® At the start of the war
more than 500 German language periodicals were published in the
United States; almost half were gone at war's end.

Vigorous and pervasive quasi-governmental groups also pursued
citizens of German ancestry. Supported and encouraged by the At-
tomey Ceneral, the American Protective League was organized; its
200,000 untrained members, sworn in as volunteer detectives with
badges, set out to investigate spies and saboteurs. ™ No actual spy was
ever apprehended by this semi-official network, but it harassed German
Americans through thousands of investigations, Informally, immense
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pressure was brought to bear through Liberty Loan drives and semi-
vigilante activity that included one lynching in Mineis.®

The history of these attacks in several aspocts resembles events
of 1842: rumors in the press of sabotage and espionage, stereotypes of
the German as an unassimilable, rapacions Hun, and effarts to suppress
the institutions—the language and the churches—that were most palp-
ably foreign and perceived as the seedbed of Kaiserism. This history
is all the more disturbing because there was no history of extensive
anti-German agitation before the war.

The rumors came in from every part of the country:

Allegedly, Germans pasing as Bible salesmen tried to stir up the

Negroes in the South. In Dayton, the militia guarded the water

works against feared acts of German sabotage. German-speaking

Red Cross workers in Denver supposedly put glass in bandapges
and bacteria in medical supplies, Cincinnati's meat packers were

rumored to be grinding glass into sausages. In South Dakota, o

Mennonite flourmill was closed when a customer reported finding

glass chips in the four, %2

The stereotypical description of ethnic Germans was well-devel-
oped in its viciousness. The American Defense Society, with Theodore
Roosevelt as its honorary president, put out a tract attacking the Ger-
maAns a4%

the most treacherous, brutal and losthsome nation on earth. . . .

The sound of the German language . . . reminds us of the murder

ofa million helpless old men, unarmed men, women, and children;

(and the] driving of aboot 100,000 young French, Belgian, and

Poligh women into compulsory prostitution, 5*
Others assalled Germans as barbarous Huns whe could never be as-
similated into American society,™

This war on the domestic front focused first on stamping out the
German language. By 1918 approscdmately half of the states had cur-
tailed or prohibited instruction in German; several, along with dozens
of cities and towns, had restricted the freedom of citizens to speak
German in public® German churches were investigated and de-
neunced for their supposed allegiance to the German state. ™

German culture had, of course, seeped more deeply into American
life by 1917 than Japenese culture had in 1842, and First Woreld War
chanvinism also sought to deanse the United States of German cultural
influence: Bach and Beethoven were banned, German books were
burned, German names were changed." Defeating Kaiser Wilhclm,
newly-christened the “Beast of Berlin,” by denying the citizens of
Chicago or Pittshurgh access to Schubert or Goethe obviously promised
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more emotional release in striking a blow against enemy symbals than
thoughtful analysis of how those blows could possibly hurt Germany
when they fell on other Americans.

The reaction of many German Americans was not unlike what the
Issei and Nisei did. Many ethnic organizations and clubs disappeared
or Americanized™ (though this was not true of the churches, partic-
ularly separatist, pacifist sects such as the Mennonites and Hutterites,
many of whom left the United States for Canada under the barrage of
patrictic oppression™), and the loyalty of German Americans had to
be proven in the blood of Evropean battlefields.® General John J.
Pershing, who led American forces in Europe, was himself of German
descent, having Anglicized his name from Ploerschin,™ but even this
eounted for little with those who demanded battlefield demonstration
of ovalty and reached shocking extremes of demanding military service
from the old pacifist sects, who were as adamantly opposed to bearing
arms for Germany as for the United States.

This earkier history of vilification hardly darifies why there was
no massive outhurst against resident German aliens and German Amer-
icans in 1942, Perhaps one scapegoat is enough for a nation's frustrated
anger; perhaps assimilation worked to Blunt and blur hostilities; per-
haps, for other reasons, Americans had come to make distinctions
within the German American community between “trustworthy” and
“untrustworthy” Germans. In any case, the history of German Amer-
icans in 1917 and Japanese Americans in 1942 reveals some basic ele-
ments of the country’s social structure. We are indecd a nation of
immigrants and, of course, virtually every immigrant ethnic group
carries some affection for and loyalty to the language, culture and
religion of its homeland. The strength of such ties varies depending
on whether the reasons for immigration are economic, or spring from
persecution due to religion, political views, race or some other factor,
Typically, in time ancestral ties are Joosened, but in the first few
penerations they are real and tangible, often more vigorously pursued
by & third generation seeking its roots than by an Americanizing second
generation. War between the United States and the ancestral eountry
inevitehly creates tension for those who, to some degree, wish to
maintain loyalty, if not to the political aims, at least to the cultural
values and social practices of both countries,

Cutside the ethnic group, both world wars have stirred fear and
anxiety that the group’s loyalty lay with the mother country, not the
United States.™ To some extent Chinese Americans experienced sim-
ilar reactions during the Korean War.™ The risks and terrors of war
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stir deep emotion, and the impulse to act unreflectively is strong—
but to do so is to give up one of the basic tenets of our nation by
placing ethnic ties sbove a free choice of citizenship made by the
individual. As early as May 1942, after listening to extensive testimony,
the Tolun Committee concluded that equating ethnicity with loyalty
was unsound: “This testimony has impressed upon us in convincing
fashion the fundamental fact that place of birth and technical nonciti-
zenship alone provide no decisive criteria for assessing the alinement
[sic] of loyalties in this world-wide conflict. ™ In both world wars we
failed to live by those precepts and, through that failure, brought
hardship and injustice to loval citizens and resident aliens.

What remains particularly troubling is that afier a quarter cen-
tury—1917 to 1942—far from demonstrating that we learned from our
earlier mistreatment of another ethnic group, we unleashed summary
sanctions upon a small ethnic group on a seale unknown in oer history;
and this course of action was officially sanctioned by the executive with
the formal cooperation of the legislature,

The United States has won the: loyalty of millions who have chosen
to make it their home and country; whatever other basis there may be
to suspect disloyslty in wartime:, our history shows that ethnic ties to
an enemy people are not equivalent to political lovalty to an enemy
state, Nevertheless the First World War saw the invasion of First
Amendment rights and the development of quasi-governmental groups
near vigilantism; World War 11 brought exclusion and detention with
full governmental participation. Both of these invaded rights and lib-
erties which, because they were protected by the Constitution, were
afforded the strongest shield available in American law.

Congress, urged by an anxiows, angry public, has the power to
repeal peacetime prohibitions designed to reinforce those constitu-
tional protections, and the courts can find ways to evade their respon-
sibility, The Supreme Court, striking down the use of martial law in
loyal territory at the end of the Civil War, summarized the central
issue:
When peace prevails, and the authority of the povernment is
undisputed, there is no difficulty in preserving the safeguards of
libserty; . . . but if society is disturbed by civil commotion—if the
passions of men are aronsed anul-': rcm;in::s.dul' ltawdm&
i isregarded—these s need, sha 1
:Eh:mwﬁxﬁﬂ care: of those -:-.n:ugmd with the guardianship of the
Constitution and laws. In noother way can we transmit to posterity
unimpaired the blessings of liberty.®
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After Camp

More than forty years have passed since Americans and resident aliens
of Japanese ancestry were removed from their homes on the West
Coast to the barbed-wire camps of the interior. Forty years fade mem-
ories and transform stereotypes. Today, Japanese Americans are not
often viewed as unassimilable aliens; since the racial turmoil of the
19605, indeed, they have been portruyed as the “model minority,” &
group with high educational and professional achievements, model
citizens free of most social pathology who do not agitate or disturh the
status que.' Has this once-vilified ethnic group managed to escape at
last the effects of its wartime incarceration?

Certainly, Japanese Americans have displayed impressive resili-
ence and fortitude in the face of unique adversity, Entrance and ac-
ceptance into the mainstream of American society through the con-
ventional modes of success have been largely accomplished. But socoess
is far from the whole story. Scars, even wounds from exclusion and
detention still remain. Relative economic affluence has been gained,
but not without high psychic price.

After the release from camp, the Issei and Nisei attempted to
rebuild their disrupted lives, more often than not from scratch. Some
Issed, then in their late fifties or sixties, never regained lost momentum
their lives, Postwar inflation and the labor shortage helped them take
up occupations once again. Earnings that approached or exceeded

285
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prewar wages provided 2 morale-boosting sense of sccomplishment for
the ethni Japanese—even though their camnings now purchased fr
less—and the demand for services provided more job opportunities
than before the war. The acote postwar howsing shortage, however,
sometitnes foreed cthnic Japancse to e in remete sress fur from
desirabde s markets

OF course, some—the Brmers and proprictors—who had mest
beore the war, also lost most. With their financisl reserves pone or
depleted by the time they were released, many had Fitthe or no capital
with which to reestablish indeprodent enterprise . parteulerdy with the
postenr rise in prices. Mot were forced to scorpt whatever jobs they
could find, ofien menial, others went into busineises that required
little start-up capital, such & contract gardening.

1t has been argued that evacuation allowed Nisel students to kit
castern and midwestern colleges which opened new doors to advance-
ment for them.® Some have contended that evecuation also removed
Japanese Americans from low-paying agricultural work, setting them
on the road to economic betterment in white collur und professional
occupations.” But the prewar record of the Nisel indicates that, in a
society free of discrimination, Japanese Americans were likely to have
advanced rapidly in economic and material terms, The evacuation can-
not be characterized as a necessary spur to sucooss.

Both arguments suggest, however, that Japanese Americans should
not complain now sbout scthacks caused by their wartime exile, sinee
they have done very well economically since the war But & closer look
reveals that this “Bet” masks other circwmatances that make the eco-

nomic position of Japancse Americans less glittering than it appeses *

& sty spomsored by the U5 Commission o Civil Rights discovered
that in Ses Froscseo, Los Acgedes. New York sod Chacage, the mcome of
ethme Japasese males with foor or more yesny of college veraged onhy 57%
o Japusese fremmles 55% of that of white male with comparsble eduacston
resading i the e ares. Japanese mabey who bsd completed hagh schewd 1o
thrre yrans of college comned ahout 535 of the moome of whee males, med
thowr with bews than s high school education carmed shout 549 that of white
makes In Hosoluby, however, fapanesr mabes snd bemabes wath high school
wnd college educstions surpassed their white cousterparts. Citing 2 stody by
Harold H. Weong, the report sdded that the carnings differential between
Jupanese and white males in Californis could not be expluined by taking into
socount such (sctors & edocstion, labor market experionce, Unfted States
citizenship, number of years in the United States, vocational training, disa-
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More significant than economic boss was the destruction that knew
no boundaries between rich and poor—damage to the lives of Tssei,
Misei, and even Sansei. In city after city, the Commission heard tes-
timony from former evacuees who for the first time openly expressed
pain and anger about evacuation and its aftermath. Many had never
articulated their feelings even to their children, or within the ethnic
community which shared their experience. It became obvious that a
forty-year silence did not mean that bitter memories had dissipated;
they had only been buried in a shallow grave,

For Japanese Americans, camp is & point of reference. As one
SanseiYonsei put it:

1 can go anywhere in the United States today and . | |, talk to a

Misei or Japaness American family and after the initial social amen-

ities are taken care of . . . discusdons _ . without a douba . . .

will get to the topic of camp. . . . People will ask, “Were you in

camp?” And of course I wasn't. And that doesn't end the questions
because then they ask, “Were your parents in camp?™ And if you
tell them what camp vour parents were in, and if they were not
themselves in that camp, then they would ask if you knew so-and-
50 who was in that camp.*

Despite its painful significance, Japinese American discussions about
camp, when they occurred at all, for & long time recounted only the
trivial or humorous moments. The Sansei sometimes found this trou-
bling:
When 1 first leamed of the internment as a youth, 1 found that it
wais o difficult matter to discuss with my parents. My perception
of them was that they did not speak honestly about the camp
experience. Positive aspects were mentioned, if anything at all,
but there ahways seemed to be something that was left out. My
feeling was that there was much more to their experience than
they wanted to reveal. Their words said one thing, while their
hesrts were holding something else deep inside ®

Dr. Tetsuden Kashima of the University of Washington calls this be-
havior “social amnesia . . . a group phenomengn in which attempts
are made to suppress feelings and memories of particular moments or

hility, or labor market area. U.S. Commission on Civil Rights, Success of Asian
Americans: Fact or Fiction? {Clearinghouse Publication 64, September 1980},
Amado ¥. Cabers, “Dissdvantaged Employment Status of Asion and Pacific
Americans,” in Ciolf Rights Issues of Asian and Parific Americans: Myths and
Fienlities (Faper presented at consultation sponsored by U.5. Commission on
Civil Rights, 1875), pp. 440-41.
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extended time perieds . . . a conscious effort . . . to cover up less than
pleasant memories, ™

Why should these people experience such psychological trauma?
They knew they were inmocent and, in the opinion of the WRA, the
camps had been administered humanely, Dr. Philip Zimbardo, psy-
chology professor at Stanford University, offers insight from his 1971
experiment designed to reveal the psychology of imprisonment:

[Wle populated a mock prison with a group of normal, healthy,
young men who had a history of being law-abiding citizens. . . .
By a flip of the coin, these college student volunteers were ran-
domly assigned to be inmates or jailers for the projected two-week
period of the study. Thus, it was a totally arbitrary decision that
determined the fate of the citizen who had done no wrong, but
was to be labelled a prisoner and then treated as if he had violated
the law of the land.

This Stanford prison experiment had to be terminated in less
than ome week because it ceased being just a simulation and had
taken on all the worst aspects of a real prison. . . . The prisoners
were constantly reminded of their loss of freedom and their pow-
erless condition. - . . The sense of helplessness that was evident
among the prisoners was reflected not only in their low sclf-es-
teem; some of them broke out in psychosomatic rashes . . . and
evidenced genuvinely disturbed mental fimctioning, Even though
these mock prisoners knew that they had done nothing to deserve
the kind of treatment they received, nevertheless, they reported
feeling shamed by the swrrender of their autonomy to the guards
and I;umlb!nd by & sense of being outeasts, misfits, and transgres-
SIS,

The assembly and relocation eenters were nol prisons in the same
sense as Lewvenworth or even the minimum-security institutions where
Watergate defendants served Hme. Nonetheless, all had armed guards
in sentry towers, and evacuees were not at liberty to come and go as
they pleased. As Dr. Zimbardo told the Commission, "My research
forces me to conclude “prison’ is any situstion wherein one person or
group's freedom and lberty are denied by virtue of the arbitrary power
of another person or group.™

According to Christie W. Kiefer in Changing Cultures, Changing
Lives, “[Plersons who have been tormented for some supposed error
or deficiency often end up agrecing with the definition of themselves
offered by their tormentors and trying to stone for their error.™ After
the bombing of Pearl Harbor, many 1ssei thought that they, as aliens,
might be interned for the duration of the war; but they felt less certain
ahout their children, who, of course, were American citizens by hirth,
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The [ssel, Kiefer found, “felt that they had been deficient in fecling
and expressing lovalty to their host country™ and are “not inclined to
judge the relocation as unfiir even when they recall the suffering and
loss it brought them.™ Kiefer added that many Issei had chosen to
emigrate, sometimes against the warnings of kin, and had elected to
remain in this country after others had deft in dispust. They were
refuctant to admit that their gamble was a serious mistake. Conse-
quenthy, “[als long as they could see the evacoation as a natural disaster
like the typhoons and earthguakes of their homeland, impersonal and
therefore blameless, accidental and therefore unavoidable, they would
not have to feel the guilt of self-betrayal, ™

The Nisei's social and psychological response to the wartime ex-
perience differed signiicantly from the Issei’s, largely because the
Nisei, while acknowledging their ancestral coltural roots, saw them-
selves first as Americans with rights under the Constitution despite
prewar discrimination. Yet their government put them behind barbed
wire becsuse of distrust based on their ethnicity. They leamed that
Constitutional rights were not an_individual and personal guarantes if
one were an American of Japanese ancestry.

The: Nisei adjusted to this assault on their expectations and identity
as Americans in a varety of modes which are not mutually exclusive
antd can change over time. Among the most common are:

* Attempting to deny or avoid the experience and refusing o ac-
knowledge the significance of losses. “Let's forget about it; it is all
behind s, "1

* Losing faith in white America; maintaining a general distrust or
hatred toward white society and choosing to associate only with Jap-
anese Americans.

* Turning ageressions inward, as rape victims often do, by blaming
themselves for something over which they had little control." Anger
is internalized as feelings of guilt, shame, and racial inferiority; and
energy is focused on attaining economic suceess in order to prove that
one is not inferior:

Society has stripped & whole group of people of confidence. We

are afraid to speak out. We will try to keep peace at any price.

We will not make waves. [t makes us uncomfortable to stand out.

We want to blend in. We want to be middle America.'™

* Identifying with the aggressor by refusing to associate with ather
Japanese Americans and prowdly procliming ignorance of Japan, its
language and culture'® This attitude was encouraged by government
resettlement policies which stressed assimilation—the WRA admon-
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ished former evacuees not to congregate in public, that “no more than
three Nised should walk along the street together and that no more
than five should be together in a restourant,” and that it would be wise
to avoid living nest door to another Japanese American family.'™ Not
unusual was the testimony that “when 1 would see a Japanese American
approaching me on the street, 1 would turn and walk away or dash
into a nearby store. ™ This denial of who one was and how one looked
bred ethnic hate and, ultimately, seli-loathing.

Evacuation dealt a major blow to the family as a social institution,
In the camps, lssei lost their roles as family besds and breadwinners.
In the messhalls the evening meal, when values and manners were
traditionally tanght, was no longer o Family affuir, and lck of privacy
even in living quarters made it difficult to discipline children. As a
result of WHA policies, Issei, particularly those who could not speak
English, could no longer be community leaders, Coming from a culture
that values age and respects elders, they found themselves forced
prematurely to relinquish their power and status to the younger gen-
eration. Even after the war, in many families, a Nisei, not his or her
parent, acted as the head.

The scars of wartime incarceration are not borne by the Lssei and
Misei alone. Tt shaped the way in which the Sansei were raised:

My Eather [a Nisei] always told us, "Get a pood education, for

it is something no one could take away from you”, . . . He said

we should assimilate, for any cultural deviation from the main-

stream woubd only hold us back. ™
The Nisei told their children, “Don't make waves. Don't stand out.
You are different enough anyway.” Some would oot pass on to their
children what they knew about Japanese culture. Some chose not to
tell their children of Japunese Americans’ wartime suffering, because
they felt that ignorance would prevent bitterness and make them better
Amerkcans.

The impact of the government’s evacuation and resetthement pol-
icies went bevond radically altering individual lives; it hastened change
in the ethnic communities. The problems of small proprietors in re-
establishing themselves were felt widely, since many of their businesses
bl besen Jocated in Japanese districts and depended on ethnic Japanese
clientele. Some Japanese proprietors were eventually suecessful in
displacing businesses that had moved in during their absence, but the
Japanese districts never guite regained their prewar vitality. The re-
turming Japanese were no longer as geographically concentrated, and
the Nisei and Sansei ceased to patronize ethnic stores, preferring to
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buy from chain stores or other places that offered the best bargains,
continuing & process that had begun before World War 11.%

After the war, cthnic Japanese communities were split by mers
than geography. The residue of decisions and experiesces surmunding
the “lovalty” questionnaire i so bitter that, kouer decades lter, an ex-
rvacuer testified, [Ehen to this day, there are many amongst o who
might arise up again to the surface ™ And although it has been many
mterned by the FEL, many remuin fexrfol of taking lesdership positions
in the ethnic community.= The wartime wounds have not entiredy
heaked.

“Before evacustion ™ “Aller camp.” Words signifying the wa-
tershed in the history of Japanese Americans in the United States.
Even after four decades, it is the mournful reference point from which
these Americans describe changes in their communities, their personal
lives, thelr sspirations. 1 is the central experience which has shaped
the way they see themselves, how they see America, and how they
have raised their children.
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Latin Americans

During Workd War 11 the United States expanded ity intermment pro-
gram and national security investigations to Latn Amercs oo the basis
of “military necessity.” On the government’s invitation, spprocimately
3,000 residents of Latin America were deported to the United States
for internument to secure the Western Hemisphere from internal threats
and to supply exchanges for American citizens held by the Axis Most
of these deportees were citizens, or their families, of Japan, Germany
and Italy. Although this was not conducted pursuant to Ex-
ecutive Order 8066, an ination of the extraordinary program of
interning aliens from America in the United States completes
the acoount of federal to detain and inbern civilians of enemy
or foreign nationality, particularly those of Japanese ancestry.

What began as a controlled, closely monitored deportation pro-
gram to detain potentially dangerous diplomatic and consular officials
of Axis mations and Axis businessmen grew to include enemy aliens
who were teschers, small businessmen, tailors and harbers—mostly
people of Japanese ancestry. Owver two-thirds, or 2,300, of the Latin
American internees deported to the United States were Japanese na-
tionals and their families; over eighty peroent came from Pero * About
who sshed 1o join their hishands snd fathers in canps pending de-
portstion to Japen, fBmily members were clasadfed a5 “voluntary m-
ternees.

Underlying these deportations was fear of Japanese attack in Latin
America, particularly at the Fanama Canal, which prodused ssspiron
of Latin American Japanese Buol a curious wartime trangle trade in
countries, particularly Peru, deported Japancse out of cultural prejo-
ﬂu-ndunpnlmhmlmmmmlhl:ﬂdh
in turn, sought Latin American Japanese interners to eachange with
Japan for American citizens trapped in territories Japan controlled. The
same dynamic often affected Germans and Italians.

E3-124 - 62 - 11
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Dxportees from Peru for internment in the United States domi-
nated the Latin American deportation program and thus this discussion
centers on them. The history of the Japanese in Peru offers suggestive
parallels to West Coast history,

In the late 19th and early 20th centuries, expanding agriculture
in Latin America attracted surplus skilled farm labor from Japan; by
1923 almost 20,000 Japanese had settled in Peru alone.” During the
1930°s, economic depression in Japan and restricted immigration to
the United States® drew more Jopanese to Latin America, where 23,000
entered Brazil in a single vear.® Worsening economic conditions in
Latin America, however, brought discriminatory legislation and busi-
ness practices almed at these immigrants,

Japanese in Peru inherited years of prejudice earlier directed
apainst Chinese immigrants. Many Japanese in Latin America had
migrated to urhan areas where they built dose-knit communities, opened
amall businesses and gained economic independence. The Peruvian
Japanese formed ethnic business associations and social organizations,
and, although some Japanese married Peruvians and the typical family
joined the Roman Catholic church,® many kept a love of Japan, nursed
feelings of cultural superiority and sent their children to Japan for
formal education. In Peru, most Japanese immigrants steadfastly re-
fused Peruvian citizenship. This history fueled Peruvian resentment
against them; economic competition, including fears of Japanese farm-
ers and merchants monopolizing fertile land and some service indus-
tries, aggravated prejudice. Peru severely restricted Japanese immi-
gration in 1936 and followed up by restricting the right to citizenship
of some Peruvian Japanese, including Kibei, In 1940, when about
26,000 Japanese lived in Peru, including 9,000 Nisei,” riots broke out.
Japanese businesses were destroved and homes ransacked, and re-
strictive: laws muzzled the Japanese press,

By 1940, the United States had become directly involved with
security in Latin America. After the European war erupted in 1839,
the government posted FBI agents in United States embassies in Latin
America to compile information on Axis nationals and sympathizers.®
Following Pearl Harbor, the United States immediately moved to se-
cure the Western Hemisphere against dangerous enemy aliens. For
the first time, Japanese-owned businesses in Latin America appeared
on the United States” Proclaimed List of Blocked Nationals and were
thus blackdisted through econommic warfare, After a meeting of Western
Hemisphere nations early in 1942, the Emergency Advisory Cornmit-
tee for Political Defense was ereated, composed of representatives from
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the United States, Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Mexico, Uruguay and
Venezuela. The Committes forwarded to Latin American countries
recommendations to control subversive activities and to secure the
hemisphere, emphasizing internment of Axis nationals.® Several Latin
American countries, severing ties with the Asis, imposed restrictions
against Axis nationals.

Acting on Emergency Advisory Committee recommendations or
in response to United States security efforts, sixteen Latin American
countries interned at least & 500 Axis nationals during Wordd War 1.
Economic and paolitical pressure from the Proclaimed Lists and the
Emergency Advisory Committee, coupled with Latin American na-
tions” inability to establish costly security programs, encouraged the
United States to accept Latin American enemy aliens for internment.
Twelve Latin American countries—Bolivia, Colombia, Costa Rica, the
Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Sahador, Gustemnala, Haiti, Hon-
duras, Micaragna, Panama and Peru—deported some or all of their
enemy alien internees to the United States.** (Brazil and Venezuela
did not.} Onee in the United States, the State Department had custody
and held internces in camps operated by the Justice Department’s
Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS).

The model of the Latin American deportation and internment
program was developed in Panama, Before the war, the United States
had agreed orally and informally with Panamanian officials to intern
Japanese nationals during wartime. After the Pearl Harbor attack, Pan-
ama declared war on the Axis and froze Japanese assets. Japanese aliens
were arrested by Panamanian and American agents for security reasons
because they were near the Canal Zome. The War Department in-
structed the Commanding General of the Caribbean Defense Com-
mand to construct an internment camp in Fanama for enemy aliens. ¥
Fanama later agreed to transfer internees to the United States to be
traded for Western Hemisphere nationals held in Japan.'*

In Peru, the State Department aimed to eliminate potential mil-
itary threats and to integrate Peru'’s economy and government into the
war effort. After war broke out, Peru notified the War Department
that the United States could place military installations there; a small
military force eventually encamped near the oil fiekds of northern Peru,
and the United States promised $29 million in armaments through
Lend-Lease apreements, the largest pledge to a Latin American state, ™
Peru moved quickly against its Japanese residents, whose newspapers,
organizations and schools were closed after December 7. Japanese
assets were frozen, and the Proclaimed Lists brought hardship to Jap-
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anese businesses; some Peruvian Japanese were asked to leave, Before
any deportations occurred, almost 500 Japanese registered repatriation
requests at the Spanish Embassy, which represented Japan’s interests
in Peru. " This group was among the first to be deported. The initial
targets of the American-Peruvian deportation program were enemy
alien diplomatic and consular officials and some business representa-
tives of Japan. Peru wished to deport sll Japanese and other Axis
nationals as well, but the United States recopnized its limited need of
Latin American Jspanese for exchange with Japan; the problems of
limited shipping lacilities; and the administrative burden of a full-scale
enemy alien deportation program. The United States limited the pro-
gram to deporting officials and “dangerous” enemy aliens.

John K. Emmerson, Third Secretary of the American Embassy in
Peru, who had been a language student in Japan and could speak and
resd Japanese fluently, was assigned to help the Peruvians identify
“dangerous” aliens and compile deportstion lists."® But deportations
were in fact planned with little coordination between the United States
and Peru, and Peru chose some deportees over others for no apparent
resgon, although bribery may have been involved. Moreover, the in-
accurate portrayal by Peruvian officials of Perrvian Japanese as de-
ceptive and dangerous encouraged the United States to deport and
intern not only Japanese nationals, but some Pervvian citizens of Jap-
anese descent, '’

During early 1942, approximately 1,000 [apanese, 300 Germans
and 30 Italians were deported from Peru to the United States, along
with about 850 German, Japanese and Italian aliens picked up in Ec-
uador, Colombia, and Bolivia'® and an additional 184 men from Panama
and Costa Rica. " Normal legal proceedings were ignored and none of
the Peruvians were issued warrants, granted hearings, or indicted after
arrest. Un entering the United States, officials of Axis nations were
placed in State Department custody and private citizens were sent to
INS internment camps in Texas. In most cases passports had been
confiscated before landing, and the State Department ordered Amer-
jcan consuls in Peru and elsewhere to issue no visas prior to depar-
ture.* Despite their involuntary arrival, deportees were treated by
INS as having illegally entered this country.™ Thus the deportees
became illegal aliens in U.S. custody who were subject to deportation
proceedings, i.e., repatriation,

Most of the first group of deportees from Peru were men, primarily
diplomatic and consular officials, representatives of Japanese business
interests, and private citizens targeted as community leaders and thus
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“believed to be dangerous.” Categorical classifications of some as “be-
lieved to be dangerous” enabled the deportation of many private eit-
izens because the United States was unwilling to investigate the need
to deport each individual. As John Emmerson later stated: “Lacking
incriminating evidence, we established the criteria of leadership and
influence in the community to determine those Japanese to be ex-
pelled. "™

By June 1942, many Latin American countries had severed dip-
lomatic relations with the Axis natioms. Lend-Lease and trade con-
signments between the United States amd Latin America had strength-
ened hemispheric unity. But the United States was not confident that
Latin America could control subversive activity and thus increased jts
interest in the deportation and internment program. By this time traffic
in the exchange of Japanese and other Axis nationsls for American
citizens was growing. By early 1942, aided by Swiss and Spanish in-
termediaries, the United States and Japan had begun negotiating for
the exchange of nationats, both officials and private citizens. By July,
the United States had deported approximately 1,100 Latin American
Japanese and 500 Germans to their home countries. ™ Enemy alien
citizens who threatened nothing were uprocted from their homes to
be used in the exchange. By August 1942, the 5tate Department es-
timated that, in addition to the Americans caught as Japan advanced
across the southwest Pacific, at least 3,300 Americans were trapped in
China and available for exchange with Japan.® These considerable
numbers increased American interest in receiving Japanese deportees
from Latin America. But slow communications, problems in obtaining
assurances that repatriates could pass safely through the war zone,
shipping shortages, and Justice Department refusal io repatriate an
individual against his will, delayed further repatristions for over & year.
As a result, “dangerous” enemy aliens were deported to the U.S, ata
comfortable pace for both Latin America and the United States, in-
cluding INS administrutors seeking to prevent overcrowading in the
CANpS.

In January 19435, after 200 more Japanese aliens had been deported
from Peru, the Justice Department reficsed a State Department request
for the deportation of another 1,000 Latin American Japanese.* Un-
satisfied with the screening procedures of the American embassy in
Peru as well as Peruvian practices in identifying dangerous individuals,
the Justice Department sent Raymond Ickes of its Alien Enemy Control
Unit to Peru to oversee the selection. Iekes, partially successful in
overcoming low-level Peruvian officials’ obstructionism and indiffer-
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ence, entertained a novel idea shared by other American officials in
Peru and President Prado—to estshlish internment camps in Peru
financed by the United States. The Administration had already re-
quested appropriations to establish an internment camp in Cuba
Moreover, the State Department was reluctant to encourage Peru to
breach international law by sending all its Peruvian Japanese from a
nonbelligerent state directly to a bellierent one.™ But the American
embassy in Peru vetoed the Peruvian camp idea, distrusting Peruvian
officials” ahility to intern dangerous individuals—a view supported by
Peru's record in the deportation. As Emmerson had reported earlier,
“since local police and other officials are susceptible to Japanese bribes,
their alertness cannot be depended upon.™ Indeed, Arthur Shinei
Yakahi, a bakery worker deported from Peru, testified: “1 was asleep
in February 1943 when some Peruvian police came and arrested my
employer, My employer pulled a fast one by bribing the police, and
offered me as a substitute.™ In addition, the embassy’s view of the
danger posed by Peruvian Japanese was changing by the end of summer
1943; Emmerson, now Second Secretary, was confident that the Jap-
anese community no longer constituted a threat to security, ® The Latin
American deportation program continued nevertheless.

In May 1843, the Emergency Advisory Committee adopted a
resolution that American republics intern and expel dangerous Axis
nationals. * Near the end of 1943, the Committee reviewed the Latin
American security situation and concluded that direct United States
imwulvemnent in securing the hemisphere was crucial. Except for Brazil,
no Latin Ameriean eountry had initiated security measures compatible
with United States standards, The Committee wanted agreements for
deportation programs from Chile, Uruguay, Paraguay, Venezvela and
Colombia.

The repatriation and exchange program proceeded slowly. In Sep-
tember 1943, over 1,300 Japanese left New York for Japan, over hall
from Peru, Panama, Costa Rica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Ecuador, Cubsa,
El Salvador and Guatemala; almost 40 percent of the entire contingent
was from Peru, ™

In the spring of 1544, the State Department realized that no more
Axis nationals would be repatriated until the war was over. Neverthe-
less, from January to October 1944, over 700 Japanese men, women,
children and 70 German aliens were deported from Peru to the United
States, along with over 130 enemy aliens from Bolivia, Costa Rica and
Ecuador. ™ Peru pushed for additiv § Japanese deportations, but the
United States could not commit the shipping and did not want to
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augment the hundreds of Japanese internees awaiting repatriation. The
State Department also decided not to repatriate Axis nationals against
their will, realizing that many internees might not want to retum to s
devastated country. Thus deportation proceedings lagred and the TNS
internment camps became overcrowded.

Internees at INS camps in Crystal City, Kennedy and Seagoville,
Texas, and Missoula, Montana, had two main concerns: having their
families join them in the United States and repatriation to Japan. Living
conditions &t the camps were not unlike those in the war relocation
centers, Confinement’s bad effects were evident: lack of privacy, family
hreakdown, listlessness and uncertainty about the future. To safeguard
the internees from unbealthy conditions, the camps were inspected
routinely by Spain, the International Hed Cross, the War Prisoners
Aid of the YMCA and the YWCA, the American Friends Service Com-
mittee, and the Natignal Catholic Wellare Conference. At the end of
the war, approximately 1,400 Latin American Japanese, mostly from
Peru, were interned in the United States, awaiting a decision on their
destiny. Some wished to return to Latin America, others to Japan. To
most it was a choice of the lesser of two evils: they had lost everything
in Latin America, but Japan, which they had left to pursue greater
economic opportunity, was devastated by the war, A number wanted
to remain in the United States and begin anew.

As the end of the war approached in Summer 1945, the United
States and other Western Hemisphere notions began to consider the
postwar fate of interned Axis nationals, President Truman issued Pro-
clamation 2655 authorizing the United States to deport enemy aliens
deemed “to be dangerous to the public peace and safety of the United
States.”™ The Latin American Conference on Problems of War and
Peace passed @ resolution recommending that persons deported for
security reasons should be prevented from “further residing in the
hemisphere, if such residence would be prejudicial to the future se-
curity or welfare of the Americas. ™

The State and Justice Departments disagreed about security mea-
sures to take against intermed enemy aliens. The Justice Department
wanted to remove internees from its jurisdiction and divoree itself from
the deportation and internment progrum; the State Department wanted
to conclude the program by removing all dangerons Axis influences
from the hemisphere.®™ As part of its long-term security strategy, in
September 1945 the State Department secured a proclamation from
President Truman directing the Secretary of State to remove any en-
emy alicns in the United States from the Western Hemisphere, in-
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cluding those from Latin Amerbca, who were illegal aliens and dan-
gerous to hemispheric security,

In December 1945, approximately 800 Peruvian Japanese were
voluntarily deported to Japan,™ but in general the internment ended
very slowly and tortuously. The United States sought to return intern-
ees who were not classified as dangerous and who refised deportation
to Axis countries, to their points of origin in Latin America.™ But the
eommaon hemispheric interests that bred the deportation had dissolved,
and the government now had to negotiate abowt returning internees
to Latin America vsing weak, hastily-written wartime agreements, for
the United States had not exacted indtial guarantees defining the de-
portees postwar fate. For the most part, the Central American and
Caribbenn countries that had deported enemy aliens to the United
States had placed few restrictions on their disposition. Mesico, Co-
lombia and Ecuador had required specific guarantees before releasing
enemy aliens to the United States. Peru, Eosmdor and El Salvador
wanted jurisdiction over internees in order to obtain the return of some
German deportess, for many Germans in Latin America, unlike the
Japanese, had scquired economic and political influence as well as
greater social acceptance. Peru had sought no firm agreement from
the United States concerning final destination and wanted to restrict
the return of Japanese (but not German) internees. The United States
wanted a consistent policy for the Latin American internees and gave
Peru the choice of accepting all non-dangerous internees or leaving
deportation control to the United States. So negotiations dragged on
for the retumn to Peru of Peruvian Japanese.

Meanwhile, the internees used litigation to block deportation to
Axtis states. Some CGerman internees filed habeas corpus petitions chal-
Tenging their detention by the United States, claiming that they were
not alien enemies as defined by the Alien Enemy Act of 1798, because
they were not natives or citizens of an enemy country. In January 1946,
this effort failed when a federal district court ruled that the Latin
American internees were “alien enemies” who could legally be de-
tained.* After this decision, 513 Japanese (over ninety percent from
Peru), 887 Germans and 37 Italians from Latin America in United
States internment camps were granted hearings pending deportation
to Axis countries ™ The hearings were a formality leading inevitably
to deportation to Axis countries, although most of the remaining Latin
American Japanese wished to return to Peru. Voluntary repatriation
continued into 1946, with at Jeast 130 Peruvian Japanese returning to
Japan by june.*
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The final destiny of the Latin American Japanese was placed in
the hands of the Justice Department afier the State Department con-
cluded that insufficient evidence existed to call the remaining Japanese
interness dangerous to the Western Hemisphere,* The State De-
partment, although willing to procesd with deportations to Japan, hoped
the Justice Department would stop deportation proceedings against
Feruvian Japanese with families in Perw.® The process moved very
slowly for those who wanted to remain in the United States or return
to Pern. Two Peruvian Japanese, Eigo and Elsa Kudo, remembered
their anxious waiting period:

There were several hearings to persuade these poor mternees to

leave for Japan, We were one of those who asked, “Why are we

illegal aliens when we were brought under armed MPs and pro-
cessed by the immigration officers upon arrival in New Orleans™

. .« . Again and again they repeated, “You are illegal aliens because

you have no passports nor visa . "%

In August 1946, Wayne Collins, an attorney who had often helped
Issei and Misei over the years, arranged for some Peruvian Japanese
to be transferred from INS intermment camps to a fresh produce pro-
cessing plant in Seabrook, New Jersey, where Japanese Americans had
worked during the exclusion from the West Coast, The internees wel-
comed Seabrook as an opportunity to escape camp life, restore tradi-
thonal farnily life, and earn relatively decent wages while swaiting word
of their ultimate fate; at the same tme, it must be recognized that
conditions at Seabrook were far less attractive than those of ordinary
liberated life. Other internees were parcled from the INS camps under
sponsorship of American citizens.

To some extent, returning intermees to Pero was further compli-
cated during 1946 by a nationatistic pro-Japan undenground movement,
the Aikoku Duoshi-Kai, which sprang vp in Peru and South Ameriea
Both Peruvian and American officlals overestimated the movement’s
influence, but the United States accepted Peru's reluctance to bring
Japunese deportees back into a country inflamed by anti-Japanese sen-
timent. Peru announced that it would allow only Peruvian citizens of
Japanese descent and Japanese related to Peruvian citizens to return,
and from May to October 1946, only about 100 Jepanese internees
wenl back to Peru.®™ At the same time, almost 600 German nationals
were returned to Latin America in the year 1845-46.%

At the beginning of 1947, 300 Peruvian Japanese remained in the
United States, the majority at Seabrook, Those with family ties in Peru
entertained hopes of returning home, Talks between the United States
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and Feru were stalemated during 1947; negotistions were renewed
with the Peruvian government which had come to power in a coup in
the winter of 194549 bt it refused to accept any non-citizens.

In the spring of 1948, exasperated State Department officials con-
cluded that the only solution to the Peruvian Japanese internee prob-
lem was to give internees the status of “permanent legally admitted
immigrants” who could remain in the United States. ¥ Finally, in July
1852, the remaining Japanese Peruvian internees, having resided in
the United States for seven years or more, petitioned the Board of
Immigration Appeals to reopen hearings to suspend deportation orders,
and Comgress approved the deportation suspensions in 1953, The war-
time deportation and internment program was finally ot an end. But,
for some, the emotional trauma of the program was endless. Perovian
deportee Ginzo Murono stated: "Some of the people from Peru who
were interned with me were separated from their families for many
years. In a few cases, the broken families were never reunited. ™

Historical documents concerning the ethnic Japanese in Latin
America are, of course, housed in distant archives, and the Commission
has not researched that body of material. Although the need for this
extensive, disruptive program has not been definitively reviewed by
the Commission, John Emmerson, a well-informed American diplomat
in Peru during the program, wrote more than thirty vears later: “Dhur-
ing my period of service in the embassy, we found no relishle evidence
of planned or contemplated acts of sabotage, subversion, or espio-
nage. ™ Whatever justification is offered for this treatment of enemy
aliens, many Latin American Japanese never saw their homes again
after remaining for many vears in a kind of legal no-man’s-land. Their
history is one of the strange, unhappy, largely forgotten stories of World
War II.




Part I1

The Aleuts
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War and Evacuation in Alaska

About 10,000 years ago migrants from Asia to North America settled
om the remote Aleutian [slands, These migrants were the Native Aleuts,
who proudly called themselves Unangan, “we the peaple,”

The Aleutian Islands form a chain strung across 900 miles from
the Alaska Peninsula to the island of Attu, 300 miles from the Kam-
chatka Peninsula of the Soviet Union. The islands are treeless, blan-
keted by soft tundra. Northward-flowing tropical air from Japan and
frigid, dry air from the Arctic clash there, leaving the islands hidden
in fog and swept by violent winds most of the year.

In the 18th century the Aleutian Islands and their 10,000 inhab-
itants were “discovered” by Russian entrepreneurs. After colonization,
the Aleut population was decimated by massacre and disease: when
the United States purchased Alaska from the Russians in 1867, only
about 2,000 Aleuts remained. The Russians removed several hundred
Aleuts to the uninhabited Pribilof Islands of 5t. Faul and 5t. George,
200 miles north of the island of Unalaska, to harvest the fur seals that
annually migrated there.

By 15867 the aboriginal Aleuts had largely assimilated the western
culture of the Russians and were converted to the Russian Orthodox
religion. Under American dominance the Aleuts’ subsistence economy
and aboriginal culture further eroded. The introduction of the Amer-
ican wage-earning economy and educational system, which discouraged
traditional Aleut language, art and music, contributed to the attrition,

The irreparable loss of much traditional culture and the tragic
demise of the Aleut population was exacerbated by their removal from
the Aleutian and Pribilof Islands during World War 11, The story of
what happened to the Aleuts during the war has, for the most part,
remained untold. Like the hardfought battles of the Aleutian Cam-
paign—the only campaign during World War I to be fought on Amer-
ican sofl—it remains a mystery to most Americans, the islands only
names in a crossword puzzle. But the Aleuts have never forgotien.

a7
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In the struggle for neval supremacy the Aleutian Islands were
stralegically valusble to both the United States and Japan. Beginning
i March 1942 United States military intelligence repeatedly warned
Alsih s defrnwr commanders that Jepanese aggrewion isto the Aleutizns
was imminent. Lo June 1942 the Japaneie busnched a swilt offiensive,
bambing Unalaka, imvading two other islands and capturing the Aleot
villagery om Attu. [horing this ofensne, Amercan mibitary commanders
in Alaska ordered the cvacustion of Aleuts on the remaining islands to
phaces of relative sloty.

The Aleut svacuation snd the removal of persons of Japaness
ancestry from the West Cosst during the same period were separate
events—acither caused nor influenced the other. When speaking of
the two evacustions, common phrases such & " military necessity™ do
not hold the same meaning. nor should they. The evacuation from the
Alrutian and Pribilof Islands, then under sttack, was not 8 government
action influenced by wartime hysteria or fear of sabotage or espionage.
Bath groups of evacuees suffered economic loss and personal hardship;
bt the root causes of loss and damage are very different in the two
cases,
The evacuation of the Aleuts was s reasonuble precaution taken
to ensure their safety. But there was o large fallure of sdministration
and planning which becomes evident when the central guestions are
addressed: Why did the military and civilisn agencies responsible for
usled the ilands? Why were evacustion and relocation policies not
the danger of an enemy attack they expected? And why was the retam
of the Alcuts to their homes delayed long after the therat of Japanesc
aggrewon had pased?

The Aleuts were relocated o shandorsd Escilities in southeasterm
Alasks and expuosed to 3 bitter chimate and cpidemics of disease withoot
sdeqguate protection or medical care. They fell victin to an extrane
darily bagh death rate. losing many of the elders who sustained thesr
culture. While the Alents were in sutheastern Alaska, their homes in
the Aleutiars and Pribilok were pillaged snd ransacked by American
military personnel.

In sum, the evacuation of the Aleuts was not planned in a timely
or thoughtful manner. The condition of the camps where they were
sent wis deplorable; their ressttlement was slow and inconsiderate.
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The official indifference which so many Native American groups have
experienced marked the Aleuts as well.

The Aleutian Campaign

As global conflict spread during 1940, U.5. military leaders di-
rected their attention to preventing attacks on our Pacific frontier, The
defense of America’s western outposts, Alaska, Hawaii and the Panama
Canal, were strengthened. Although Alaska was low on the priority
list, by June 30, 1940, the Army hid commitied at least 5,000 troops
to its defense."

By the beglnning of 1941, America’s naval power in the Pacific
was weakening relative to Japan's, and the approaching Pacific war
increased the strategic value of the Aleutians, The westernmost Aleu-
tizn island, Attu, lay only 600 miles from Japan's northern flank in the
Kurile Istinds. The Boeing plant and Bremerton Navy Yard in Seattle
were only elght hours’ bomber-flight from the Aleutians, The Aleutians
were stepping stones which either the United States or Japan coubd
use offensively. They were also important to the United Stalis as
passage points on the shipping route for our Lend-Lease traffic to the
Soviet Union.

The Alasks Defense Command {ADC), with Brigadier General
Simon B, Buckner in command, was created in February 1941 as part
of the recently-formed Western Defense Command to raise Alaska's
priority in military operations. Earlier the Navy had established the
Alasks Sector under the Thirteenth Maval District commanded by Rear
Admiral Charles 5. Freeman, Throughout the summer of 1841, gar-
risoning accelerated. Army facilities were constructed on Unalaska
Island to defend the naval installations at Dutch Harbor, and approx-
imately 5,500 troops were brought in.® Between June and September
1941, ADC strength tripled.?

During the fall of 1941, construction of air bases strategically lo-
cated at Cold Bay on the Alaska Peninsula and Umnak Island in the
Aleutisns moved ahead. They were secretly built under the names of
fish eannery companies. The Umnak airstrip was particularly essential
because it protected Dutch Harbor, which controlled Unimak Strait
and passage through the Aleutian chain, linking the Pacific Ocean and
the Bering Sea, Strategic use of the Aleutians hinged largely on pos-
session of Dutch Harbor.

Following the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the ADC bolstered
the Aleutian bages in preparation for offensives against Japan. Since



320 FERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

naval bases in Alaska were still under construction and lacked adequate
wir support, the ADC was concerned about possible Japanese attack.
As the Governor of Alaska, Emest Gruening, pointed out to Secretary
of the Interior Harold L. Ickes:*
It is well known to the Japanese that the Alaska bases, while
designed ultimately to be used offensively, are still far from com-
plete, and that if attacked soon would probably be unable to defend
themselves adequately and could therefore be destroyed. . . .
[Dutch Harbor] is the base at which the Japanese can strike
most easily and which they will probably select first sinee it is the
most difficult of all to defend.®

In mid-March 1842, Army Intelligence reported that o Japanese
offensive could be expected at any time.® As 2 result, by the end of
April 1842, garrizons in Alaska bad doubled to 40,242.°

In late April 1942, Colonel Jimmy Doolittle successfully attacked
the coast of Japan, dropping bombs on Tokyo Harbor. The stunned
Japanese Imperial Staff acted swiftly to secure its newly-acquired pos-
sesgions and resources in the South Pacific; it believed the destruction
of U.5. naval forces wiss paramount to the further extension of Japancse
hegemony in the South Pacific. The Japanese believed, mistakenly,
that Doolittle had launched his attack from the Aleutians, so they also
acted to protect their exposed northern flank.

On May 5, in an effort to intercept Lend-Lease traffic to Siberia
and to cripple U.S. naval forces in the Pacific, Japan authorized the
“M I Operation.™ This two-phase operation involved establishing bath
defensive und offensive strategic positions in the Pacifie. The Japunese
planned to attack the Aleutian Isknds as a diversion while simulta-
neously attacking the more strategically valuable Midway Island. They
believed U.5. forces would concentrate on defending the Aleutians
while Japan's main thrust was directed toward Midway and the de-
struction of the U5, fleet that would be trapped between the Aleutians
and Midway. Japan would then control strategic Pacific waters from
the western Aleutinns south to Midway.

The ensuing attack against the U.5. Facific Fleet was the largest
naval operation in Japanese history.® Having broken the secret Japa-
nese naval code, the U5, Navy knew the details of their plan. Ac-
cording to Naval Intelligence reports, an attack foree would be launched

*Since Alaska was a territory of the United States, the povernor was
uppointed by and reported to the Secretary of the Interior.
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from Japan around May 20, and sometime after May 24, the Aleutians
and Midway would be attacked.® The Commander-in-Chief of the Pa-
cific Fleet, Admiral Chester W. Nimitz, decided not to split his forces
and instead dispatched a small nine-ship force to Alaska. On May 25,
1842, Nimitz warned Rear Admiral Bobert A Theobald, Commander
of that North Pacific Foree, that the “Japanese have completed plans
for an amphibious operation bo secure an advanced base in the Aleutian
Islands. . . ."1®

Additional intercepted Japanese messages enabled the U5, to
predict even more precisely when the attack would occur: “[Bly 21
May the United States knew fairly accurately what the strength of the
[Japanese] Northern Area Foree would be and when it would strike,
1 June or shortly thereafter.™ Poor weather, however, made it im-
possible to detect the enemy attack force until & Navy patrol plane
spotted the Japanese on June £, 400 miles south of Kiska Island.

On the moming of June 3, 1942, the Japanese bombed Dutch
Harbor naval installations and the following day attacked Army facilities
at Fort Mears. Nearby Unalaska's air defenses were unable to prevent
the enemy attack. Squadrons coming from Cold Bay arrived too late,
and the radio communication systems were so inedequate that the
secret airfields st Umnak never received word of the Japanese attack.
Nevertheless, losses on both sides were minimal. At the same time,
the Japanese were suffering decisive defeat at Midway, But the Jap-
anese commander ordered the Aleutian campaign to proceed as planned
in order to secure a defensive position in the northern Pacific and to
establish bases in preparation for future offensives.'®

Foggy weather and rypically poor radio communications made the
roving Japanese fleet impossible to find. On June T and 8, while Admiral
Theobald was searching for the enemy fleet in the Bering Sea near the
Pribilof Islands, the Japanese Northern Force landed approximately
2,500 soldiers on Kiska and Attu, unopposed. Ten U5, weather crew-
men on Kiska were taken prisomer. The following day in Chicagol
village on Attu, 42 Aleuts and two non-Alent Alaska Indian Serviee
employees were captured.

The absence of daily radio reports from Kiska and Attu aroused
suspicion that the Japanese had invaded the western Aleutians. This
was confirmed on June 10 when the weather cleared encugh for an
American scouting plane to sight the Japanese ocoupation forces on
Kiska.

Long-distance bombings proved ineffective in dislodging the Jap-
anese, 50 an airstrip and command post were constructed on Adak
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Island in the western Aleutians, Throughout Fall 1842, continuous
bombing of enemy installations on Kiska contained the Japanese in a
defensive posture. Secret U5, airfields on Umnak prevented the Jap-
anese from patrolling the waters of the north Pacific from the Aleutians:

While enemy orders referred to Kiska as “the key position on the

northern attacking route against the U5, in the future,” it is fairly

evident that the Japanese had no such design and were attempling

only 1o block the American advanes, '
During the fall, General Buckner garrisoned the islands by landing
smitll forces on Atka and other islands, inclhuding 5t. Faul. To Buckner,
the Japanese occupation of Kiska and Attu was the oaly obstacle to
laumching an offensive against Japan from the Aleutians. By December
1942, Buckner had 150,000 troops in the Alaskan theatre'® and, in the
following month, Admiral Nimitz ordered the North Pacific Foree to
clear the islands of Japanese troops.'™

During the winter of 18943 the North Pacific Foree blockaded Attu
and Kiska to force Japan to surrender these outposts. The blockade
was effective, for the last Japanese supply ship reached Attu in March,
Equally devastating, the Japanese had to relinguish air power to the
1.5, by the middle of spring; losing more than 1,000 airplanes at
Guadalcanal, the Japanese had no replacements for the Aleutian cam-
paign. " Finally, Japanese naval supremacy in the north Pacific endesd
in March after the U.S. won the battle for the Komandorski Istands
west of Attu.

Fewer than 10,000 Japancse troops on Kisks and Attu awaited the
inevitable attack. On May 11, 1843, the U.S. invaded Attu, and for
18 days waged a successful but bloody battle that cost over 500 Amer-
fcan and 2,300 Japanese lives,

In July 1943, the U.5. successfully launched & bombing attack
from Adak to Paramushiro on the Kurile Islunds, the base of the Jap-
anese Northern Force, The Japanese, facing a weakened northern
flank, decided to withdraw their troops from Kiska. In late Joly, under
cover of fog, the Japanese evacuated the island, slipping through the
L8, naval blockade, Almost three weeks later on August 15, 1943,
the Navy, Army and Air Force invaded Kiska; heavy fog provided the
only resistance. This marked the official end of the Aleutian campaign.

In September 1943, General DeWitt, head of the Western De-
fense Command, submitted a plan to the Joint Chiefs of Staff for the
invasion of Japan by forees hased partially on Attu and Kiska. The plan
was never used, Also in September, Admiral Nimitz placed the Alew-
tians in a “Non-Invasion Status™ and the Eleventh Air Force was
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redesignated the Alaska Department and separated from the Western
Defense Command, reflecting a lower priority in defense operations.
By the end of 1943, Army forces in Alasks were reduced to 113,000
TMETL.

U.S. military combat activity there did not completely cease.
Bombing attacks on Paramushiro were launched from Aleutian bases
from 1943 to 1945 to keep constant pressure on Japan's northern fank.
These attacks tied up one-sisth of Japan's Air Force,"® By the fll of
1543, however, the threat of Japanese advances and occupation had
long since dissipated. '™

Considering Evacuation

Events between Pearl Harbor and the evacuation from the Alen-
tian and Pribilof Istands suggest that the government agencies (the
Department of the Interior and the military) responsible for protecting
the Aleut residents failed to coordimate their activities internally or
with each other. Interior offictals, despite the growing threat of attack,
were unahle to agree on the desirability of evacuation and bost valuable
planning time, As a result, the military was forced to evacuate the
islands without adequate guidance from the Interior Department.

The Interior Department exercised control over policy affecting
the Aleuts through three divisions: the Office of Tndian Affairs (OLA),
the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS), and the Division of Territories
and 1sland Possessions. On the Aleutian Islands, the OTA’s involvement
with the Aleuts was limited to education, The O1A established primary
schools on the islands, and through its Alaska Indian Service appointed
a teacher to the larger villages. The FWS's relationship to the Aleuts
was based upon its responsibility to manage the profitable fur seal
harvest an the Pribilofs. Since the Aleuts provided the only source of
lubor for this, the FWS maintained control over the Pribilol Aleuts
and assumed responsibility for their education and general welfare.
During World War 11, the Division of Territories’ major concem was
to coordinate eforts among the Territorial Government of Alaska, which
was under its jurisdiction, and federal war agencies on matters relating
to supplying Alaska and evacuating the Alentians. The military offices
that established or carried out policies for eivilian evacuation of the
islands were the Navy's Alaska Sector under Admiral Freeman, the
North Facific Force under Admiral Theobald, and the Army's Alaska
Defense Command under General Buckmer.

Fearing Japanese attack, Buckner ordered the evacuation of mil-
itary dependents from Alaska immediztely after Pearl Harbor, Dis-
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cussions about removing other Aleutian residents were begun by the
military and the Interior Department soon thereafter, The Navy De-
partment contacted Paul W. Gordon of the Division of Territories on
January 17, 1842, expressing concern for civilians who lived near the
military installations at Dutch Harbor:
It ix felt that the evacuation of all white women and children from
Unalacka would be to the best interest of the present military
situation, *'
The Army recommended to the Navy that Aleut women and children
al=n be removed in the event of an evacuation, and the Division of
Territories relayed this recommendation to Governor Gruening on
January 23. The Division concurred with an Army recommendation
that “the activities of the Army and Navy connected with evacuation
be coordinated with the activities of the Governor's office, ™ The Ter-
ritorial Governor's office was a logical place to channel information in
order to coordinate planning, since it fell under Interios's jurisdiction.
In the absence of Governor Gruening, Acting Territorial Governor
E. L. Bartlett called a meeting on March 13, 1842, to discuss plans
for evacuation in the event of enemy attack. Representatives of several
civilian agencies were present (including Claude Hirst, a junior O14
officer from Juneau), but no military representatives attended the
meeting. One conclusion they reached was that
[W]o general attempt should be made even in the case of actual
enemy attack, to evacuate Eskimos or other primitive natives from
Aluska. Tt is felt these people could never adjust themselves to
life putside of their present environment, whereas they could “take
to the hills” in case of danger and be practically sell sufficient for
a considerable period. =
It was decided that Alewt women and children who livesd near Dutch
Harbor should be relocated to villages on Unimak Island and on the
Alaska Peninsula where they would be “less exposed (to both military
and social dangers), ™ The O1A chose relocation sites after conferring
with the Aleuts. Five of the nine possible villages were Aleut villages;
in three of these locations living quarters were available in closed fish
CaAnneries.,
At the meeting, officials recognized the need for further planning
to eoordinate efforts between the military and civilinn branches:
There is a need for basic thinking and definite decisions on matters
of broad policy relating to evacuation, bevond what has been
evidenced to date.
A joint declaration of some kind might be prepared by partic-
ipating, agencies stating evacuation problems and recommending
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lines of procedure. This should be addressed to the Army and
Mavy commands in Alaska amd the Governor ®
The: meeting concluded with a sense of urgency, with agreement that
“another meeting of the group {in the very near fisture) is desirable, ™
In later discussions, high-ranking O1A snd other Interior De-
partment officials remained apprehensive about removing the Aleuts
from their homes. They feared that the Aleuts could not adjust easily
to a foreign environment. John Collier, Coanmissioner of the OTA, sent
a memorandum to Secretary Ickes on April 10, 1942, calling attention
to the OIA's responsibility in establishing plans fior Aleuts on the Aleu-
tian lslands. Commissioner Collier pointed out that the Navy said it
would not protect villages west of Dutch Harbor, and that Aleuts from
the westernmost inhabited islands of Attu and Atka showed no incli-
nation to move, ®
The OIA faced a difficult situation: it wished peither to evacuate
the Aleuts forcibly nor to leave them in a potentially dangerous area.
The Abeuts in Unalaska, Collier reported, were willing to be moved
eastward. ™ The O1A was relatively free to relocate these people swifily
to the preferred sites chosen at the March 15 meeting, A consensus
eould not be reached, however, among the military, the OLA and the
Governer's office whether any Aleuts should be evacuated. As Collier
pointed out in the same memorandum to Tekes:
Our representabive at Juneau, Superintendent Hirst, is in favor
of evacuation. Governor Gruening is opposed to it on the grounds
. . . | that] the dislocation resulting from a forced evacuatbon would
be a greater damage and involve greater risks to the ultimate
welfare of the people than the probable risks if they remain where
they are. Admiral Freeman . . . has senl us a wire in response to
our request for adviee which places the respensibility upon us.
His wire seems to say that evacuation is desirable but not man-
datory. He does say that the Natives are “wholly unprotected from
enemy raiders, ™
Caollicr warned Ickes that if Dutch Harbor were bombed and Aleut
residents of nearby Unalaska were injured, the Interior Department
might be criticized. But he cautiously conchuded, “T am inclined to
leave the Natives where they are, unless the Navy insists that they be
moved out."® The OIA chose a course which left the Aleuts in their
villages; Claude Hirst dissented. It appears that although the Navy
had no desire b make the final evacuation decision, the O1A preferred
te leave this ultimate respensibility to the Navy. The OIA's position
was approved less than a week later by Secretary Ickes, with the
stipulution that the Aleuts would be moved if they wished. ™
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Sensing that the coordination of military and civilian operations
wig not running smoothly, James C. Rettie, Counselor from the Alaska
Office of President Roosevelt’s National Resources Planning Board,
contacted the Director of the Bureaw of the Budget, Harold . Smith,
on May 7, 142, to register his complaints about Alaska’s unprepared.-
ness:

1 feel that it is my personal duty . . . to express to you again my

grave concern about the present state of affairs in the Territory.

We shall be worse than fools if we do not anticipate an attack
in force against Alaska within the next two months. If nothing is
done to remedy the administrative paralysis and lack of clearly
defined responsibility now prevailing in Alaska and the inadequate
preparations to ovacuate civilians, the confusion and loss of kife
which will follow an attack may easily be worse than it was in
Hawaii, The record of inaction, delays, inter-agency squabbles
and bickering and lack of proper liaison with the armed forces will
be terribly ugly. There will also be the vital question of the need
for a unified military command, An ouvtraged public opinion in
the United States will rightly insist upon a hard-boiled investi-
gation which might easily shake this administration to s very
foundations.

I therefore plead for the utmost speed and resolution in the
issuance of whatover Executive Order the military authorities can
and will effectively use to achieve proper coordination betwesn
military and civilian activities, ™ N

Smith forwarded Retties correspondence to Henry L. Stimson, the
Secretary of War, but it was not until June 11, 1942, after the Japanese
attack, that the President signed Executive Order 8151 to establish
the Alaska War Council chaired by the territorial governor with com-
missioners drawn from civilian agencies. The Council was responsible
for maintaining close linison with the military commanders and for
eonforming civilian policy to military objectives, “relative to the safety
and security of the civilian population of Alaska, ™2

It appears thal e courdinated government policy for developing
evacuation plans existed, even as the Japanese launched the M [ Op-
eration. The day after Dutch Harbor was bombed by the Japanese,
Covernor Gruening wrote Secretary Ickes. Gruening doubted that an
evacuation of Attu and Atka was desirable and tried to dissuade Ickes
from forcibly evacuating those islands; moreover, the presence of Jap-
anese vessels in the vieinity would have complicated any evacuation.
At this late date, Gruening sought a clear evacuation policy.™ He
pointed out that Admiral Freeman believed that the Japanese might
occupy one of the two westernmaost islands, endangering the Aleuts
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there. Freeman had indicated to Gruening that “the Office of Indian
Affairs desired this evacuation . . . [and] . . . the Navy had no special
wishes or desires in the matter.™ The OIA appears to have shifted
position regarding the desirability of evacuation, and the Navy seems
to have declined any decision-making responsibility.
According to Gruening, General Buckner, on the other hand,
clearly opposed the evacuation:
[Buckner] gave me his opinion that it would be a great mistake
to evacuate these natives. He said, in effect, that evacuating them
was pretty close to destroving them; that they now live under
conditions suitable to them; and that if they were removed they
would be subject to the deterioration of contact with the white
man, would likely fall prey to drink and disease, and probably
would never get back to their historic habitat,
Gruening agreed with Buckner as did Superintendent Hirst, who re-
versed his former position. Gruening went one step further: "[B]efors:
any decision could be made, a qualified representative of the Office
of Indian Affairs [should] proceed to Attu and Atka . . . [to] discuss
the matter fully with the natives, and make the appropriate recom-
mendations.™™ Gruening was concerned that the Aleuts understand
the full implications of being moved to a strange new environment,
although one relatively safe from enemy invasion.
Secretary Ickes responded on June 17, 1942, agreeing with Groen-
ing’s recommendation, but ironically noting that:
lmmmmma\mm’mﬂm Mgknuwm—
i 3 tmin evacuati
o aat e of Alls o 4t e Pt Lol Arsmsgumsits s
in progress for settling evacuees during whatever period miy be
necessary in Southeastern Alaska. ™
Thus began the evacuation of Aleuts from the Aleutian and Pribilal
Islands, seemingly without well-developed plans and certainly without
a clear policy to define the division of responsibilities between the
military and civilian branches of povernment. The Department of the
Interior was unahle to reach an internal consensus; the Navy passed
decision-making responsibility to Interior; and the Army, despite its
kmowledge of an inevitable Japanese attack, took a position which they,
like the others, would reverse when Japanese invasion became a reality.
Perhaps this unpreparedness can be partially explained by the lack
of coordination between the Army and Navy in Alaska. Their head-
quarters were 300 miles apart, and the exchange of intelligence infor-
mation was sometimes show and inaccurate, The commanders of the
ADC and the North Pacific Force often clashed because of personality,
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and this exscerbated difficolties of coordination ™ Had the Alaska War
Council been established earlier, # might have provided an cffective
Council was established in June, the AIDC and (1A were searching
for & place to relocate villagers evacnsted from Atka and the Pribilof.

The Evacuation of Athka snd the Pribilof Lilands

Following the Japanese bombing of Dutch Harbor, the Sy dis-
patched the seaplane tender US S, Gillis to Atha to search for the
clusive Japanese Beet One of the Navy patrol planes spotted the
Japanese invasion foror oo Kiska, and on June 11, 1942 the Navy
laumched air raids on Kisks from Nazan Bay on Atha
June 12, & Japanese i plane was sighted over Nazan Bay.
At approximately 500 p.m., the Cillis received orders to evacuate Atka
and 1o apply & soorched-earth policy before leaving * The Commander
of the Navy Patrol Wing issued the order to evacuate, to relocate the
Atkans to a safe place and to prevent Jupanese troops from using the
Atkuns” housing.* The Gillis dispatched o unit of sailors to Atka village
and evacuated €. Ralph and Ruby Magee, who were employed by the
OIA's Alaska Indian Service, she as a schoolteacher and he as a general
malntenance man. They were the ooly people evscusted because,
sccording to the Magees, after eighteen hours of bombing raids on
Kiska and sighting a Japanese scout plane, “We had the people move
out to thelr fish camps about three miles from the village, thinking
that they might be safer out there in their tents. ™ The Magees were
given twenty minutes o pack: then the detail of sailors burned the
The Cillis set s3] immediately for Dutch Harbor

Later tha! evening most of the Atha Aleuts returned to their
burning village. They were spotted by the crew of the seaplone tender
US55 Hulbert and loaded aboard. The next day the Hulbert headed
for Mikodski village on Umnak Island. where it cventually dropped off
its 62 Aleul passengers to await transportation to Dutch Harbor © On
the night of the 13th. Patrol Wing Four reported that » messagr from
Adimiral Nimitz revesled that “the japanese commandey in Kiaka bod
directed his aircraft to bomb Nazan Bay. By this tine Nazan Bay had
been completely evarsated and oor foroes were safiely sway. ™ In fact,
nineteen Aleuts were stranded @t Atha unti] June 15, when two Navy
planes picked them up.

The evaecustion of Atks was neoessarily hasty, yet the scorched.-
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earth policy might have been implemented more carefully had planning
been coordinated properly between the Navy and OLA. The irony was
that the Atkans were prepared to evacuate before a Japancse attack,
and they could have been given time to take their belongings before
the village was destroved. As the Magees deseribed it:
[Right after Pearl Harbor] we went to tell the villagers that they
ought to pack up and be prepared to leave at any time, for we
thought that surely the Coast Cuard or someone else would come
to cvacuste us. However, it was not until six months later that we
were taken off the island . . . [also] a letter came from the Junean
Alagka Native Service Office in April of 1942 requesting us to talk
over with the people the possibility of hiving te move to some
other part of the territory to be safe from any possible agoression
by the Japanese. . . . We were to be ready to go at a moment’s
nutice, so all packed up a few belongings to take with us,®
After the Japanese attacked Dutch Harbor and captored Atta and
Kiska, Interior Department officials anticipated that if the Pribilofs
were threatened, those Aleuts would also be evacuated. Al the end of
May, Admiral Freeman told the FWS that a seorched-earth policy
would be used in the Pribilofs if the Japanese attacked, and that seal-
skins would be included in the destruction.** By June 5, the villagers
had been warned that an enemy attack was possible, and FWS agents
todd them what civil defense precantions to take if this came. ™
The evacuation of the Pribilofs, begun immediately after Atka was
evacated, was executed by the Army with little delay. The Navy's
[).5.5. Oriole arrived at 5t. Paul on June 14, with orders to ovacuate
the island, but these plans changed when the captain of the vessel
learned that the Army's U.5.A.T. Delarof would arrive the following
day to evacuate St. Paul and St. George. The villagers were dirccted
to pack their belongings and, two days later on June 16, the 264 Aleuts
and 15 non-Aleut FWS employees departed for 5t. George aboard the
Delarof.* Carl M. Hoverson, an FWS employee on 5t. Paul, recalled
that “Many personal belongings as well as government property had
to be left at the island because of the need for a speedy evacuation, ™
The Delarofs arrival at 5t. George was scheduled for June 16,
and villagers were notified on the night of June 14 to pack their be-
longings. Daniel C.R. Benson, an FWS agent and carctaker of St
George, prepared the village:
I was first instructed to prepare the village for destruction first
that night by placing a pail of gasoline in each house and building,
and a charge of dynamite for each other installation such as storage
tanks, light plants, trucks, radio transmitters, receivers, antenna
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masts, ete. The packing of everybody was to be very simple—

mtelymﬂiingbdmcancrwmn and a roll of blan-

Early in the evening of June 16, 1842, the Delorof left S5t. George.
The entire population, 183 Aleuts and 7 noo-Aleut FWS employees,
was evacuated.™ Only one person, a radio operator on St Paul, re-
mained on the Pribilofs. Four signal corpsmen were immediately sent
to the iands to set up two radio warning stations and remained in
isolation on round-the-clock watch from June to September. As part
of the plan te garrison the Aleutions before a U.5, offensive, a small
Army force was sent to the Fribilofs on September 19, billeted in the
departed villagers' dwellings, and ordered to construct an airstrip.*!

On June 17, 1842, the Delarof arrived at Dutch Harbor with the
Pribilof evacuees on board. While the ship was docked, the Army
ordered most of the medical supplies and equipment from St. Faul
ahoard to be transferred to the Army Hospital at Fort Mears. Ward
T. Bower, Chief of Alaska Fisheries for FWS, later attempted to re-
construct that incident:

|When evacuation orders reached $t. Paul lsland in the previous

month, Dr, Berenberg packed eight sealskin barrels with medical

supplies and equipment, and packed also the X-ray machine. . . .

At Dutch Harbor on June 25, 1942, these eight barrels and one

opened package of X-ray film were turned over by Capt. Fred H.

Aves, Medical Corps Transport Surgeon of the USAT Delarof for

use at Fort Mears Hospital . | 5
Thesc expensive supplies were scarce and, although the military hos-
pital may have needed them, the Pribilovians were soon to need es-
sential medical care in the relocation camps, but the St. Paul com-
munity was not reimbursed, nor were the supplies replaced.

Meanwhile, additiona) evacuees from Atka and the Pribilofs were
creating a food shortage in Unalaska ™ A decision shout permanent
relocation had to be made quickly. On June 18, 81 Atkan Aleots and
the Magees were taken aboard the Delarof and set sail for an unkoown
destination.

Conditions aboard the Delerof were crowded and unhealthy, for
space was inadequate to separate the sick from the well. The first
casualty during the Aleuts’ evacuation was the infant daughter of In-
nokenty and Haretina R. Kochutin of 5t. Faul, who died of pnevmonia.
Fredrika Martin, a nurse and the wife of a FWS doctor, described the
tragedy:

Since once aboard the ship the St. George doctor felt completely

free of responsibility for his islanders and had no personal interest
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in any of these patients of his, he could not be coaxed into the
disagreeable hold even before all the Aleuts and many non-Aleuts
came down after our stay-over at Dutch Harbor with “ship’s cold,”
a seripus grippe infection. He did not come to assist even at the
hirth of o 5t. George baby or its subsequent death of bronchial
pneumonia because of our inahility [Dr. Berenberg's and mine]
to separate mother and child from other grippe-sufferers, and the
mather hersell was ill. 1 think [ recall this doctor attending the
midnight or after fomer] of the poor little mite, such 8 tny weighted
parcel being let down inte the deep waters of the Gulf of Alaska
against a shoreline of dramatic peaks and blazing sunset ghy. ™
Six days later, on June 24, the Delarof landed at Funter Bay and
Killisnoo in southeastern Alaska. While the ship sailed, various divi-
sions within the Department of the Interior frantically sought a place
to settle the evacuees.

Deciding on Camp Locations

Planning for relocation sites apparently started on June 15, 1942.5
As the Pribilofs were evacuated, General Buckner began working di-
rectly with the OIA's Superintendent Hirst to choose relocation sites
for the Aleuts. The OIA was chiefly responsible, and they determined
that Killisnoo Bay village in southeastern Alaska was a potential site
for resettlement.® Responsibility for settling the Pribilovians was as-
sumed by Edward C. Johnston, Supcrintendent of the Seal Division
of the FWS, who contacted Fisheries Chief Ward Bower on June 15
to discuss available housing™ First they tried to secure locations in
the Seattle, Washington, area, A large Civilian Conservation Corps
{CCC) camp and the Tulalip Indian Beservation were considered, but
the CCC camp was ocoupied and housing at the reservation would
have had to be built. Both sites were impractical since time was of the
essence; Johnston emphasized that the Pribilovians “must have [a]
location within [a] week, ™

The OIA in Washington, DC, decided that evacuees should stay
in Alaska, preferably southeastern Alaska ™ OTA Assistant Commis-
siomer William Zimmerman contected Superintendent Hirst on June
16 to report this decision and relay other plans for relocation centers.
The evacuation guidelines which had been established at Acting Gov-
ernor Bartlett's conference in March were followed by a decision that
native Alaskans should be evacuated to other parts of Alaska. Appar-
ently the 014 did not wish to relocate the Aleuts to the eastern part
of the Aleuttan chain or the Alaska Peninsula.

The OIA also decided that Aleuts from the same village should
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remain together in scparate units. Local OIA and FWS officials were
wsked to choose relocation sites; Assistant Commissioner Fimmerman
recommended the use of fish canneries that were either abandoned or
vacant during the off-season.™ The school facilities at Wrangell Insti-
tute on Wrangell Lland in southeastern Alaska would be a temperary
location until such sites were found,

Seattle FWS Representative Donald Hagerty was apparently the
Interior official who made fnal decisions on specific sites. On June 16
Hagerty told Zimmerman that arrangements had been made to house
the Atkans at an abandoned fish cannery at Killisnoo on Admiralty
Tsland 5 The OIA was interested in Jocations where the Aleuts eould
support themselves, so job opportunities in nearby canneries made
this location attractive ™ On the: same day, Hagerty assigned the Pri-
bilof evacuess to another abandoned cannery at Funter Bay on Ad-
miralty Island in southeastern Alasks,™ Across Funter Bay from the
cannery, abandoned fecilities of the Alasks Mining Company were alsa
obtained. ®

Further Evacuation Along the Chain

Covernmenl agencies in Alaska disagreed about the necd for fur-
ther cvacuation. By the end of June 1942, the Japanese were only
beginning their cccupation of the Aleutians and it was not clear whether
they were entrenched in an offensive or defensive position. Governor
Gruening, as chairman of the Alaska War Council, contacted Secretary
Ickes on June 20 and reported that the Council feared the Japanese
planned to invade the U_S. mainknd, using the Aleutians as a base. ®*
General Buckner advised the OIA that no more villages in the Aleutian
Islands should be evacuated,™ but Admiral Freeman felt that other
Aleutian villages were in danger.™ On June 29, 1542, Freeman issued
an order “directing the evacuation of all natives from the Aleutian
Islands. ™

In a sweep castward from Atka to Akutan, the Aleut villages of
Nikolski en Umnak Island; Makushin, Biorka, Chernofski and Kashega
on Unalaska Island; and Akutun on Akutan Island were evacuated, One
week after Freeman issued the order, the first of the remaining villages,
Nikolski, was evacuated, Yet Aleut evacuees testified that they were
given only a few hours” notice, On July 5, two Navy and Army ships
arrived at Nikolski and evacuated the entire village of 70 Aleuts plus
Barbara Whitfield (lhe: OIA teacher in the village), her husband Samuel
and the non-Aleut foreman of the Aleutian Livestock Company, a sheep
eanch on Umnak.
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The: Aleutian Livestock Company, completely dependent on Aleut
labor due to the wartime labor shortage, had been assured by the
Alaska Defense Command on May 22, 1942, that “no evacuation had
been ordered.™ It had expected to produce 130,000 pounds of wool
during 1842, and the Army thought the company's operation necessary
to the war effort. On Augost 5, 1942, Carlyle Evbank, the eompany
president, protested to the Western Defense command about losing
his ranch’s work force.™ Prior to the evacuation, the Novy had tele-
graphed Nikolskd that:

Nikolski sheep ranchers and four unmarried Aleuts may remain

shear sheep inform that they do so at ewn rigk and therehy forfeit

government transportation. ™

The: message, however, arrived too late to prevent evacuation of ranch
workers, and, stated Eubank, “Under such instructions the natives
wonld not return and we cannot blame our Foreman for not return-
ing. "™ The livestock eompany later cltained permission from the Army
to return to Nikolskd, even though the Japanese still ocoupied At
and Kiska, That December the foreman came back to the ranch and,
for the two following summers, three Aleuts also returned.

The evacuation of the small villages on Unalaska Island and Akutan
is not well docurmented except by personal recollection of the evacuees.,
According to their testimony, the Nikolski Aleuts—topether with vil-
lagers from Chernofski, Kashega, and Makushin—departed for south-
eastern Alaska from Chemofiski on the 8.5, Columbig, sn Alaskan
Stearnship Company vessel. The OIA reported on August 31 that 72
Aleuts from Nikolski (including the Whitfields), 41 from Akutan, 20
from Kashega, 18 from Biorka, and 9 from Makushin (including one
white) had arrived at Wrangell Institute on July 13, 1942 7 The entire
population of these villages was evacuated, Aleut and non-Aleut. The
evacuess, who remained at Wrangell Institute for several weeks until
the O1A located a place to resettle them, eventually were moved to a
CCC camp sdministered by the OIA at Ward Lake near Ketchikan.

In Unalaska village, confusion and anger spread because of an
alleged] statement by Assistanl Commissioner Zimmerman that the
Aleuts in Unalasks had been offered transportation off the island,™
when in fact they had not. The Mayor of Unalaska, John W. Fletcher,
in a telegram to Secretary Iekes on July 7, 1942, urged that transpor-
tation to evecuate the Aleuts be made available, claiming that they
were “desparate [sic] to be taken out.”™ Fear of Japancse invasion
occupied the minds of many Aleuts in Unalaska. Some were able to
adjust to new dangers because of the sense of security U.S. military
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forces brought to the islands, but others tock the first opportunity to
leave. Philemon Tutiakoff expressed some of these feelings:

[W]e had been notified prior to the bombing [of Dutch Harbor]

that we may be evacuated. Naturally, listening to the radio people

were alarmed. They became afraid. The most affuent Aleuts and
civilians bought their way by Alaska Steamship to places of safety.

The Unalaska Aleuts felt that with the presence of the military

and the preparations we could see them taking, [we] thought and

hoped that the U.S, military would protect us in case of what we
all thought was direct assault om the town of Unaluska ™
By July 12, 1942, Secretary Iekes had arranged with the Navy to
evacuate Unalaskans. ™ & week passed before the Aleuts were evacu-
ated, yet, sccording Lo their testimony, the Aleuts were usually given
less than twenty-four hours to prepare,

Om July 19, 1842, the 5.5, Alaska docked at Unalaska to evacuate
the Aleuts. Commander William N. Updegraf, captain of the Naval
station at Dutch Harbor, issued the orders, including the provision
that:

All natives, or persons with as much as one eighth (44) native blood

were compelled to go, . . . Only such portable baggage as the

people could carry was permitted. . . . No employee, native or

white, of Siems-Drake Puget Sound Company was to be earried, ™
This order had an obvipusly unequal effect among Unalaskans. For
example, Charles Hope, a white man, remained in Unalaska, while
his Aleut wife was required to evacuate, ™

Although no dear contemporaneous rationale explains why only
Aleuts were compelled to leave Unalaska village, several factors suggest
partial explanations. The evacuation order may have come: literally from
Secretary Ickes’ request to the Mavy to evacuate the Aleuts in Unalaska
village.™ Since these evacuees were taken at once to Wrangell Insti-
tute, operated by OIA, the evacuation and relocation may have been
limited to persons for whom the OLA had some responsibility. Ac-
cording to Fred Geeslin, a former OLA officer, the agency's respon-
sibility and authority extended to persons of cne-eighth Native Amer-
ican blood, and its evaruation and relocation efforts would consequently
be limited to that group and its own emplovees. ™ This does not explain,
however, why all non-Alents residing in the Dutch Harbor-Unalasks
ares were not evacuated by the military to Jocations other than OLA
evacuation camps. Some non-Aleuts were evacuated from Dutch Har-
bor after the June bombings. James 1. Parsons, a businessman in Dutch
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order; his facilities were used by the Army to house wounded soldiers, &

Many non-Aleuts probably were not evacuated because of the
demand for defense construction workers reflected in the specific ex-
emption of Siems-Drake Company employees. Siems-Dirake had con-
tracted to handle most of the defense construction work in Alaska for
the Navy™ and, at one point during the war, it employed almost 3,000
civilian construction workers in Dutch Harbor.™ The shortage of labor
was severe. In August 1942, Admiral Freeman complained to General
DeWitt that “it has been practically impossible . . . to complete work
promptly. At Dutch Harbor, it has been impossible to maintain even
the former low level working force.™™ The Mavy may have been con-
cerned sbout the labor shortage and so prevented defense workers
from leaving the village. At least one Aleut, John Yatchmanoff, was an
employee of the Siems-Dirake Company not evacuated for this reason,
The order preventing the evacuation of Siems-Drake employees from
Unalaska was issued by the Navy even though the workers were not
employed by the government, and the Navy's responsibility was limited
to processing their applications for work permits.®

According to Captain Hobart Copeland, who directed the Una-
laska evacuation, some Aleuts protested being moved, * Copeland re-
quested permission from Commander Updegraf to compel the Aleuts
to go, but Updegraf would not forcibly evacuste them, and Copeland
let them stay, thus limiting the impact of Updegraf's expulsion order.

The OIA reported that 111 Unalacksns arrived at Wrangell Insti-
tute aboard the 5.5, Alaska on July 26, 1942.% They remained in
Wrangell until late Avgust, when the OLA rented an abandoned can-
nery at Burnett Inlet on Annette Island in southeastern Alaska,

After the Unalaska evacuation, Admiral Freeman decided that
further removal of Aleut villages cast of Alutan Island was unneces-
sary.™ A total of 881 Aleuts had been evacuated by the military from
all Aleut villages west of Unimak Island, including the Pribilofs,® The
entire population of each village, except Unalaska, was evacuated,
including at least 30 non-Aleuts. All but 50 Aleuts were relocated o
southeastern Alaska. The remainder were evacuated to the Seattle area
by the Army and Navy after the bombing of Dutch Harbor om June 3;
ten were hospitalized in the Indian Hospital at Tacoma, Wi g
others were military dependents.

Because the evacuation was inadequately planned, the Aleuts lost
the personal possessions they reluctantly left behind. Testimony from
the evacuees established that in most cases they were given unneces-
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sarily short notice. They were forced to leave behind most personal
belongiogr—inchuding clothing, family albums, musical instrurments (z
mainstay of Abrut culture), priceless wons of immense religion sg-
nificance, unkque crafreork, boats and essential honting snd fishing
equipment. No provision was made by OLA or the military to care for
on the front door or boards nailed across the windows of Aleut homes,
vulnerable 1o theft and the deterioration which follewrd

The Attuans’ Experience

The story of the Attuses” capture and removal to Japan is perhaps
to warn the Attuans before the Japanese sttack shout the danger of
remaining on the island carried & painful cost: spprovimately half of

In May 1842 the Navy attempted to evacuste the islanders. A
team of suilors was sent to set up & radio station on Attu, but they
falled to land on the island because of adverse woeather; the skiffs loaded
with radio equipment crashed onshore in the surf, Mike Hodikoff, the
Attuan Aleut chiel, reached the Navy vessel from shore and, informe:d
aof the Japanese threat, was ssked if he wanted his people to be evac-
uated st that time; he declined ™

This evacuation offer was not made in a manner that allowed the
Attuans to make an informed devision about leaving their island. Gov-
ernor Gruening had wanted the OIA to discuss these options with the
Attuans, and had pointed out to Secretary lokes on June 4 that
“Ipjresenting this matter to the . . . Attuites imvolves something of 2
problem snce it could not be done by a mere radio message. The pros
and cons 1o them [of] 50 momentous 5 decsion, the possible risks and
albernastives, woukd have 0 be presented w0 them endentandmgly,
sympathetically and chearky, ™ Cruening's recommendations o Ickes
came too lsie, and no sttrmpt was cver made by the Interior De-
partment to discus cvacostion possibalities with the Attuams.

When Aty was imvaded on Juse §, 1942, an Aleut was wounded
by Jspanese gonfire snd the OLA radio operstor, Foster Jones., died
after bring captured. The Japanese began immedistch o garrsmn the
island and to constroct housing for their troops. Shorth: thereafier, the
Jepanese cased restraints on movement of the Aleuts, who then fished
and went about their dily work almost normally. In September 1942,
the Jepanese changed their Aleutian strategy and decided to abandon
Attu {only to returmn in Oetober).™ The troops were moved temporarily
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to Kiska. The Japanese feared the Attuans could reveal military strength
and other inteligence secrets to inveding American forces, so the 41
Aleuts (one had died in August) were taken to Ctaru on Japan's north-
ermmest island of Hokkaido.™ The non-Aleut schoolteacher, Etta Jones,
was taken to Yokohama Three Attuan evacuees recalled their living
conditions in Japan, and reported that they were adequate:

e] were housed in a building, supervised by a Japanese
E:lrigcmn, who lived mh;usrumnednf.m in the ﬁv& ll'.nuﬂdmg.
The Abeuts had no freedom, [and were] held in the same building
for the entire war, except the ones who worked in a clay pit near
by. The buildings were heated by coal stoves in winter. Hot baths
were wailable whenever the Aleuts wanted them. They slept on
the floor on the Japanese standard mats “Tatami” and they had
plenty of blankets. ™
Tuberculosis later spread widely among the Attuans, despite monthly

visits to their camp by a doctor who gave routine examinations and
inoculations, At one time as many as ten to fifteen Attuans were in-
patients st the National Tubtrculosis Center in Minamoto-cho,™ but
despite hospitalization many Aleuts died in Japan. The loss of their
high-protein dict and fresh food, sgeravabed by short mtions, cased
malnutrition and starvation during the last vear of their captivity. As
the war dragged on, Japan was starved for respurces; Japanese troops
und the Attuans’ guards alike faced shortages.

Half of the Attuans died in Japan and the surviving 21 Aleuts and
one newborn baby left Japan in September 1945.% Upon reaching
Seattle on November 20, the Attuans were informed that they would
not be returned to Attu. The reason for this decision is not clear because
government documents about their resettlement were destroyed by
the OT4 in the 196505 Attu evacuees claim that the government did
not allow them to return to Attu because there were too few o sustain
a viable community. "™ Instead they were offered transportation to Atks
Island. The Atkans and Attuans, however, were traditional rivals, so
several Attuans decided against resettling at Atka, To this day, Attu
remadns uninhabited.

THE EVACUATION CAMPS
Funter Bay

The Aleuts from St. Paul and St. George in the Pribilofs arrived
at Funter Bay on Admiralty Island on Junc 24, 1842 They found the

53-124 - 82 - 12
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mountains and forests of southesstern Alasks & sharp contrast to the
flat, treeless Pribilofs.

The General Living Conditions. Close to 300 Aleuts and FWS
personne] From St Fanl found themsches housed st a fish cannery
where many buildings, unoccupied for & dosen years, were only med
for storage They were insdequate hooving, partsculark i winter. Onby
8 few cottages were available 0 accommodate the many familics, most
evacures were boeed bo Ine @ ten dormitory-shvle buildings where
Eroups of sia 1o thirteen people slept in sreas nine or ten feet square.
Until fall, many Aleuts had to sleep in relays in these cramped con-
ditions. Lumber to build partitions snd walls was scarce, and they hung
blankets between Ramilies for privacy. Meals for the entire group were
prepared and served in & common kitchen and messhall

The quarters were as rundown as they were cramped:

The only buildings that are capable of fixing is the two large places

where the natives are sleeping, All other houses are

gone from rot. 1t will be almest impossible to put toilet and bath

into any of them except this one we are using as & mess hall and

it leaks in thirty places. . . . No brooms, soap or mops or brushes

o keep the place suitable for pigs to stay in, "™
People fell through the rotten wooden floors, A single toilet on the
beach just above the low water mark served ninety percent of the
evacuees, whose clothes were landered on the ground or sidewalks '™
Agent MoeMillin's first evacuation repart to the Superintendent of the
Sealing Division ended with these words:

It seers funny if cor government can drop w0 many people in &

place lilke this then forget sbout them sltogether. . . . I you think

that this i1 sny fun, you should be bere. ™

A mile swwy on the other side of Funter Bay, the 1580 Aleuts and
FWS employess from 5t George had been evacusted 1o the Adwmiralty
Alssks Coold Mine, abso known 35 the Fonter Bay Mine, which had not
been worked for several years The mine was litthe better than the
cannery. One two-story oopertitoned building housed ten Bulies. 2
total of 46 prople. A new mes home was med @ 8 doreroom, oanteen
and church. Above the messhall, the 26 single men were bowsed m 2
o loft scceuible only through an cutside entrance. The other Aleuts
occupied another two-story dormitory similar to the one st the cannery,
but the 20 families living there had no heat. [n the words of FWS
Agent Benson, “The crowded, dark and unhested quarters for the
natives are definitely out of the guestion for the winter.”™™ Benson
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recommended that 32 apartments or two-room cottages be built, with

Cockatoves, plumbing firtures. water tanks and other eguipment
and supplies proved difficalt 1o procure snd, on July 2, on behalf of
the evacuers Alssks Fishing Mews intisted an sppeal 1o canneries aod
fishermen for all types of gear '™ Nonetheless, on the same day, As
sintast Fishery Supervisor Frank W Hyees wrote Alnda Fisheries
Chief Ward T. Bower-

We el that Mr jobeston has the situston well in hand inscofar
an the Pribuiof natives and whites are conoerned and predut ther
his. Funter Bay camp will serve 23 & model for others 1o be estab-
lished later. ™

By September, apart from local materials, 0o supplies had srrived ™
In early October, the Aleut women of St. Paul submitted a petition
protesting their lving conditions:
We the people of this place wants a better place . . . to live. This
. . . s no place for a living creature. We drink impure water and
then get sick the children's get skin disease even the grown ups
uree sick from cold.

We ate from the mess house and it (s near the toilet only & few
yards away. We eat the filth that is Oyving around.

We got no place to take a bath and no place to wash our clothes
of dry them when it rains. We women wre always lugging water
up sairs and take turns warming it up and the stove i small We
live in & room with our children just enough to turn around in.
We used blankets for walls just to live in private. We need cothes
and shoes for our children how are we going to dothe them with
just & few dollars. Men's are working for 230 2 month is nothing
to them we ueed it o see our children est what they don't pet at
mmess howste and then its gone snd then we wait lor another month
o come arosnd.

Why they not take &5 0 2 beiter place to lve and wock b
cursches and live m 2 better house Men and women are very
cagrr to work. When winter come it still would be wore with
water all freesed up . . Do we have 10 see our childeen suffier.
We all bave rights to speak for oorsehes ™
The complaints in the petition were discussed with the presenting

committer by both Agent McMillin and Superintendent Johnston. In

his. better forwarding the petition o Chief Bower, Johnston stated:
The women were told that under war conditions they oould not
expect to enjoy the comforts and comditions a they cxisted on the
Pribilof Iskands. . . . Analysis of water smmples by the Territorial

Wn‘ﬂnﬂ!hﬂiﬂ:ﬂhwﬂrhhpﬂhﬂiﬂrwﬂﬁ-
... Sickness mentioned] in the petition is not due to drinking
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water. Some of the children have “fish poisoning,” which Dr.
Smith states is common at this time of the year and will clear up
when the salmon runs are over. . . . The toilet which has been
in use is over tide water and is farther from living and eating
quarters than any on the Pribilofs was. . . . The men are satisfied
with the food furnished, but the women do not like the community
mess. They refuse to help with the cooking, which is done by the
men. . . . The food mentioned in the petition which is bought for
the children from the canteen is principally candy.'™

The superintendent also described what he had done to alleviate the
lack of privacy, water, plumbing and laundry facilities, clothing and

food

A year later in Fall 1943, the camps at Funter Bay were visited

by numerous government officials, including John Hall of the U.S.
Public Health Service, Governor Ernest Gruening, Alaska Attorney
General Henry Roden, FWS Director Ira Gabrielson, and Dr. Berneta
Block of the Territorial Department of Health. Conditions were little
improved. No description is more graphic than the account submitted
by Dr. Block after her four-day visit to Funter Bay:

As we entered the first bunkhouse the odor of human excreta and
waste was so pungent that I could hardly make the grade. . . .
The buildings were in total darkness except for a few candles here
and there which I considered distinct fire hazards. . . . [A] mother
and as many as three or four children were found in several beds
and two or three children in one bunk. . . . The garbage cans
were overflowing, human excreta was found next to the doors of
the cabins and the drainage boxes into which dishwater and kitchen
waste was to be placed were filthy beyond description. . . . I
realize that during the first two days we saw the community at its
worst. | know that there were very few adults who were well. . . .
The water supply is discolored, contaminated and unattractive.
. . . [FJacilities for boiling and cooling the water are not readily
available. . . . I noticed some lack of the teaching of basic public
health fundamentals. Work with such a small group of people who
have been wards of the government for a long period of time
should have brought better results. It is strange that they could
have reverted from a state of thrift and cleanliness on the Islands
to the present state of filth, despair, and complete lack of civic
pride. I realize, too, that at the time I saw them the community
was largely made up of women and children whose husbands were
not with them. With proper facilities for leadership, guidance and
stimulation . . . the situation could have been quite different.'®

Assistant Supervisor Hynes made a grim report to his Division

Chief, Ward Bower:

[W]e are convinced that unless adequate measures are taken to
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improve conditions before the arduous winter months begin there

is more than a possibility that the death toll from tuberculosis,

pneumonia, influenza, and other diseases will so decimate the

ranks of the natives that few will survive to return to the islands. 11!

But conditions did not substantially improve at Funter Bay until
the winter of 194344, a year and a half after the Aleuts had been
evacuated.

Medical Care and Education. In Fall 1942, the only full-time
medical care at Funter Bay came from a white nurse assisted by an
Aleut nurse. They served both the mining and the cannery camps,
crossing Funter Bay each day, but doctors were only temporarily as-
signed to the camp, often remaining for only a few days or weeks. The
infirmary at the mining camp was a three-room bungalow; the cannery’s
was a room twenty feet square. Medical supplies were scarce.

Epidemics raged throughout the Aleuts’ stay in southeastern Alaska.
The Aleuts suffered from influenza, measles, and pneumonia along
with tuberculosis. ''? Twenty-five died in 1943 alone, and it is estimated
that at least 40 people died at Funter Bay.

Because of a lack of space and supplies, school began only in
January 1943 for children who were not sent to Wrangell Institute, an
OIA school. OIA provided no textbooks; later, reading books were
loaned, but only $100 was appropriated for supplies. The 55 St. Paul
children were taught in the cannery kitchen by teachers who, when
weather permitted, crossed the bay to the mining camp to work with
the 34 children from St. George. When the cannery crew returned in
March, school shut down entirely. Absences due to illness shortened
this haphazard school year even further, and the students’ progress
was negligible. Education in the camps somewhat improved during
the second year, when classes were conducted from December until
April.

Communication, Transportation and Censorship. These small en-
campments of evacuees were extremely isolated in their hardship. At
Funter Bay, communication with the outside world was limited to a
weekly mail service; there was no two-way radio. Timely treatment of

the seriously ill was unavailable because the hospital in Juneau had a

two-week waiting period for admittance, and prompt response to other
emergencies was impossible.

Transportation was whatever arrangements could be made with
supply ships or the weekly mailboat. Moreover, Aleuts were required
to obtain the FWS agent’s permission before they could leave Funter
Bay. I

i
)
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In addition, under the First War Powers Act, mail between the
Territory of Alaska and the continental U.S., the “Lower 48, was
censored. As Hynes acknowledged in 1943:

'Censorship has kept the press off our necks thus far but this line

of defense is weakening rapidly. A few days ago we were advised

by one of the physicians who had inspected the camps . . . that
hwmﬁgamm&wﬁmwdﬂtum

States and also to Secretary Ickes and had no intention of “pulling

any punches”. He warned that it was only a question of time until

some publication, such as Life Magazine, would get hold of the

story and play it up, much to the disadvantage of the Service and

the Department of Interior as a whole.!'3

Defense Employment, Selective Service and the Fur Seal Industry.
The fur seal herd in the Pribilof Islands grows 80% of the world's
supply of this luxurious fur.*** Since 1910, the federal government has
fully controlled the harvest of seals and the fur marketing; in 1941, the
annual seal slaughter contributed nearly $2.4 million to the U.S. Treas-
ury.'™® The Pribilovian Aleuts were the primary seal harvesters; after
evacuation, only 127 seals were taken in 1942, in contrast to over 95,000
in 1941. For the Interior Department, anxious to resume sealing op-
erations in 1943, projected revenue was a major, if not the predominant
consideration, in its policy decisions.

The war had created a labor shortage in Alaska and, by the end
of June 1942, the U.S. Employment Service was prepared to place a
number of Aleut men in suitable jobs. !'® Seal Superintendent Johnston
and a few other officials had a different program in mind: they wanted
to protect the government’s “investment” in the Aleuts and their seal-
ing operation. Assuming that seal harvesting would resume after the
war, these officials wished to avoid the inconvenience of locating and
collecting Pribilovians scattered to distant parts of Alaska."” For this
reason the FWS sought to keep the Pribilovians together as a unit and
to “pay them a nominal salary to keep them satisfied.""'® Johnston
recommended to Bower that:

No individual should be permitted to take his family and leave

unless he insists on doing so. In that case he should lose all

camp
rights as a Pribilof Native and should not be allowed to return to
the Pribilofs at any time except as an ordinary visitor."'®

Bower replied:

[W]e have no definite hold on the Pribilof natives who are evac-
uated to Funter Bay. With regard to employment elsewhere, the
rules concerning these natives can be effective only while they
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they are subject to the jurisdiction, care and support of the Gov-

ernment. If they go away from Funter Bay for a while to engage

in other work, there is nothing that we can do to stop them. . . .

In my opinion, very few will stay away for any length of time, and

when conditions permit them to return to the Pribilof Islands,

practically all will be on hand ready and anxious to go. Perhaps
experiencelgight give a better appreciation of the excellent care

i €.

By Fall 1942, Johnston and the local agents stopped trying to keep
the Pribilovians at Funter Bay. More than 100 men and their families
left, including 27 children who departed for Wrangell Institute. 12!

In addition to losing men to more lucrative employment, the FWS
lost other able-bodied sealers to the draft. While on the Pribilofs, the
Aleuts had not been registered for Selective Service because the FWS
assumed that, as wards of the government, the Aleuts were ineligible
for the draft.'*2 At Funter Bay the FWS learned differently, and during
1942 all eligible men were registered.'®

On November 23, 1942, Secretary of the Interior Ickes wrote
Secretary of War Stimson urging “that arrangements be made to return
the natives and supervisory personnel . . . to the Pribilof Islands next
April or May to resume sealing and other operations.”™** At first, the
War Department refused Ickes™ request,’® but on January 2, 1943,
Stimson notified Ickes that the Pribilof Aleuts and FWS supervisors
had been given permission to “return for the sealing season only in
order to direct the pruning of the seal herds by military personnel.”
He added that “[w]ith respect to St. George Island, I have no objection
to the return of the natives of that place for rehabilitation.™#*

Few men were available to harvest seals that summer of 1943. By
March, seventeen Aleuts had been inducted and another four were
subject to immediate induction. The FWS sought four-month furloughs
for the draftees and deferments for those not yet inducted. By May,
seven of the seventeen servicemen had been granted furloughs, and
the other four received deferments for the sealing season.

As plans got under way to resume sealing and to rehabilitate St.
George, it was discovered that some Aleuts did not want to return to
the islands until the war was over.!?” Superintendent Johnston began
to realize that men with good jobs in Juneau might not wish to leave
them. He proposed measures to control the situation:

If any workman remains in Juneau or deserts his post during the

summer . . . [he] will forfeit any share of the sealing division.

Also, I will seriously consider recommending that he be denied

return to St. Paul for residence. As St. George is being rehabil-



344 PERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

itated, any workman who refuses to return this spring will not

share in the sealing division and will not be allowed to return at

any later date if I can help it. This will include his immediate
family (wife and children). Such a man will not receive assistance
in any way from the Fish and Wildlife Service at any time and

lose all privileges as an island resident. 2%

These recommendations went to Ward Bower,!#® who once again had
to direct his subordinates toward a more temperate attitude:

In view of war conditions, the forced evacuation of the islands,

and the designation of the area as a war zone, it is scarcely possible

or equitable to require complete forfeiture of all rights of return
to the Pribilofs. Present conditions just do not warrant such ac-

tion. 13

In April, Johnston came up from Seattle to meet with the Pribi-
lovians. The Aleuts wanted better wages and worried about their safety
in the Pribilofs that summer. The St. George men asked that their
women and children remain at Funter Bay and that the sealers be
returned at the end of the season. Johnston conveyed this to Bower
as well as a local agent's opinion that all the women wanted to return
to St. George.'™ Bower immediately telegraphed back that the “St.
George women and children should be left [at] Funter and St. George
workmen returned there at end [of] season same as St. Paul work-
men. ' It is not clear who made the decision not to repopulate the
island—Bower, the FWS director, or the Secretary of the Interior. In
any case, Johnston was relieved:

From the standpoint of safety I am glad the change was made; if

we had rehabilitated St. George and afterward a single bomb had

been dropped there our whole course of action would have been
open to criticism. The men are going up for the sealing season in

a much better state of mind now that they do not have to worry

about their families. '*

Despite Chief Bower's moderating words to Superintendent John-
ston,'®* testimony before the Commission and informal interviews by
Commission staff indicate that the Pribilovian men felt compelled to
leave their jobs to harvest the seals; they were told that if they did
not, they would never see their homeland again.'*

When the sealers went up to the Pribilofs that summer, they left
behind at Funter Bay 281 women and children and 32 older men. The

i ,FWS agents and a doctor accompanied the men, leaving a school-
teacher and a storekeeper to manage the camp. Neither had borne
such responsibilities before, and they were further hampered by a
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shortage of men to perform the necessary work. Even worse, a measles
epidemic swept Funter Bay that summer—and they had no doctor.
The Aleuts harvested over 117,000 seals during the summer of
1943, a record take which reaped over $1.58 million in fur and seal
byproduct sales for the United States Government.!* The approxi-
mately 100 Pribilovian Aleut workers were paid from a pool that gave
them close to $1 per skin, and the 13 non-Pribilovian Aleut sealers
were paid a salary of $150 per month. 37
Later in the summer, Bower broached the subject of Johnston's
harsh approach with FWS Director Ira Gabrielson, suggesting that
some Aleuts might not wish to return to the islands, but would prefer
to try their luck in the Lower 48:
He stated that this was perfectly all right, but that in his opinion
most of them had a pretty soft life at the Pribilofs and after working
outside for a year or two would be anxious to get back there. . . .
I further said to Dr. Gabrielson that in my opinion it would be
of doubtful legality to say to a native of the Pribilof Islands that
if he did not go back when we resumed sealing operations, he
could never do so. Dr. Gabrielson concurred in this thought.
Dr. Gabrielson said that if some of the natives desired to remain
in Alaska or wanted to go to the States to be on their own, they
could do so, but of course with the beginning of such departure
from our jurisdiction, they would receive no benefits or funds
from this Service.!*®

Bower tried to make sure that these views reached Johnston, but he
may have been aware of the damage already done. In the end, only a
handful of Aleuts remained in Juneau and did not return with the
others to the Pribilofs.

Killi
The people hated this tiny tree-covered island with poor, rocky
beaches. There was no place to go hiking, as on large, grassy Atka.
Many of the older men became sick and passed on. The younger
people became acquainted with the Angoon Indians on Admiralty
Island. Drinking became excessive and this led to much trouble.
. . . We did our best to keep up the morale. '™

The 83 Aleuts from Atka were evacuated to Killisnoo Island, three
miles from Angoon, opposite the southern tip of Admiralty Island. The
closest post office and radio facility was in Angoon, and a weekly boat
delivered mail and supplies. The Aleuts arrived on June 25, 1942, with
little more ‘than the barest personal possessions. Their new home was
a herring cannery which had not been occupied for ten years.

From his ship’s stores, Captain Downey of the Delarof gave evac-
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uees a four-day supply of food, cooking supplies, a mattress for each
adult, and blankets, as he had for the Pribilovians evacuated to Funter
Bay. Health officials soon arrived to give inoculations and checkups,
and more food and clothing came from Juneau. Killisnoo was managed
by schoolteachers employed by the Office of Indian Affairs; Ralph and
Ruby Magee accompanied the Atkans to Killisnoo and stayed for a year
until they were replaced by Joe and Vivian Kaklen, a native Alaskan
non-Aleut couple, followed by Mr. and Mrs. Beebe.!%

Cabins and houses at the cannery were old and flimsy, but most
had stoves and cots or beds.!*! Driftwood to heat the buildings was
abundant. A laundry and one bathtub were also available. A small
spring yielded very little water, and rain became their major source
of supply. There were three privies for more than 80 people. An old
messhall was converted into a schoolroom whose desks and benches
were built by the best Atkan carpenter, supplies came from Juneau
and, in September, school opened. But the winter of 1942 was the
coldest in 50 years. Food froze solid and meat was scarce. Many of the
older people died.

A doctor and a nurse visited once during the Atkans’ three-year
stay in southeastern Alaska. The doctor stayed four months, the nurse
only two weeks. According to the Atkans, “Dr. Bauer did not ask any
questions, but he treated everyone in the camp for V.D. without
verification. All that time, the people were not aware that he was
treating them for V.D."42

After six months at Killisnoo, most of the able-bodied men secured
work at Excursion Inlet repairing boats for the government. Others
worked near Juneau for the forestry department, on Japonski Island
in construction or in the canneries. The young men were drafted. Once
the Aleuts obtained employment they no longer received free food and
clothing, and the OIA schoolteachers began charging them for items
at the store:

This change did not go over so well with the people. They seemed

to think that they should continue to receive the food and clothing

free so they could use their money for mail order business and
the many drinking parties they felt they owed the Angoon Indians.

It was some time before they became reconciled to the change. %

Wrangell Institute

Wrangell Institute was the stopover site for Aleuts evacuated from
the villages of Nikolski, Akutan, Biorka, Kashega and Makushin until
they could be moved to permanent evacuation camps at Ward Lake
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and Burnett Inlet. The Institute was an OIA boarding school whose
principal, George Barrett, was instrumental in selecting the Aleuts’
eventual evacuation sites.

For two weeks the Aleuts camped in Army tents on the school
grounds. They were given three meals a day, primarily dog salmon,
tea and bread. Men and women, young and old, were assigned chores
in the Institute’s kitchen, laundry and bakery.'* They also built a barge
to transport lumber and other materials to Ward Lake.

Army, Navy and civilian doctors examined the Aleuts; yet, ac-
cording to one evacuee, they were not treated for tuberculosis, pneu-
monia, viruses or shock. Head lice were treated, however, and some
children and adults were close-cropped, their scalps doused with ker-
osene to exterminate the parasites, 45

Wrangell Institute provided sixth through twelfth grades for chil-
dren covered by the OIA. A former pupil informed the Commission
that the school had a capacity of 350 children, but, after evacuation,
Aleut children from the camps swelled its ranks to 750. Classrooms
were so crowded that eighth graders with the highest grades were
skipped to ninth grade. Food remained insufficient, and a year after
the influx of new students, the school’s health center was still under-
staffed. 145

Ward Lake

“My first impression . . . was that of being put in prison.”#’

After their stopover at Wrangell Institute, approximately 200 Aleuts
were taken to Ward Lake, sometimes called Ward Cove, an old Civilian
Conservation Corps camp eight miles from Ketchikan. Not all were
strangers. Some had met while working outside their villages; others
had married from one village into another, 14

The government “officials” at Ward Lake were Barbara and Samuel
Whitfield—an OIA schoolteacher and her handyman husband who later
left to join the Coast Guard. The Whitfields, who had been stationed
with the Aleuts on Nikolski before evacuation, were joined by Fred
Geeslin, an OIA resettlement officer.

The CCC camp was nine small cabins and four communal build-
ings. Each cabin had a small kitchen and a bedroom with two bunk
beds. With lumber brought from Wrangell Institute, the Aleuts built
additional housing and furniture. Scrap cardboard was used for insu-
lation. Each household was issued a wood burning stove.'#® Shared
facilities for the nearly 200 evacuees included an outhouse; a school;
a church; and a laundry with a large tin basin, four cold-water faucets



348 PERSONAL JUSTICE DENIED

and two shower stalls. Water was hauled in buckets from an outside
hydrant to each cabin, heated, then taken to the laundry. The village
outhouse was a long open trough without seats, and insects were thick,
despite the toilet’s constant flow of water.'®

Not everyone lived at the Ward Lake settlement, however. One
woman and her family, who thought the Ward Lake houses “shacks,”
moved into Ketchikan, as did two or three others. Two girls roomed
in the Ketchikan hospital where they worked. '*!

Neither the OIA nor any other government agency provided the
Aleuts with transportation into town. Taxis could be called but the
only telephone was at the OIA school—and the teacher would not let
the Aleuts use it.!52 The evacuees were saved from complete isolation
by a local entrepreneur, Eugene Wacker, who drove evacuees to Ket-
chikan for 35 cents each way:

Now we were able to shop and ride into town to our jobs. .

He charged us fare between points, but without his consideration

and care we would not have done well for jobs and supplies we

needed in town.'®
Wacker also helped the Aleuts find jobs; whenever he heard of an
opening,

[H]e came to our camp to tell us about it and drove those who

wanted the job into town. He then would also drive us back to

the camp after work. . . . Most of us might have had to go to other
communities seeking jobs, but because of him we were near our
families at camp. . . . Eugene Wacker did this for the three years
we were at Ward Lake. '™
The men found employment at the canneries and sawmills of Ketchi-
kan, in commercial fishing at Sitka, and in construction at the Army
base at Metlakatla.!5® Some were in Alaska Sea Scouts, and during the
summers of 1943 and 1944, several went up to work for the Aleutian
Livestock Company, a sheep ranch near Nikolski.'™ As at Killisnoo,
the Aleuts at Ward Lake no longer received free food and other supplies
after the men found work.

Health. Not long after they had come to Ward Lake, the Aleuts
were visited by at least one doctor and nurse who found many ill and
quarantined those with infectious diseases. Yet, after being diagnosed,
the Aleuts say they never received treatment.'™” Generally the OIA
schoolteacher, Mrs. Whitfield, acted as the camp’s health aide. Harry
C. McCain, Ketchikan's Chairman of Police, Health and Sanitation,
wrote Governor Gruening on May 19, 1943, that the medical situation
Was very poor:




WAR AND EVACUATION IN ALASKA 349

[W]e have recently been forced to quarantine their camp in order
. . . to. . . catch up to their venereal disease situation. . . . These

people are also badly honeycombed with tuberculosis, from which
disease a considerable number have died since they were placed
at Ward Cove.'®®

McCain was concerned for the townspeople:

There are a large number of service men in and near Ketchikan
and neither they nor the civilians should be infected with their
diseased conditions. . . . the proprietor of the Totem Lunch in-
quired whether or not she could refuse their patronage for the
reason they were unsanitary and diseased and thus obnoxious to
her regular customers besides requiring an unusual amount of
trouble in sterilizing of their dishes . . . [E]ven the bars would
much prefer not to have their patronage. . . . Therefore we desire
to protest their being kept quartered at Ward Cove and to suggest
they ought to be moved to some suitable location where they
would not have immediate contacts with large numbers of peo-

ple.1%®

Ketchikan's city council became increasingly involved with the
problem. Barbara Whitfield appealed to the city council on behalf of
the Aleuts, and the Akutan village chief, Mark Petikoff, wrote a letter
to the Alaska Fishing News protesting that the Aleuts had been “made
a football;” they demanded “the same treatment as any other group of
citizens” but were “not asking any special favors.” It would have been
more useful, he said, to have prevented characters like the whiskey
bootleggers from exploiting the Aleuts in the first place.'®

Sentiment in Ketchikan grew more sympathetic toward the Aleuts
as some of the townspeople gradually began to recognize the plight of
these war refugees: uprooted from their homes, in less than a year at
Ward Lake, 20 out of less than 200 people had perished and another
half dozen had been sent out for tubercular care. The death rate at
Ward Lake was one of the highest of all the Aleut evacuation camps.

On May 27, 1943, Mayor J.A. Talbot of Ketchikan wrote Super-
intendent Claude Hirst of the Alaska Indian Service protesting the
poor medical care given the Aleuts. Hirst responded that the Indian
Service had operated a clinic before the city started one and was paying
half the expenses of the city’s new clinic. The superintendent also
added that before the war a tuberculosis sanitarium had been rec-
ommended for southeastern Alaska and that “we are doing everything
we possibly can with the facilities that have been furnished us.™*

The Adjustment to Ketchikan. Many Aleuts found the adjustment
to southeastern Alaska difficult, if not fatal:

The older people, especially, said they did not like the trees,
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which hemmed them in so that they could not see nor breathe
freely. . . . Another big complaint was the forced change in econ-
omy. Legal restrictions upon hunting and fishing were imposed,
and natural food was simply not available . . . The large number
of policemen, and their readiness to arrest on the slightest pretext,
was also remarked upon more than once. . . . Ridicule, to which
the Aleuts were subjected by whites, increased their sensitivity
to their status as “natives” and made them more secretive about
their customs. %2

According to Gerald Berreman, an anthropologist who studied
Nikolski in the early 1950's:
Not everything in Ward Lake was unpleasant to these people,

however. The company of other Aleuts was generally enjoyed.

. . . Schooling was also easier to obtain. . . . The most enjoyed
aspects . . . were the blessings of western urban society, which
money, earned at numerous available jobs, could buy. These were
primarily liquor, dancing, and movies.!%?

Nonetheless, Berreman concluded that most villagers were very un-
happy:
Everything they were used to was left behind. . . . Money, liquor,
and movies were hopeless substitutions for the security of old and
familiar ways. . . . Even those who enjoyed “Southeast™ welcomed
the anticipated return. Those who were offered permanent jobs
chose to go back to the old life instead.!®

Burnett Inlet

The Unalaska evacuees were moved in August 1942 from their
temporary quarters at Wrangell Institute to Burnett Inlet, which be-
came their home. They remained at the abandoned cannery on Etolin
Island until April 1945. Like Killisnoo and Ward Lake, Burnett Inlet
was managed by an OIA schoolteacher and her husband, Edythe ].
and Elmer D. Long.

Conditions at Burnett Inlet, although difficult, were not as severe
as in the other camps. While the facilities were poor when evacuees
arrived, cannery buildings were reconditioned, roughly winterized and
converted into small apartments for single people and small families.
In addition, four small family houses, a school, teachers’ quarters, and
a church were built.!%®

In May 1943, Edythe Long wrote that it was “discouraging to . . .
hear remarks made to the effect that people are hungry” and that there
was “practically no limit to the amount and variety of food furnished
these people. . . . With the exception of a few hard to secure items
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which we divide and ration there has been no limit to the amount of
food the evacuees have been issued or allowed to purchase. ™%

As with the evacuees at Killisnoo and Ward Lake, the Aleuts at
Burnett Inlet were encouraged to become “as self-sustaining as pos-
sible, in accordance with instructions from our Chicago headquar-
ters.”"* While the Aleuts reconditioned some cannery buildings and
built others, they were not compensated for their labor beyond “nec-
essary subsistence and other supplies.™® After the housing was com-
pleted, the Aleuts were expected to find jobs and were thereafter
charged for supplies. '*

Health care at Burnett Inlet was poor, but fortunately the death
toll was not as high as in other camps. An Aleut midwife delivered
babies for mothers who were unable to reach Wrangell in time, and
evacuees also sought her help in treating cuts, bruises and illnesses. ™

One Evacuee’s View of Life at Burnett Inlet. Martha Newell was
part Aleut and, because she did not wish to accompany her husband
when he left for the Lower 48, she was evacuated with the other Aleuts
from Unalaska In March 1943, she wrote her husband, Kenneth, that
“[Wle're all anxious to go home. 1 can’t stand thinking of staying another
winter, and most of the folks feel the same as there's no work and we
are paying for our food,”™ and "1 cant say we are living in good
houses. They are all warehouses . . ."'™ She encouraged her husband
to write their friend, Congressional Delegate Anthony Dimond.

Kenneth Newell's April letter of complaint to Dimond was promptly
brought to the attention of Claude Hirst and Fred Geeslin of the Alaska
Indian Service. According to the Indian Service’s reply:

In general the people there [Burnett Inlet] are satisfied and ap-
preciate the efforts being made by the personnel of this office to
accommodate them. . . . The complaint of Mrs. Newell is the first
to our knowledge. . . . Naturally these people hear of the Pribiloffs
[sic] going back, and think they should go back also . . . Even
though these evacuees may be receiving less than Japs in con-
centration camps, as stated by Mrs. Newell, I am sure that the
large majority of them are satisfied under the present conditions,
and they have expressed that they wish to be self-supporting as
they were at their original homes where there are wage eammers
in their families.'™

Burnett Inlet schoolteacher Edythe Long also responded to Mrs.
Newell's complaints:

Mrs. Newell has a firm conviction that the more complaints she

amongst the evacuees here the sooner the Authorities will be
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obliged to move her back to Unalaska. Her entire being is centered
on that one purpose—to go back to her home this spring, and it
seems she will go to any lengths even of gross misrepresentation
to attain this end. She . . . refuses to face the fact that Unalaska
is in the war zone and that no women or children can be returned
there at present regardless of anyone’s views or wishes. She not
only complains for herself but goes from house to house spreading
discontent . . . Several people have expressed disgust at her un-
reasonable talk and refuse to listen to her.!™

Martha Newell died at Burnett Inlet and was returned home to
Unalaska for burial.'™

RETURN TO THE ISLANDS

The Pribilof Islands

After visiting Funter Bay in September 1943, FWS Director Ira
Gabrielson was convinced that the Aleuts should be returned to the
Pribilofs that fall, and FWS received War Department approval for a
return to S5t. George and tentative approval for St. Paul.'™ But, as
local agent McMillin emphasized, there were no furniture and cook
stoves on St. George, nor would present supplies last beyond the end
of October. He reported that the Aleuts refused to remain under those
conditions.!” He emphatically outlined his views in a telegram to
Assistant Superintendent Morton:

WHOEVER PUSHING FANTASTIC IDEA REHABILITATE
PRIBILOFS NOT ACQUAINTED WITH CONDITIONS THIS
TIME OF YEAR IN BERING S5EA LANDINGS HERE FROM
NOW ON VERY UNCERTAIN FOR ANY AMOUNT CARGO
WORK AND FOR CONVEYING WOMEN CHILDREN AND
SICK PEOPLE STOP CRIMINAL CHARCES SHOULD BE
PREFERRED UPON PERSON RESPONSIBLE UNLESS RE-
HABILITATION PLANS DROPPED FOR PRESENT UNTIL
SUPPLIES AND EQUIFPMENT OBTAINED TO PROPERLY
EQUIP STATION.'™

The FWS officials were surprised:

YOUR WIRES THIS DATE FIRST INFORMATION REGARD-
ING TRUE CONDITIONS PRIBILOFS.'™

WE HAVE ASSUMED ALL ALONG THAT JOHNSTON AND
BENSON CONCURRED IN REHABILITATION ST. GEORGE
NATIVES THIS FALL AND THAT ONLY QUESTION WAS
REGARDING ST. PAUL. THIS OFFICE DOES NOT UNDER-
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STAND WHY PLANS FOR ST. GEORGE NEED CHANG-

ING. 80

FWS Director Gabrielson was reluctant to decide on the Aleuts’
return to the Pribilofs solely on the basis of Agent McMillin’s opinion.
Johnston was scheduled to return shortly from a trip to the islands,
and Gabrielson was anxious to learn the superintendent’s views before
coming to a final decision.'® The superintendent, however, arrogated
the authority of his superior; without conferring with Gabrielson, John-
ston decided that “neither island would be rehabilitated this fall” and
issued orders to that effect before leaving the Pribilofs. 152

Despite Johnston's orders to the contrary, however, plans moved
forward to rehabilitate St. George Island partially. One dozen married
and three single men were to remain on the island, where their families
would join them.'™ In the end, the Aleut families “declined their
return” to St. George that fall, and the men on the island finally
departed for Funter Bay on November 11, 1943.'® The FWS was
forced to prepare for another winter at the evacuation camp, and Chief
Bower wired Gabrielson suggesting that a Public Health nurse and
doctor should be detailed to Funter Bay.'® It is unclear why the Aleuts
chose not to return then—because of poor health, inadequate supplies
on the island, the lateness of the season and likelihood of poor travel
conditions, or for other reasons. The Commission found no documents
that cast light upon the Aleuts’ decision.

By mid-March 1944, arrangements had been made for an Army
transport to return the Pribilovians about May 1, and this time the
plans went ahead. No earlier return was possible because drift ice
surrounded the Pribilofs, and approximately 4,000 tons of supplies and
equipment had to be purchased after appropriations became avail-
able.'®

Funding the Return

As the evacuated Aleuts faced another southeastern Alaskan winter
of continuing decimation from disease, the Interior Department ne-
gotiated with the War and Navy Departments for funds and services
to meet the expense of return and rehabilitation. Interior had been
using its Civilian Food Reserve Funds, but it was “very questionable
whether these emergency funds will continue to be available after July
1, 1944, for the care of these Aleut refugees.”™"

On May 23, 1944, the Army, Navy and OIA jointly concluded
that the OIA should administer the resettlement. The Army agreed to
make an initial allotment of $58,000 and the Navy $129,000 to finance
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the return and rehabilitation of the islands, with the understanding
that both would make subsequent allotments if required. In addition,
the Army and Navy were to transfer to the OIA surplus materials and
supplies for resettlement.!®®

On August 7, 1944, President Roosevelt approved an allocation
of $200,000 from his “Emergency Fund for the President, National
Defense, 1942-45" to be used by the Interior Department for reha-
bilitation of the Aleutian and Pribilof Islands. This sum was for res-
toration, repair, reconstruction and equipment of public and private
buildings and other property, as well as for subsistence of the Aleuts.
The allocation included a maximum of $25,000 in aggregate payment
of claims for damages suffered by Aleut and white inhabitants, but it
excluded claims of commercial or business firms. ' Because losses were
greater than originally anticipated, on July 21, 1945, the OIA requested
an additional allotment of $45,000 in order to cover expenses,'™ and
a transfer of $51,725 was made from the President’s Fund. According
to federal budget figures, the actual obligations for “refunds, awards
and indemnities” eventually totalled $31,441. For “equipment,” “sup-
plies and materials™ the total was $177,081.'®

The Aleutian Islands

Return to the Aleutians proved more difficult than returning to
the Pribilofs. In April 1944, Navy and OIA officials met and OIA then
authorized the Commander of the Alaska Sector to send the following
message to the Chief of Naval Operations:

In view of impracticability of obtaining school teachers who can

act as Bureau of Indian Affairs representatives the difficulty of

“supplying the villages and impossibility of prevention of inter-
mingling with military personnel they are not desirous of returning

Aleuts to the Aleutian Chain.'%

The OIA officials sent similar messages to their superiors,'® and pro-
posed moving the Aleuts at Ward Lake to Funter Bay when the Pri-
bilovians had left.

Within the next two weeks, the Alaska Indian Service changed
its position. On April 26, B. W. Thoron, Director of the Interior
Division of Territories, radiogrammed Governor Gruening seeking his
views on the Aleuts’ return to the islands that spring. Thoron believed
that early resettlement was desirable despite the lack of teachers. '™
Gruening agreed, and stated that the OIA superintendent in Juneau
concurred. '®

Interior assumed that the Aleuts’ return was imminent.'® The
status of the village of Unalaska, however, remained unsettled because
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of its proximity to Dutch Harbor:; accordingly, the OIA was authorized
to defer return by the Unalaskans if no teachers could be found. %

On May 13, the War Department directed the Commanding Gen-
eraquﬂleAlaskaDepnrhnenttotakenecessaryacﬁnn to return the
Aleuts to the islands and rehabilitate their homes. By May 23, the
Army, Navy and Office of Indian Affairs had jointly concluded that the
great variety of local problems meant that OIA’s Alaska Indian Service
was best qualified to administer the project. Neither the Army nor the
Navy would undertake any aspect of rehabilitation beyond handling
local relations between Aleuts and military personnel.!®

Despite apparent agreement, a commitment to move ahead, and
funds to finance rehabilitation, no Aleutian islanders were returned to
the islands that summer, that fall, or at any time during 1944. They
did not leave southeastern Alaska until nearly a year later, April 17,
1945. This delay remains unexplained; it is possible that Lt. General
Delos Emmons wished to reevaluate the situation after replacing Simon
Buckner as commanding general in June 1944. The Commission was
unable to locate any documents beyond those describing the inter-
agency agreement of May 1944 and the Aleuts’ arrival on the islands
in April 1945.

RESETTLEMENT

Although the Aleuts were delighted to return to their island homes
after years in southeastern Alaska, they found communities that had
been vandalized and looted by occupying American military forces.
Rehabilitation assessments made for each village only a year after the
Aleuts were evacuated describe disturbingly similar conditions. Re-
ports on Unalaska were typical:

All buildings were damaged due to lack of normal care and upkeep.
. . . The furnishings, clothing and personal effects remaining in
the homes showed, with few exceptions, evidence of weather
damage and damage by rats. Inspection of contents revealed ex-
tensive evidence of widespread wanton destruction of property
and vandalism. Contents of closed packing boxes, trunks and cup-
boards had been ransacked. Clothing had been scattered over
floors, trampled and fouled. Dishes, furniture, stoves, radios,
phonographs, books, and other items had been broken or dam-
aged. Many items listed on inventories furnished by the occupants
of the houses were entirely missing. . . . It appears that armed
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forces personnel and civilians alike have been responsible for this
vandalism and that it occurred over a period of many months. %
Perhaps the greatest loss to personal property occurred at the
time the Army conducted its clean up of the village in June of
1943. Large numbers of soldiers were in the area at that time
removing rubbish and outbuildings and many houses were entered
unofficially and souvenirs and other articles were taken.2®

Many items had been “borrowed” and misplaced:
Sergie Savaroff said that a new range that he had bought, a coal
range—wood range—was gone from his house, a big heavy thing.
It was found at an officers’ quarters in Umnak; that is about eighty
miles north of Nikolski. And his dory that he had left there with
an outboard motor—was found in Chernofski, that had been used
and not returned.®

Many of the Aleuts were forced to camp outdoors at first because
their old homes had not yet been repaired and many proved unin-
habitable. The Unalaskans were provided with 16 by 20 Army cabanas,
two or three for the larger families and “[e]veryone seemed to be
contended [sic] with that.”"®2 Later, it was discovered that the cabanas
had to be chained down because of the 90 mph Aleutian winds. Until
their village (which had been burned to the ground by the Navy) could
be rebuilt, the Atkans lived for a year in Quonset huts shared by as
many as nine people in “conditions worse than the camps. ™

The Aleuts repaired and rebuilt their homes themselves. They
received free groceries until their homes were ready. The food, build-
ing and repair supplies were procured locally—mostly military surplus,
and otherwise purchased primarily from the Northern Commercial
Company in Unalaska 2%

Their losses and resettlement costs were higher than wha} was
originally estimated by the April 1944 survey of evacuated villages. By
the time the Aleuts actually returned to the islands, a year had elapsed
and very few of the items previously listed as intact could be found in
their homes. All household effects and equipment the Aleuts had left
behind were missing.2*

The evacuated Aleuts suffered material losses for which they were
never fully recompensed, either in kind or in cash. As devout followers
of the Russian Orthodox faith, the Aleuts treasured religious icons
brought from czarist Russia and other family heirlooms that represented
their greatest spiritual as well as material loss. They were priceless to
the Aleuts. Possessions such as houses, furniture, boats and fishing
gear were either never replaced or replaced by markedly inferior goods,
testified the Aleuts. Some shipments of goods intended for the islands
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never arrived, they say, speculating that the merchandise was diverted
to stores on the mainland. The OIA itself found that its first resettle-
ment officer was not competent to the task of supplying and resettling
the Aleuts.® His more effective replacement, Fred Geeslin, could
not recall filing claims for lost goods or waiting for freight that never
arrived, although the deputy United States marshal who eventually
took over as resettlement officer testified before the Commission that
Geeslin had made a list of items stolen or taken from homes and had
turned over a large sheaf of freight bills consigned to various people
that had “lost stuff,” that “probably five or six™ ever received freight,
and that OIA had never responded to letters about the loss of freight. 27
Geeslin said that all supplies were purchased locally, and he did not
recall any expectation that the Aleuts’ personal possessions would be
replaced or that some type of monetary compensation would be re-
ceived. ™

The federal budget indicates that $31,441 was spent for “refunds,
award and indemnities” to-Aleut and white evacuees from the Aleutian
and Pribilof Islands; $130,719 was spent for “supplies and materials;”
and $46,362 for “equipment.””® The Commission has been unable to
recover any further details of these expenditures, the disposition of
claims filed, shipping lists, or other documents to verify or disprove
the Aleuts’ allegations.

World War II Remains Still on Islands. U.S. and Japanese military
debris from World War II still litters the Aleutians. Most of it is
unsightly; some is hazardous or polluting. Dilapidated military struc-
tures such as Quonset huts and hangars, leaky oil and chemical drums,
boilers, diesel engines, generators, partially destroyed vehicles, weapon
magazines, live munitions and various other pieces of debris are con-
stant, ugly reminders that World War II touched the islands. Large
concentrations of debris remain at twelve sites of major military op-
erations or installations during and shortly after World War II; lesser
quantities litter sixteen other sites. Ten of the 28 sites are in inhabited
areas.?’® On Atka, children used to entertain themselves by placing
the powder from unused 50-caliber machinegun shells in empty beer
cans and igniting them.2'! As recently as 1979, nine cases of exposed
TNT were discovered.?'2

There is so much debris that to remove safety hazards, pollutants
and standing structures from areas within existing road networks, i.e.,
from half the sites, would require approximately 24,260 person-days
of direct labor at a total cost of approximately $98 million 1979 dollars.
A deanup limited to hazardous and polluting debris from inhabited
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areas, ignoring aesthetic considerations, would require 3,272 person-
days at a total cost of about $28 million.®1?

EFFECTS OF EVACUATION

Removing the Aleuts from their island homes caused irrevocable change
in their way of life. Some may contend that change was inevitable, and
that evacuation merely accelerated the process of assimilating “Amer-
ican” culture. Such an argument, however, ignores the way change
came about: the Aleuts had their culture snatched from them; they
had no choice.

One of the most disturbing consequences of evacuation was the
high mortality rate among Aleuts, particularly the elders. Sporadic
medical care in the camps no doubt contributed to many deaths. Ad-
mittedly, doctors and nurses were no more available in the Aleutians
(except Unalaska) than in southeastern Alaska.®*'* But the need in
“Southeast” was greater. For the Aleuts, often substandard, unsanitary
and crowded living conditions deepened the psychological trauma of
losing all their possessions after a sudden uprooting and a voyage in
the holds of ships. Adaptation to a foreign, heavily-forested environ-
ment followed; all these experiences together imposed stresses greater
than many people could withstand, and many perished.

The loss of a generation of village elders has had a cultural impact
far beyond the grief and pain to their own families. Among those who
died were most of the last people on earth who knew the old Aleut
ways, how to make the skin boats, traditional clothing or local styles
of basketry. The deaths of younger people, in a population with an
historically low birth rate, further endangers the Aleuts’ survival as a
distinct group.

The government’s island resettlement policies further eroded the
traditional way of life. Not all Aleuts who were evacuated returned to
the islands; many had died, some chose greater economic opportunities
on the outside, others outmarried. The government, in addition, for-
bade any return to certain islands. After a wage-eaming economy evolved
on the islands during the 1900’s the Aleuts grew sensitive to industry
and government actions that affected employment, education and gov-
ernment expenditures. Economic pressures to locate in areas of broader,
more stable economic opportunity prompted substantial migration from
smaller to larger villages and beyond the Aleutian chain as well . 2'®
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Evacuation accelerated these migration patterns and centralized the
population. The villages of Makushin, Biorka, Kashega and Chernofski
disappeared after the war, their few surviving villagers never returning
to those outposts.

Finally, the American military presence on the islands left a heavy
mark. Foxes, a cash “crop,” and subsistence animals such as seals and
caribou, were slaughtered in great numbers as a pastime by bored
servicemen and ship crews. Military builders filled in the rich herring-
spawning lagoons of Unalaska; pond and tidal-harvest foods were nearly
destroyed by oil spills from military vessels.2!® Military debris remains
to endanger and pollute many sites.

Through the insult of massive looting and vandalism of their homes
and places of worship by American military forces, the Aleuts lost
invaluable tangible ties to their past. Houses can eventually be rebuilt
and refurnished, but stolen family mementos, heirlooms and religious
icons brought from czarist Russia in the early 1800’s cannot be re-
covered. '

Removal from their homeland permanently changed nearly every
aspect of Aleut life. The many who died in the camps were a huge loss
to both family and community which also endangers the future of the
Aleuts as a distinct people. Evacuation meant irreversible cultural
erosion, destroying their means of pursuing a traditional subsistence
way of life. They lost artifacts, but also the ability to recreate them.
They lost (or found much reduced) the animals and sea creatures that
had been essential to traditional subsistence. The evacuation also de-
stroyed many of the Aleuts’ ties to their personal and religious pasts.
America, proud of its cultural diversity, thereby lost a distinctive part
of itself.
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NOTE ON ABBREVIATIONS

The Commission’s report is based upon hearings, archival research
and secondary sources. Some of the more than 750 witnesses composed
written testimony to augment their oral statements; other persons
submitted written statements but did not testify. Notes therefore cite
personal statements and materials under three heads: “testimony™ (for
oral statements before the Commission), “written testimony” and “un-
solicited testimony.”

Abbreviations that designate material from major archives and
research libraries appear below. The thousands of documents and sec-
ondary sources assembled by the Commission required an internal
locator system indicated by “CWRIC" followed by a page number. In
the Aleut chapter, some CWRIC citations refer to separate files on the
war and evacuation in Alaska, cited as “CWRIC AL". At this writing,
it is anticipated that, no matter which archive houses Commission files,
the locator system will be useful, so it has been included. Other ab-
breviations include:

Bancroft Library: University of California, Berkeley; collection
on Japanese American evacuation and resettlement. To locate individ-
val documents see catalog of this material by Edward N. Barnhart
(Berkeley: University of California General Library, 1958).

DOJ: Department of Justice records, Washington, DC; subse-
quent numbers indicate DOJ files.

FBI: Federal Bureau of Investigation records, Washington, DC.

FDRL: Franklin Delano Roosevelt Library, Hyde Park, NY.

HR: U.S. House of Representatives reports.

LC: Library of Congress, Washington, DC, all divisions.

NARS. RG: National Archives and Records Service, Washington,
DC; Record Group.

Sterling Library: Yale University, New Haven, CT; Henry L.
Stimson Papers, Manuscript Group No. 465.
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standing that the local United States Attorney’s interpretation that more in-
formation is necessary to show probable cause is incorrect. The U.S. Attorney
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